

Meeting of:	Cabinet		
Date of Meeting:	Monday, 28 February 2022		
Relevant Scrutiny Committee:	Healthy Living and Social Care		
Report Title:	Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022.		
Purpose of Report:	To share the final Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022 report with Cabinet Members before referral to full Council on 7th March, 2022 for approval of the final report.		
Report Owner:	Cabinet Member for Social Care and Health		
Responsible Officer:	Director of Social Services		
Elected Member and Officer Consultation:	Head of Resource Management & Safeguarding; Operational Manager, Commissioning and Information & Team Manager, Performance & Information (as members of the Population Needs Assessment Steering Group). A professional survey enabled collation of views from members of staff in the Vale of Glamorgan Council, the results of which are presented in the relevant chapters of the Population Needs Assessment.		
Policy Framework:	Development and publication of the Population Needs Assessment is a statutory duty under Part 2 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. The final report must be formally approved by the Local Authorities and the Local Health Board, to ensure that the information contained in the report is considered at the most senior levels.		

Executive Summary:

- This is the final report for the second Population Needs Assessment (PNA) for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, following the first published in 2017. The PNA should be read alongside the complementary Well-being Assessments for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan to gain a comprehensive understanding of the region.
- The PNA was undertaken between May 2021 and March 2022 and provides an update of the 2017 report. Existing data and reports were used to inform the assessment, alongside dedicated engagement work in the form of surveys (for the public, children and young people, people in HMP Cardiff, and professionals/providers) as well as focus groups.
- A draft PNA was considered by Healthy Living and Social Care Scrutiny Committee in January 2022.



- Improvements in care and support services have been made across all population groups since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment, despite the challenges of COVID-19.
- COVID-19 has had a number of impacts, including increasing demand for services, especially mental health, and changing models of delivery for many services.

Recommendations

- 1. That Cabinet notes and approves the contents of the Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022 report.
- 2. That Cabinet submits the Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022 to full Council on 7th March,2022 for approval.
- **3.** That the urgent decision procedure as set out in section 14:14 of the Council's Constitution be used in relation to Recommendation 2 above.

Reasons for Recommendations

- **1.** To ensure that Cabinet members can exercise oversight of the Population Needs Assessment which informs planning and priorities for health and social care services.
- **2.** To secure approval by the full Council as required by the statutory framework under which the Population Needs Assessment is produced.
- **3.** To ensure that the Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022 is referred to full Council on 7th March, 2022.

1. Background

- **1.1** Part 2 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 requires Local Authorities, in partnership with Local Health Boards, to assess the care and support needs of the population, including carers who need support. An assessment of the range and level of services to meet the identified needs should then be conducted. The Act aims to focus on and promote well-being; to empower people in their relationship with social services; and support co-production of solutions in provision of care and support.
- **1.2** The purpose of the Population Needs Assessment is to ensure that local authorities and Local Health Boards jointly produce a clear and specific evidence base in relation to care and support needs and carers' needs to underpin the delivery of their statutory functions and inform planning and operational decisions. In addition, the Population Needs Assessment aims to ensure services are planned and developed in an efficient and effective way by public sector partners to promote the well-being of people with care and support needs; to drive change through a focus on preventative approaches; and promote social enterprises, co-operatives, user-led services and the third sector.
- **1.3** A formal partnership between the Local Authorities of Cardiff and the Vale of the Glamorgan, and Cardiff and Vale University Health Board has previously been established: the Regional Partnership Board. The Population Needs Assessment has been developed by the Regional Partnership Board together with representatives from the third sector, and following engagement work with local residents, service users, carers, health and social care professionals, and independent providers.

- **1.4** The Population Needs Assessment (PNA) should be undertaken during every local government electoral cycle and should look forward to encompassing the time period until the next iteration. The inaugural PNA was published in 2017 and this iteration is due for publication on 1st April 2022. Upon completion, population needs assessment reports must be published on the websites of all local authorities and Local Health Boards involved in their production. A copy of the report must also be sent to Welsh Ministers at the time of publication.
- **1.5** The Act specifies themes which should be included within the assessment and allows for regions to include additional themes as appropriate to the local population. Examples of themes include children and young people; sensory impairment; and secure estate. These are presented in the report as individual chapters. Chapters include details of progress made since the 2017 Cardiff and Vale Population Needs Assessment; the impact of COVID-19; care and support needs identified; and the range and level of services required including preventative services, and assets that support people's well-being. Additional chapters describing the background, methods used, and demography of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are also provided.
- 1.6 Supplementary guidance issued in March 2021 by Welsh Government requested consideration of the Socio-Economic Duty, as well as the impact of COVID-19. Increased emphasis on housing needs and Welsh language was recommended. This iteration of the assessment presents these components within each chapter.
- 1.7 Well-being Assessments were conducted in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities concurrent to the Population Needs Assessment. Regular meetings were held between lead authors to promote cohesion between the assessments. The final Population Needs Assessment report will be updated to contain hyperlinks to the online Well-being Assessments (once published) to provide the reader with a comprehensive place-based understanding. The latest Sway report which contains a summary of findings from the Population Needs Assessment, and is aimed at engaging the general public, is available <u>here</u>."
- **1.8** The Population Needs Assessment will provide input to the Market Stability Report and Area Plan.

2. Key Issues for Consideration

- 2.1 The Population Needs Assessment (PNA) is a legal requirement under the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act. Welsh Government require that the Population Needs Assessment should be produced no later than 1st April 2022.
- **2.2** The PNA feeds into both the Market Stability Report and Area Plan; and therefore, is a crucial document for future planning purposes.

An Equality and Health Impact Assessment is attached as Appendix 2.

- **2.3** The overarching findings are below; however, each individual population group has bespoke care and support needs, and more detail can be found in the relevant chapter(s).
- 2.4 Care and Support needs

Individual

• People's independence must be maintained and facilitated within decisions for care and support, employment, and accommodation. Any such decisions should be based on consultation and co-production with the person they affect.

Community

- Social isolation was identified in the 2017 PNA and has been exacerbated for many due to COVID-19, with far-reaching consequences for physical and mental health and well-being.
- Holistic approach to physical and mental health, which includes improved access to services including reduction in waiting lists.
- Information provision: many people were unaware of support available to them and would benefit from increased signposting.

Wider determinants

- Employment (paid or voluntary) was desired by many to improve personal finances, as well as to provide a sense of purpose, reduce isolation, and to help protect people's mental health and well-being.
- Housing and accommodation needs to be available, accessible, safe, and supportive of what matters most to the individual, for example, enabling employment. Prevention and early help for homeless people needs to be enhanced.
- Inequalities were discussed in all chapters, especially in terms of socioeconomic deprivation, access to services, and health outcomes. COVID-19 has had a disproportionate impact across the population, in part due to preexisting inequalities in the social determinants of health that have been exacerbated by COVID-19 and restrictions.

Range and level of services

Prevention

- The following were identified as being able to prevent needs arising or escalating, and may facilitate improved outcomes for people:
 - Healthy behaviours such as physical activity to improve mental well-being and prevent falls.
 - Early identification, diagnosis, and intervention to support people at the right time, and promote better outcomes.
 - Social support, including maintenance of a social role, and digital inclusion.
 - Advocacy to enable people to express their views and wishes.
 - Care focussed on delivering services as close to people's homes as possible.

Assets to support well-being

- Individual sources of support across all groups included friends, families, and hobbies
- Local community support like community groups, neighbours, and community-based organisations including religious places of worship, choirs, and places to exercise.
- Local authority, NHS, and third sector services (both on a national and local footprint) were praised throughout engagement work.
- People with lived experience providing peer support (face to face or online) or as service providers were identified as important assets; and supported the need for inclusive recruitment across all sectors.
- Service users, professional leads, and providers identified the need for sustainable funding of statutory and third sector organisations to maintain and develop their services.

Community Services

- A whole system approach to care and support provision should prioritise continuity of care (for example, in transition between services); and joined up services between public, private and third sector providers for a "seamless" experience for service users.
- Equitable, accessible, and inclusive services, where access is tailored to the individual.
- Timely access to high quality care and support services.
- Respite care provision which is flexible and accessible to those who need it.
- Increased awareness of services available and the scope of their practice amongst service providers so that they can signpost.
- The social model of disability should underpin services; and language used should be respectful.
- Co-production at the heart of decisions.

Partnership Approach

- Many respondents to engagement work did not ask for traditional care and support services, but identified that their needs could be met through supportive employers:
 - Access to education.
 - Accommodation provision which gives individuals choice, including location.
 - Supports independence.
 - Welcoming community.
 - Enabling wider environment.

3. How do proposals evidence the Five Ways of Working and contribute to our Well-being Objectives?

- **3.1 Long term:** the Code of Practice states that each assessment report must look forward to the subsequent report; i.e., five years. Each chapter within this report contains a section which considers what changes may take place over the next five years, and projects beyond this time period where data is available.
- **3.2** Integration: the Population Needs Assessment for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan was written at the same time as the development of the Local Authority Well-being Assessments. Lead authors from each of these assessments met regularly during the development of the assessments, to ensure a cohesive approach. The final Population Needs Assessment report will contain links to the Well-being Assessment where relevant. The Population Needs Assessment will inform the Market Stability Report and Area Plans.
- **3.3 Involvement:** consultation is not formally required under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, however, the Code of Practice stipulates the need for citizen engagement, which was emphasised in the Supplementary Guidance issued in March 2021. This assessment took the following approach:
- 3.3.1 Surveys:
- Public survey (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)
- Children and young people survey (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)
- Survey for people in HMP Cardiff (available as hard copy)
- Professional and provider survey (available online or hard copy)
- 3.3.2 Focus group discussions: 23 focus groups were conducted, to obtain rich information for each theme. The focus groups were led by Cardiff Third Sector Council, with input from third sector organisations. Further details are available in the report.
- 3.3.3 Existing engagement: findings from prior engagement work were included where possible.
- 3.3.4 The draft Population Needs Assessment report was presented at Vale of Glamorgan Healthy Living and Social Care Scrutiny Committee, and Cardiff and Vale University Health Board Development meeting to collate feedback from members, to guide and shape the final report. Due to concurrent service pressures, the planned presentation at Communities and Adult Services Cardiff Scrutiny Committee and the Strategic Leadership Group could not take place, and the draft report was instead distributed electronically for review by members. The draft report was also distributed electronically to the Regional Partnership Board and Community Health Council for their comment.
- **3.4 Collaboration:** the assessment was conducted as a partnership between the Local Authorities of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, the Integrated Health and Social Care partnership (Regional Partnership Board), a member of the Market Stability Report team, and third sector representatives.

3.5 Prevention: each chapter relating to a theme in the report contains a section on services required for prevention. This is linked with assets identified from engagement work and from relevant literature as being supportive to people's well-being, enabling people to stay well.

Well-being Objectives: The Population Needs Assessment has well-being at its core. Key well-being objectives included within the assessment include the following:

- **3.6** A healthier Wales: the assessment of care and support needs, and the range and level of services is conducted to enable partners and other organisations to develop and improve services to support and promote health and well-being.
- **3.7** A more equal Wales: the Supplementary Guidance issued by Welsh Government requests the consideration of the Socio-Economic Duty. This is presented within each chapter in the assessment report.
- **3.8** A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language: Welsh language is considered within each chapter in the assessment report.
- **3.9** A Wales of cohesive communities: Assets to support well-being were considered at the individual, community, and population level, and are included within each chapter in the assessment report.

4. Resources and Legal Considerations

Financial

4.1 There are no financial resources required at this stage. The statutory requirement that Area Plan (which will be informed by the final Population Needs Assessment report) should be developed and implemented subsequently will have potential financial implications. These implications should be discussed as part of the Area Plans.

Employment

4.2 There are no employment implications at this stage. Emerging findings reported in the assessment report highlight the importance of education, employment and meaningful activities. This includes inclusive recruitment, in particular into public sector positions.

Legal (Including Equalities)

- **4.3** The publication of a Population Needs Assessment is a statutory requirement under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. Part 2 of the Code of Practice (General Functions) provides more detailed guidance.
- **4.4** The final report must be formally approved by the Local Authorities and the Local Health Board, to ensure that the information contained in the report is considered at the most senior levels. This will need to be done by the Board of the Local Health Board and in the case of the local authority will need to be approved by the full Council on submission by the Council's executive or board.

Once approved, assessment reports must be published on the websites of all Local Authorities and Local Health Boards.

- **4.5** Upon completion, assessment reports must be published on the websites of all Local Authorities and Local Health Boards involved in their production. A copy of the population assessment report must also be sent to Welsh Ministers at the time of publication.
- **4.6** The population assessment report should be written using accessible language so that it can be considered by members of the public. It is important the assessment report explains clearly how the local authorities and the Local Health Board have arrived at their decision in relation to the needs identified and the level of services required to meet those needs. An online summary for the general public, containing selected findings and recommendations for each chapter will be published alongside the full Population Needs Assessment report. The aim of the summary is to increase access and engagement with the Population Needs Assessment for people living in our communities.
- **4.7** Local authorities and Local Health Boards must produce one population assessment report per local government electoral cycle.
- **4.8** In producing a population assessment report Local Authorities and Local Health Boards must be forward looking and consider the needs for care and support and needs for carers for the whole period up until the next population assessment is due for publication. However, given that circumstances may change, the partnership arrangement established to carry out the population assessment must keep the population assessment report under review. The population assessment report should be reviewed as required, but at least once mid-way through the population assessment period. If this review identifies a significant change in the needs for care and support or the needs of carers, an addendum should be produced and similarly be published and sent to the Welsh Ministers.

5. Background Papers

Minutes of Healthy Living and Social Care Scrutiny Committee – Minute No. 726

https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/ Committee%20Reports/Scrutiny-HLSC/2022/22-01-11/Minutes.pdf

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Code of Practice (Part 2 General Functions) (2015) [online]. Available from:

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/part-2-code-of-practicegeneral-functions.pdf

Population Needs Assessments: Supplementary Advice for Regional Partnership Boards (March 2021) [online]. Available from:

<u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/population-needs-</u> assessments.pdfPNA



CARDIFF AND THE VALE OF GLAMORGAN POPULATION NEEDS ASSESSMENT 2022







Published on 1st April 2022

This Population Needs Assessment for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan covers the period 2022 - 2027





Contents

1. Executive Summary	4
2. Background to the Population Needs Assessment	8
3. Methods	11
4. Demography	17
5. Children and Young People	25
6. Children and Young People with Complex Needs	41
7. Children Looked After	52
8. Older People	60
9. Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions	79
10. Physical Disability	92
11. Learning Disability	104
12. Autism	115
13. Adult Mental Health	122
14. Cognitive Impairment including Dementia	133
15. Adult Unpaid Carers	142
16. Sensory Loss and Impairment	151
17. Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence	166
18. Substance Misuse	
19. Secure Estate	195
20. Asylum Seekers and Refugees	213
21. Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)	226
22. Appendix	235
23. Glossary	237
24. Acknowledgements	239
25. References	240



1. Executive Summary



Background

This is the second Population Needs Assessment for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, following the first published in 2017. The Population Needs Assessments (PNA) are required under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, and must contain an assessment of the needs for care and support amongst the residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, and the range and level of services required to meet that need. The Act specifically asks for an assessment of nine named themes within the population, and allows for consideration of other themes relevant to the local area. These are presented here as individual chapters.

The PNA should be read alongside the complementary Well-being Assessments for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan to gain a comprehensive understanding of the region. The Wellbeing Assessments, required under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, investigate social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of an area, which provide a detailed overview of the wider determinants of health.

Methods

The PNA was undertaken between May 2021 and March 2022, and provides an update of the 2017 report. A number of different approaches were taken to collect information to provide a holistic and comprehensive assessment. Firstly, existing data, reports, and research were identified from a range of sources, including data from health, local authorities and third sector organisations. Dedicated engagement was carried out, including surveys for the general adult population, children and young people, residents of HMP Cardiff, and for professionals and providers. Twenty-three focus groups were conducted, led and supported by local third sector organisations. The branding developed for the 2017 Population Needs Assessment "*amser siarad*" / "*let's talk*" was used for the citizen engagement.

Professional leads were identified from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, and other organisations where appropriate, in order to understand the context of each theme, and help guide the data collection and interpretation.

The assessment was overseen by a dedicated Steering Group, with representatives from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, the Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board, and those working on the Market Stability Report. The group reported to the Regional Partnership Board.

Demography

The population of both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan has continued to increase, driven mostly by the 16-64 year-old age group, who now make up 65% of the population. One in five (18%) are aged under 18 in both local authorities, but the Vale of Glamorgan has a





higher proportion aged 65+ (21% compared to 14% in Cardiff). The total population is expected to increase further over the next two decades, with an increasing proportion of those aged 65+. The Vale of Glamorgan is projected to have the second largest whole population growth by percentage of local authorities in Wales.

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 suggests that there are areas of established inequalities across the Cardiff and Vale region; with areas in the "Southern Arc" in Cardiff and areas in the East of Barry ranked as more deprived against the WIMD.

Key findings

Relevant findings for each population group are presented in the relevant chapter. Crosscutting findings, those identified across multiple population groups, are presented below. Chapters should be considered together, as people may feel part of more than one theme.

Improvements in care and support services have been made across all population groups since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment, despite the challenges of COVID-19. COVID-19 has had a number of impacts, including increasing demand for services, especially mental health, and changing models of delivery for many services.

Care and support needs

Individual

• People's independence must be maintained and facilitated within decisions for care and support, employment and accommodation. Any such decisions should be based on consultation and co-production with the person they affect

Community

- Social isolation was identified in the 2017 PNA and has been exacerbated for many due to COVID-19, with far-reaching consequences for physical and mental health and well-being
- Holistic approach to physical and mental health, such as improved access to services including reduction in waiting lists
- Information provision; many people were unaware of support available to them and would benefit from increased signposting

Wider determinants

- Employment (paid or voluntary) was desired by many to improve personal finances, as well as to provide a sense of purpose, reduce isolation, and to help protect people's mental health and well-being
- Housing and accommodation needs to be available, accessible, safe, and supportive of what matters most to the individual, for example, an enabling employment. Prevention and early help for homeless people needs to be enhanced
- Inequalities were discussed in all chapters, especially in terms of socio-economic deprivation, access to services, and health outcomes. COVID-19 has had a disproportionate impact across the population, in part due to pre-existing inequalities in the social determinants of health that have been exacerbated by COVID-19 and restrictions





Range and level of services

Prevention

The following were identified as being able to prevent needs arising or escalating, and may facilitate improved outcomes for people:

- Healthy behaviours such as physical activity to improve mental well-being and prevent falls
- Early identification, diagnosis, and intervention to support people at the right time, and promote better outcomes
- Social support, including maintenance of a social role, and digital inclusion
- Advocacy to enable people to express their views and wishes
- Care focussed on delivering services as close to people's homes as possible

Assets to support well-being

- Individual sources of support across all groups included friends, families, and hobbies
- Local community support like community groups, neighbours, and community-based organisations including religious places of worship, choirs, and places to exercise
- Local authority, NHS, and third sector services (both on a national and local footprint) were praised throughout engagement work
- People with lived experience providing peer support (face to face or online) or as service providers were identified as important assets; and supported the need for inclusive recruitment across all sectors
- Service users, professional leads, and providers identified the need for sustainable funding of statutory and third sector organisations to maintain and develop their services

Community services

A whole system approach to care and support provision should prioritise:

- Continuity of care: for example, in transition from children's to adult services; between NHS services; between prison services and health and local authority services following release; leaving military service; and joined up services between public, private and third sector providers for a "seamless" experience for service users
- Equitable, accessible, and inclusive services, where access is tailored to the individual. For example, through interpreter provision; letters provided in large print; offering choice of face to face, telephone, or online services; and culturally sensitive services
- Timely access to high quality care and support services
- Respite care provision which is flexible and accessible to those who need it
- Increased awareness of services available and the scope of their practice amongst service providers so that they can signpost
- The social model of disability should underpin services; and language used should be respectful
- Co-production at the heart of decisions





Partnership approach

Many respondents to engagement work did not ask for traditional care and support services, but identified that their needs could be met through:

- Supportive employers and access to education, through provision of reasonable adjustments and inclusive recruitment, for example
- Accommodation provision which gives individuals choice, including over location, and supports independence
- A welcoming community and an enabling wider environment. People considered their communities as assets, but improvements remain to be made to increase awareness of the needs of others. For example, considerate use of public spaces for disabled people; bystander awareness of violence against women and domestic abuse; and accessible transport options

What happens next

The findings of this 2022 Population Need Assessment will be used to plan future "*deep dive*" research, strategic commissioning plans, and inform both the Market Stability Report and the Area Plan. As the COVID-19 pandemic and restrictions continue, some of the needs identified may be exacerbated further, and disproportionately so, for some population groups. The findings presented should therefore be considered in the context of continuing change. What is evident, however, is the need for all stakeholders to work closely together, and consider the person at the heart of their work.





2. Background to the Population Needs Assessment

Legal Requirement

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 placed a duty on local authorities and Local Health Boards to firstly undertake an assessment of the care and support needs of the population, including carers who need support. Secondly, an assessment of the range and level of services required to meet those needs is required. The Population Needs Assessment (PNA) should place well-being at its core, and align with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (1).

The Population Needs Assessment should work towards the development of preventive, integrated, people-centred health and care services (1). The assessment will underpin regional plans and priorities for care and support service provision, for example, the Market Stability Report and the regional Area Plan. The first Population Needs Assessment was published in April 2017, with the publication of an Area Plan in March 2018.

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan

This Population Needs Assessment encompasses the Local Authorities of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board was established to support and develop partnership working. Membership includes the City of Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Third Sector Council, and Glamorgan Voluntary Service (2).

Themes

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 requires the Population Needs Assessment to consider certain "themes", with scope to include further themes as relevant to the local region. The following themes are a statutory requirement:

- Children and young people
- Health / physical disabilities
- Learning disability / autism
- Mental health
- Carers who need support
- Sensory impairment
- Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence
- Secure estate
- Older people

The following themes have been additionally included as they are of local importance:

- Asylum seekers and refugees
- Substance misuse
- Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)





Many people living in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan may consider themselves to belong in more than one of the themes listed. This has been acknowledged within each of the chapters in this assessment. Each chapter in this report suggests further related chapters to provide the reader with a comprehensive overview of the topic area.

The legislation requires an assessment of housing and accommodation, and so these findings have been presented within each population group. The recent Supplementary Guidance (3) advises that the impact of COVID-19 and consideration of the new Socio-Economic Duty (which came into effect in March 2021) is included in the PNA. These findings have been incorporated into each chapter. The Socio-Economic Duty is reflected within each chapter under the subheading "Deprivation".

Welsh Language and Equality Profile

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 requires the PNA to establish the Welsh language community profile, and that the linguistic profile of the communities is incorporated into service planning and delivery (1). This should include profiling of the need for care and support services to be provided in Welsh, including the range and level of services required and gaps in current provision. This, and other language and communication needs are included in these sections where relevant, to aid person-centred service planning, under the subheading "Language and communication".

The Act requires that an Equality Impact Assessment must be conducted during the PNA process, including assessment of the protected characteristics of: age, race, sex and sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, religion and beliefs, marriage and civil partnership, disability (1). The complementary Equality and Health Impact Assessment is available as a separate document (4).

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Services Board (PSB) to produce a Well-being Assessment. There are two PSBs in the area covered by this PNA: Cardiff, and the Vale of Glamorgan. Well-being Assessments must investigate social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of the area. Therefore, these reports provide detail on the wider determinants of health. For a comprehensive understanding of the region, this PNA should be read alongside the Well-being Assessments for Cardiff, and the Vale of Glamorgan.

Market Stability Report

The Market Stability Report is an assessment of the overall sufficiency of care and support, and of the stability of the market for regulated services. It includes care homes (adult and children), secure accommodation, fostering and adoption services, advocacy, and domiciliary support as well as some non-regulated care and support services (5). The Market Stability Report builds on intelligence gathered from the PNA. The first Market Stability Report is due for publication in summer 2022.





Starting Well, Living Well, Ageing Well

This report is set out in line with the three Regional Programme Board (RPB) programmes: Starting Well, Living Well, and Ageing Well.

The Regional Outcomes Framework for Cardiff and Vale sets out the values, strategic aims, and eight core outcomes for the Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board (6). The PNA must be informed by the National Outcomes Framework (1), and so alignment between the National and Regional Outcome Frameworks was identified during the Population Needs Assessment (Appendix 1).





3. Methods

Timeframe

The assessment was undertaken during the period May 2021 to March 2022.

Methods used

Methods were based on the 2017 Population Needs Assessment and updated for this report. The COVID-19 pandemic has influenced how communications and engagement events can be run. Engagement conducted for the Population Needs Assessment needed to adhere with and anticipate future guidelines and legislation, as well as consider people's individual wishes. A number of different approaches were taken to obtain the information required including gathering existing data, assessments and reports, as well as conducting bespoke engagement work for this Population Needs Assessment.

Engagement work, to gather qualitative data, utilised the existing "amser siarad" / "let's talk" branding which was also used for the 2017 Population Needs Assessment. A list of supporting organisations can be found in Chapter 24 Acknowledgments.

Public surveys

Three public surveys were developed:

- Adults in the general public (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)
- Children and young people (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)
- Adults in Her Majesty's Prison (HMP) Cardiff (available as hard copy)

The surveys were based upon those used in 2017 and updated to reflect the additional requirements. All surveys in all formats were available in English and Welsh. The children and young people survey was piloted by members of Cardiff Youth Board, and updated in line with their feedback.

Surveys were live between 17 September 2021 and 17 October 2021. The link to the online surveys (and details of how to request hard copies) were disseminated through a variety of organisations, including Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council, Glamorgan Voluntary Services, Cardiff Third Sector Council, as well as through organisations working in health and social care services, education, and youth services. The survey was advertised through social media, and was seen by 68,000 people on Facebook resulting in 241 people clicking on the link; and by 9,126 people on Twitter, with 66 people clicking the link. Several third sector organisations kindly helped people with completion, for example, through provision of digital access and translation into other languages.

A total of 661 general adult surveys were returned. Based on postcode, 402 were from Cardiff and 105 from the Vale of Glamorgan. A total of 191 adult respondents of the public survey would like to be involved in future engagement work.







Figure 3.1. A map of location of survey respondents.

For the children and young people survey, 35 were returned. Cardiff Research Centre conducted the analysis of results for these surveys. Three adult and no children and young people Easy Read surveys were returned.

In HMP Cardiff, 400 paper copies of the survey were distributed between 28 September 2021 and 8 October 2021; with 96 completed returns.

Focus group discussions

A focus group topic guide was developed from the requirements of the Population Needs Assessment (1) (3), and used the National Outcome Framework well-being outcome statements as anchors from which to initiate discussion (7). Topic areas were discussed with focus groups as relevant to the population (for example, a focus on communication in the sensory loss groups). A list of the focus groups, including numbers of attendees, is given in the Appendix, and organisations supporting the establishment and running of focus groups are presented in the Acknowledgements.

A total of 23 focus groups were held. These were conducted by Cardiff Third Sector Council with support from Glamorgan Voluntary Services and third sector organisations. Three planned groups did not take place as either no participants could be identified, or the provider withdrew. A total of 132 people attended the focus groups (range 1-12, average 6 attendees). Although groups were small and cannot be representative of the population group, they do provide depth of insight.

Professional and Provider Survey

A survey for professionals and providers of care and support in the region was developed, based on the survey used in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment. It was available online and as hard copy, in English and Welsh, from 17 September 2021 until 17 October 2021. Awareness of the survey was raised through the same mechanisms as the public surveys. Cardiff Research Centre analysed the results.





The survey received 118 responses. Two-thirds were from an individual health or social care professional, with one-quarter completed on behalf of a group or organisation. Twenty percent of responses were from a staff member at Cardiff Council, and 12% from Vale of Glamorgan Council. Twenty percent of responses were from the health service employees, 19% from staff working for an independent care provider, and 20% were employees at a charity or third sector organisation.

Population and Service data

Existing data were taken from a number of sources. To improve cohesion between the Wellbeing Assessments and the PNA, the same indicators were used where possible, for example, in the Demography chapter. Indicators reported in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment were included in this report where relevant and where up to date information was available. Additional indicators and data were identified through review of data catalogues produced by Social Care Wales, and the Well-being Assessments. Discussion with professional leads identified further sources of information for inclusion. At the time of writing, data from the 2021 Census was awaited and therefore could not be included in this assessment.

Existing reports and assessments

Where possible, existing reports and assessments were incorporated to develop a comprehensive assessment of the needs of the population. Background information such as policies, strategies, and research reports were collated to understand the contextual environment. These were identified by professional leads; through review of relevant organisational webpages (for example, Welsh Government or third sector organisations websites); and literature review. Effort has been made to identify data specific to Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. However, a great deal of research is conducted at a Wales-wide or wider level, and so findings have been included in this regional assessment where it is felt that findings may be applicable and relevant locally.

Professional leads

For each chapter in the PNA, professional leads were identified from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, and other organisations where appropriate to provide expert insight into the topic area. Professional leads (who are referred to throughout this report as "*professional leads*") identified key changes since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment, and key areas for investigation for this iteration of the assessment. Findings were shared with professional leads in November 2021 for their comment and feedback. Emerging findings were discussed with leads of the Well-being Assessments for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.

Oversight of the Population Needs Assessment

A steering group was established for the Population Needs Assessment which met on a monthly basis. The group reported to the Strategic Leadership Group, which reports to the Regional Partnership Board. Membership included a strategic lead and a data lead from each Local Authority; representatives from Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board including a Communications and Engagement





representative, Cardiff and Vale Local Public Health Team, Cardiff Third Sector Council, Glamorgan Voluntary Services, and the Market Stability Report. The group was chaired by the representatives from Cardiff and Vale Local Public Health Team.

Steering Group meetings informed the PNA development process, as well as alignment with the Market Stability Report, Well-being Assessments, and other assessments and plans. Regular meetings with representatives from the Well-being Assessments and Market Stability Reports were conducted in between Steering Group meetings to improve cohesion between assessments.

Limitations of the assessment

COVID-19 has had a tremendous impact on population needs, which this assessment will detail. Due to uncertainty of the future evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic in terms of restrictions and risks at each stage of the Population Needs Assessment, a cautious approach was taken. For example, engagement work was planned in an online format, with opportunities for face to face interactions in the focus group where legislation allowed, and where participants and hosting organisations felt comfortable. The tight timeline within which engagement work needed to be conducted reduced participation in both surveys and focus groups. Where possible, data from engagement work has been triangulated with information from other sources. The complementary Equalities and Health Impact Assessment identifies population groups who may have been underrepresented in this assessment (4). The Regional Partnership Board is developing its Communications and Engagement strategy which will address these difficulties and gaps, and will incorporate lessons learned. For example, some residents may not have digital access and may not wish to engage in face-to-face engagement, and so their views will continue to be sought in future work.

Some planned focus groups could not be held as no participants could be identified in the available time. The focus group for autistic adults became an interview with one individual; the substance misuse focus group included only two participants. Future engagement work will consider how best to garner the views of these population groups, working with partnerships that lead service commissioning and delivery in such arenas.

Limitations on publicly available quantitative data were noted, with some indicators last updated before COVID-19. The 2021 Census data will be available in spring 2022, which will be incorporated into future updates of the Population Needs Assessment.

Equality and Health Impact Assessment

The Code of Practice requests that an Equality Impact Assessment is conducted as part of the Population Needs Assessment (1). No negative impacts from any of the protected or health characteristics were identified, but it was recognised that engagement work did not capture a representative sample of the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, with under-representation from people who are trans; women who are expecting a baby, on a break from work after having a baby, or breastfeeding; people who are from an ethnic minority background; people who consider themselves: Buddhist, Hindu, Jewish, Muslim, or





Sikh; those whose disability meant they were physically unable to participate in engagement and did not have an individual who could speak for them; and Gypsies and travellers. In addition, there was under-representation from people who are digitally excluded. The Equality and Health Impact Assessment is available as a separate document (4).

Recommendations for the Population Needs Assessment in future

The PNA Steering Group decided to take a novel approach to future iterations of the Population Needs Assessment. The Population Needs Assessment should ideally contain up to date data, be of local use and value, and with the vision of becoming a "living resource". This is of particular importance due to the ongoing evolving impact of COVID-19. As a first step towards this, future Population Needs Assessments for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan will further develop this assessment and take a hybrid approach: a rolling update of quantitative data, and an intermittent update of qualitative data through bespoke engagement work. This approach aims to balance the need for relevant and timely information, within the resource requirements. Key data sources will be included as they become available, for example, the 2021 Census data will be published in spring 2022.

Liaison with Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council and the Vale of Glamorgan Council, and the Regional Outcomes Framework will take place in order to develop a robust and regular reporting mechanism for quantitative indicators.

The Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board will continually engage with the population to make sure that people are involved with their decisions. This will ensure that all their work is based on the priorities and experiences of people who use services and community spaces, now and in the future. The three programme areas of Starting Well, Living Well, and Ageing Well, will engage with children, young people and adults to ensure lived experiences shape services across the region. The programmes will ensure this includes the full range of voices from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan's diverse population to build in the wide range of experiences and needs people have when making any developments.

Next steps

Recommendations for each chapter were developed based on the triangulation of data, and are by no means exhaustive. Recommendations include addressing identified unmet needs and strengthening successful initiatives. Data gaps exist for each population group and further insight development may be required as a first action. This will include discussions between the Regional Partnership Board, which oversees the Population Needs Assessment, the Public Services Boards (which oversee the Well-being Assessments), and other partners.

The Regional Partnership Board will ensure that relevant organisations work together to respond to the assessment findings. Local authorities are required to use this assessment within their service provision (1).

The Market Stability Report will further develop the findings of the Population Needs Assessment to both undertake a Market Sufficiency Assessment and to understand the market stability. The Cardiff and Vale Area Plan will be developed based on the findings of





this Population Needs Assessment, alongside other local plans. In addition, initial healthcare demand modelling will be conducted locally to investigate prevalence and incidence of health conditions, and frailty in older age, with respect to projected changes in local demography, in order to model the demand on future health services.



4. Demography



Current population structure

The populations of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are increasing. In 2020, there were 369,202 people living in Cardiff, and 135,295 in the Vale of Glamorgan (8). This is an increase of 11,706 people in Cardiff and 7,315 in the Vale of Glamorgan following the 2017 PNA (8). This change has been driven by the 16-64 age group who now make up 65% of the population, with that proportion being slightly higher in Cardiff than the Vale of Glamorgan. In both local authority areas, 18% of the population are aged under 16, which is a 2.7% decrease from 1991. This is likely reflective of a decrease in fertility rate and an increase in the number (and proportion) of older people. The Vale of Glamorgan has a higher proportion of those aged 65+ (21% compared to 14% in Cardiff). These changes are shown in Figures 4.1 and 4.2.



Figures 4.3-4.4 demonstrate the age structure in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan in 2018 and that projected for 2043. In 2018, there were a higher proportion of people aged 16-44 in Cardiff, and a higher proportion of people aged 45 and over in the Vale of Glamorgan. This reflects, in part, the number of students in Cardiff (10).

Anticipated population change

The populations in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are expected to continue to increase, and a larger proportion will be aged 65+. Based on the 2018 population projections, over





the next decade the Vale of Glamorgan is anticipated to experience the second largest percentage population growth of any local authority area (after Newport) with a projected growth of 6%. By 2043, the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan is projected to have a greater proportion of people aged 65+, who will make up 20% of the population (a 4% increase from 2018) (11). Those aged 65 years and above made up 14% of the population in Cardiff in 2018, and 21% in the Vale of Glamorgan (21% for Wales). By 2043, this is expected to be 18%, 27%, and 26% respectively (11). Figures 4.3 and 4.4 compare the 2018 population age structure with the anticipated population in 2043, and demonstrate the increase in people aged over 65. It should be noted that population projections are developed based on assumptions on the determinants of population change (i.e., births, deaths, and migration), which are themselves based on historical trends, and do not allow for the impacts of future changes, for example, due to government policy. Migration projections are based on the previous 5 years and do not include short term migrants, i.e., those resident under 12 months. Projections become increasingly uncertain the further into the future they project (10). Therefore, projections should be interpreted with caution and reviewed periodically.



Figure 4.3. Comparison of population structure by age in Cardiff in 2018 with the projected population in 2043 Source: Stats Wales (10)







Figure 4.4. Comparison of population structure by age in the Vale of Glamorgan in 2018 with the projected population in 2043 Source: Stats Wales (10)

Drivers of population change

Births

Since 2013 the number of births per year has declined for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, in line with the picture across Wales (12). The General Fertility Rate has decreased between 2013 and 2019, from 56% to 44% in Cardiff, and from 61% to 53% (currently equal to the Welsh average) in the Vale of Glamorgan (11). Figures 4.5 and 4.6 show the age specific fertility rate over by age group, between 2013 and 2019. Of note, the age specific fertility rate has decreased over this period for all age groups under 34 years. Projections indicate that the recent downward trend in births (2010 – 2020) will remain relatively stable for approximately the next 10 years, and then follow a slight upward trend. It is projected that beyond 10 years, in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, there will be an increase of approximately 10% in terms of the number of births in the area by 2043. This compares with a Wales-wide increase of approximately 5% across the same period. A number of factors influence fertility projections, such as fertility rates, age structure of the population, migration (migrants are concentrated at young adult ages), as well as other factors (13). Note that projections become less accurate the further into future they project, so these figures must be interpreted with caution.





Figure 4.5. A graph of agespecific fertility rate in Cardiff, by age group, from 2013 to 2019 Source: ONS (12)



Figure 4.6. A graph of agespecific fertility rate in the Vale of Glamorgan, by age group, from 2013 to 2019 Source: ONS (12)





Figure 4.7. Agestandardised mortality rate between 2013 and 2020, for Cardiff, the Vale of Glamorgan, and Wales Source: ONS (14)

The age-standardised mortality rate for the Vale of Glamorgan is significantly below that of Cardiff (which is almost equal to the Wales-wide average). An increase in both the absolute number of deaths as well as the age-standardised mortality rate is observed for 2020, due to COVID-19. Figure 4.7 demonstrates an increase in age-standardised mortality rate in





2020, corresponding to the COVID-19 pandemic. Measures of excess deaths compare deaths in 2020, to the 2015-2019 average deaths for the same week. Excess deaths have been predominantly due to COVID-19. Across Wales, the first and second waves of COVID-19 are clear, with excess deaths of over 400 per week (where COVID-19 was mentioned on the death certificate). The lower numbers of COVID-19 deaths since July 2021 are thought to be in part due to high vaccination coverage. Non-COVID-19 deaths have been mostly below average between November 2020 and April 2021, and have been closer to average between April and September 2021 (15).



Excess mortality, count, persons, all ages, Vale of Glamorgan, week ending 06 Mar 2020 to 24 Dec 2021*, compared to 2015-2019 average Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using PHM (ONS)

Week ending

Figure 4.8. Excess mortality in Cardiff (top) and the Vale of Glamorgan (bottom) for COVID-19 related deaths, and non-COVID-19 related deaths. Source: Public Health Wales Observatory (16)





Figure 4.8 demonstrates excess mortality for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, which follows a similar pattern as for all Wales for both COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 related deaths (16).

Migration

Cardiff has seen total net in-migration for a number of years, which is driven by high levels of international in-migration. The Vale of Glamorgan has also seen total net in-migration for a number of years, driven by migration within the UK. Between Wales and the rest of the UK, inward migration has generally exceeded outward migration since 2001 in the Vale of Glamorgan, whereas outward migration to the rest of the UK has been marginally greater in Cardiff in most years since 2001 (17). Over the next 15 years in Cardiff, net in-migration is anticipated, followed by 10 years of net out-migration (mainly driven by movement within the UK). The Vale of Glamorgan is projected to have consistent levels of total net in-migration, driven by internal UK migration.

Healthy Life Expectancy



Figure 4.9. Healthy life expectancy at birth for males (left) and females (right), between 2011/13 and 2017/19. Source: ONS (18)

Healthy life expectancy at birth for males in Cardiff has increased over time and is currently above the Welsh average, whereas for females, healthy life expectancy at birth has fallen overall from the 2011-13 position, but has been rising steadily from following a low point in 2015-17 (18).

In the Vale of Glamorgan, healthy life expectancy at birth for males has fallen by almost 4.5 years between 2011 and 2019, and is currently slightly below the Wales average. For females, healthy life expectancy at birth has fallen by 4 years from a peak in 2013-15 (18).





Deprivation

The 2017 PNA identified the stark inequalities between areas within Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, with no evidence that the gap between the most affluent and most deprived was reducing. The COVID-19 pandemic has shone a spotlight on inequalities as a root cause of the increased morbidity and mortality seen in some communities and the burden of restrictions falling on some people who are in the most vulnerable situations. This is explored in more detail in the Director of Public Health Annual Report, including differences in mortality, vaccination coverage, employment, and housing (19).

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 suggests that there are areas of established inequalities across the Cardiff and Vale region; with areas in the 'Southern Arc' in Cardiff and areas in the East of Barry ranked as more deprived against WIMD. In Cardiff, 39 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) are included in top 10% most deprived in Wales, while 3 LSOAs in the Vale of Glamorgan are ranked in the top 10% most deprived area in Wales (20).

In Cardiff, around one-fifth of residents live in the most deprived 10% LSOAs, and approximately 50% of Cardiff's population live in the 50% least deprived LSOAs (105 LSOAs), while for the Vale of Glamorgan, 65% live in the 50% least deprived areas (28 LSOAs) (21). Amongst children aged 0-4 years, Cardiff has both the most and least deprived middle super output areas in Wales, with income deprivation rates between 3% in Rhiwbina and Pantmawr, to 67% in Ely East (22).



Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Produced by using 2019 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation Government

Ethnicity

The Annual Population Survey identified an increase from 10.4% in 2004 to 20.1% in 2020 of people in Cardiff who are Black, Asian, or from a minority ethnic group. The Vale of





Glamorgan has seen a small increase in people who are Black, Asian, or from a minority ethnic group over the same time period (23).

Language

The 2011 Census identified that most (98.4%) of residents in the Vale of Glamorgan have English or Welsh as their main language. This is slightly higher than the Wales average (97.1%). Across Wales, Cardiff has the lowest proportion of people speaking English or Welsh as their first language at 91.7% (24).





5. Children and Young People

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Children Looked After; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; Learning Disability; Autism; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; VAWDASV; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Secure Estate

Recommendations

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Adopt the NEST Framework and No Wrong Door approach
- Strengthen actions to ensure information is accessible to children and young people; and they are invited to co-produce services so they are person-centred, and help children and young people feel valued
- Monitor emerging literature on long COVID in children and young people

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

- Continue to promote preventative strategies including routine immunisations
- Continue to develop partnerships with Education services and embed the whole school approach to emotional health and wellbeing
- Increase funding available to mental health services for children and young people (25)
- Target waiting list times, especially for children and young people's mental health services
- Develop Integrated Model for Emotional Health and Well-being for Cardiff and Vale

5.1 Overview

Children and young people will be considered in this PNA as those aged up to 18 years of age, although age cut offs and ranges vary between services and policies. Children and young people may be included within many of the other population groups within this report. Children and young people with complex needs are discussed in chapter 6, and children looked after in chapter 7.

Table 5.1 demonstrates the number of children and young people in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, by age group, and as a percentage of the total population of the local authority. Cardiff has higher numbers of children and young people, but for those aged 0-4 and 5-15, the proportion of the population is similar to the Vale of Glamorgan. Cardiff has a higher proportion of young people aged 16-24 years (see also Chapter 4: Demography).





Table 5.1. The number (and percent of total population of local authority area) of children and young people in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, by age group, in 2020

, , ,				
	0-4 years	5-15 years	16-24 years	
Cardiff	20,417 (6%)	47,578 (13%)	61,111 (17%)	
Vale of Glamorgan	7,003 (5%)	17,914 (13%)	12,552 (9%)	

Source: Stats Wales (8)

The Pupil Level Annual School Census (for children aged 5 – 15 years) from 2020/21 identifies 51% pupils as male, 49% female in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, as per the Wales average (26). In Wales, 13% of children aged 5-15 years identify as from a Black, Asian, or minority ethnic group. This is 11% in Vale of Glamorgan; whereas Cardiff has a notably more diverse population with 36% from a Black, Asian, or minority ethnic group Cardiff (26) (note that the Annual Population Survey reports that 20% of the total population of Cardiff identify as from a Black, Asian, or minority ethnic group) (23).

Young carers

Young carers are children and young people under 18 years of age who provide care for someone else who has support needs, for example, due to a physical or mental health problem, a physical or learning disability, or substance misuse (27). Young adult carers are between the ages of 16 and 24. Their needs are considered in Chapter 15. The 2011 Census identified 1,579 young carers in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but this is known to be an underestimation (28). The 2021 Census will provide updated figures when it is published in 2022. The YMCA Young Carers project supported 51 young carers in 2017/18, and 114 in 2020/21 in the Vale of Glamorgan (29). In Cardiff, the project supported 276 young carers in 2017/18, and 277 in 2020/21 (30). Of the 35 survey respondents, 11% (n=4) were young carers.

Across Wales, in 2018/19, 895 assessments of need for support for young carers were undertaken, of which 2 were in Cardiff, and 16 in the Vale of Glamorgan. This compares to 19 and 12 respectively in 2016/17 (31).

Engagement

Information for this chapter is taken from a range of reports and data sources. Thirty-five children and young people responded to the children and young people survey; and 30 respondents to the provider survey provided support for children and young people.

5.2 What has changed since 2017?

5.2.1 **Pre-COVID-19**

The following national initiatives have taken place since the 2017 PNA:

- The Children's Commissioner for Wales's report, No Wrong Door, in 2020 (32)
- The NEST Framework in 2021 (33) more detail provided below
- The Additional Learning Needs and Educational Tribunal Act, which was launched in September 2021, and places the needs of children and young people at the centre of decisions for education through Individual Development Plans, and sets out the rights for appeal for decisions (34)





• The Integrated Care Fund (launched 2016/17) has changed remit over its course, enabling the funding of additional work streams (see details in relevant subthemes). The Transformation Fund (launched 2018) aimed to promote innovation; however, remaining funds have since been redirected to COVID-19 (32)

Regionally, the following have been implemented:

- Cardiff was the first city in Wales to develop the Child Friendly City Strategy in 2018. The UNICEF initiative includes the aims of empowering children and young people to understand their rights; and providing equality of opportunity and high-quality education (35).
- The Vale of Glamorgan Council supports the delivery of the Rights Ambassador programme which raises awareness of children's rights with children and young people across Vale schools
- The Cardiff Children's Services Strategy anticipates future challenges, and includes early help, social care, safeguarding, and children and young people with complex needs (36)
- The Vale of Glamorgan Children and Young People Services Service Plan includes social care, as well as early years such as Flying Start, the Youth Offending Service, and Families Achieving Change Together (37)
- In the Vale of Glamorgan, the Standards and Provision Service Plan (38) includes the Youth Service and the Rights Ambassador Programme, educational attainment including reducing school absence rates, and addresses issues arising from the impact of COVID-19 on schools and pupils
- The Cardiff Additional Learning Needs Strategy 2018-22 sets out a framework for action to implement the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act (39)
- The Vale of Glamorgan Additional Learning Needs and Well-being Service Plan (40), which implements the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act to support those aged up to 25 years who have additional learning needs. The Plan also includes safeguarding, partnership work to improve service delivery, and a whole school approach to promote well-being

5.2.1 COVID-19

The following themes were identified from the literature and engagement work as having been particularly impacted by COVID-19 or the restrictions, which were first introduced in March 2020.

Direct impacts of COVID-19

Between March 2020 to October 2021, 69 children and young people were admitted to hospital in Cardiff and Vale UHB with a primary diagnosis of COVID-19; of which 7 required high dependency or intensive care (41).

Long COVID describes the presence of symptoms four or more weeks after the original suspected COVID-19 infection, that were not explained by an alternative cause. Symptoms include weakness/tiredness, shortness of breath, and difficulty concentrating. The Office for




National Statistics reports the numbers of people living in private households with selfreported long-COVID by age group, for the UK: 20,000 children aged 2-11 years are estimated to have long COVID, 49,000 children and young people aged 12-16 years, and 142,000 people aged 17-24 years (42). No data are available for long COVID at a local authority or health board level at the time of writing.

Service changes due to COVID-19 and restrictions

The Paediatric Emergency Department saw a marked reduction in attendances (21,317 in 2020/21, compared to 34,900 in 2019/20). Reasons for attending the Emergency Department also changed with fewer accidents, but more thermal injuries/burns, likely reflective of spending more time in the home due to lockdown and restrictions (43).

Respondents to the provider survey articulated the increase in mental health needs, behaviours of concern, crisis presentations, and the need for respite. Providers reported changes in service provision, with closure of some services and switch to virtual provision where it was possible. Staff were concerned for future service provision, being unable to recover from backlog, increasing waiting lists, and funding difficulties.

Mental health impacts of COVID-19 restrictions

The pandemic response has had a significant negative impact on children and young people in Wales on mental health and well-being; with loneliness, isolation, and parental stress contributing (44). More Welsh children have been exposed to Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV), reflected by increased calls to helplines (44). In Wales, adolescents were found to be particularly vulnerable to the mental health impacts of pandemic restrictions than younger children or older adults; as were young people not in employment, education or training, and people from more deprived areas (44).

Regionally, there were increased attendances to the Paediatric Emergency Department for mental health disorders such as self-harm, suicidal ideation or attempt, eating disorders, and increased behaviours of concern which parents and carers could no longer manage at home (43). Increased attendances have put strain on specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) crisis teams (43). Figure 5.1 below shows the increase in admissions to hospital for an eating disorder amongst those aged 0-17 years (41). Note that these refer to admissions, not patients (there are 86 admissions in total between 2016/17 – 2020/21, corresponding to 51 patients).

Cardiff and Vale UHB do not have any inpatient CAMHS beds; inpatient CAMHS services are instead provided by Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Board unless there are exceptional circumstances. Children and young people who have an urgent physical medical need or are at risk from a physical health perspective as a result of a mental health diagnosis receive inpatient care in paediatric wards in Cardiff and Vale UHB (41).





Figure 5.1. Number of inpatient admissions to Cardiff and Vale UHB with eating disorder, for people aged 0-17 years. Source: Cardiff and Vale UHB (41)

llet's talk

amser siarad

The Director of Public Health for Cardiff and the Vale UHB examines children and young people's mental health in detail in their 2021 annual report, with focus on the impact of COVID-19 (19). Supporting emotional well-being and mental health of children and young people is a key priority, with reference to the early years being a crucial period of development, and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) having a detrimental effect on adult mental health (19).

Overlapping and widening inequalities

The Health and Social Care in Wales update following COVID-19 identifies that often it is the same groups of children and young people who are negatively affected by policies implemented throughout the pandemic (25). Children who are most vulnerable include: children with additional learning needs; ethnic minority children; Welsh medium learners who do not speak Welsh at home; children who lack internet access; children with developmental delay; and children from deprived areas, especially those with no access to outdoor space (25).

The Children's Commissioner for Wales identified the impacts of lockdown and restrictions including: social impact of not seeing friends and family; interruption of education; increased exposure to violence at home (reflected by a 50% increase in calls to help lines) (45).

Exacerbation of educational needs

Interruption of schooling was identified in the Children's Commissioner for Wales' 'Coronavirus and Me' survey as a negative impact of COVID-19 restrictions. Negative consequences include the impact on learning and education on children and young people from more deprived areas, who already suffered worse educational outcomes. Lockdown and restrictions have widened these outcomes gaps. In this survey only 11% of 12-18 yearolds stated they were not worried about their education (45), with worries arising from the quality and unfamiliarity of the virtual learning environment and communication with teachers and schools (44). Challenges around home learning included digital access, the home environment, and additional learning needs (45). The importance of school for access to emotional health and well-being support was observed; alongside the role of schools in providing food and shelter, and promoting a sense of community and belonging (44). The





financial impact on families of lockdown and restrictions has increased the number of children suffering food insecurity (46), at the same time as decreasing access to school meals. Survey respondents were also concerned about the impact on their education.



Mitigating negative impacts and promoting positive impacts

In Wales, protective factors to mitigate the negative impacts of the coronavirus restrictions included routines, spending time outdoors, and understanding coronavirus and the mechanism of transmission (44). Some positive impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic were also identified including discovering and enjoying the outdoors; taking up new hobbies; spending more time with family; and reduction in pressure from social situations and bullying (44) (45).

5.3 What are the care and support needs?

The following areas were identified as care and support needs for children and young people, from literature and engagement work.

5.3.1 Individual

Young carers

The 2016 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 'Young Carers Speak Out' report identified a lack of awareness of support available to young carers. Professional leads feel that this has now improved. A Young Carers Awareness Day was held in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan in January 2020. The Young Carers in Schools Programme established a Peer Review Panel of young carers across South East Wales, who review applications from schools applying for one of the three stages of the Young Carers in Schools Programme (28). Young carers have articulated needs with respect to mental health, wanting increased time for themselves to be a child or a young person, and support for their education.

Additional vulnerabilities

Some children may experience additional vulnerabilities if a parent or primary caregiver has experienced VAWDASV (see also chapter 17); is imprisoned (see also chapter 19); or has a substance misuse problem (see also chapter 18). Unaccompanied asylum seeking children are considered in chapter 20. These would all constitute an adverse childhood experience (ACE), which are associated with negative impacts across the life course (47).

Children and young people whose parent(s) are currently serving in the armed forces or have left military service (see also chapter 21) may experience both positive and negative impacts due to moving house, changing schools, making new friends and living abroad.





However, negative impacts were identified around worry for their parent(s) whilst they were deployed, and missing their parent(s) (48).

Language and communication

English was an additional language in 17% of primary school pupils in Cardiff, 3% in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 6% across Wales in 2020/21 (26). In Cardiff, most (85%) of primary school pupils cannot speak Welsh, but 9% are fluent in Welsh. In the Vale of Glamorgan, 81% cannot speak Welsh, and 11% are fluent (49). The survey for this assessment asked what languages respondents spoke at home. Most spoke English (n=22, 85%); and three or fewer responses were received for speaking English using Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC), Welsh, Gujarati, and Romanian.

In Wales, during COVID-19, most children in both Welsh and English-medium schools have been able to continue Welsh. In Welsh-medium schools, only 8% aged 7-11 and 15% aged 12-18 across Wales have not been continuing education in Welsh, and 31% of 7-11 year-olds and 26% of 12-18 year-olds in English-medium schools were not receiving opportunities to speak Welsh (45).

It is known that speech, language and communication difficulties in early childhood are associated with poor employment outcomes and poor mental health as adults, and are more common amongst young offenders, and those in areas of higher deprivation (50). Improving language development is one mechanism by which to reduce inequities, and break the intergenerational cycle of poor communication skills (51). The national prevalence of speech, language and communication difficulties is not known, however, the 2020 school census in Wales identified that 20% of children had special educational needs, of whom one third had speech, language, and communication difficulties (51). Welsh Government published 'Talk With Me: Speech, Language and Communication Delivery Plan' in 2020 (51). In Cardiff and the Vale, Speech and Language Therapists (SLTs) provide assessment, diagnosis and intervention to children and young people who have difficulties with speech, language, communication and swallowing difficulties. Services are provided in the family home, nurseries and schools, and in healthcare settings. Support ranges from initiatives with Flying Start (a Welsh Government programme to improve outcomes amongst children under 4 years old living in disadvantaged areas in Wales (52)) which aims to prevent difficulties and to promote healthy eating habits, to multi-disciplinary specialist team support for families to manage the impact of complex and lifelong conditions such as deafness, learning disability and autism (41).

5.3.2 Community

There were 2,940 and 821 assessments of need for care and support undertaken in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan respectively in 2018/19. This is an increase of 580 and 190, respectively, from 2016/17. Of these, in 2018/19, 352 assessments led to a care and support plan in Cardiff (data not available for the Vale of Glamorgan) (31).





Emotional health, mental health, and well-being

Primary Mental Health (PMH) service demand (for mild to moderate mental health concerns) has been found to be cyclical and tended to be associated with return to school after holiday periods. The Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) attend to patients with more severe mental health concerns. Referrals follow a similar pattern to Primary Mental Health. The Crisis service sees patients presenting to the Emergency Department who require urgent care (41).

Figure 5.2 demonstrates the number of referrals to PMH, CAMHS, and Crisis since April 2019, and figure 5.3 shows the waiting list length.



Amongst the 35 respondents to the PNA survey for children and young people, 12% rated their well-being as 3 or less out of 10, where 0 was the lowest and 10 the highest. Around half reported a score of 7+/10. The most commonly cited everyday problems experienced were emotional health (75% respondents); mental health (63% respondents); school (63%); and body image (45%). Two-thirds of survey respondents were worried for the future. Respondents were looking forward to taking part in sports/exercise; finishing college; gaining independence; getting a job and earning money; meeting new people and seeing





new things; and "being happy". Six respondents wanted additional support to help them reach their goals, including help from family, and developing further skills from specialist teaching staff. Note that these survey results are not representative, but do support the importance of mental health and well-being.

County Lines

The Cardiff and Vale UHB Safeguarding Annual Report 2020/21 identifies County Lines as a national issue, particularly affecting the most vulnerable. Children and young people can be targeted and exploited through grooming and threats; intimidating young people into drug-related criminal activity, and associated violent behaviour such as knife crime. A multiagency approach including South Wales Police, Cardiff and Vale UHB, and education has been taken to provide training and raise awareness of when to suspect and how to manage this phenomenon (43). Chapter 19 has further information on youth justice.

5.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

An evidence review of the human rights of children in Wales identified differential outcomes in health risk factors and outcomes, education, and wellbeing depending on socio-economic background (53). In terms of health, children aged 4-5 years in the most deprived decile were 76% more likely to be obese than those in the least deprived decile. Low birth weight and educational deprivation were also associated with income deprivation (54).



Figure 5.4. Proportion of the population aged 0-17 years within deprivation deciles, 2019

Source: Produced by Cardiff Council using Welsh Government data (22)

The most recent Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation report uses 2016/17 data, and found that 28% of children in Wales aged 0-4 lived in income deprivation (range 17%-30%). This is the highest proportion by age group. Cardiff has the highest number of 0-4 year olds living in income deprivation (6,600 children) but sits just above the Welsh average at 29%; the Vale of Glamorgan has nearly 2,000 children in income deprivation (23%). Cardiff has both the most and least deprived middle super output areas in Wales, with income deprivation rates between 3% in Rhiwbina and Pantmawr, to 67% in Ely East amongst children aged 0-4





years. In both local authorities, this represents a decrease from 2012/13: where Cardiff had 33% and Vale of Glamorgan 27% of 0-4 year olds living in income deprivation (22).

Welsh Government published its review on socio-economic disadvantage and inequalities of outcome in November 2021, and identifies that the attainment gap is evident even in primary school. Disadvantaged children are less likely to complete qualifications, and have reduced education and financial outcomes compared to non-disadvantaged peers. This disadvantaged position is further exacerbated by housing inequalities, for example, through lack of suitable environment to complete homework. This is described as having a "cyclical" intergenerational impact (55).

Twenty-six respondents of the survey answered questions relating to the Family Affluence Scale, also used by the School Health Research Network (56). Questions include whether the individual has their own bedroom; the number of computers/smart phones in the home; and the presence of a dishwasher. The Scale identified 7 of 26 respondents as low affluence, 14 as middle, and 5 as high affluence.

Free School Meals

One-fifth of school-age children in Wales in 2020 were eligible for free school meals, but amongst students with special educational needs, 45% were eligible (57). In the three years to 2021, 21% of primary school pupils in Wales were eligible for free school meals, with 15% in the Vale of Glamorgan and 25% in Cardiff (26). Across Wales, three-quarters of those eligible took up free school meals in 2019/20. This is expected to increase with the end of the Government furlough scheme (57).

School exclusion rates are higher for those eligible for free school meals than those not eligible (53). Free school meals have been associated with improved nutrition, school attendance, and school achievements (46). The attainment gap in Cardiff between those eligible and not eligible for free school meals grows from 10% in Key Stage 2 to 31% in Key Stage 4 in 2018 (35). The attainment gap in the Vale of Glamorgan between those eligible and not eligible for free school meals grows from 12% in Key Stage 2 to 31% in Key Stage 4 in 2018 (58). Across Wales in 2017/18, the percent of pupils achieving A*-C was consistently lower amongst those eligible for free school meals compared to those not eligible. For example, 38% versus 70% in English; and 39% versus 71% in Maths (59).

Education and employment

Estimates from 2020 suggest between 9-11% of 16-18 year-olds across Wales are not in employment, education, or training (NEET) (60). Estimates for those aged 19-24 is 15%. This is the result of a gradual decrease in NEET for this age group following a peak of 23% in 2009-2012 due to the 2008 recession (60). Young people with disabilities, in particular those aged 19-24, are more likely to be NEET than those without disabilities. One fifth of disabled people are NEET at age 16-18; this is two-fifths at age 19-24 (60).





Careers Wales report on pupil destinations using an annual survey of school leavers. Table 5.2 shows the number of pupils reporting that they are NEET in summer 2020. Note that the survey is completed by school leavers, and may therefore underestimate the total number of young people who are NEET.

Table 5.2. The number (and percent) of respondents to the annual survey of school leavers reporting that they are NEET, summer 2020

	Year 1	1	Year 1	2	Year 13		
	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	
Cardiff	67/3,255	2.1	7/1,819	0.4	36/1,366	2.6	
Vale of Glamorgan	13/1,457	0.9	5/794	0.6	21/676	3.1	
Wales	527/30,811	1.7	76/12,222	0.6	355/10,059	3.5	
<u> </u>	(61)						

Source: Careers Wales (61)

The Inspire to Work project in the Vale of Glamorgan was established in 2017 and supports young people aged 16-24 who are NEET, to find employment, or educational and training opportunities. Support is provided through a variety of mechanisms including 1:1 and group sessions, work experiences, and a personal Learning Coach who develops a bespoke action plan, based on the person's individual needs and priorities (58). The Communities for Work programme supports young people resident in specific areas of the Vale of Glamorgan find employment. Together, both programmes recorded 150 new engagements in the 2020/21 academic year (58).

In Cardiff, the Into Work Advice Service ties together many employment projects to support young people aged 16-24 get into work. Projects offer 1:1 mentoring within local community settings, funding for job specific training and barriers faced to employment (such as work clothes/PPE) and general advice/guidance to help young people navigate often their first steps into employment or a new career. There are tailored projects for young people who are homeless or have housing issues, and for those who are looked after or care experienced. These project offer extra support, including paid work placements and housing information. In the 2020/21 academic year, 819 young people aged 16-24 were supported as new engagements (30).

Of the 35 survey respondents, 66% were in school, 14% in college, 6% employed, 6% at university.

Housing

A notable proportion of the total number of households with dependent children accepted as eligible, unintentionally homeless and in priority need in Wales are in Cardiff: 420 of 864 households in 2016/17, and 363 of 1,005 households in 2018/19. The Vale of Glamorgan





had 36 and 42 households respectively. No data were collected for 2019/20 due to COVID-19 (62).

There were similar trends in numbers of homeless households with dependent children in temporary accommodation: 354 in Cardiff (total for Wales: 780) in 2016/17, rising to 366 (total for Wales: 849) by 2019/20. In the Vale of Glamorgan, these values were 27 and 39 respectively (62).

Housing services in the Vale of Glamorgan have supported 198 young people (aged 16-24) who are homeless or at risk of homelessness in the preceding 12 months. Support includes managing a tenancy, budgeting skills, domestic skills, moving to more appropriate accommodation, reducing isolation, and signposting (63). In 2020/21, Cardiff Council's Young Person Gateway has provided accommodation and support for 162 young people. This includes accommodation within the Gateway alongside support in areas such as mental health, access to education, employment, and independent living skills. The tenancy training pathway has seen 70 young people positively move on into social housing with all continuing to maintain this accommodation. Llamau, in partnership with Cardiff Council, have worked with 76 young people to provide mediation in order to prevent homelessness and allow young people, where safe and suitable to do so, to maintain their current accommodation (30).

5.3.4 Unmet needs

Survey respondents articulated concerns for the following, suggesting a need for further guidance and support. Note the small sample size of 35, which is not representative of the population of children and young people.

- Health worries: anxiety around a medical diagnosis, or recurrence of mental health problems
- Failure: not achieving exam success and the consequences; financial insecurity; "not achieving my dreams"
- The COVID-19 pandemic and the climate crisis

Gaps in knowledge and understanding stem from gaps in locally-available data as well as evolving and emerging events on a local and wider scale. These include:

- Emerging impacts of COVID-19, lockdown and restrictions including long COVID
- The number and characterisation of young carers results from the 2021 Census are awaited
- Associations of socio-economic status and care needs
- The prevalence of speech, language and communication difficulties in children and young people in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan
- Bullying in schools, and associated characteristics, such as protected characteristics
- Accompanied and unaccompanied asylum seeking and refugee children, and associated outcomes in terms of health and education/employment





5.4 What are the range and level of services needed?

5.4.1 Prevention and assets

Healthy behaviours

The School Health Research Network survey reports the following amongst secondary school pupils in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan:

- 2% of male and female respondents report smoking tobacco at least weekly
- 18% of males and 16% of females report ever trying e-cigarettes; with 2% using them at least weekly
- 7% of males and 5% of females have ever used cannabis
- 10% of males and 5% of females have spent their own money on gambling (56)

The National Child Measurement Programme data 2018/19 demonstrates that most children aged 4-5 are of a healthy weight (80% in the Vale of Glamorgan; 76% in Cardiff). In Cardiff, 13% are overweight, and 11% are obese. For the Vale of Glamorgan, the figures are 9% and 9% respectively. Compared to 2011/12, this represents a higher proportion of children being a healthy weight. At a national level, there is an increase in proportions of children being overweight and obese with increasing deprivation. The fifth of children who are least deprived have the highest proportion of children who are a healthy weight (64).

Reduction and mitigation of Adverse Childhood Experiences

ACEs comprise abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction (including parental substance misuse, violence, or separation), which have been associated with a variety of adverse outcomes across the life course, such as poorer health and wellbeing, worse educational attainment, and increased risk of incarceration (47) (65). Half of adults in Wales have had at least one ACE. One quarter of 49-year old adults with four or more ACEs have at least one chronic disease, compared to 7% of those with no ACEs (47).

ACEs can be intergenerational. Protective factors have also been identified, which mitigate or attenuate the association with ACEs. This means that there is opportunity to intervene within an early intervention approach to support children and their parents, or through taking an ACE-informed approach. Pilot routine "ACE enquiry" in three areas in Wales found high levels of first disclosure of ACEs (over 40% of caregivers) (65). Welsh Government have prioritised ACEs in its programmes (47).

Vaccination

Public Health Wales data demonstrate that decreasing vaccine uptake of the 6 in 1 vaccine by 1 year of age in Cardiff, is currently below the 95% target. The Vale of Glamorgan is just above the target. Data on children receiving the first MMR dose by 2 years, two MMR doses by 5 years, and the pre-school booster by 5 years show that both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are below the set target for 2019/20 (66).

Analysis by Public Health Wales shows that socioeconomic inequalities are associated with smaller differences in uptake in younger children, with bigger uptake differences in teenagers in Wales (67).





Assets to support well-being

Amongst survey respondents, the most common source of support was a parent/guardian, with 83.3% of respondents having received help from them. More than half of those surveyed received support from friends (59%), school teachers (57%), or a GP (53%). Other sources of support included youth centre/youth workers, social worker, third sector, and online support, local clubs and groups, sports clubs, and social media.

Professional leads identified the Join the Dots service by Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH) which supports children and young people to have an input into services.

Support available for young carers include the following:

- The Primary Mental Health team provides support for young carers and their families for anxiety, depression, stress, and relationship difficulties (27)
- Meic Cymru provides information, advice and advocacy (27)
- Action for Children work with young carers known to Children's Services; offer respite, and work to increase confidence and respond positively to challenges (27)
- Local authority support: in Cardiff, the Cardiff Family Gateway, and in the Vale of Glamorgan, Families First Advice Live provide information and signposting (27)
- The YMCA run Time 4 Me for young carers provides peer support (27)

5.4.2 Community services

Whole school emotional health

Advocated by the Together for Children and Young People 2 (T4CYP 2) programme, a whole school approach facilitates universal services and promotes joined up working (68). Welsh Government has published a framework on how to embed this approach to promote emotional and mental wellbeing (69). The 2021 annual report for the Director of Public Health in Cardiff and Vale UHB identifies that the education sector is well-placed for support provision, but recognises that local and national partners also have a key role, for example, through building resilience and positive behaviours (19).

Sustainable services

Professional leads identified that financial security for services is needed in order to maintain and build upon positive outcomes achieved so far.

5.4.3 Partnership approach

Person, not service, centred services

Professional stakeholders have articulated the need for services to join up, and provide holistic support that is seamless between services. Stakeholders for this report have identified that not all children and young people who have care and support needs will have a specified diagnosis. Services must be able to respond and support all children and young people based on their needs within universal services.







Figure 1 NEST diagram showing key areas, stakeholders and themes around early support and prevention.

The NEST (Nurturing, Empowering, Safe, Trusted) Framework promotes a person-centred, values-led, integrated whole system approach; supporting early help, the right help, and at the right time with the aim of improved mental health and emotional wellbeing (33). Collaboration across services including public and third sector will facilitate whole system approach and provide inclusive services for all those who may need them, rather than specialist interventions for specific groups. (3)

Figure 5.5. The NEST Framework (3)

In line with NEST, the No Wrong Door approach brings together services and asks services to wrap around children, young people, and their families, rather than asking those in need of care and support to understand a complex system (32).

A focus group respondent wanted a service priority to be: "uncomplicating things".

5.5 What is likely to happen in the future

The number of children aged 0-15 is projected to decrease in Cardiff by from 67,945 to 64,352 between 2020 and 2040, and increase slightly in the Vale of Glamorgan by from 25,000 to 25,207 between 2020 and 2040 (10). However, as a proportion, young people aged 15 and under were 18.5% of the population of Cardiff in 2020, and are estimated to make up 16.6% in 2040. For the Vale of Glamorgan, these values were 18.7% in 2020, and 17.2% in 2040. In line with this trend, the absolute number of young people aged 0-15 in Wales will decrease in the same time period, as will the proportion of the total population – from 17.9% in 2020, to 15.9% in 2040 (10). The reduction in the proportion of under 16s is likely reflective of the decreasing fertility rate, and increase in the number of older people. Note that projections should be interpreted with caution as they are based on historical trends.

COVID-19 and the restrictions placed on children and young people will have direct and indirect impacts on children and young people's health for some time to come; this has been considered in the Welsh Government update on Health and Social Care (25). Public Health Wales is researching the impact of COVID-19 combined with Brexit and climate change, called the "triple challenge", which will have wide ranging, dynamic, and synergistic impacts across the wider determinants of health for children and young people (70).





5.6 Recommendations

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Adopt the NEST Framework and No Wrong Door approach
- Strengthen actions to ensure information is accessible to children and young people; and they are invited to co-produce services so they are person-centred, and help children and young people feel valued
- Monitor emerging literature on long COVID in children and young people

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

- Continue to promote preventative strategies including routine immunisations
- Continue to develop partnerships with Education services and embed the whole school approach to emotional health and wellbeing
- Increase funding available to mental health services for children and young people (25)
- Target waiting list times, especially for children and young people's mental health services
- Develop Integrated Model for Emotional Health and Well-being for Cardiff and Vale





6. Children and Young People with Complex Needs

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People; Children Looked After; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; Learning Disability; Autism; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; VAWDASV; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Secure Estate

Recommendations

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, education providers, and third sector to:

- Promote universal and targeted early intervention and preventative services including parental support
- Undertake training to increase awareness and promote services accessible and comfortable for children and young people with neurodevelopmental disorders
- Work to ensure the T4CYP 2 programme is fully embedded

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Share good practice and learning
- Address data gaps
- Address gaps in service provision
- Promote early help and preventative approaches in line with T4CYP 2
- Embed the NEST framework and No Wrong Door approach
- Address the increasing waiting list for assessment

Regional Partnership Board to:

• Lead on development and implementation of an integrated model for children and young people's emotional health and wellbeing

6.1 Overview

Children and young people with complex needs includes those with disabilities and/or illness; those who are care experienced; those in need of care and support; those at risk of being looked after; and those with emotional behavioural needs (3). It should be stressed that the term "complex needs" refers to the fact the service provision required may be complex, and not the child or young person (32). This updated definition places additional focus on emotional health and well-being.





Children and young people with symptoms of autistic spectrum disorder, attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), or other conditions may be referred to neurodevelopmental assessment services for diagnosis. The neurodevelopment service in Cardiff and Vale University Health Board provides multidisciplinary assessment, intervention, information and support for patients and their families (71). For those who have received a diagnosis, post-diagnostic support may include multidisciplinary therapeutic interventions which best meet the child's needs (3). They provide support for the child or young person, as well as their families or carers. Inclusive support services are being developed so that children or young people who require support but do not have a diagnosis, and their families, are still able to receive the help they need.

There is no data source which provides figures for all children and young people with complex needs, in part due to the breadth of its definition. The Children Receiving Care and Support Census reports the number of children and young people receiving care and support services from a local authority (including children looked after), as well as some types of disability. Data are as follows:

	Car	diff	Vale of G	lamorgan
	2017	2020	2017	2020
Total number of children receiving care and	1,485	1,860	445	510
support services from the local authority				
Number of children with a disability	395	450	100	140
Number of children with a mobility disability	85	105	45	50
Number of children with a speech, hearing, and	195	250	65	80
eye sight disability				

Table 6.1. Number of children receiving care and support services from a local authority

Source: Stats Wales (72)

The Children Act 1989 requires each Local Authority to establish a "register" to enable service providers to work together with children and young people with disabilities and additional needs, and their families. In both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, this is known as "The Index". The Index provides support and local information on services and support, and helps service providers with planning (73). The Index is voluntary and therefore likely underestimates the true number of children and young people with disabilities and additional needs. This likely explains, in part, why the figure for Cardiff registrants is lower than the Vale of Glamorgan.

The Cardiff Index, launched in 2016, had 806 children and young people registered in January 2022. Of those registered, the majority are registered for autism (n=259); developmental delay (n=138); and behaviour/emotional difficulties (n=121). These figures represent a large increase from 2017, when only 90 were registered (74).

The Index in the Vale of Glamorgan has 823 children and young people registered; with 64 new registrations in the year 2020/21 and 27 children and young people deregistered for various reasons including becoming 18 (73). Over half (56%) live in Barry (45% in 2017). As





per Cardiff, Autistic Spectrum Disorder is the primary reason for registration (36%); however, half of registrants have behavioural/emotional difficulties (75).

Engagement for this chapter comprises of eight parents of children living with cerebral palsy (aged 8-11 years) from a focus group discussion. Their views will not be representative of all children and young people, and their parents, guardians, or carers, but do provide lived experience which complements other data sources.

6. 2 What has changed since 2017?

6.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

The Integrated Care Fund, launched in 2014/15, released funds for children and adults with complex needs and children with learning disabilities in 2016/17, bringing the Integrated Autism Service within remit (32). The Integrated Autism Service was launched in 2017 and provides assessment and diagnosis for adults for learning disability and autism; and provides support to services users, their families and carers, and professionals (76).

Since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment, the Autistic Spectrum Disorder Updated Delivery Plan 2018-2021 has been published (77), as well as the Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services 2021 (78). The Code sets out the range of support services for assessment, diagnosis, health and social care and broader work around training and awareness ranging.

The Together for Children and Young People (T4CYP) 2 Neurodevelopment Support agenda sets out a vision for services, implements pathways and standards, and works to improve outcomes and support for children and their families. It took over from the original T4CYP programme which ran from 2015-2019 (68). The programme supports the Additional Learning Needs Act (34).

6.2.1 COVID-19

Welsh Government published its report 'Locked Out: liberating disabled people's lives and rights in Wales beyond COVID-19' in 2021, which describes the impact of COVID-19 lockdown and restrictions on disabled people in Wales (79) (please see also Chapter 10). An intersectionality reference group, which included young people with disabilities in care, for the Locked Out report on people with disabilities and COVID-19 in Wales identified that young people were *"falling through the gaps"* in provision (79). This is echoed by the Care Quality Commission in England who document the impact of service disruption due to COVID-19 on children and young people, including the need to prevent gaps in care provision. Transition to adult services were identified as a priority area (80).

In addition, the Care Quality Commission described how the COVID-19 restrictions have placed strain on care and support providers, as well as children, young people and their families and carers as described throughout this report. Mitigating the negative impacts of service disruption (such as the pause in face to face services and the switch to virtual modalities) must be a priority. This should include care where it is needed to prevent placement breakdown (80).





6.3 What are the care and support needs?

6.3.1 Individual

Supporting independence

Welsh Government report that some disabled children and young people feel unable to use public transport on their own, instead relying on parents (81). Travel training for young disabled people may help increase independence (81).

Young people wish to have a voice in decision making locally as well as at a wider level. Vale Youth Speak Up enable young disabled people, aged 16-25, to participate in discussions and influence decisions, for example, around discrimination and bullying (81). The Children in Wales Getting More Involved in Social Care project enables disabled young people to provide training for peers and professionals, which increases knowledge of children's rights, and increases involvement in decisions (81).

A focus group with parents of children with cerebral palsy wanted their parent voice to be better heard, and to be more included within the decision making process.

Language and communication

The Vale of Glamorgan Index reports that 51% of registrants have communication and socialisation difficulties; and 39% have speech and language difficulties. In terms of methods of communication, 7% use Picture Exchange Communication Systems (PECS) and 3% use Makaton (73). The Cardiff Index reports that 5% of those registered have speech and language difficulties as the primary criteria for registering, and 54% of the 802 registrants have speech and language difficulties as an additional reason for registration. Of the total number of children and young people registered, 23% use Gestures, 14% use PECS, 10% use Makaton, and 0.5% use British Sign Language for communication (74).

Welsh Government has published a Welsh language impact assessment on the Code of Practice for the Delivery of Autism services (82).

6.3.2 Community

Access to assessment, care, and support

The Neurodevelopmental team conducts assessments for children and young people who require them (adults are assessed by the Integrated Autism Service). Figure 6.1 shows the number of referrals to the Cardiff and Vale Neurodevelopmental team since March 2020 (referrals prior to this date were in the range of 43 – 183 per month). Of note, is the increasing waiting list in terms of volume, but also the duration of waiting list from 58 weeks in March 2020, to 129 weeks in September 2021 (83).







Young people with learning difficulties across Wales have reported difficulties with the short health care appointment length, stating that they would like more time in order to understand the discussion (81).

Some specialist health services have been difficult to access by young disabled people, such as sexual health. In addition, Welsh Government report that despite being more likely to have additional healthcare needs such as poor mental health, they are unable to access services until the situation is more severe, such as at crisis point (81).

Post-diagnostic support

The Neurodevelopment team provide support through different mechanisms including referrals to Primary Mental Health; CAMHS; the Emotional Wellbeing Service; or to Families First and Cardiff Family Advice & Support. The Integrated Autism Service (IAS) does not work directly with children, instead working with their parents or carers to indirectly support the child. During 2020/21, 15 parents or carers were supported by IAS. Of the 585 new referrals received, 22 were from people aged 16-17, and 173 by those aged 18-25 (note that referrals are for a range of services and not just assessment) (83). Support provided by the IAS includes: advice on managing sleep difficulties; assessments and strategies to manage triggers of behaviour that challenges; support transitions to adult services; training and support groups. In addition, services can be provided in conjunction with CAMHS or the learning disabilities team (83).

Transition of care from children's to adult services

The aim of transition is to promote independence in a safe and supported manner – for both the young person, and their parent or primary carer, who may struggle with the change in relationship, according to Welsh Government (81). A consultation in Cardiff and Vale for the regional joint commissioning strategy for adults with learning disabilities identified transition from child to adult services as a priority; and anticipated that between 2018/19 and 2020/21, approximately 19 people with learning disability would transition





each year in Cardiff, and 9 in the Vale of Glamorgan (84). In the Vale of Glamorgan for the years 2016 and 2017 combined, 24 young people were assessed in the year they turned 18, of whom 22 had eligible care and support needs requiring input from the Adult Learning Disability Team. In 2020, 12 were assessed and 9 eligible for input from the Adult Learning Disability Team (29). In Cardiff, in 2020/21, of the 36 young people known to the Child Health and Disability Team, 33 transitioned to the Adult Learning Disability Team. In 2018/19, the figures were 25 and 20 respectively (30).

However, transition remains a challenge for many in Wales, citing lack of awareness of sources of support, inadequate signposting, and barriers to access. The role of parents as carers also changes as young people gain their independence, which can add stress to the relationship (81). Members of a professional workshop held in Cardiff and the Vale UHB stated families are often in limbo whilst they are transferring between services and transitioning to adult services (85).

The Multi Agency Transition Review Interface Group is a forum to discuss the needs, outcomes and resources required for young people in the 15-18 year old age group who have, or may have a need for care and support into adulthood. This forum runs in both Local Authorities and informs both individual and strategic planning (86).

Both Cardiff and the Vale have developed a support planning service, which comprises a person-centred assessment with people known to the teams to consider options for day opportunities. The specialist service focuses on opportunities to gain skills, enhance networks and inclusion within local communities. Both councils also have employment support for those who are interested in paid work. As with all service areas, this has been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic but work is restarting to widen access to community options (29) (30).

6.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

No local data are available relating to children and young people with complex needs. A reduction in Direct Payments has been experienced by recipients in Wales; therefore decreasing access to finance and increasing isolation with reduced well-being (81). In contrast, Disabled Students' Allowance has improved equity of access to higher education (81).

Support provided by the IAS includes guidance on benefits and employment. The Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services asks employers to promote inclusion of autistic people (82). Increasing awareness of inclusive recruitment will enable more autistic people to gain higher quality jobs.

Education and employment

Data from the Pupil Level Annual School Census demonstrate that the proportion of pupils aged 5-15 years with special educational needs is lower in the Vale of Glamorgan, and higher in Cardiff, than the Wales average. In Cardiff, 2.7% of pupils aged 5-15 years have a





Statement of Special Educational Needs, compared to 0.6% in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 2% in Wales (26). In Cardiff, there were 9,446 pupils with special educational needs in 2020/21, of whom 2,143 had a Statement (1639 in 2016/17). In the Vale of Glamorgan, there were 3,213 pupils with special educational needs, of which 439 pupils have a Statement of Special Educational Needs (378 in 2016/17) (87).

Welsh Government reports that many people still incorrectly assume that young disabled people are unable or unwilling to learn (81). This report calls for those in Education services to inspire young disabled people and aim for aspirational goals. They state that children with hearing or sight loss should be supported to feel confident traveling to and around school. Mainstreaming children with disabilities from an early age was proposed to increase acceptance, and could be supported by the establishment of inclusivity league tables (81). Welsh parents reported physical barriers affecting school experience (e.g., steps in classrooms), and were concerned regarding the transition from primary to secondary school.

Bullying is reported as a serious concern in both mainstream and additional learning needs schools, and further action is needed to address this in many schools in Wales (81). Three primary schools in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan have undertaken Learning with Autism training between 2017 and 2018 (corresponding to 127 staff members), which helps staff adapt their communications and the learning environment to the needs of the child (88).

Supporting progression into employment or further education is beneficial for establishing and developing social relationships, supporting well-being (81). Welsh Government report that young disabled people want to access work, and should help co-produce pathways to employment. Those leaving education should therefore be signposted to specialist disability employment support (81).

Housing

The Cardiff Local Housing Strategy identified that demand outstripped availability for accessible homes of which many applicants had children with disabilities within the household (89). Children and young people with physical disabilities have experienced difficulties finding housing that meets their needs, and this is especially so in the private rented sector in Wales (81). Similarly, in the Vale, demand outstrips supply for accessible homes. During the last two years the Vale's Council Housing New Build programme has increased the supply of purpose built adapted bungalows and flats. Within the Vale of Glamorgan Housing Strategy, there is a requirement for at least two adapted homes on new social housing grant funded developments. An Accessible Housing Panel was introduced in autumn 2020 in the Vale of Glamorgan, which considers each property on its suitability for the individual applicant, and conducts any necessary adaptations (29).

Some children require residential and specialist care, however, a priority should be prevention of the need for unnecessarily high levels of care, as such placements are more difficult to find, and are more likely out of area. Improving local health team resources to support positive behaviours and provide family-centred support would work towards this aim.





Social Care Wales report data on the number of placements and type for young people with learning disability. The total number of placements in Wales has decreased between 2015 and 2019 (2,842 to 2,342), but has increased in both the Vale of Glamorgan (68 to 108) and Cardiff (227 to 236). Most placements are in the community with their parents or family, with a minority placed in foster homes (6 in Vale of Glamorgan, 9 in Cardiff in 2019) (90).

In Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, some children and young people have experienced family placement breakdown due to needs arising from their neurodevelopmental disorder. This presents a challenge for local authorities who need to arrange placement at short notice, and may result in out of area placement. Early intervention can help reduce this risk (91).

6.3.4 Unmet needs

Engagement work identified the following as gaps in care and support:

- Children and young people without a diagnosis are missing out on care and support services
- Service provision: a lack of joined up care causes distress as children young people (and their parents or guardians) are moved between services; this is in part due to different IT systems and different uses of language between different services. In addition, difficulties were encountered with long durations until a diagnosis is reached; and a need for increased mental health support and opportunities for multidisciplinary appointments
- Support: a need for more peer support, and that this could be met by being mentored by another family to share lived experience. Support for the whole family was also identified
- More specialist sports opportunities and youth service provision

Gaps in our knowledge and understanding were identified as follows:

- The number and needs of children and young people who have care and support needs but do not fit an established pathway
- The number and needs of young people transitioning to adult services
- Socio-economic characteristics and Welsh language profile of children and young people undergoing neurodevelopmental assessment

6.4 What are the range and level of services needed?

6.4.1 **Prevention and assets**

Early help

Early Help and Enhanced Support are a key pillar of the Together for Children and Young People 2 (T4CYP 2) programme (68). This stipulates a whole system approach. Early support for mental health concerns may help to avoid a crisis. Early Help services have recently experienced high levels of demand. Cardiff Family Gateway managed 12,359 calls and emails between November 2019 and November 2020; and supported 8,696 people. Cardiff Parenting received 686 referrals during the same time period, with 265 one-to-one psychology led parenting interventions (85). The Families First Advice Line in the Vale of Glamorgan provide Early Help, and received 1626 calls during the same time period (1013





were from professionals and 582 from parents or carers) (29). Of the total calls, the Families First Advice Line referred 340 to the Vale Parenting Service (29).

In Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, early identification and management of behaviours of concern could prevent ongoing difficulties into adulthood, which may reduce the risk of other complications such as contact with the criminal justice system, substance misuse, or mental health issues (92). Early intervention can additionally prevent placement breakdown, as well as being less costly. Regional mechanisms by which to provide this early intervention include development of life skills, parental support, and improving transitions of care (91).

Assets to support well-being

Professional workshops as part of the development of the integrated model for emotional health and wellbeing identified information provision for families, as well as services and programmes such as Flying Start, Family Gateway, Families First, Cardiff Parenting, Cardiff Family Advice & Support as supportive to the well-being of children, young people, and their families and carers.

Parents of children with cerebral palsy identified third sector organisations such as Cerebral Palsy Cymru and Shine Charity as assets, for their in-depth knowledge and advice. In addition, groups and coffee mornings with other parents of children with complex needs, to

share lived experiences were helpful. Social services and social workers were also valued.

Other sources of support include Autism Wales, who provide resources for parents and carers, information on a wide range of topics including banks and dentists. Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan have outreach teams to support children in school. Both areas have a voluntary Index which offers support for children and young people and their families and carers. "...one [social worker] in particular has been superb" – parent of a child with complex needs, focus group

"...without [Cerebral Palsy Cymru] being there we would feel really lost" – parent of a child with complex needs, focus group

6.4.2 Community services

Inclusive services considerate of the individual in their own context

Services need to be inclusive, accounting for the child or young person's communication needs (for example, use of Augmented and Alternative Communication (AAC) or language preferences), as well as access (85).

Services should include care and support tailored to the needs of children and young people as well as the family and carers, so that they can then care for the child or young person





(85). Inclusivity of parents and carers should be a focus also, as men are underrepresented. This includes respite for families and carers, which is accessible and available in a timely manner, and provision of "wrap around" support in line with 'No Wrong Door' and NEST (85).

Care and support services must be timely, and considerate of the notion that some children and young people may need multiple sources of care and support, each with their own waiting list. Change in demand should be anticipated and services planned to meet this.

Services close to home, including accommodation

Services must be provided close to home. The Welsh Government White Paper 'Rebalancing Care and Support' notes that children are often placed far from home, which is more costly and increases strain and stress on families as well as children and young people (93). Sufficient accommodation should be available locally for children and young people; this should include a range of options to appropriately meet the needs of the individual.

6.4.3 Partnership approach

Integrated, whole system approach

Service providers (including third sector) should be aware of other services available and how to access them, in order to build resilience within the system, and improve signposting (85). This is championed by the No Wrong Door report (32) (93). This approach should streamline access and improve communication between providers, so information is not lost between services, and families do not need to repeat themselves. Variation in referral mechanisms and documentation used between services should additionally be streamlined with better collaborative working (85). The Complex Needs Service is trialling delivering a fully joined up health and social care service for children and young people with complex needs (91).

Engagement work identified that parents wanted a central point for information, for example, through a care coordinator: parents of children and young people with complex needs have experienced long waits for appointments, and a need to be proactive in order to arrange annual reviews. A *"road map"* of support available, and upcoming appointments may help with this.

Transition of care from children's to adult services

'No Wrong Door' reports that children and young people with learning disability experience a stressful period of transition to adult services (32). The T4CYP 2 programme includes transitions as a core component within its Early Help and Enhanced Support work stream (68). Care and support provision should continue seamlessly through this period of transition, and focus on what matters to the individual. Cardiff and Vale RPB is developing a regional protocol for transition of young people with learning disabilities.

6.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

Population projections from Social Care Wales suggest that the numbers of children with moderate, profound and multiple, or severe learning disabilities are likely to remain fairly





similar over the next 20 years (94). In Cardiff, the number of children with learning disability is predicted to decrease from 3,027 in 2020 to 2,907 in 2040; in the Vale of Glamorgan a slight increase from 1,124 to 1,149 is predicted (94), likely reflective of the decrease in under 18 population predicted in Cardiff between 2018 and 2040 (95). Social Care Wales have predicted relatively stable numbers of children and young people with autism between 2020 and 2040 (1,370 to 1,316 in Cardiff; 509 to 520 in Vale of Glamorgan) (94). However, these figures are based on prevalence data. Neurodevelopmental services are currently recording increased referrals, waiting list times, and numbers of diagnoses of autism and anticipate this may lead to increased numbers of autistic children and young people in future (83).

In line with wider demographic changes, the population of people with learning disability is ageing. In addition, people with learning disability have increased likelihood of development of other comorbidities such as dementia (84) (96).

There is work ongoing for the development of an integrated Infant, Children & Young People's Emotional Wellbeing & Mental Health Needs model for the Cardiff & Vale Regional Partnership Board. The model aims to bring together examples of best practice and make use of local assets to provide universal, targeted and specialist services in an accessible and equitable way (85).

The Additional Learning Needs code will introduce some changes, for example, that some services may continue until age 25 (97).

6.6 Recommendations

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, education providers, and third sector to:

- Promote universal and targeted early intervention and preventative services including parental support
- Undertake training to increase awareness and promote services accessible and comfortable for children and young people with neurodevelopmental disorders
- Work to ensure the T4CYP 2 programme is fully embedded

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Share good practice and learning
- Address data gaps
- Address gaps in service provision
- Promote early help and preventative approaches in line with T4CYP 2
- Embed the NEST framework and No Wrong Door approach
- Address the increasing waiting list for assessment

Regional Partnership Board to:

• Lead on development and implementation of an integrated model for children and young people's emotional health and wellbeing





7. Children Looked After

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People; Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; VAWDASV; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Substance Misuse; Secure Estate

Recommendations

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Continue to foster a culture whereby children looked after feel valued and listened to; are informed of choices available to them; and can influence decisions about their care
- Promote a preventative approach to prevent needs arising or escalating
- Ensure that children looked after have timely access to health and education services that they need, in order to meet statutory education requirements, close the inequalities gap, and promote their well-being (98)
- Develop of an integrated working model to promote seamless transition between services, including actions to be taken when children go missing from care, and interaction with the criminal justice system (98)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Develop additional placements close to home for children and young people
- Orientate services to be person-centred, building trust and rapport with children and young people, promoting a sense of value through co-production

7.1 Overview

Looked after children are children who are in the care of their local authority, or in receipt of accommodation from social services. They form part of the wider umbrella of children receiving care and support, which also includes child protection cases, and children or parents receiving support due to the child's illness or disability (99). Although looked after children (LAC) is the statutory term, the acronym in particular has been noted to invoke connotations of the child "*lacking*", therefore often the term "*children looked after*" (CLA) is used (99).

In 2021, there were 990 CLA in Cardiff, and 285 in the Vale of Glamorgan (7,265 in Wales) (100). For both local authorities and across Wales, more boys were looked after than girls, and the highest proportion were aged 10-15 years (100).





Data from 2018 identifies the following parental factors amongst CLA: mental ill-health (37%); substance misuse (36% of CLA); domestic abuse (29%); physical ill-health (12%) (101). See also chapter 18 (substance misuse). The Cardiff Youth Justice Health Needs Assessment identifies that CLA are overrepresented in the youth justice system (102) (see also chapter 19: Secure Estate).

Information for this chapter is taken from various data sources, including a focus group with three children looked after. Twenty-three respondents to the provider survey worked with children looked after and 21 worked with care leavers aged under 24. These findings are not representative of all children looked after.

7. 2 What has changed since 2017?

7.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

The Integrated Care Fund made significant funding available for children at risk of being looked after, in care, or adopted in 2018/19 and 2019/20 (32). Cardiff published their Multi Agency Corporate Parenting Strategy 2021-2024 to describe how the council will fulfil their parenting responsibilities when the child or young person enters the local authority's care (103). The Vale of Glamorgan have published their corporate strategy for children who need care and support 2019-2023, which has early partnership working with families as a core component, to support families to stay together, amongst other objectives (104).

Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan have experienced large increases with 305 (+47%) and 75 (+41%) additional CLA respectively, compared to Wales with 1,560 additional CLA (+28%) between 2015 and 2020 (100). The number of children on the child protection register has decreased in the Vale of Glamorgan (95 in 2016/17; 65 in 2018/19) and decreased in Cardiff (190 and 185 respectively) (105). The majority of children in Cardiff in 2018/19 were on the child protection register for emotional abuse (46%), followed by neglect (30%), physical abuse (22%), and sexual abuse (3%). This follows the same pattern as the total for Wales. In the Vale of Glamorgan, the highest proportion of children were on the register for neglect (46%), followed by emotional abuse (38%) (105). Nationally, abuse and neglect cases have increased but this is thought to be due to better reporting (53).

7.2.1 COVID-19

Due to COVID-19 restrictions, young people in the focus group reported feeling isolated and needing to support each other. They were unable to see grandparents; contacts were cancelled; and one "*stayed in [their] room for the whole time*". One moved from the Vale of Glamorgan to Cardiff and didn't know anybody, which they felt impacted their confidence and mental health.

7.3 What are the care and support needs?

7.3.1 Individual

Autonomy

All focus group participants agreed with the National Outcomes Framework statement: "I speak for myself and contribute to the decisions that affect my life, or have someone who





can do it for me". However, later, one participant stated they "[don't] feel relevant – just another number in the system". Young people want to feel valued and supported by services, however, focus group discussions included "no one cares"; "was told I would be helped and guided, not seen anyone since 19 and now 22".



A review by the Wales Centre for Public Policy identified that better outcomes of CLA are linked to the focus on reunification of families; the involvement of children and families in care decisions; placements available; and how "*joined-up*" local services are (106).

Language and communication

Data on Welsh or other language skills amongst children looked after is not routinely collected. Between 2014 and 2018, Care Inspectorate Wales report an increase in the number of residential child care managers and workers who speak some Welsh or are fluent (33% of managers and 38% of workers speak some Welsh or are fluent) (98).

Half of children in contact with the Cardiff youth justice service are known to children's services (103). Between 8-25% of children undergoing assessments through the Cardiff Youth Justice Service have speech and language needs (102).

7.3.2 Community

Youth Justice

CLA are subject to disproportionate inequities, and are overrepresented within the youth justice system. The Cardiff youth justice health needs assessment recommends that providers of care and support for young people in youth justice systems, should additionally have links with services providing for CLA, as well as health and physical health professionals. The assessment notes that there is not yet a specific approach recommended as to the delivery of health services to this population group (102).

7.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Inequalities

Children in foster care in the focus group were aware of children's disadvantages and the wide inequalities between those in care and those not.

"Children in care should be able to and given the opportunity to do as well as those in families but they don't. There is a vast difference"" – CLA, focus group





Deprivation

Wales has a higher CLA rate per 10,000 children and young people than England; and the biggest difference in rates between most and least deprived communities in the UK (53). A 2017 study identified that a child in the most deprived decile in Wales was 12 times more likely to be a CLA than a child in the least deprived decile, throughout the study period 2008-2014 (107).

Education and employment

In Cardiff, 95% of CLA attend primary school (103). Nearly two-thirds (62%) of CLA at key stage 4 have special educational needs (103), and three-quarters of CLA in school have a Personal Education Plan (103). In 2018/19, 54% of care leavers were in education, employment, or training at 1 year in Cardiff (103).

In October 2021, all CLA aged 5 – 16 years in the Vale of Glamorgan had a Personal Education Plan in place. Most (89%) were in mainstream schools, and 40% had special educational needs. Most CLA in the Vale of Glamorgan after the age of 16 are in education, employment, or training: 95% of year 12; 92% for year 13, and 72% of year 14 aged young people. Since 2019, the Vale of Glamorgan has a designated member of the Vulnerable Groups Team who works in partnership with social workers from the 15+ Team, Careers Wales, carers and post-16 education providers to ensure the school leavers access their post 16 destinations for education or training and support to ensure the young people looked after are on the right course. This has improved the numbers of looked after children accessing education employment or training post-16 (29).

Housing

Local Authorities have a responsibility to provide accommodation suitable for looked after children; and support families to stay together where possible with the aim of preventing the need for a child to be taken into care.

Increasing placements are required to meet the increasing numbers of children looked after. Notably in the Vale of Glamorgan, is the increase in those placed for adoption, residential settings, and placed with parents/person with parental responsibility. There is a similar position in Cardiff, with an additional increase in foster placements, and a reduction in those living independently (108). A 2020 review in Wales found an 84% increase in children and young people placed with new parents over the preceding 5 years (99). Across Wales, although most (66%) of children are placed in their local authority, increasing numbers of children are being placed outside of Wales (255 in 2016, 365 in 2020), suggesting there may be difficulties finding suitable local placements (106). The average age in months of CLA being adopted is 35 in the Vale of Glamorgan; 42 in Cardiff, and 37 in Wales (109). This is corroborated by a 2019 Care Inspectorate Wales review, in particular as the needs of children are becoming more complex. Some children had experienced multiple placement breakdowns, negatively impacting their well-being and relationship forming (98).





Table 7.1. Numbers of children looked after by placement type and local authority

	Vale of Glamorgan			Cardiff			Wales		
	2012	2017	2020	2012	2017	2020	2012	2017	2020
Placed for adoption	*	5	15	15	25	40	255	245	245
Foster placements	165	165	165	425	490	595	4405	4425	4990
Placements in residential settings	10	10	20	30	55	90	225	355	535
Placed with own parents or other person with parental responsibility	25	40	60	35	95	180	550	725	1200
Living independently	*	*	*	35	60	40	105	130	130
Absent from placement or other	15	*	*	25	5	10	180	80	80

Source: Stats Wales (108)

Figures are rounded to the nearest 5; where there are less than 5 children, the figure has been suppressed and replaced by *

Changes of placement can be disruptive to children's lives; in Cardiff in 2019/20, 8% of CLA had 3 or more changes of placement (103). In the Vale of Glamorgan, this figure was 12% (29). Supporting a child or young person when they leave care is a critical part of the process. Nationally, in 2018/19, 12% of 16-18 year olds leaving care experienced homelessness; compared to 21% in Cardiff in 2019/20 (103).

Despite these aims, young people in foster care in the focus group reported some negative experiences, feeling isolated as they are moved far from their families.

7.3.4 Unmet needs

All three focus group participants disagreed with the NOF statement "*I get the right care and support, as early as possible*". Reasons for this include feeling as though services are not open, honest, or transparent; and feeling as though services "*do what they can to tick a box*" rather than address need and work together with families. Children want to be "*cared for and nurtured*", and "*knowing their roots is also important…shouldn't always have to be a fight for support and contact*". Young people felt as though they have "*little opportunity*". Young people wanted support officers to receive more training. They wanted foster parents to "*prove they are good parents*".

Tension exists between the rights to a family life, and the duty to protect the child from harm, both of which are enshrined by the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (110). One focus group participant reported that the family who loves and wants him were only allowed to contact him 12 times a year. Another stated he had "4 *foster families by 15...[my]* grandparents wanted to foster [but this] wasn't allowed".

Gaps in knowledge and understanding include the profile of Welsh and other languages amongst children looked after and children at the edge of care; and understanding of factors leading to placement breakdown, in order to better provide appropriate placements.





7.4 What are the range and level of services needed?7.4.1 Prevention and assets

The Integrated Family Support Team (IFST) is a partnership between the Vale of Glamorgan Council, Cardiff Council and Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. In conjunction with Flying Start and Families First, these programmes provide preventative and supportive approaches for families who need it. Successful working of these programmes acts to reduce harm to children and reduce escalation of care and support needs. The IFST intervenes where a child is described as being at "the edge of care", and is able to liaise with other local teams (such as the Early Intervention Team) to support children and their families through, for example, substance misuse intervention, or traumatic stress (111).

Half of children known to the Youth Justice Service in Cardiff receive input from Children's Services; and 15% are Children Looked After (103). Of cases known to the Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Service in 2021, 19% have a child protection plan, 28% have been in care, and 24% are a Child in Need. Only 16% have experienced no ACEs, and 45% have experienced 4 or more (112). Services should be aware of the association between ACEs and future interaction with the criminal justice system. Protective factors should be considered as a preventative mechanism.

Recommendations from the 2021 Cardiff Youth Justice health needs assessment are being progressed through partnerships including the Cardiff Youth Justice Service, the Cardiff Youth Justice Board, Children's Services, and South Wales Police (102). Recommendations include expanding the offer of well-being activities; increased involvement of families; and supporting crucial points of transition, for example, between secure estate and the community, and from children's into adult health, social care, and justice services (102).

Focus group participants stated neighbours and the local community were assets. Third sector organisations such as Grandparents Raising Grandchildren were named as supportive, including during periods of lockdown where mutual support was provided through telephone or online platforms.

Participants did describe negative experiences of being in foster care which undermine sources of support. They were unable to see their families, and said they had "no support or places to go".

"Neighbours are great, really come together to support each other. [I] feel loved and cared for within community" – CLA, focus group





7.4.2 Community services

Transparent services

Services provided must be transparent and accountable, as young people report broken promises: "[I] was promised if I'm good can go home and visit family – never happened. It's not fair and services shouldn't be allowed to lie to children." Young people perceive services to "make it up as they go along", for example, when they believe judge's decisions do not match the evidence provided. Processes within the system need to be clear, so that young children can understand.

7.4.3 Partnership approach

Joined up services

The number of looked after children continues to increase year on year, despite policy supporting children to remain with their families and out of care, including prevention and early intervention schemes. Also too often children are placed far from home at great expense, removing them from their families and sourcing appropriate, regulated placements is often difficult. Alongside this the secure accommodation system often is unable to meet young people's needs and there continues to be a lack of investment in expanding residential care for looked after children with complex needs, to support them to remain close to home and transition to independent living (93).

Co-production

Co-production is central to any service. Focus group participants were appreciative of the opportunity to be listened to. One suggestion to achieve this was through "creating a befriending advocacy service – giving the child a voice, care about their welfare, and nurture them". **"Thank you for helping** and giving us a voice today" – CLA, focus group

7.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

Welsh Government have prioritised reducing the number of children looked after by local authorities (25); and identify the importance of preventing the child from needing local authority care (93). However, numbers of children looked after have increased despite this, and the impact of COVID-19 and the challenges that children and young people in vulnerable situations faced during lockdown and restrictions is yet to be fully realised.

7.6 Recommendations

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Continue to foster a culture whereby children looked after feel valued and listened to; are informed of choices available to them; and can influence decisions about their care
- Promote a preventative approach to prevent needs arising or escalating





- Ensure that children looked after have timely access to health and education services that they need, in order to meet statutory education requirements, close the inequalities gap, and promote their well-being (98)
- Develop of an integrated working model to promote seamless transition between services, including actions to be taken when children go missing from care, and interaction with the criminal justice system (98)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Develop additional placements close to home for children and young people
- Orientate services to be person-centred, building trust and rapport with children and young people, promoting a sense of value through co-production









8. Older People

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; VAWDASV; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)

Recommendations

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, and private providers to:

- Recognise the diversity of the "older people" group and provide services to meet the needs of such a diverse group, including transport options
- Continue to embed the Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation Model
- Further develop existing collaborations to provide high quality end of life care
- Integrate care and support services to enable older people to live independently and well at home for as long as possible, for example, through the @home programme
- Promote the use of Dewis Cymru to increase awareness of available support services

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Support new building developments to meet the needs of an ageing population, and increase the provision of a variety of accommodation options to enable older people to make informed choices on where and how they live
- Implement the Housing Adaptations Strategic Framework; and ensure existing properties are appropriate, safe, and support older people's independence
- Apply urban design standards and accessibility criteria when redesigning existing infrastructure, for example, increasing the time for people to cross the road at a light-controlled pedestrian crossing (113)

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:

 Promote the Royal College of General Practitioners 'Tackling loneliness. A community action plan for Wales' amongst health care providers and partners to raise awareness of loneliness, and advise how lonely patients can be identified and supported (113)

8.1 Overview

In this Population Needs Assessment, older people are defined as people aged 65 and above (although it is accepted that in other contexts the age threshold may vary). For the purposes of this needs assessment, where possible we will also divide this population group into those aged 65-84, and those aged 85 plus. Older people are not a homogenous population



group, and will have different needs and wants. Age is a risk factor for many conditions such as dementia, cataracts and falls, which will influence individual people's care and support needs. The needs of people with dementia are discussed in chapter 14.

Figure 8.1 and Table 8.1 show the wide variation in the numbers and percentages of people aged between 65 and 84 and aged 85 plus across primary care clusters in Cardiff and Vale. Western Vale has the highest percentage of people aged 65-84 (23%), however, *"Older people are "us" and we need to respond with that in mind" –* professional lead

let's talk

amser siarad

Cardiff North has the highest number of those aged 65-84 (16,003). In contrast, Cardiff South East has the lowest percentage of people aged 65-84 plus (5.5%), but City and Cardiff South has the lowest numbers of 65-84 year olds (2,475). Looking at the population aged 85 plus, Eastern Vale has the highest proportion of people aged 85 plus (3.4%), but Cardiff North has the highest population (2,859 people). Across Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan there are an estimated 81,645 people aged 65 plus, as at mid-2020 (114).



Figure 8.1. Demography of Primary Care Clusters in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Source: Office for National Statistics (114)







	Cardiff	Cardiff	Cardiff	City &	Cardiff	Cardiff	Western	Central	Eastern
	North	West	South	Cardiff	East	South	Vale	Vale	Vale
			West	South		East			
Number of people aged 65-84	16,003	10,620	6,312	2,475	4,728	4,150	5,773	10,792	7,702
% of total population	17%	17%	15.6%	6.9%	12.6%	5.5%	23%	15.6%	20.4%
Number of people aged 85+	2,859	1,632	945	399	817	648	788	1,340	1,296
% of total population	2.9%	2.9%	1.7%	1.1%	2.2%	0.9%	3.1%	1.9%	3.4%
Total population (all ages)	96,923	62,850	56,016	35,639	37,352	75,468	25,293	69,025	37,847

Table 8.1. Demography of Primary Care Clusters in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan

Source: Office for National Statistics (114)

Across Wales, the number of people reporting 2 or more longstanding illnesses has remained at 21% in 2016/17 and 2019/20; similarly those reporting to be limited by the longstanding illness is similar at 33% in 2016/17 and 35% in 2019/20 (115) (see also chapter 9: Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions). As more people live to an older age, more people are likely to have two or more long term illnesses.

Engagement

Two focus groups were conducted: one for people aged 85-84 (4 participants) and one for people aged 85 and older (3 participants). Forty-five percent (n=293) of the 647 respondents of the public survey who provided their age were 65 or older: 172 were aged 65-74, 91 were 75-84, and 30 were 85 and older. Sixty-eight respondents of the provider's survey provided services for older people aged 65 and older. This is not representative of the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but does provide additional depth of insight and lived experience.

8. 2 What has changed since 2017?

8.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

Nationally, the following has changed since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment:

- Welsh Government published 'Age Friendly Wales: Our Strategy for an Ageing Society' in October 2021, setting out the vision for Wales to be a place that supports people of all ages to live well and age well and where older people are celebrated (116).
- In 2020 Welsh Government published 'Connected Communities: a strategy for tackling loneliness and social isolation and building stronger social connections' (117). Whilst this issue does not solely impact older people, it is recognised that it





does impact their lives, and this strategy followed the 2017 inquiry by the National Assembly for Wales' Health and Social Care Committee into loneliness and social isolation which had a particular focus on older people (118).

• The rights of older people are enshrined in the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, which states that services should be prioritised in relation to older people with complex needs and long term conditions, including dementia (119). The Older People's Commissioner for Wales' strategy 2019-2022 (120) sets out their vision of celebrating an ageing society, supporting vulnerable older people and empowering people to understand their rights and access the support and services they need.

Regionally, the following changes have taken place:

- The impact of integrating health and social care services has been demonstrated through the Independent Living Service (ILS) provided by Cardiff Council and Wellbeing Service at Vale of Glamorgan Council Contact 1 Vale (C1V). This has focused on a prevention model since 2017. The aim of ILS is to reduce the need for social care, support people to stay living independently in their own homes and improve their well-being. The provision of a hospital based discharge support service has enabled collaborative working to help patients get home with the services they need in place, and improved partnership working with a range of sectors.
- ILS are a key partner in the South West Cardiff primary care cluster MDT (multidisciplinary team) model, which began in 2019. GP practices in the cluster meet every other week to discuss individual patients' needs, as many of their needs can be met outside of healthcare. Partners around the MDT table include ILS, and third sector service providers, who can support people with issues such as social isolation, adaptations needed in their home and financial support. The MDT partners can signpost them to services or activities which will meet their needs. Many older people have been supported through the MDT model, and it is planned to roll out this model in other clusters.
- The Well-being Service in the Vale of Glamorgan offers a range of support to older people to meet their needs. Cardiff Well-being Support Service was set up in response to the pandemic and the needs around isolation, anxiety about going out and need for general support. Health and Well-being Mentors provide 1 to 1 support for a wide range of needs, and Community Inclusion Officers organise a range of community activities.
- Cardiff and Vale UHB, with Cardiff and Vale Local Authorities and other partners, have implemented the "@home" locality-based integrated care model within the Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board, which aligns with the UHB long term strategy 'Shaping Our Future Wellbeing', which has a focus on community based care. This is a collaborative, person centred model, focused on prevention, early intervention and keeping people well.
- Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities are in the process of applying for Age Friendly status with the World Health Organisation, which is supported by both Public Service Boards. This is in line with the United Nation's Principles for Older Persons rights.




• The 2019 Annual Director of Public Health for Cardiff and Vale report focussed on healthy ageing, and included three themes of: feeling a sense of meaning and purpose; having good social connections; and living in places that enable people to remain safe, active and independent (113).

8.2.1 COVID-19

Physical health and access to health care

COVID-19 has had a significant impact upon older people, including ill-health, mental and physical well-being, and mortality perspectives. The mobility and circulatory conditions of older people have deteriorated in lockdown and de-conditioning has occurred, potentially leading to increased risk of falls (121). Research has shown that age increases the risk of dying from COVID-19 due to deterioration of immune systems and being more likely to have long term conditions (122).

Focus groups with people aged 65+ and 85+ highlighted the following issues arising from COVID-19:

- Feeling that COVID has taken priority for healthcare services
- Difficulties accessing health services: "Impossible to see any health service, doctors or dentist"

"...if you have anything that's not COVID it felt not important – just ignored and got worse but can't do anything about it" – older person, focus group

Respondents to the professional and

providers survey who provide services for older people identified an increased need in domiciliary support and packages of care, and increased dependency amongst service users due to lack of timely preventative services.

Mental health and well-being

There are increased risks of health anxiety, panic, and depression for older people, particularly those in institutions (123). COVID-19 has had adverse effects on the well-being of older people in care homes, for example, constraints on social contact due to suspension of indoor visiting (124). An Office for National Statistics survey across Britain during April-May 2020 found over 50% of the over 60s were worried about their well-being; of these 70% were worried about the future, 54.1% were stressed/anxious and 43.3% felt bored (125).

Loneliness and isolation have increased for many older people, and feelings of anxiety and fear have emerged due to the pandemic and lockdowns. People who were previously self-sufficient found themselves in need of support and their resilience and dealing with day to day issues decreased (126). Many older people have struggled with getting support when leaving hospital, sometimes leading to longer hospital stays.





Focus groups with people aged 65+ and 85+ highlighted feelings of helplessness: "scared and lost many friends" and loneliness due to isolation: "not seeing family is the worst"; "afraid to go out" due to COVID-19.

Professional leads and respondents to the professional and provider survey corroborated these findings, identifying:

- Deterioration of mental and social well-being
- Increase in social isolation and loneliness
- Loss of confidence in going out and accessing activities and services
- Change of behaviour, staying in more, being less active
- The loss of social role, for example, through bereavement, retirement, or an inability to undertake a hobby or activity anymore had been identified as concern prior to COVID-19. With increased isolation due to pandemic restrictions, this is likely to be exacerbated
- Restrictions in accessing face to face services, for example toe nail cutting, exercise classes and social activities such as daycentres and lunch clubs
- Financial insecurity
- Help with practical activities such as shopping, as people were unable to leave their homes
- Increased need for input from health and mental health teams to ensure service users remain safe and well; bereavement support

Digital exclusion

The Welsh Government Future Trends report 2021 identifies a reduction in internet nonusers between 2012 and 2020, from 18.2% to 9.8% across Wales. Amongst those aged 50-64, 6% in 2021 were digitally excluded, compared to 33% aged 75+. However, this is a considerable improvement compared to 2017/18, when 13% of those aged 50-64 and 60% of those aged 75+ experienced digital exclusion (127).

However, the digital divide has become significant during the pandemic, with more services moving to online only (128). Digital exclusion has been an issue for many older people in accessing vital support services, not just because of a lack of equipment but a lack of confidence or a fear of using online services (126).

These findings were also identified by professional leads, leading to exclusion for those who cannot work in roles that require digital connections, social isolation, and problems accessing services which switched to being a virtual only service. However, there has been an increase in the number of older people who are using digital technology, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. Digital inclusion projects have supported people to get online and be taught how to use the technology to keep in contact with people, and access the internet. This can help address social isolation and loneliness.

Impact on service provision

Respondents to the professional and provider survey who provided services for older people identified the following changes in their service provision, due to COVID-19 or restrictions:





- Reduction in face-to-face services and home visits, and use of telephone or online platforms
- Reduction or pausing of some services
- A respondent working in nursing and residential care home stated: "We have had to protect all residents at all times from the public including their own families"

Respondents identified the following impacts on staff working in services for older people included:

- Anxiety, stress, isolation, with causes of stress identified as due to working additional hours, increased work load, and fewer resources, alongside feeling fearful due to the passing of service users, lacking face to face peer support, and a lack of access to other services that service providers would normally rely on. Other challenges included dispelling misinformation, fear of COVID-19, feeling undervalued, uncomfortable wearing personal protective equipment (PPE) and cancelled annual leave
- Staff shortages have been identified, and compounded with issues such as staff sickness, and self-isolation requirements of Test, Trace, Protect

Positive impacts of COVID-19

There have been some positive impacts observed due to the pandemic however. Services have had to adapt and in some cases this has resulted in more people being able to access them, and services have implemented flexible and agile ways of working. New connections have been made, and many people volunteered within their communities to support older people in particular with shopping, collecting prescriptions, or befriending via telephone. Services integrated well and worked alongside each other, and new working patterns meant some flexibility for the workforce. COVID-19 has encouraged the development of digital solutions to link together. Health and social care staff have used technology to link people with their families, for example, tablets in care homes and hospital wards, so that families and loved ones can talk.

A report from the British Geriatrics Society (2020) highlights some innovations and collaborations to help protect and improve the care of older people during the pandemic (129), examples include:

- Anticipatory care intervention for those who are high risk
- Multidisciplinary team response to urgent care needs
- Hospital at home collaboration to keep people at home
- Multiagency approach for rapid guidance and support to care homes
- Advanced care planning to identify individual needs
- Older people who were cared for on a children's ward experienced improved wellbeing due, in part, to the presence of children's nurses and play specialists and the creative, bright, and joyful ward design
- Integrated discharge planning
- Proactive rehabilitation with targeted physiotherapy prior to discharge
- Delivery of telephone and digital appointments





8.3 What are the care and support needs?

8.3.1 Individual

Resilience in older people

Third sector organisations articulated during the COVID-19 pandemic that there were increasingly divisive messages emerging from media which exacerbate intergenerational tensions, for example, talk of making sacrifices during the pandemic to "protect" older people. Third sector organisations identified the risk that older people, whose contribution to society is well documented, will increasingly be seen as a drain on resources and that their personal stories will be lost in the negative messages being disseminated. These negative attitudes and thinking can have an impact upon older

"People are living longer which is a good thing yet we feel like we are a drain on society" - older person, focus group

peoples' mental health and well-being and should be tackled.

The importance of creating a society where people of all ages are equally valued is highlighted in the Royal Society for Public Health report, "That Age Old Question" (130). The report highlights that people with negative attitudes to ageing live on average 7.5 years less than those with more positive attitudes to ageing. Recent studies show they are also more likely to develop dementia. The Older People's Commissioner for Wales is leading the way in the UK through recognising this issue as detrimental to health and to society more widely, and her team has launched a campaign, "Taking Action Against Ageism" to encourage more people to recognise and challenge ageism. Age UK document the racism as well as ageism experienced by the Windrush generation, and others (131).

Diverse needs

Cardiff and Vale has a diverse population, with people from many different cultures and backgrounds, which is a great asset in our communities, but also means that needs can differ across the population. Services need to be able to adapt and respond to this diversity, as well as to the fact that the coming generations of older people will have different needs and offer different assets to the community, for example more will be familiar with digital technology as we move into the future.

It is expected that significantly more older people from minority ethnic backgrounds will need to access social care services in the future (124), due to families not being able to offer the support they perhaps once did. Access to culturally sensitive and appropriate health and social care provision is a priority in the Race Equality Action Plan being developed by Welsh Government.





Long term health needs

Many older people live in good health, 56.7% of older people in Cardiff and the Vale were living in good health in 2017/18 – 2018/19 (56.1% in Cardiff, 58% in the Vale) (132). Most (71.6%) of older people responding to the PNA survey rated their well-being as 'good' or 'very good' prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. This dropped to 52.8% in the last year due to the impact of COVID-19, but this was still the highest level amongst the groups surveyed.

Only 47.7% of older people in Cardiff and 50.2% in the Vale of Glamorgan live free from limiting long term illness (132).

Language and communication

There is no local data available on the Welsh language profile of older people living in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. The Strategy for an Ageing Society – Age Friendly Wales (116) specifies the importance of ensuring people can use Welsh language services in a way that suits them, and this is central to creating an age friendly Wales.

In Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, Arabic, Polish, Bengali and Chinese are the four most common languages spoken after English and Welsh. Healthcare service providers have a responsibility to provide interpreters during consultations to ensure care provided is appropriate and culturally sensitive. Translation services are required for all interactions such as pharmacy and housing. Language was an issue raised by the focus groups participants, and in the survey around one in six (15.9%) older people felt the care and support received has not been in the language or communication format of their choice.



8.3.2 Community

Frailty and falls

The Healthy Ageing Programme in Wales (116) aims to increase activity among older people, reducing frailty and physical decline, and support people to live independently as they get older. Demand for services based on levels of frailty are predicted to increase due to the increased numbers of older people in the future, and previous modelling predicted an increase in demand of up to 31% in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan between 2015 and





2025. Physical ability was by far the biggest issue preventing older people who responded to the PNA survey from being in control over their daily lives (62.9%).

Frailty can be a cause of falls, and falls are a key public health concern for older people. Telecare Cardiff undertook some analysis of clients who fell during 2020-21 and found that 84% of those who fell were repeat fallers, i.e. they had fallen more than once. Strength and balance loss was stated as the reason for most of these falls, followed by long term health conditions. Telecare are taking a proactive preventative approach to reducing falls among clients (133), and Cardiff and Vale UHB has developed a falls prevention service which launched in 2018 aimed at reducing people's risk of having a first fall.

Dementia rates are also predicted to rise which will impact upon service provision. For more information about the needs of people with dementia please see chapter 14, and for the needs of unpaid carers see chapter 15.

End of life care

High quality palliative care can improve the quality of life of a person with a life limiting illness, and support their loved ones. Welsh Government's 2017 Palliative and End of Life Care Delivery Plan has been extended until March 2022 (134). Palliative and End of life Care have been given new all Wales programme status and this work has commenced. The national framework for the delivery of bereavement care was published in October 2021, to support people in the period prior to, or following the death of a significant person in their lives (135).

Due to an aging population, an additional 135,000 annual deaths are projected by 2040 in England and Wales, compared to 2014. This is associated with a higher complexity of care with more than one serious illness contributing to palliative care needs. Studies have estimated that approximately 75% of people who die would have benefitted from palliative care (136). Patterns of place of death have changed, with increasing proportion of deaths at home and in care homes, and a reduction in hospital deaths, between 2004-2014 in England and Wales (137). Marie Curie report that an increased number of deaths took place at home in 2020, compared to the 5 years prior, in part due to COVID-19 restrictions and changes in care and funding provision. Prior to the pandemic, although half of deaths took place in hospital, only 7% of people in the UK stated a preference to die in hospital (138). These changing patterns will impact the demand for, and expectations of, palliative and end of life care provision and delivery in all settings.

Advance Care Plans facilitate conversations between a person nearing the end of life, their family, and health and social care professionals, around the person's wishes and what matters to them, including care preferences, treatments, and their preferred place to die. Such discussions enable improved choice, control, and quality of end of life care for the person, and lessens the bereavement burden for their loved ones. Advance Care Plans are embedded into the Cardiff and Vale UHB 'Shaping Our Future Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2025' (139).





A review of Specialist Palliative Care Services in Wales published in 2021 identified that COVID-19 has brought end of life care into focus. Against a backdrop of the vision described by the Welsh Government long term plan "A Healthier Wales", which aims for services provided at, or close to, home in a seamless manner, the following priorities have been identified:

- Equitable provision of and equitable access to palliative and end of life care
- Build on the principles of value based health care, including patient reported outcome measures, and patient reported experience measures
- Learning from COVID-19, including co-production of care delivery; speed of clinical intervention, innovation, and policy; and placing palliative and end of life care centrally in future pandemic planning

Currently, Cardiff and Vale UHB has a mixed provision of specialist provision between statutory and third sector services. There is a statutory inpatient specialist palliative care service with 24/7 consultant advice, and community nurse specialist support service to inpatient hospital sites at weekends during core hours. Most inpatient palliative care is provided in hospitals (140), although inpatient hospice care is provided by the Cardiff and Vale Marie Curie Hospice. Marie Curie in the Vale of Glamorgan, and City Hospice in Cardiff provide specialist palliative care input in the community including care homes. Marie Curie provides the Hospice at Home service across Cardiff and the Vale, which works alongside district nurses, GPs and families/carers providing core end of life care in the community supporting people to remain at home where that is appropriate (141).

8.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

Life expectancy is known to be associated with socio-economic status: in 2017, there was a life expectancy gap of 8.6 years for males and 6.6 years for females, between the most and least disadvantaged areas in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (113) (see also Chapter 4: demography). An analysis of life expectancy in Wales prior to COVID-19 found wide and increasing life expectancy gaps between the richest and poorest fifths in Wales. For females, respiratory disease, cancers and circulatory diseases were most influential, and for males, circulatory disease, cancers, and respiratory conditions contributed the most to the life expectancy gaps (142).

The Older People's Commissioner for Wales' report in 2019 identified that the healthy life expectancy gap was 18 years in Wales, between the most and least deprived areas (143). The report identifies that older people tend to have lower incomes than people aged under 60. Approximately one-third of people aged 60-74 in Wales receive an income of under £200 a week (£10,400 per year). Women are more likely to be poorer than men (143). Pensioners in the poorest fifth of the UK population are more likely to have one or no close friends, compared to pensioners in the richest fifth, in research conducted in 2014/15 and 2017/18 (144).

Financial barriers were prominent in focus group discussions, regarding access to care and support services, as well as leisure and community activities. Professionals supporting older





people reported that cost of activities can be a barrier for older people. Financial barriers should be addressed when services are being provided.

Housing

Cardiff and Vale's ageing population has particular implications for the amount, type and location of accommodation which is specific to their needs. The majority of older people on the Housing Waiting List in both Cardiff and the Vale need one bedroom properties (29) (145). Poor or unsuitable housing can impact disproportionately on older peoples' physical and mental health, independence and well-being (145). An assessment of older person's housing accommodation undertaken for the Regional Partnership Board in 2018 (146) estimated a need for an additional 3,051 units of older persons' accommodation by 2035 in Cardiff, which should be a mix of housing, housing with care, and nursing care. In the Vale, the report forecast the need for an additional 1,297 units by 2035.

The Vale of Glamorgan Housing Strategy notes the anticipated demographic changes and increasing trends of the proportion of people with long term limiting illnesses. The need for housing to enable people to remain independent is emphasised, for example, through provision of high quality, affordable and suitable housing. Alongside this, enablement services, Telecare and Extra Care housing are considered (147). The Cardiff Housing Strategy, similarly, identifies mechanisms by which to promote people's independence, for example, through availability of specialist housing for older people (such as sheltered housing and extra care provision). For example, council sheltered housing schemes will include communal spaces, dementia-friendly features, offer charging and storage facilities for scooters, and be accessible and culturally inclusive. The Strategy highlights the Independent Living Services as a preventative support service to help maintain independence (148). A separate Older Person's Housing Strategy was published in Cardiff in 2019, which aims to improve existing houses, maintain independence, meet the needs of the most vulnerable, and tackle social isolation (145).

Older people responding to the PNA survey were more than twice as likely to report that their home was too big, compared to any of the other groups surveyed. Many older people require adaptations to their home to enable them to remain living independently (52% reported the need for adaptations in the PNA survey). The draft Housing Adaptations Strategic Framework developed by Welsh Government provides stakeholders involved in the delivery of aids and adaptations, service users and others with a framework which facilitates a more strategic and integrated approach to delivering adaptations services at a local level. The framework should become operational from April 2022. The framework includes the requirement to establish a common understanding of the population need and demand for adaptations and identify inequalities and links to RPBs and the population needs assessments (149).

Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan will be developing new residential units for older people in the coming years. In order for these to best benefit the health and well-being of the future residents, older people should be considered in the design of these developments. For example, enabling people to travel by reliable and regular public transport, as well as walking or cycling is vital for older people to stay active and improve





their health (150). Well maintained paths, adequate lighting, locating residential units close to existing services, and ensuring safe spaces for cycle storage all encourage walking and cycling. Charging points for electric mobility aids must be available and accessible at locations decided upon in tandem with those who use them.

Domiciliary care

Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board (RPB) aims to deliver services as close to home as possible, through the "@home" integrated care model. This includes the development of cluster-based multi-agency teams. These will provide a rapid response to a crisis, prevent avoidable hospital admissions, and facilitate discharge home where hospital admission was needed. "Home first" is a key theme across all three RPB programmes of Starting Well, Living Well, and Ageing Well (151). The RPB vision is of people living the best lives they can in their homes and communities, and is supported by the Regional Outcomes Framework.

Domiciliary (home-based) care can be provided by local authorities, independent or private providers, and the third sector (152). A Welsh Government White Paper in 2021 identified that more adults are receiving care and support services at home, which had increased demand beyond available domiciliary care provision prior to COVID-19. Delayed transfers of care from hospital were often due to waiting for domiciliary care packages (153).

Analysis of trends in Wales between 2006/07 to 2018/19 identified that although the over-65 population increased in number, the number of residential care services did not. Possible explanations include a preference for domiciliary care, as well as extra care housing, informal care from family and friends, and older people living healthier lives (152). The Wales-wide report states that the impact of COVID-19 on attitudes towards care homes is still unknown (for example, due to excess mortality reported in care homes (154)) but may influence the demand for domiciliary care services in future. Future demand may also be shaped by the relative prevalence of conditions affecting older adults, for example, provision of domiciliary care may be more complex for people who have severe dementia. Domiciliary care was observed to be particularly vulnerable during COVID-19 (153) (152).

Research from Cardiff University in December 2021 investigating the impact of COVID-19 on domiciliary care workers in Wales found that 28% had sought mental health care, and identified emotional and well-being risks to domiciliary care workers such as increased workload, isolation, and lack of recognition of value. Risks of exposure to COVID-19 were also identified, such as through staff shortages, the personal nature of care provided to clients, uncertainty in client COVID-19 status, and impracticalities of using PPE (such as the client's fear; difficulties communicating; glasses steaming up during bathing of clients) (155).

The Social Care Recovery Framework published by Welsh Government prioritises enabling older people and disabled people to be active members of their local communities, and to remain active and independent in their own homes. The Framework recognises that long COVID is likely to impact domiciliary care services through recruitment, retention, and management of sickness amongst staff. The Framework aims to increase the capacity and reach of domiciliary care through a variety of means, including through the commitment to the Foundational Economy (156).





8.3.4 Unmet needs

Professional leads identified the need to better understand what older people want from services, and giving greater consideration to how best to support people with cognitive impairment. Also a need to increase the support around addressing frailty. Focus group participants identified the following gaps:

- Better access to healthcare to meet needs: *"struggle to get an appointment, even in an emergency"*
- Better public transport systems
- Improved accommodation: "Better sheltered housing"
- Enhanced support: "Better support for people to live independently"; "More support groups to meet with other people"

Respondents to the professional and provider survey identified the following unmet needs:

- Access to day care services, domiciliary care, and lifting service
- Long waiting lists for support services including mental health, physiotherapy, hospital services, and care at home; delayed care was identified as increasing people's needs
- Socialisation opportunities

Gaps in knowledge and understanding include:

- In depth knowledge and understanding of what older people want from services
- Consideration of how best to work with people with significant cognitive impairment
- A common understanding of the population need and demand for adaptations and identify inequalities within and between regions.
- A clear understanding of language needs for older people in Cardiff and Vale
- Benchmarking and the "social model of care"
- Where the gaps in service provision are
- Where to focus prevention work to have the biggest impact on reducing hospital admissions

8.4 What are the range and level of services needed?

8.4.1 Prevention and assets

To address the issues facing people as they age, prevention is crucial as it can keep people healthier for longer, living independently, reduce the need for social care and demand for other services. These key elements around prevention have been identified by professionals and older people:

- Legal framework around mental capacity, Power of Attorney and Advanced Decision making
- Financial management and support
- Falls prevention services
- Mental health and resilience
- Digital inclusion
- Integrated health and social care services across sectors





let's talk

nser siarad

- Addressing loneliness and social isolation
- Maintenance of social roles in families and communities, to give life a meaning

Assets to support well-being

Focus groups, discussions with professionals supporting older people and survey results highlighted sources of support and wellbeing for older people in Cardiff and the Vale.

Family and friends were valued: "I rely on family for many things". Community-based settings support independence and wellbeing. 42.2% of survey respondents who are older people reported to attend a setting "I lead a rich and fulfilling life with lots of family and friends to support and spend time with" – older person, focus group

within their community. Examples of local assets include drop-in centres ("support workers at drop-ins"); over 60s clubs in community venues such as mosques, libraries/ hubs, clubs such as drama, books, cooking or gardening. Third sector organisations such as Age Connects, Age Cymru, Red Cross provided support, and the Alzheimer's society Dementia Friends programme was also helpful. Healthcare services were supportive and care home staff "are superb, they take the time to care". Extra care housing facilitate independence amongst people with care needs.

Dewis Cymru provides a list of local and national organisations that can provide help and support for residents across Wales, including Cardiff and the Vale, for a range of topics including well-being, safety, managing money, being at home, and looking after someone (157).

8.4.2 Community services

Rehabilitation and reablement

Rehabilitation describes the concept of providing personalised support to an individual to enable them to live as active and full a life as possible. This includes reablement, which describes the process of regaining skills and confidence. Rehabilitation can prevent a need arising or escalating, promote self-management, help recovery after an event such as a hospital admission, and span physical and mental health (158).

The five-tiered, evidence-based Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation model, introduced in 2020, is shown in Figure 16.4. There are four "rehabilitation rules" that span all five tiers, indicated in blue double-headed arrows in the figure. The design principles (in red) are taken from the Cardiff and Vale UHB strategy 'Shaping our Future Wellbeing'. Rehabilitation aims to reduce health inequalities, promote independence, pre-empt and avoid crises, and enable people to enjoy a meaningful life at home where possible (158).







Figure 16.4. Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation Model. Source: Cardiff and Vale UHB (158)

Transport

Transport was identified in the 2017 PNA as a way of improving people's independence and well-being (159). The Centre for Ageing Better published a report on barriers and enablers to active travel amongst people aged 50 to 70, with key themes around physical ability, confidence, proximity to amenities, maintained footpaths and cycle paths, social norms, and motivation (150). The Welsh Government Strategy for an Ageing Society incorporates public and community transport that is accessible to all older people, as a priority. Transport is viewed as critical to enable older people to realise their independence, participation, reduce isolation and loneliness, and access services. Barriers to access included poor co-ordination between transport systems, availability of public toilets, and seating. Free bus travel for those aged over 60 is continued in the new Wales transport strategy. Three key areas include development of demand responsive transport, improving bus services, and supporting people to plan their journeys door to door (116). Health services need to be accessible for older people, including by public transport. Age-friendly spaces are discussed in the 2019 Director of Public Health for Cardiff and Vale's annual report (113).

In Cardiff and the Vale, there are a number of third sector community transport providers, including Age Connects, Voluntary Emergency Service Transport, Hospital Transport Service, alongside others (160).





8.4.3 Partnership approach

Future thinking

The demographic shift will be a significant future challenge, and the demand for social care in particular is going to be rising. There are issues with recruitment in social care currently which need to be addressed, and there is a need to ensure services are sustainably funded. Societal changes such as employers enabling flexible retirement opportunities may impact the services demanded and utilised. Social care needs to be sustainably funded for the long term.

Person-centred services

Services need to be joined up. Prevention should be prioritised, in order to support older people to live and age well (116). Social prescribing (161) and provision of a wide range of support services can enable older people to have their needs met such as addressing isolation and potentially reduce their need for health and social care. The Royal College of General Practitioners has developed community action plans to tackle loneliness for each of the four UK nations. In Wales, the plan aligns with the Well-being for Future Generations Act, encourages partnership working between Primary Care and other services, and calls for everyone to take action to tackle loneliness (162)

Services need to be flexible enough to meet needs of the individual and their choices. There has been a positive shift towards supporting people to stay in their own homes, and to have rights to say what they want and need. More people are choosing not to live in residential care accommodation, but staying at home and receiving support there, which comes from a variety of sources including third sector. There is often still a need for nursing care at a point in people's lives however. A range of service providers needed to work jointly – health, local authority and third sector to provide the right care at the right time.

8.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

In Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan the number of people aged 65 to 84 years is expected to increase from around 70,000 people to around 93,000 people between 2019 and 2039. This will mean a rise from 14% of the total population in 2019 to 16.2% in 2039. Figure 8.2 illustrates the rate of growth expected in this age group between 2019 and 2039. It should be noted that predictions become less accurate the further forward into the future they project.







Figure 8.2. Projected population increase aged 65 to 84, 2019 to 2039 Source: Public Health Wales Observatory

The number of people who are aged 85 and over is expected to rise even more sharply, with numbers expected to double in the next 20 years. This will mean a rise from 2.4% of the total population in 2019 to 4.2% in 2039. Figure 8.3 illustrates this change.



Projected population, counts, all persons, age 85+, Cardiff and Vale UHB, 2019 to 2039 Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using 2014 population projections (WG)

Figure 8.3. Projected population aged 85 and over, 2019 to 2039 Source: Public Health Wales Observatory





Health and social care will need to adapt and focus not only on the ongoing impact of the pandemic, but the need to continue to build an integrated system which delivers the best quality services for the population. Welsh Government will concentrate efforts on the *"whole system"* putting citizens at the centre and surrounding them with resilient local communities alongside primary and community care (25). Health services need to be agile and responsive and social care services caring, effective and linked seamlessly with local communities and health services, to provide support for those in their own homes.

Future demand for formal care for people is not simply linked to the fact that the population is ageing. However, the projected growth in the numbers of older people with complex care needs (including severe dementia) is highly likely to result in increased pressure on health and care services (163), for example, the number of older adults living with severe dementia is predicted to double by 2040 in Wales.

8.6 Recommendations

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, and private providers to:

- Recognise the diversity of the "older people" group and provide services to meet the needs of such a diverse group, including transport options
- Continue to embed the Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation Model
- Further develop existing collaborations to provide high quality end of life care
- Integrate care and support services to enable older people to live independently and well at home for as long as possible, for example, through the @home programme
- Promote the use of Dewis Cymru to increase awareness of available support services

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Support new building developments to meet the needs of an ageing population, and increase the provision of a variety of accommodation options to enable older people to make informed choices on where and how they live
- Implement the Housing Adaptations Strategic Framework; and ensure existing properties are appropriate, safe, and support older people's independence
- Apply urban design standards and accessibility criteria when redesigning existing infrastructure, for example, increasing the time for people to cross the road at a light-controlled pedestrian crossing (113)

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:

 Promote the Royal College of General Practitioners 'Tackling loneliness. A community action plan for Wales' amongst health care providers and partners to raise awareness of loneliness, and advise how lonely patients can be identified and supported (113)





9. Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People; Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Older People; Learning Disability; Autism; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; VAWDASV; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Substance Misuse; Secure Estate; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)

Recommendations

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, and policy makers to:

- Anticipate the impact of demographic change on future service demands
- Consider the impact of socio-economic disadvantage on service users, and how services can be provided in a way to reduce inequities, in line with the Socio-Economic Duty

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:

• Further progress accommodation solutions that meet the needs of the service users

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

- Improve access to services, with a focus on mental health services
- Continue to develop and strengthen preventative health services

Policy makers to:

 Use the Triple Challenge lens to inform policies and strategies around issues impacted by Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change, such as food systems and diet (70)

9.1 Overview

This chapter considers lifestyle and health behaviours such as smoking, diet, physical activity, and prevention such as vaccination, as well as long term conditions.

Self-Assessed Health

Across Wales, since 2016/17, self-reported health has remained fairly stable. However, a socio-economic gradient persists. In 2019/20, 81% of people in the least deprived fifth of the Welsh population reported good or very good health, compared to 60% of people in the most deprived fifth (127).





The proportion of adults over 16 years in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan stating their health is "good" or "very good" has remained fairly stable, with 75% in Cardiff, and 72% in the Vale of Glamorgan in 2018/20. Those reporting their health as "bad" or "very bad" has also remained stable: around 8% in Cardiff and 7% in the Vale of Glamorgan (164).

Across Wales, the number of people reporting 2 or more longstanding illnesses has remained at 21% in 2016/17 and 2019/20; similarly those reporting to be limited by the longstanding illness is similar at 33% in 2016/17 and 35% in 2019/20. Nineteen percent consider their activities to be limited a lot by illness (115).

Weight, physical activity, and diet

Two-fifths of adults in Cardiff and one-third in the Vale of Glamorgan are a healthy weight (BMI 18.5-25). Three-fifths in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 55% in Cardiff are overweight or obese (BMI over 25) (165). In both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, 29% of the population were active less than 30 minutes in the previous week (165). In Cardiff, 4% reported eating no fruit or vegetables the previous day (6% in 2016/18); for the Vale of Glamorgan, this was 7% in 2016/18 and 6% in 2018/20. One third (34%) of those in the Vale of Glamorgan and 26% in Cardiff reported eating 5 portions the previous day in 2018/20 (165).

The National Survey for Wales 2018/19 reports that 9% of respondents experienced a day in the last fortnight where they did not have a substantial meal due to a lack of money. This figure was 4% in 2017/18 (166). The Trussell Trust provides consistently increasing numbers of food parcels in Wales, although the figures for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan between 2019/20 and 2020/21 do not show this pattern (Figure 6.1) (167). This may be due to measures taken by Welsh Government (such as holiday free school meals) or alternative provision at a local level (for example, Healthy Start Vouchers, or through Food Cardiff and Food Vale). People in the UK who are in poor health, have experienced eviction or divorce, and who lack access to support networks including friends and family, are more likely to need support from a food bank (168).



Figure 9.1. Number of food parcels distributed to children and adults by the Trussell Trust, by local authority.

Source: the Trussell Trust (167)





Healthy life expectancy

Healthy life expectancy provides an estimate of years spent in "good" or "very good" health, based on self-reported measures, and complements measures of life expectancy, which estimates the average number of years an individual would live, were they to experience that area's current age-specific mortality rates for their whole life (169).

Life expectancy as well as healthy life expectancy is higher for females than males at national and local authority levels, for 2013/15 and 2016/18 (with the exception that healthy life expectancy in Cardiff is the same for males and females at 61.7 years) (170). Healthy life expectancy is above the Wales average for residents of the Vale of Glamorgan, and males in Cardiff. Of the data presented in Table 9.1 for 2016/18, the biggest difference between life expectancy and healthy life expectancy in 2016/18 was 21.2 years for females in Cardiff, which equates to 74% of life spent in good health. The smallest difference was seen for males in Cardiff (16.5 years) who have 79% of life in good health (170). Note that life expectancy calculations are based on the number of deaths registered and mid-year population estimates, aggregated over 3 consecutive years. They also provide an average figure and do not account for differences in different population groups.

	2013/15			2016/18		
	Life	Healthy life	% of life in	Life	Healthy life	% of life in
	expectancy	expectancy	good health	expectancy	expectancy	good health
Cardiff						
Males	78.3	60.2	77%	78.2	61.7	79%
Females	82.6	63.5	77%	82.9	61.7	74%
Vale of Gla	morgan					
Males	79.1	64.3	81%	79.3	62.2	78%
Females	83.2	66.5	80%	83.4	64.4	77%
Wales						
Males	78.4	61.5	78%	78.3	61.4	78%
Females	82.3	62.7	76%	82.3	62.0	75%
UK						
Males	79.2	63.1	80%	79.3	63.1	80%
Females	82.9	63.9	77%	82.9	63.6	77%

Table 9.1. Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy, by area, gender, and time

Source: ONS (170)

Information sources

The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work (297 survey respondents reported having a long term health condition or physical disability; 5 focus group participants with a long term health condition. Findings from a focus group with 10 homeless participants are also included). It should be noted that the views of those engaged are not representative of all people with long term health conditions in the population of





Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but do provide rich information about their lived experiences.

9. 2 What has changed since 2017?

9.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

Nationally, the following key documents have been published:

- A Healthier Wales: Welsh Government's plans for health and social care (171)
- Health and Social Care in Wales sets out impact of COVID-19, key lessons learned, opportunities, challenges, risks, and priorities for the future (25)
- Healthy Weight; Healthy Wales: Welsh Government's long term strategy to prevent and reduce obesity in Wales (172)
- The draft Welsh Government tobacco control strategy for Wales and delivery plan is out for consultation between November 2021 and January 2022 (173)
- A health impact assessment of the 'Staying at home and social distancing policy' in Wales in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, published in June 2020, identified positive and negative impacts (174)

9.2.1 COVID-19

A "triple challenge" now faces health and social care services; this describes the combined impacts of Brexit, climate change, and COVID-19. These factors are dynamic and impacts are broad across the wider determinants of health. Public Health Wales calls the present time point a "*window of opportunity*" to implement policies to positively influence health, wellbeing, the economy, and the environment, in line with the ethos and aims of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (70).

COVID-19 has had a disproportionate impact across Wales: those in more deprived communities with poorer living conditions, overcrowding, higher risk and lower paid jobs experienced worse outcomes from COVID-19 (25), and have demonstrated the overlapping and cumulative effect of the social determinants of health. Welsh Government identified four areas of COVID-19 related harm:

- 1. Direct harm from COVID-19
- 2. Harm from overwhelmed health and social care system
- 3. Hard from reduction in non-COVID-19 activity
- 4. Harm from wider societal actions and lockdown (25)

Figure 9.2 shows the number of COVID-19 cases in Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (175). The Cardiff and Vale Annual Director of Public Health 2020 report describes the impact of COVID-19 in more detail (19).







This map uses the Office for National Statistics' (ONS) middle layer super output areas (MSOAs) as defined by their 2011 boundaries. The case numbers are suppressed for any MSOA where there were fewer than three cases. The colours are defined by the decile an area falls under when ranked by their incidence per 100,000; with the highest 10% of MSOAs in Wales categorised as 1 and the lowest as 10.

Figure 9.2. A map of COVID-19 cases by Middle Super Output Area (MSOA), correct as at 24.01.2022.

Source: Public Health Wales Health Protection (175)

Direct harm from COVID-19

An estimated 58,000 people living in private households (1.9%) in Wales have self-reported long COVID of any duration in January 2022 (42). At a UK level, a social gradient is observed, with 2.6% of people in households in the most deprived and 1.6% in the least deprived areas experiencing long COVID (42). No data are currently available for Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan on the prevalence of long COVID.

The COVID-19 age-standardised death rate per 100,000 for females in Wales was 138.1 between March 2020 and April 2021; with rates of 126.0 and 178.8 for females in the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff respectively. For males in Wales, the mortality rate was 220.0, with 222.5 in the Vale of Glamorgan and 325.2 in Cardiff (176).

Harm from overwhelmed health and social care system

The Audit Wales report "Taking care of the carers?" describes how the NHS has looked after its staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. Challenges in staff well-being prior to the pandemic were recognised, and so strong focus was placed on protecting staff from COVID-19 (for example, through infection prevention and control measures, and access to COVID-19 tests and vaccinations), as well as supporting mental health and psychological well-being. The report identifies the increased stress and exhaustion amongst staff, and highlights the need for continued support to prevent long term physical and mental health impacts. Investment into NHS staff to develop a motivated and healthy workforce was concluded to be essential





to the delivery of high quality health and care services that are safe, efficient and effective (177).

Welsh Government reports that health and social care services are concerned by staff fatigue, and consequent issues with recruitment and retention (25). One focus group participant expressed concern for staff providing services. *"It's how tired the NHS are: I regularly speak to my doctors and nurses and I see the strain"* – service user, focus group

The homeless focus group experienced a negative impact on service provision, with delays in delivery. They recognised efforts to house homeless people during COVID-19, and the lack of evictions – but stressed that evictions were only one cause of homelessness; others included relationship failure, abuse, bereavement, and leaving prison.

Harm from reduction in non-COVID-19 activity

In the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a reduction in GP attendances for possible cancer symptoms as well as a reduction in cancer screening, outpatient and accident and emergency attendances in Wales (25). Between March and November 2020, 3,500 fewer cancers were diagnosed compared to what might be expected for that period of time in Wales (25). Due to diversion of resources towards COVID-19, an increase in the number of patients waiting more than 36 weeks throughout the secondary care pathway was seen, alongside an increase in people waiting for diagnostic tests, and a reduction in elective procedures (25).

Harm from wider societal actions and lockdown

A total of 138,470 people were on the Shielding Patient List in Wales during the first lockdown which commenced in March 2020, with 6,000 in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 13,730 in Cardiff. In the Vale, 60 were less than 16 years, 3,395 were 16-69, and 2,545 were 70+; in Cardiff these figures were 250; 8,715; and 4,765 respectively (178). One focus group participant with a long term condition stated that COVID *"reduced your already limited areas of choice in your life"*.

Around 16% of those employed in Wales worked in industries that closed at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. Women, young people, disabled people, and those from an ethnic minority were more likely to work in those industries (179).

In the UK, COVID-19 has increased food insecurity, in particular amongst ethnic minority groups (180). Food insecurity and poverty increase the risk of hunger and obesity co-existing (180). Obesity has been associated with worse COVID-19 outcomes (25). "The main barrier is the mental barrier that the pandemic has created in my mind" – person with a long term condition, focus group





Positive impacts

Some benefits have been observed, for example:

- Health and social care staff and patients/service users: embracing digital technological solutions including video consultation and remote working
- Community spirit: a desire to contribute, and the willingness of people to volunteer at local vaccination centres or food banks, or supporting more vulnerable members of the community, have demonstrated and developed community resilience
- Environmental: improvements in air quality through reduced traffic, as more people work from home
- Systems: successful elements of the pandemic response including demonstration of successful partnership working to create a whole system approach; and rapid implementation of diagnostic testing and digital systems (25)

9.3 What are the care and support needs?

9.3.1 Individual

Person-centred approach

The theme of wanting to be involved in decision making came from focus group participants of adults with a long term condition: *"You have to advocate for yourself otherwise you are not heard";* however, participants recognised the limits of their knowledge and wanted to be supported in such decisions.

Focus group participants mentioned issues which undermined their independence and well-being; getting support for the person they cared for was the biggest challenge they faced. Professional leads felt it was important to see the person, and not their diagnosis. "Sometimes I am only confident to speak on things that I have knowledge of. I like people to speak for me but sometimes it's not then put as I would like it" – person with a long term health condition, focus group

Language and communication

The number of Welsh speakers is projected to increase over the next 30 years. The Annual Population Survey reports 883,300 Welsh speakers aged 3+ in 2021, an increase from 2011. The Welsh Government aim to reach 1 million Welsh speakers by 2050 (127).

The National Survey for Wales reports that 11% of respondents in Cardiff and Vale were given the choice to receive treatment in Welsh or English (range 11-24% across Wales). Amongst Welsh speakers in Wales, 24% chose to receive treatment in Welsh (181). Social Care Wales report that only 2% of domiciliary care workers are fluent in Welsh and 15% have some Welsh in the Vale of Glamorgan. For Cardiff the figures are 3% and 27% (182).





9.3.2 Community

Access to health services

The 2020/21 National Survey for Wales identified that fewer respondents had seen a GP in the last 12 months compared to previously: in Cardiff and Vale, the figure was 67%, compared to 64% across Wales. The ease of booking a GP appointment in Wales was improved in 2020/21 with 76% reporting ease (77% in Cardiff and Vale). In 2020/21, two-thirds of appointments were face to face, with 32% by telephone (166).

Most (84%) survey respondents across Wales stated they could get the right information to lead a healthy life; and 84% reported they could get the right information when unwell (166). There may be differences in access to services amongst different vulnerable groups, such as gypsy travellers, or sex workers, for example. Focus group participants who were homeless struggled to access certain services, particularly mental health services, and so were unable to make decisions about how best to deal with their complex needs. Homeless people have high prevalence of mental health disorders yet struggle to access mental health and other healthcare services. Homeless people are also four times more likely than the general population to attend the Emergency Department (183). Difficulties accessing services experienced by asylum seekers and refugees are described in chapter 20.

9.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

A Welsh Government review of socio-economic disadvantage and inequalities of outcome published in November 2021 concludes that socio-economic disadvantage is associated with worse health outcomes, through complex mechanisms. Possible explanations include through worse access to opportunities for physical activities, poor dietary intake, and impacts on mental well-being (55).

The Welsh Government Future Trends report in 2021 identify a slight reduction in poverty across Wales, with lower poverty rates in children in Wales compared to the UK, but higher poverty in working age adults and pensioners. The qualification profile has improved, inline within overall UK trends. The unemployment rate in Wales has decreased since 2013 (however, rates of in-work poverty are still known to be high) (127).







Figure 9.3. Proportion of the population in deprivation groups based on lower super output areas. Source: produced by Cardiff Council using Welsh Government data (20)

The National Survey for Wales 2019/20 identifies that 13% of adults in Cardiff and 8% in the Vale of Glamorgan live in material deprivation (a measure of poverty; the extent to which people can afford essential items such as heating and food), although this is not a significant difference (184). Figure 6.3 shows about half of the population of Cardiff live in the 50% least deprived Lower Super Output Areas, and one fifth in the 10% most deprived areas. More information can be found in Chapter 4 (Demography).

Across Wales, there is significant variation in lifestyle behaviours according to deprivation:

- Smoking: 26% of those in the most deprived quintile smoke, compared to 11% of those in the least deprived quintile
- No fruit/vegetables the day before: 12% in the most deprived compared to 6% in the least deprived quintile
- Less than 30 minutes' physical activity the week before: 41% in the most deprived compared to 26% in the least deprived quintile
- Drinking more than 14 units of alcohol/week: 13% in the most deprived quintile, compared to 21% in the least deprived quintile (note unhealthy alcohol intake is more prevalent in the least deprived group, in contrast to other risk factors) (165)

Housing

The Welsh Government Future Trends evidence suggests that the number households is likely to increase over the next 20 years, as is the number of people living in single-person households in Wales (127).

Welsh Government has recently published the draft Housing Adaptations Strategic Framework to aid the delivery of adaptations services at a local level, with an aim to operationalise this in April 2022. One of the key aims of the framework is to develop a common understanding of the demand and the need for adaptations. Adaptations can help maintain independence, reduce hospital admission and facilitate discharge, and delay or avoid residential care (149). In 2019/20, 34,341 adaptations were recorded in Wales: 55% delivered by Care & Repair, 37% by local authorities, and 8% by housing associations. Most





(95%) cost £500 or less. The most common benefits for adaptations were falls prevention, followed by independent living (185).

Across Wales, 7% of adults have experienced homelessness. Adults reporting 4+ adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) have were 16 times more likely to report homelessness than those without ACEs. Childhood Resilience Levels were found to protect against ACEs and were also associated with lower reporting of lived experience of homelessness. Examples of resilience assets include supportive teachers, a trusted relationship with a stable adult, and belonging to a community (183).

Focus group participants who were homeless felt that they had little control over what was happening to them and that they had been "*left*" homeless. The duration between referral from the Housing Options Centre to hostel accommodation was felt to take too long, which exacerbated chaotic situations. People tended to live in the immediate and did not plan for the future; delays in decisions were perceived as "an eternity". Participants found some rules troublesome: certain accommodation providers required people to leave by 9am, which prevented shift work.

Housing was seen as the first key step in order to gain access to employment, healthcare, and other services, such as a key worker. Focus group participants felt that homeless people needed access to a key worker the most, but struggled to get this support. Homeless focus group participants named Huggard as critical for their independence, as without an address, they were unable to access other support. These findings were echoed in engagement conducted for the Secure Estate chapter (chapter 19).

9.3.4 Unmet needs

Focus groups have identified unmet needs:

Mental health services linked to long term conditions: participants reported insufficient support for mental health issues associated with their situation. A number of comments were made in relation to the current support being offered via GPs with a theme coming through that people were much more likely to be directed towards medication rather than other sources of support (e.g. counselling, cognitive behavioural therapy). COVID was felt to have exacerbated the situation. Professional leads observed that early identification of mental health illness was needed, yet the culture around recognition of mental health needs often did not support this.

"There were charities providing support to people with mental health problems but they lacked the resources to help everyone" – person with a long term condition, focus group

• Referral times: One participant stated that long referral times had effects on other aspects of life, for example, work.





• Awareness of available support: participants acknowledged that third sector organisations had variable levels of resources available; and that: "support is there but you have to search it out"

Gaps in knowledge included that the emerging science and research on COVID-19 and long COVID will continue to evolve. There is currently no local data on the prevalence or impact of long COVID and the potential for differential impact within different groups within the population.

9.4 What are the range and level of services needed?

9.4.1 Prevention and assets

Prevention has a strong focus in the 'Health and Social Care in Wales – COVID-19 update', including promotion of the Healthy Weight; Healthy Wales strategy to tackle obesity and to prevent diabetes and musculo-skeletal problems. Wider determinants of health also have preventative effects, such as employment and financial resilience (25).

COVID-19 vaccination

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board have administered 392,808 first doses of the COVID-19 vaccine, 360,408 second doses, and 274,602 booster vaccines as at 16.01.2022 (186). Across the Health Board, there are inequities in vaccine coverage, for example, with lower coverage in Black, Asian, Mixed, and Other ethnic groups compared to White ethnic groups, across all age groups. Actions have been delivered to decrease the gap, with some success. Inequities are also observed across Wales between the most and least deprived areas (19).

Assets to support well-being

Assets to support people's well-being identified in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment (159) were thought to still be valid by professional leads. Engagement work identified that, at the individual level, friends, family, and peer support was helpful. Community-based

"If I hadn't found the support groups online I don't think I would be here. It took me 16 years to get a diagnosis. There is no mental health support"– person with a long term condition, focus group assets included community projects, and third sector organisations (such as Huggard). However, it was identified that "to benefit from their support you need to have time and resources of your own". The Carers Gateway and Advocacy Gateway, as well as online help, were sources of support (a finding echoed in other chapters in the PNA). Statutory organisations, and Welsh Government initiatives such as Access to Work were helpful. This scheme provides funding for equipment for the workplace, travel costs; car adaptations; interpreters; and other forms of practical support (187).





9.4.2 Community services

Access to services

Timely access to the services is critical, with mental health services most commonly discussed. Services should be provided in a location and format that is accessible to the user, and promotes health, well-being, and enables them to achieve what matters to them.

Long COVID rehabilitation service

Cardiff and Vale UHB have adapted the Cardiff

"I live in a very good place, I know there is support if I need it" – person with a long term condition, focus group

and Vale UHB Model for Rehabilitation (further details in chapter 8) to develop the COVID-19 Rehabilitation Model. This model addresses the rehabilitation needs of those recovering from COVID, as well as those who have experienced paused planned care, those who have avoided healthcare services during periods of restrictions, and those who are socially isolated or in shielded groups. An accompanying website (www.keepingmewell.com) was launched to provide guidance (188).

9.4.3 Partnership approach

Connected services

Housing is a critical basis for employment and access to other services. Focus group participants felt *"trouble makers"* were turned away when they needed increased support for complex needs. Services should be connected so that individuals can be signposted to more suitable sources of support. Awareness of support available should be high amongst staff working in public-facing services as well as amongst service users and bystanders.

9.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

The Welsh Government White Paper 'Rebalancing Care and Support' remarks on the challenging climate due to: COVID-19, austerity, the complexity of the care and support landscape given the number of providers, and different commissioning bodies and funding mechanisms (93). Welsh Government aims to develop a national framework where services are designed based on quality, value, outcomes, simplicity, sustainability, partnerships, and co-production (93).

The report 'Health and Social Care in Wales – COVID-19: Looking Forward' from Welsh Government refreshes the health and social care action plan 'A Healthier Wales'. The core of the plan is a whole system approach, with people at its core, and seamless integration between health and social care services (25).

Demographic change is anticipated as outlined in chapter 4. This will impact on the anticipated prevalence of care and support needs. In terms of lifestyle behaviours, the Future Trends report predicts that smoking prevalence will decrease, whilst obesity and the proportion of people eating fewer than 5 fruit and vegetable portions a day will increase





(189). The persistence of the life expectancy and healthy life expectancy gap between the least and most deprived is expected to continue in Wales (189).

Understanding the prevalence and impact of long COVID, and planning for COVID-19 recovery including building on positive impacts (such as digital progress and alternative forms of delivering care) whilst minimising harms will be a priority. A Public Health Wales report details the unequal implications of Brexit on poverty, health and well-being in Wales, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, impacts on the labour market and consequent staff shortages in health and social care; and disproportionate impacts on the poorest and most vulnerable, for example, through increases in the price of food, or reduced funding for preventative public services (190).

9.6 Recommendations

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, and policy makers to:

- Anticipate the impact of demographic change on future service demands
- Consider the impact of socio-economic disadvantage on service users, and how services can be provided in a way to reduce inequities, in line with the Socio-Economic Duty

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:

• Further progress accommodation solutions that meet the needs of the service users

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

- Improve access to services, with a focus on mental health services
- Continue to develop and strengthen preventative health services

Policy makers to:

 Use the Triple Challenge lens to inform policies and strategies around issues impacted by Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change, such as food systems and diet (70)





10. Physical Disability

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People; Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Older People; Learning Disability; Autism; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; Secure Estate; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)

Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Undertake training on disability equality
- Ensure services are accessible to disabled people; including accessible information
- Reaffirm social model of disability (79)
- Work towards a positive and inclusive culture for disabled people
- Increase awareness of job opportunities for disabled peoples, and how to apply for reasonable adjustments with improved links to Access to Work.
- Increase availability of training for disabled people to further their independence, such as travel training (119)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:

• Continue to promote independent living

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Continue to consider mental health alongside physical health in service developments

10.1 Overview

This chapter is concerned with the care and support needs of people with disabilities, including physical disability. People with a learning disability are included in the chapters regarding Children and Young People, and Learning Disability and Autism. People with sensory loss or impairment are included in Chapter 16. The Equality Act 2010 defines disability as "a physical or mental impairment [which has] a substantial, long-term adverse effect on a person's ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities" (191). Of note, many reports and data sources include a range of disabilities (including physical disabilities) as per the Equality Act 2010 definition, and do not disaggregate by disability type. Where information relates to a physical disability in this chapter, this is specified.

Welsh Government use the terminology "disabled people" in their reports to refer to people with disabilities (79) (81). The most preferred term amongst focus group participants was "disabled people", so this has been used throughout this chapter. One person who





preferred to be described as a person with a disability said she did not wanted to be defined by her disability.

Data from the National Survey for Wales identified that 32% of adults aged 16 or older in Cardiff, 37% in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 34% across Wales are limited by longstanding illness. These proportions are approximately halved when asked if limited a lot by longstanding illness (16% in Cardiff, 19% in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 18% in Wales) (164).

Estimates from the Annual Population Survey show increasing numbers of adults in Wales aged 16-64 responding that they have a disability. For Wales, these figures are 267,600 in 2013/15 to 416,600 in 2017/19, which equates to 21.9% of the population (192). Figure 10.1 demonstrates the number of people aged 16-64 who reported that they have a disability according to the Equality Act 2010 definition in the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff, in 2018-2020. In both local authorities, 19% of the population were disabled. By age band, in both local authorities, 11% of 16-24 year olds were disabled. For people aged 24-44, 16% in the Vale of Glamorgan and 15% in Cardiff were disabled, and for those aged 45-64, the figures were 25% and 29% respectively. A higher proportion of females are disabled compared to males, in both local authorities, across all age groups, with the biggest differences in people aged 25-44 in the Vale of Glamorgan (11% males and 22% females disabled), and those aged 45-64 in Cardiff (24% males and 34% females disabled) (193).



Figure 10.1. The number of people aged 16-64 who are disabled or not disabled based on the Equality Act 2010 definition by sex in the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff, for 2018-2020. Source: ONS (193)





Citizen voice was included from the public survey (292 respondents had a long term health condition or physical disability) and a focus group with 8 participants who had a neurological condition. Seventy-five respondents to the provider survey provided care and support services for people with a long term health condition or physical disability.

10. 2 What has changed since 2017?

10.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

Nationally, the following changes have taken place:

- Welsh Government published 'Action on Disability: The Right to Independent Living Framework and Action Plan' in 2019. The Framework defines independent living as: "all disabled people having the same freedom, dignity, choice and control as other citizens at home, work, in education and in the community" (81). The Framework is centred around the social model of disability, key legislation including the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities; and The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (81).
- The Disability Equality Forum published its report on the impact of COVID-19 on disabled people, entitled 'Locked out: liberating disabled people's lives and rights in Wales beyond COVID-19'. This described the disproportionate impact that COVID-19 has had on disabled people, and identifies five overarching themes: the social versus medical model of disability; human rights; health and well-being; socio-economic disadvantages; and exclusion, accessibility, and citizenship (79).

Locally, service provision has changed as follows:

- The Cardiff and Vale Carer's Gateway was launched in 2020 in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. This provides information and support to unpaid carers in order to improve the quality of life for carers and the people they care for (194).
- The Cardiff and Vale Advocacy Gateway was developed in 2018, to provide access to advocacy for anybody who needs help to fully participate in their own care and support, including information and assistance with understanding the options available to them, and support to being heard and having control (195).

10.2.1 COVID-19

The Welsh Government report 'Locked Out: liberating disabled people's lives and rights in Wales beyond COVID-19' details the impact of COVID-19 on disabled people (79). Key findings include:

- The amplification of underlying inequalities, including socio-economic and health outcomes. Disabled people experienced disproportionately high mortality from COVID-19, of which inequalities in the wider determinants of health (such as discrimination; housing; poverty; lack of access to information) were a significant contributor
- The importance of the Social Model of Disability
- The inaccessibility of public services including public transport, health and social care services, and vital public health information. The report calls for diversity and





inclusion training which is co-produced, delivered, and accredited by Disabled People's Organisations

- Disabled people feel their lives are less valued in Welsh society. This aligns with another finding of the need to increase representation of disabled people in decision-making
- Disruption in access to health, including mental health, services (further details provided below)

Many of these findings are echoed in engagement work conducted for this report and included and expanded upon within this chapter.

Focus group participants with a neurological condition stated that even prior to COVID-19, there were difficulties with accessing services. COVID-19 has exacerbated these difficulties, although participants felt that it was also being used "as an excuse for poor services and inaccessible information".



Direct impacts of COVID-19

The 'Locked Out' report details the impact of COVID-19 on disabled people in Wales (79). Disabled people are disproportionately affected by COVID-19, with two-thirds of COVID-19 deaths in Wales being amongst disabled people. This was due to: discrimination, poverty, employment conditions, inadequate services, and inaccessible information (79). One-third of employed disabled people in Wales work in high-risk jobs with respect to COVID-19 exposure risk (33.2%) which is higher than the general population (30.7%) (196).

In Wales, disabled people feel achievements made within the disability rights movement have been lost (79). For example, language used called disabled people *"vulnerable"* which undermined progress (79). Disabled people felt excluded physically and psychologically from public life, restricting their independence (79). Strategies did not consider individual circumstances, for example, people with visual impairment unable to socially distance or navigate restructured spaces; people with hearing impairment being unable to lip read due to masks; and increased street furniture adding difficulties for people with mobility impairments (79). However, one focus group participant identified the positive impacts of working from home to increase access to the workplace for disabled people.





"I'm disabled, so can only work from home. Then suddenly everyone was working from home. Covid proved people can do their jobs from home, so more disabled people should be able to access working from home." – person with a neurological condition, focus group

Physical health

Access to medical care has been more difficult, with some conditions not being treated or treatment postponed, leading to deterioration in health for some disabled people (79), a sentiment echoed in focus groups. Focus group participants report that specialist neurological services staff were redeployed into the emergency response and this has impacted negatively on people living with neurological conditions. Virtual provision of services have been helpful. One participant, prior to COVID-19, took part in MS Society Cymru face to face active together circuit-style sessions.

"... my strength grew and I was able to [take] my first steps using a walking frame. When the pandemic hit...I began to decline and was increasingly becoming unable to walk again. MS Cymru had moved exercise classes online which I joined and they helped me to begin walking once more" – person with a neurological condition, focus group

Mental health and well-being

In Wales, disabled people experienced a disproportionate negative impact on their mental health (79). Anxiety ratings have increased, are higher for disabled people (especially disabled women), and more disabled people worry about the impact COVID-19 has on their lives compared to non-disabled people (79).

Survey respondents with a long term condition or physical disability (n=277) mostly reported good or very good well-being before COVID-19 (60%), but this decreased over the last year (35%). Around half reported their health was around the same as before COVID-19, with a quarter reporting it had worsened a little. Focus group participants in peer support groups noted the increased need for mental health and well-being support.

Providers responding to the survey commented on changes in clients' needs: support for emotional, physical and mental well-being, financial hardship. Alternatives to face to face service provision has been challenging; and demand for services has increased.





Social care

Impacts on social care identified by focus group participants include the lack of carers available, which has had significant consequences for those reliant on help.

"COVID has impacted on delivery of social care services ... I need to be put to bed at 8pm because of staffing shortages. On another day, 50 minutes after leaving me with breakfast, a different pair of carers turn up to give me lunch." – person with a neurological condition, focus group

10.3 What are the care and support needs?

10.3.1 Individual

Independence and advocacy

A focus group participant who used a wheelchair stated that their independence varied day by day according to whether car drivers had parked outside the house where they lived blocking their way out. Welsh Government recognises an enabling environment is needed to promote independence, considering access to wheelchair users, contrasts in rooms for people who are blind or partially sighted; and background noise levels (81). Three quarters (76%) of survey respondents with a long term health condition or physical disability felt they had full or adequate control over their life. Barriers to feeling in control included physical ability, lack of money, and emotional or mental health issues.

> "The impact of COVID will go on for years and the needs of people living with neurological conditions will fall further down the priority list" – person with a neurological condition, focus group

Language and communication

The Welsh language strategic framework 'More than just words' emphasises that provision of Welsh language services is fundamental for some groups, including stroke services, and speech and language therapy services (197). One focus group participant explained the importance of care provision in Welsh.





"My first language is Welsh, I think in Welsh, I speak Welsh mainly. I struggle with English and when health and care professionals talk to me in English, I can't understand them properly. I have to take time to translate it to Welsh in my head first then think about what they've said then translate it back before I can answer. With cog fog this is so difficult and I know that I miss important things" – person with a neurological condition, focus group

Welsh Government in 'Action on Disability' makes clear that supporting the person's communication is paramount, and that individuals should not be expected to rely on others to arrange an appointment or in the consultation (81). Barriers identified during engagement for this Framework included inaccessible language and signs being too high for wheelchair users; and the subsequent impact that such barriers had on an individual's ability to travel independently (81).

Focus group participants with a visual impairment felt as though they had to constantly inform care providers of their need for accessible formats of information, and felt this had been worsened with COVID-19.

10.3.2 Community

Medical care

Provision of sufficient medical services to manage health conditions is needed. Disabled people are more likely to experience mental health concerns than non-disabled people, in Wales (81). Focus group participants sought to emphasise the importance of helping people with their mental health problems at the same time as providing support to them for their long term physical health conditions. "Physical and mental health are like hand and glove" – person with a long term condition, focus group

Transport

Access to transport was identified as a need in the focus group as well as through other engagement work. Transport is a prerequisite for education, employment, exercise, appointments, and socialisation; a lack of transportation contributes to loneliness and lack of independence (81). Access to public transport includes needing physical space for wheelchair(s); the option to not book in advance; supportive staff members; and having





bystander awareness and support (81). Barriers include poor pavement conditions and obstructive parking outside. Public sector buildings such as hospitals and leisure centres can be challenging due to a lack of lifts and toilet/changing facilities in Wales (81).

10.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

Disabled people are more likely to live in deprived areas. In Wales, 8.1% of non-disabled people aged 16-64 live in the most deprived 10% of small areas in Wales, compared to 13.8% of disabled people of the same age who live in these areas (79). One-third of children living in a household with a disabled person were living in relative income poverty, compared to one-quarter of children in a household without a disabled person (79). COVID-19 has exacerbated pre-existing financial inequalities in Wales, with more disabled people reporting falling behind on bills (16% compared to 7% of non-disabled people) (79).

Welsh Government report that 14.5% of people in employment in Wales are disabled. The employment rate amongst disabled adults is 48.5%, and 80.6% amongst non-disabled adults (79). In the Vale of Glamorgan, the percentage of disabled people in employment has increased from 42% in 2014, to 59% in 2020. For Cardiff, the figures are 47% and 56% respectively. The gap between those in employment with and without disabilities has narrowed in the same period, from 36% in the Vale in 2014, to 20% in 2020; and from 25% to 22% in Cardiff. In the Vale, a higher proportion of females with disabilities were employed compared to males between 2014 and 2020. In Cardiff, since 2018, a higher proportion of males (198). In Wales, disabled people are more likely to have lower paid, insecure jobs, and often take freelance work in order to accommodate their needs (79). A higher proportion of employed disabled people working in high risk occupations (with high potential exposure to COVID-19) compared to non-disabled people (79).

Welsh Government comments on the "unacceptable" nature of sustained disadvantage through these wider determinants of health (81). Across the UK, people with disabilities have experienced more food insecurity: people who have severe disabilities are five times more likely to be food insecure (180).

Survey respondents with a long term condition or physical disability were mostly able to keep up with bills (83%); had a small amount of money to spend on themselves (79%); and were able to keep their home warm in winter (74%). Therefore, a significant minority are really struggling to meet their financial needs.

Education and employment

The disability employment gap has increased in Wales, with disabled people being half as likely to be employed as people without disabilities (199). People with disabilities experience barriers to education and employment, which can be overcome through reasonable adjustment policies in Wales (81). Some disabled people may need assistance with finding a job; physical barriers such as transport and building access may prove




prohibitive. Welsh Government reports that young disabled people can co-produce innovative and low cost solutions to enable them to gain the employment they want (81). Improved signposting and awareness to supportive schemes (such as Access to Work) for both disabled people and prospective employers was identified as a need by Welsh residents (81).

Housing

More disabled people in Wales live in rented homes rather than owning their homes, with 46% of disabled people and 28% of non-disabled people in rented homes (79). Barriers to obtaining a mortgage include how benefit payments are considered, and the types of employment disabled people are more likely to have (79). Finding private rented accommodation that meets accessibility requirements may be more expensive and isolating (81). There is a recognised shortage of suitable and accessible housing (79) as new builds do not take accessibility needs into account, despite an ageing population. Fears around COVID-19 transmission risks have led to a reduction in requests for adaptations to housing in Wales (79).

Disabled people in Wales are more likely to live in overcrowded conditions (196). In 2018/19, 11% of Section 75 assessments (households who are eligible, unintentionally homeless, in priority need, and owed housing under the Housing (Wales) Act 2014) were from households where a member was vulnerable due to a physical disability (196).

People with a disability are more likely to have experienced domestic abuse than nondisabled adults aged 16-74; with prevalence at 7.5% and 3.2% respectively for men, and 14.7% and 6.0% for women in England and Wales (196). Within focus groups conducted for this report, there were participants who had experienced VAWDASV and a disability, demonstrating the need for cross-sectoral thinking to ensure that housing is both suitable and safe.

10.3.4 Unmet needs

A number of unmet needs were identified in reports and engagement work:

- Person-focused care: For example, some disabled young people were unable to access sexual health services due to their disability (81). Financial pressures have resulted in closure of some services and groups, which negatively impacts disabled people's social inclusion (81). Survey respondents with a long term health condition or physical disability identified barriers to accessing support services, including emotional and mental health, lack of confidence, and transport.
- Medical care: delays in new treatments becoming available; holistic post-diagnostic support; support in between appointments; medical care closer to home; specialist psychological support
- Rehabilitation: focus group participants wanted access to rehabilitation services longer than the 6 weeks offered
- Respite: Focus groups identified that respite care could be improved; this was also discussed in the engagement for 'Action on Disability' by Welsh Government (81)





- Lack of domiciliary carers: a perception that carers had left their jobs to work elsewhere
- Understanding of long-term conditions: the 'Locked Out' report identifies thoughtlessness as a key contributor to disabled people not feeling valued, and feeling excluded through lack of access to essential services (79). Focus group participants reported a lack of understanding of their conditions by medical staff

Gaps in knowledge and understanding were identified: a lack of data on access to healthcare services for disabled people (199), although we have clear information on access to primary care assessments for people with learning disabilities.

10.4 What are the range and level of services needed?

10.4.1 Prevention and assets

Advocacy is a key tool for prevention; assisting with signposting to the right support. Information on services must be up to date to facilitate the individual receiving the right help from the right service at the right time. Information must be accessible to service users, taking their communication needs into account according to Welsh Government (81). Additionally, the Action on Disability framework calls for early intervention from health or social care as appropriate, so that a crisis point is not reached (81).

Employment

Welsh Government cites Disability Champions and disability award schemes as a mechanism by which to increase work opportunities (79), or through inclusive recruitment and Disability Confident Schemes (200). Prominent advertising of how to arrange reasonable adjustments within job descriptions and applications, as well as in the workplace, should help recruitment and retention of disabled people.

Assets to support well-being

Professional leads identified that assets in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment (159) are still valid. Subsequent reports and engagement work have identified the following as particularly relevant at a community level: the Carers Gateway and Advocacy Gateway (identified by professional leads), as well as day centres, where service users appreciate the familiarity of the environment. Third sector organisations such as MS Society Cymru and Dystonia Society Cardiff and Vale Facebook group; as well as third sector helplines, peer support groups, online forums, and a wide range of other resources were valued. Access to higher education was improved through Disabled Students Allowance (81). Employment was identified to support independence, promote confidence, and build social networks (81). Children in Wales Getting More Involved in Social Care project enables young disabled people to train peers and professionals on participation, and have developed an app on exercising their rights (81). The Education Programme for Patients Cymru who provide self-management courses for people with a long term condition was identified by professional leads as supportive.





"I've only been out of the house three times since March 2020. I've always been independent and giving the reigns to somebody else has been difficult. But I've had to get used to it. Through MS Cymru I'm now doing tai chi, physio, yoga, coffee mornings, bingo, quizzes, knitting and crafts, choir and Time to Chat online. I'm so busy now I wonder, what did I do with my time before? I'm meeting with people living with MS from around Wales and the rest of the UK who I wouldn't have met ordinarily. It's wonderful making new friends" – person with a neurological condition, focus group

10.4.2 Community services

Signposting between services

One focus group participant stated of support services: *"It's an art to find out what's available"*. Signposting between different organisations, including for housing and benefits advice, would improve service user awareness. Half of survey respondents who reported a long term health condition or disability found it difficult to find information and advice available to them; suggesting respondents were not adequately signposted to advocacy services to assist them in finding and understanding information.

10.4.3 Partnership approach

Sustainable services

Many disabled people cited concerns around funding cuts; increasing pressure on services to meet needs; and their own deteriorating health. One focus group participant stated: *"Social care is in crisis and the most vulnerable will be left to fend for ourselves"*. Providers' concerns for the future included funding, demand-resource mismatch, and staff shortages.

Culture and Attitudes

Disabled people experience hate crime: South Wales Police recorded 181 incidences of hate crime due to disability in 2018/19 (Wales total 443); and 8,256 for England and Wales combined. Since 2011/12, there has been a year on year increase in the number of recorded hate crime due to disability in England and Wales, with a 49% increase in numbers between 2016/17 and 2018/19. However, hate crime incidents recorded by South Wales Police between 2014/15 and 2018/19 have fluctuated between 137 and 218 (201).





To combat this, a supportive and enabling culture is needed: including an environment that promotes people's independence, and the presence of role models and prominent figures. For example, work is ongoing to overcome barriers (such as negative attitudes, physical access, and lack of communication support) to people with disabilities gaining public leadership roles such as local councillors (81). Staff training, including inclusion and diversity, is already incorporated in many workplaces. Educational material needs to be co-produced by people with disabilities (79). Focus group participants asked for service user participation, underpinned by a co-production and participation strategy to be developed.

10.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

The predicted number of people aged 65+ who struggle with activities of daily living is anticipated to increase by 38% from 22,845 in 2020 to 31,424 by 2040 in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (202). Although there are more females than males who are predicted to have difficulties with essential tasks; males will have proportionately more of an increase (40% compared to 36%). The greatest number of people and the greatest increase will be seen in the 80+ age group (202). These figures should, however, be interpreted with caution as estimates become increasingly uncertain the further into the future they project.

The White Paper on Rebalancing Care and Support observes the increasing care and support interventions to meet the needs of people who are disabled, or have severe long term illnesses, and are living longer (93).

10.6 Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Undertake training on disability equality
- Ensure services are accessible to disabled people; including accessible information
- Reaffirm social model of disability (79)
- Work towards a positive and inclusive culture for disabled people
- Increase awareness of job opportunities for disabled peoples, and how to apply for reasonable adjustments with improved links to Access to Work.
- Increase availability of training for disabled people to further their independence, such as travel training (119)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:

• Continue to promote independent living

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Continue to consider mental health alongside physical health in service developments





11. Learning Disability

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Physical Disability; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment

Recommendations

Third sector, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Continue to base services on co-production; individual care and support plans should also be co-produced
- Focus services towards what is important for the individual, such as encouraging an active independent lifestyle, and promotion of friendships
- Build on existing provision to provide opportunities for work and activities, as per the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy (84)
- Ensure information provided is accessible and jargon free to improve service access and maximise their impact
- Identify and mitigate against inequities amongst people with learning disability

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

• Continue to promote the "community first" approach when planning placements and accommodation

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Continue to improve uptake of annual health checks and screening

11.1 Overview

A learning disability is identified when an individual has a significantly reduced ability to understand new or complex information, to learn new skills with difficulties coping independently, which started before adulthood (92). Welsh Government has adopted the social model of disability, and it should be noted that although the term "*people with learning disabilities*" does not align with this model, this is currently the preferred term amongst members of All Wales People First (79). This chapter focusses on adults; children with learning disability are discussed in chapter 6.

The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy for Adults with Learning Disability 2019-2024 states that, in 2017, there were 7,081 adults in Cardiff estimated to have a learning disability, of whom 1,175 received support from the Learning Disability Services (equal to 78% of people with a moderate or severe learning disability). For the Vale of Glamorgan, 2,400 adults were estimated to have a learning disability, of whom 448





received support from Learning Disability Services. This represents 90% of those with a moderate or severe learning disability (84).

There is a voluntary register held within each local authority which has more up to date data, but this underestimates the number of people with learning disability: in Cardiff, there were 1,389 people with learning disability on the register in 2018/19; in the Vale of Glamorgan there were 496 people with learning disability on the register during this time period (203). In 2019/20, the GP register for Cardiff and Vale had 2,220 people registered with learning disability (1605 from Cardiff, and 615 from the Vale of Glamorgan), of 15,448 people registered across Wales (204).

Engagement was conducted with 20 participants who attended one of three focus groups. In addition, 27 respondents to the public survey stated they had a learning disability or autism; and 61 respondents to the provider survey provided services for people with learning disability or autism. Their views are not representative of the population of people with learning disability in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but provide depth of insight to complement other data sources.

11.2 What has changed since 2017?

11.2.1 Prior to COVID-19

The following changes have taken place since the previous Population Needs Assessment. Nationally:

- Learning Disability Improving Lives Programme (2018), which promotes community support to reduce admissions, and promote early discharge (205).
- Improving Care, Improving Lives report by the National Collaborative Commissioning Unit in 2020, which highlights the care received by inpatients in learning disability hospitals (96).
- Reducing Restrictive Practice Framework in 2021 which applies to health and social care, education, and childcare settings (206).

Regionally:

- Cardiff and Vale Learning Disability Needs Assessment was published in 2018 (92).
- Publication of the Cardiff and Vale Joint Commissioning Strategy for Adults with Learning Disability in 2019 (84).
- Cardiff and Vale UHB service improvements including implementation in 2018 of 120 Learning Disability Champions in the University Health Board; two new UHB Acute Liaison Nurses in 2020; a daily report notifying of all inpatients with a learning disability; Easy Read feedback questionnaires; and launch of the "1000 Lives" care bundle (43).
- In Cardiff, a transition day service was developed for young people with complex needs, and a further education college course for young people with complex needs is being piloted. Child to adult services transition were improved through social services systems and staffing; and a support planner service that through person centred planning, supported people to access a wide range of inclusive community opportunities prior to COVID-19. The Vale of Glamorgan has a complex needs day





service and young people are accessing community opportunities and college courses at Cardiff and Vale Barry college site.

11.2.2 COVID-19

Health impacts of COVID-19 on people with learning disability

In Wales, COVID-19 has disproportionately affected people with learning disability, resulting in a higher mortality rate not due directly to the learning disability, but due to other factors (79). Analysis of mortality data from March to November 2020 demonstrated, at a Wales-wide level, a higher rate in the people with a learning disability as compared to the general population (207). Further analysis of data is needed to understand the direct and wider impacts of COVID-19 on mortality and morbidity at the health board level. Professional leads have identified that people, their families, and service providers have worked hard to support people to remain safe.

People with learning disability are in a priority group for COVID-19 vaccination. However, getting the vaccination for COVID-19 has been challenging for some as learning disability was not recorded in their primary care medical records in Wales. The immunisation experience was reported to be better in the presence of a family member or carer; a healthcare professional who took additional time to explain the process; and personalised approaches to the vaccination such as administration at home or in the car (208).

The three Easy Read survey respondents reported neutral or good well-being before COVID-19 and currently. They felt their health is the same or better now than before COVID-19. One focus group participant was concerned about their weight: "*put on too much weight lately*" and praised interactions with the dietitian.

Carers of people with learning disability in Wales report fatigue and stress (208). A minority of carers in a Learning Disability Wales report had received respite (208).

Impact of COVID-19 restrictions

Focus group participants (n=20) identified COVID-19 restrictions as a barrier to doing what matters to them through the closure of community organisations, and the impact of physical distancing, limiting social interactions. Learning Disability Wales report that some school students who were unable to understand the restrictions, blamed school staff for limitations on socialisation, which had a negative impact on relationships between staff and students (208).

Welsh Government reported that those shielding have experienced loneliness and depression (79). Restrictions have negatively impacted relationships and people's sense of independence (79). Differing restrictions at different periods of time in different areas have contributed to stress and anxiety – in particular for individuals living in shared households (79).

The lack of face to face services is challenging for many service users, professionals, and carers. However, some people with learning disability have seen the reduction in services or virtual services as beneficial; and have identified new ways of connecting with others using





digital platforms (79). Professional leads reported that some individuals preferred virtual communications, and increased access to services especially for those in the Vale of Glamorgan, where transport may be difficult. In planning COVID-19 recovery, individuals' communication preferences should be taken into account.

A Learning Disability Wales report has identified a positive impact of COVID-19; stating "new opportunities to learn skills previously not available to [people with learning disabilities] have emerged, which it was previously wrongly assumed would be beyond their capabilities" (79).

Impact of COVID-19 on service delivery

Providers of care and support for people with learning disability and autistic people responding to the PNA survey identified that service users were: increasingly reliant on family members; had difficulties with isolation, mental health, financial hardship, and increasing challenging behaviours; and a lack of respite for carers.

Professional leads reported that staffing of services was challenging, with difficulties in recruitment and retention including of agency staff. In Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, staff teams have transitioned to working at home. Services have worked hard to support staff wellbeing and develop new ways of working to meet local needs and outcomes. Many mainstream and specialist day opportunities temporarily closed during the pandemic. The local authorities were able to maintain complex day services albeit at reduced capacity. Third sector and private providers worked hard to maintain contact with individuals known to them and services reopened when government guidance allowed and worked to increase capacity as it becomes safe. Respite services continued but at a much reduced capacity during this period.

11.3 What are the care and support needs?

Many of the needs identified in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment remain valid.

11.3.1 Individual

Health

People with learning disability are more likely to have or develop other comorbidities; and face additional barriers to investigation and diagnosis. For example, 40% will develop moderate/severe hearing loss but are less likely to receive a diagnosis than the general population; 25-40% will develop mental health problems but these may not be diagnosed as they may be attributed to the learning disability. Dementia, vision loss, epilepsy and other conditions are much higher in people with learning disability than the general population (84) (92) (96). Dementia often presents at a younger age in people with learning disability, and is more prevalent: 22% amongst people with learning disability, and 5% in the general population aged 65+ (92).

The Royal National Institute of Blind People (RNIB) estimate that 10% of people with learning disability are blind or partially sighted and those living on their own are less likely to have received a recent eye examination than those living with support staff (92) (209). In





Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, an estimated 3,792 adults have learning disability and moderate/severe hearing loss (92).

Behaviours of concern can be prevalent in children with learning disability and often persist without intervention; this increases the risk of substance misuse, mental health issues, and interaction with the criminal justice system (92).

Language and communication

Data from 2017 identified only 13 adults with learning disabilities in Cardiff who were Welsh speakers. This is anticipated to increase as more children and young people receive Welsh medium education (84).

Survey respondents with a learning disability or autism wanted better support and wider understanding of non-verbal communication, and increased access to Makaton. Easy Read survey respondents wanted people to speak calmly, plainly, and without jargon. The small number of respondents to both surveys is acknowledged, and is not representative of the wider population of people with learning disability.

Friendships and relationships

Friendships, family, and partners are important to people with learning disability: "Going on holiday with my mum, going on holiday with our group". The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy consultation identified the need for an active, fun social life for adults with learning disability (84).

Prior to COVID-19, 13/24 survey respondents said they felt lonely some or all of the time, whereas now 18/24 feel lonely. Easy Read survey respondents stated they spend some or lots of time with other people; as they did before COVID-19. All three respondents received help from family, a friend or a neighbour.

11.3.2 Community

Supported Autonomy and Co-Production

Professional leads observed that routine involvement of people with learning disabilities in consultations had improved, however, true co-production should be the aim. The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy includes co-production, collaboration, choice and control through listening and jointly finding solutions (84).

"I ask my family for advice, they say it's my decision in the end" –person with learning disability, focus group Focus group participants had strong opinions about their rights to independence and decision making, and believed that they exercise those rights: "I speak for myself and contribute to the decisions that affect my life, or have someone who can do it for me"; "Nobody tells me what to do". Some did acknowledge that this was within a framework of boundaries set by others: "It's right for other people to advise, if they think it's the wrong decision they have to step in". However, one person





demonstrated increased reliance: "I rely on other people to steer me and tell me what to do". Future independence was linked to moving into their own place with friends or a partner, but participants were aware that their learning disabilities may make this challenging: "I have dyscalculia, how am I ever going to move out and pay my bills?"

Survey respondents with learning disability or autism mostly reported having adequate or full control over their lives (16/24); whereas 7 stated they had no or low control. All three Easy Read survey respondents reported they feel they are treated with respect, and that their voice was heard in decisions regarding their care and support.

Health care

Difficulties accessing healthcare was commented on in the focus group.

A Wales-wide report on health care for people with learning disabilities identified concerns that not all people with learning disability had an up to date care plan with input from the full multi-professional team, however, many were positive regarding their care (96). The review "Doctors are all automated, you can't get a service, I just want to phone someone and make an appointment I can't do it online" – person with a learning disability, focus group

noted that a community-first approach to care should be taken to avoid inappropriate or lengthy hospital admissions, and transitions should be carefully planned with all agencies involved (96). Restrictive interventions should be kept as a last resort (96) and a holistic approach should be employed to managing or preventing such use. Previous engagement identified the need for accessible and understandable information provision, the right support at the right time (including early, crisis, respite, and specialist support), and smooth transitions between children's and adult services (84).

Professional leads identified the importance of providing reasonable adjustments to improve access to healthcare. The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy will work towards this through co-production with the Learning Disabilities Partnership Group; and recruiting a Learning Disability Liaison Nurse to work in Cardiff and Vale UHB (84).

Transport

Affordable, accessible transport and access to assets were identified in focus groups. Professional leads observed that this is especially important in the Vale of Glamorgan due to its rurality. Focus group participants wanted to feel safe in their local community, for example, when walking the dog.

11.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

There are no local data available on deprivation and learning disability; however, it is recognised more widely that social determinants of health including material deprivation (a





measure of poverty; the extent to which people can afford essential items such as heating and food (184)), contribute to the inequalities in health experienced by people with learning disability (92).

Focus group participants discussed their desire for good, secure, paid work – and emphasised the importance of work for their mental health. Financial worries impact on other decisions: *"Worried about financial things if I move, where do you start with all the bills?"* In both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, a Support Planning Service helps people identify vocational and leisure activities, such as voluntary work and community groups (84).

"I'm worried about my paid work, I need it for my mental health" – person with learning disability, focus group

Easy Read survey respondents reported that they had a small amount of money to spend on themselves each week, and that they were able to pay bills and debts on time.

Education and employment

Focus group participants expressed their desire for a job, and were positive about getting support at work to help them do what matters to them. Small numbers of people with learning disabilities are undertaking foundation apprenticeships or traineeships (40 in Cardiff; 15 in the Vale of Glamorgan) (210). Professional leads identified establishment of roles with local colleges (such as Cardiff and Vale College) so that those who are unable to undertake a full course can still gain experience and life skills. Curriculum pillars on the Personalised Learning Pathway at Cardiff and Vale College include health and well-being, employability, community, and independence (211).

Complex day opportunities have improved in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. Professional leads identified that Cardiff is skilled in positive behavioural support whereas the Vale of Glamorgan is skilled in dealing with complex health needs. Further development aims to provide holistic services in both areas. A pilot has been undertaken in Cardiff and Vale to meet local need and wishes and develop local day opportunities and further education for those transitioning from school, through partnerships working with education colleagues. It also includes the development of an adult plan, which looks at local opportunities for people who wish to stay locally. This has been positively received by people with learning disabilities, their families, and school staff; enabling people to maintain friendships and support networks (84).

Survey respondents with learning disability or autism were mostly in work or education prior to COVID-19 (15/24), and currently 14/24 remain in work or education. Four did not work due to illness or disability; and three were caring for a family member. Note that these are small numbers that are not representative of the wider community of people with learning disabilities.





Housing

Community placements for people with learning disability are offered in the person's own home, with parents/family, in foster home, or in lodgings/supported living, and should be considered the default for most people. For people in crisis, specialised community care should be the first port of call, with inpatient care reserved for those who cannot be safely managed in the community (96). A 2018 needs assessment for Cardiff and the Vale UHB identified that approximately 50% of people with learning disability were living in their own homes (92).

Of the 390 people open to the Vale of Glamorgan learning disability team in 2021, 71 were in supported accommodation and 46 in residential placements (including residential homes for older people, residential college and in and out of county placements). In addition, there were 23 households supporting 32 individuals in long-term adult placement (29). Seventeen people are in residential placements funded by Cardiff and Vale UHB (212).

In 2021, in Cardiff, there were 310 people living in local supported living accommodation, 26 people in adult placement, 109 people live in residential provision funded or part funded by Cardiff Council, and 38 people living in residential care funded by Cardiff and Vale UHB (30).

The Closer to Home Project within the Cardiff Housing Strategy aims to provide local placements for people with complex needs (89). In the Vale of Glamorgan, the Supporting People Programme has prioritised the provision of additional adult placements for people with learning difficulties or mental health issues (213). The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy prioritises *"having my own home"*; which will support people's independence, for example, developing the Adult Placement Service to enable friends to live together, as well as reducing the number of people placed out of area (84). Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan provide support for independent living that enables people and their families to have confidence in paying bills and dealing with safety at home.

Needs identified by focus group participants included addressing the long waiting list to move house; living more independently for example with a partner or friends; and being provided with more details on the property before moving in. Participants understood "*home*" to be a way of living and the people you live with rather than the physical building, therefore no responses were given around housing conditions; although it was felt that mental health needs needed to be taken into account by housing support services. Participants who lived on their own linked it to their independence: "I'm quite happy and carefree". These responses are in line with other engagement work in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan (84).

"I really enjoy doing my own thing, I feel more confident and independent, now I catch the bus on my own so it makes me feel more independent" – person with learning disability who lives on their own, focus group





11.3.4 Unmet needs

Engagement work and professional leads have identified the following areas of unmet need:

- Independence: a need for support for independent living that enables people (and their families) to have confidence in activities such as paying bills and dealing with safety at home
- Healthcare services: difficulties making an appointment; a need for more specialised mental health services; lack of forensic services for people with learning disability
- Employment: a need for more good quality secure jobs with support

The following gaps in knowledge were identified:

- Estimated numbers of people with learning disability are known, but comprehensive confirmed figures are not available
- Deprivation levels in populations of people with learning disability
- Sexual health needs amongst people with learning disability

11. 4 What are the range and level of services needed?

11.4.1 Prevention and assets

Prevention of comorbidities is crucial; especially given the increased prevalence of additional medical diagnoses amongst people with learning disability. Based on a regional needs assessment, people with learning disability are more likely to be under- or overweight (79); weight management is therefore important and dietitians were respected in focus group discussions. However, other lifestyle risk factors such as smoking and drinking are at a lower prevalence amongst people with learning disability (79), and so may not require focussed attention to the same extent. Wider social determinants of health including having supportive communities are also preventative and key to well-being.

In 2016/17, 45% of people who were on the learning disabilities register in Cardiff and Vale had a health check with their GP (84). In 2019/20, of the 2158 patients on the GP learning disability register, 854 (36%) had received an annual health check (41).

Focus groups and survey respondents identified many assets as supportive to their wellbeing. At a personal level, family, friends, partners, and pets were supportive: "Walking my dog, he makes me happy". However, some people were anxious about encountering things they were scared of, such as fireworks, and people on bicycles. Family were seen to facilitate access to services. People within the local community made focus group participants feel welcome, for example "they know who I am, when I moved here my mental health got better"; "out in the street I feel independent, people make me feel like I am treated OK and not judged".

The following organisations working within the local community were identified:

• Third sector organisations such as Cardiff People First, Vale People First, and Newport People First were identified as supporting people to make their own choices: *"[it] makes me happy"*. Voluntary work within local charities was appreciated



- Groups that provided a sense of purpose and social interaction were especially valued. These included local community assets such as church, cafes, local shops, green places for walking, exercise classes, and adult education
- Local Authority services such as social workers, and NHS services, for example dietitians

"[named staff member] is a very good listener, I can call her any time" – person with learning disability, focus group

let's talk amser siarad

Professional leads identified Dewis Cymru as a helpful resource.

11.4.2 Community services

Healthcare services

Healthcare services need to be aware of the high prevalence of comorbidities in people with learning disability. The higher mortality experienced by people with learning disability needs to be addressed as a priority in planning future services. Services need to provide early intervention, specialist intervention, and adopt a community-first approach (92). People with learning disability wanted to access healthcare themselves, for example over the telephone rather than booking an appointment online; services should consider the preferred method of communication by service users.

Work, volunteering and day opportunities

The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy promotes work, volunteering and day opportunities; people remarked on the positive impact in terms of confidence and independence. Existing services include day services, support planners (who work with people to understand their wishes in the development of care packages), and links with a number of third sector organisations and community groups. Future plans include focusing on people transitioning from child to adult services and building further links to develop more opportunities (84). Professional leads state that Cardiff Council have the Into Work scheme, providing specialist employment support for people with learning disabilities. The Vale of Glamorgan Council has Vale Communities for Work, a free programme that, through specialist support, helps job seekers in the Vale to access employment and volunteering opportunities.

"After college, 'T' was very isolated at home with few friends. A support planner helped them identify what they wanted to do and learn. This included confidence with travelling, making friends, doing an IT course, learning a sport and working towards employment. They were supported to find a full week of opportunities including IT courses, interest based social clubs, tennis lessons, and a referral to 'into work' which will support training, confidence building, and seeking employment" – case study, role of the support planner (30)





11.4.3 Partnership approach

Co-production is a keystone in current service provision The Cardiff and Vale Joint Commissioning Strategy plans to expand on this, for example, through including service users in contract monitoring and review meetings (84). Focus groups organisers reported that participants *"were very pleased to do this focus group and would like to do more, it made them feel more independent and like their opinions matter"*. Provider survey respondents recommend availability of clear information free of jargon, and provision of documents in Easy Read including clock times.

11.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

The Cardiff and Vale Joint Commissioning Strategy estimates that the number of adults with learning disabilities in Cardiff will increase by 125 between 2017 and 2025; and will stay stable in the Vale of Glamorgan (84). In line with wider demographic changes, the population of people with learning disability is aging. In addition, people with learning disability have increased likelihood of development of other comorbidities such as dementia (84) (96), which will increase demand for and change the nature of care and support needs (93).

The Liberty Protection Safeguards are planned to apply from April 2022 onwards, and protect people aged 16 and above who need treatment through deprivation of liberty but are unable to consent (214).

11.6 Recommendations

Third sector, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Continue to base services on co-production; individual care and support plans should also be co-produced
- Focus services towards what is important for the individual, such as encouraging an active independent lifestyle, and promotion of friendships
- Build on existing provision to provide opportunities for work and activities, as per the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy (84)
- Ensure information provided is accessible and jargon free to improve service access and maximise their impact
- Identify and mitigate against inequities amongst people with learning disability

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

• Continue to promote the "community first" approach when planning placements and accommodation

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Continue to improve uptake of annual health checks and screening





12. Autism

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment

Recommendations

Third sector, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Continue to develop opportunities for co-production, and the involvement of autistic people in decisions around their care and support plans
- Improve data collection to better understand the number of autistic people, and associations with socio-economic deprivation and language needs.
- Embed the Code of Practice in the delivery of Autism Services
- Develop inclusive recruitment, for example, through the Disability Confident Scheme (200) or Positive About Working with Autism Programme (77)
- Improve wider societal awareness of autism and develop a supportive culture

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

• Develop accessible and flexible respite services

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Reduce waiting list times for assessment by the Integrated Autism Service

12.1 Overview

Autism spectrum disorder describes "the group of complex neurodevelopmental symptoms, of variable severity, that are characterised by challenges in social interaction and communication and by restricted or repetitive patterns of behaviour, thought and sensory feelings". Language in this chapter will align with the Welsh Government's Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services, where "autistic people" is used instead of "people with autism", as preferred by those who contributed to the document (78).

In Cardiff, there are 1,370 autistic children and young people aged 0-17, and 509 in the Vale of Glamorgan. For those aged 18+, there are 3,201 autistic people aged 18+ in Cardiff, and 1,165 in the Vale of Glamorgan (94). Note that not all autistic people will have been diagnosed. The needs of autistic children and young people are considered in chapter 6.

The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work: 27 survey respondents who had learning disability or autism (note that not all respondents answered all questions); 1 autistic person in an interview; and 61 respondents of the provider survey





supported people with learning disability or autism). It should be noted that the views of those engaged are not representative of all autistic people in the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but do provide rich information about their lived experiences.

12.2 What has changed since 2017?

12.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

Nationally, the following has been implemented since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment:

• The Autistic Spectrum Disorder Updated Delivery Plan 2018-2021 was published (77), as well as the Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services 2021 (78). The Code sets out the range of support services for assessment, diagnosis, health and social care and broader work around training and awareness raising.

Within Cardiff and Vale University Health Board:

• The Integrated Autism Service (IAS) was formally launched in Cardiff and Vale in September 2017, although it has been operational since September 2016.

12.2.1 COVID-19

Mental health

Across Wales, negative mental health impacts were particularly significant for autistic people during the pandemic, specifically depression and anxiety. This may be linked to social isolation and the financial impacts of COVID-19 restrictions (79). Lack of access to self-help activities further compound isolation (79). The 'Locked Out' report intersectionality reference group reported that following cessation of support for young trans people, trans autistic people had particular difficulty (79). The report identified that ambiguity around regulations has been particularly stressful for autistic people, in part due to "*vigilantism*" by others (79).

An interview conducted for the Population Needs Assessment identified the following concerns: "*my office closed because of COVID, I'm worried I might have forgotten how to do some of the things in my job. I was worried about going on the bus or being in busy places*". Prior to COVID-19, 13 of 24 survey respondents who reported that they had learning disability or were autistic, felt lonely some or all of the time, whereas by October 2021, 18 of 24 felt lonely.

Impact on care and support provision

Face to face services were paused in line with government restrictions. For some clients and staff, this was difficult due to a reduction in access to services, or a dislike of alternative provisions of care (for example, virtual appointments). For some carers, this exacerbated stress and fatigue. However, for some service users, the lack of face to face services was beneficial, as the demands on them were reduced. In addition, for those who lacked transport, virtual services are more accessible.

The IAS had increased waiting times for new appointments and as at August 2021 it was 18 months (215). The Delivery Plan recommends a 26 week waiting time target from referral to





assessment (77). During the 4 months where face to face services were stopped, no new diagnoses were made. However, support for autistic adults, carers, and professionals was provided through non-face to face mechanisms (76).

Providers of care and support for people with learning disability and autism responding to the survey identified that service users were increasingly reliant on family members; had difficulties with isolation, mental health, financial hardship, and increasing behaviours of concern. There was also a lack of respite for carers.

Impact on workforce

Difficulties staffing services was observed during the pandemic, due to staff illness or selfisolation, or due to staff leaving. Respondents of the provider survey had provided more online or telephone services; and some had had to reduce the services that they offered.

12.3 What are the care and support needs?

12.3.1 Individual

Independence and person-centred care

Professional leads identified the need to support individuals to develop skills to enable them to live as independently as possible. This was echoed in an interview conducted for this assessment: *"I want to be taught how to do things so I will be able to cope after mum and dad are dead, worried I might not be taught enough while they are still alive"*. This individual felt autonomous, stating: *"I tend to try hard to do things, and when I come to the conclusion that I can't do things by myself I tend to ask"*. A case study from Cardiff and Vale IAS reported in the National Autism Team 2019/20 Supplementary Annual Report states that the case had previously found it difficult to work with mental health professionals as they did not understand the case; however, the case was able to develop good rapport with the IAS Assistant Psychologist, which helped subsequent therapeutic interventions (216).

Language and communication

Welsh Government has published a Welsh language impact assessment on the Code of Practice for the Delivery of Autism services (217). In addition to this need nationally, regionally survey respondents wanted better support and wider understanding of non-verbal communication, with increased access to Makaton.

12.3.2 Community

Integrated Autism Service

The IAS provides diagnostic assessment of autism for adults who do not have a learning disability or meet the criteria for secondary mental health services; and their families, carers and professionals. Data from the IAS from 2020/21 shows that 1,589 people sought support from the IAS, of which 1,186 were new referrals from a range of people: 585 for diagnostic assessment or support for autistic people; 504 from professionals requesting training, advice or consultation; and 97 were carers requesting support. Over the year, 88 diagnostic assessments were provided (mostly in the last quarter, due to COVID-19 restrictions). This figure prior to the pandemic and in the financial year 2021/20 is significantly greater (76).





Access to timely diagnostic assessment is important, as demonstrated by feedback to the IAS. The IAS contributed the development of the Autism Code of Practice due to be published in 2021 and are represented in the National Autism Advisory Group.

"My whole life suddenly made sense – why I see things differently to others, find social situations awkward, struggle with change and unpredictability and like everything ordered and structured. This diagnosis has given me a renewed identity and purpose" – autistic person, feedback to IAS (70)

Transport

Professional leads identified the need for accessible and affordable transport, especially in the Vale of Glamorgan, which is more rural than Cardiff. This was echoed by the interviewee: "*my bus pass is helpful. It means I can get to work*".

Respite

Professional leads identified that carers of autistic people needed respite that was accessible, and flexible.

12.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Culture

The social model of disability has been formally adopted by Welsh Government, which recognises that a person with an impairment can become disabled by societal barriers, such as attitudes, physical and organisational infrastructure. The social model of disability enables people to feel and be more included (78).

The interviewee stated that the most important point they wanted to convey was around a lack of understanding from people around them.

Professional leads felt that autistic people are increasingly included in terms of public sector consultations, but there is still improvement to be made in terms of working towards true coproduction. "...too much misunderstanding, people just assuming that if I don't do something quickly that I'm not going to do it at all without being told, they just jump in" – autistic person, interview





Deprivation

No local data are available on the socio-economic characteristics of autistic people. Support provided by the IAS includes guidance on benefits and employment. The Code of Practice asks organisations to promote inclusion of autistic people (78). Increasing awareness of inclusive recruitment will enable more autistic people to gain higher quality jobs in Wales (200).

Skills development

Professional leads are working to improve skills development for autistic people, through liaising with local colleges to provide voluntary work and non-accredited courses. This will enable people to gain experience of college life, and contribute to promoting independence.

"Volunteering in the shop ... helps me get up. I liked being able to help people like me ... I can't do everything but by doing things other people have less to do" – autistic person, interview

Work-based learning provision in

Cardiff for autistic people included 10 apprenticeships and 15 traineeships; fewer than five people were in apprenticeships and traineeships in the Vale of Glamorgan in 2019/20 (218).

"I feel I have become a totally different person, with the fantastic new working pattern which I was granted thanks to the IAS, my confidence has doubled & I feel my assertiveness/speaking out has really improved since I started work again" – autistic person, Cardiff and Vale IAS (379)

Survey respondents with learning disability or autism were mostly in work or education prior to COVID-19 (15/24). In October 2021, 14 remained in work or education. Four did not work due to illness or disability; and three were caring for a family member.

Housing

Professional leads identified the need for supported / sheltered accommodation for some autistic people; currently individuals may have mental health placements but they are not sufficiently tailored in terms of support. Adult placements have been a positive experience, especially where people have been placed in a family home. Stakeholders have identified the need for a specialist autism facility for people in crisis in Wales.





The interviewee raised concerns about maintaining independence at home in the future, suggesting the need for support in advance of possible life changes: *"I'm worried about coping in my property when Granny is gone (granny is 97). I've had some good starts when granny has gone out."*

12.3.4 Unmet needs

Survey respondents wanted more autism-specific support, and age-appropriate inexpensive social groups and activities locally. The interviewee added that social connections were important: "having more opportunities to make friends and meet people my own age would be good."

Gaps in knowledge and understanding included:

- Lack of data on the number of autistic people in our population (with and without learning disability)
- Lack of data on accommodation needs for autistic people
- Lack of data on the Welsh language profile and deprivation levels amongst autistic people

12. 4 What are the range and level of services needed?12.4.1 Prevention and assets

Advocacy work supporting specific challenges faced by autistic people enables personcentred care provision, appropriate signposting to other services, and confidence building (76). Appropriate and early referral to the right sources of support helps prevent further needs arising or escalating.

Assets to support well-being

The interviewee and survey respondents identified a number of sources of support including family, who also help with money and appointments, and support from other autistic people. Within the community, they identified work (paid and voluntary) as a particularly important support, and specialist services such as Ysgol Y Deri. The programme Engage to Change was identified as supportive of employment. Church was also helpful: "going to church helps me to understand other people", as were opportunities to exercise.

The IAS is an asset, identified as such by feedback provided to the service (76), and by the interviewee. Other sources of support include Autism Wales, who provide support on a range of topics from financial management to dental care. Professional leads identified Dewis Cymru as a helpful resource.

"The people there were nice, and they helped me when I was struggling, I always struggle to get started but when I know how to do it, I can do it" – autistic person, interview





12.4.2 Community services

Pathway approach

The IAS employs a pathway approach, so that autistic people and their carers can receive support throughout their journey. This includes an Autism Post-diagnostic Support Group. (76).

12.4.3 Partnership approach

Multi-sectoral working

The IAS has partnered with a range of agencies including the Welsh Local Government Association, the National Autism Team, third sector, local authority, and mental health services, and is open to autistic over the age of 18. The IAS promotes autism advocates and develops support networks. The Spectrum Star (an outcome measure focussing on the service user) is used to structure support (76). According to Welsh Government, sectors outside of health and social care need to be involved in training and awareness raising to develop a supportive culture (77)

12.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

The number of people aged 18-64 with an autism spectrum disorder is expected to increase by about 13% (425 people) between 2017 and 2035, with one third of the increase in the 35-44 year old age group. The biggest increase by proportion is in those aged 75+, with an anticipated 75% increase (230 people) between 2017 and 2035 (92).

The Code of Practice for the Delivery of Autism Services plans for Autism to become its own chapter in future Population Needs Assessments (78)

12.6 Recommendations

Third sector, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Continue to develop opportunities for co-production, and the involvement of autistic people in decisions around their care and support plans
- Improve data collection to better understand the number of autistic people, and associations with socio-economic deprivation and language needs.
- Embed the Code of Practice in the delivery of Autism Services
- Develop inclusive recruitment, for example, through the Disability Confident Scheme (200) or Positive About Working with Autism Programme (77)
- Improve wider societal awareness of autism and develop a supportive culture

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

• Develop accessible and flexible respite services

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

Reduce waiting list times for assessment by the Integrated Autism Service





13. Adult Mental Health

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Adult Unpaid Carers; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Substance Misuse; Secure Estate; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)

Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Develop data systems to address the gaps in our knowledge
- Monitor the evolving understanding of the impact of COVID-19 on mental health
- Support housing transition to avoid homelessness for mental health service users

Cardiff and Vale UHB and Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Commission enhanced peer support services to promote independence
- Redesign mental health services so that waiting times decrease and there is easy access to mental health services when in a crisis
- Co-produce meaningful outcome measures with mental health service users
- Assess the efficacy of novel interventions, for example in the Recovery College

Third sector to:

• Promote independence and advocacy for people with mental health conditions

13.1 Overview

The WHO definition of mental health is that: *"Mental health is a state of well-being in which an individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and is able to make a contribution to his or her community."* (219). In this context, the term "adult" refers to those aged 18 and over.

Measuring mental health in the population is frequently reliant on surveys based on samples of the population. The Office for National Statistics conducts an annual survey of well-being, for measures such as life satisfaction, feeling worthwhile, anxiety levels and happiness. For example, life satisfaction (a score from 0 to 10, where 10 is the highest possible level of satisfaction) has increased in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan overall, but has been higher in the Vale over the last 5 years. For the impact of COVID-19 on mental health, see section later on in this chapter.







Figure 13.1. Average score of life satisfaction over time; Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, 2011-12 to 2019-20. Source: ONS (220)

According to findings from the National Survey for Wales, the percentage of people with a self-reported mental disorder has remained relatively stable over the last 3 years for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (see Table 13.1 below). This regional average masks a slight increase in the Vale of Glamorgan from 8% to 11% over the 3-year reporting period. This question was not asked in previous survey years and therefore there are no results prior to this reporting period.

Year	Cardiff	Vale of	Cardiff and Vale	Wales
		Glamorgan	of Glamorgan	
2016-17 and 2017-18	8%	8%	8%	9%
2017-18 and 2018-19	9%	9%	8%	9%
2018-19 and 2019-20	9%	11%	9%	10%

Table 13.1: Age-standardised percentage of adults with a mental disorder, 2016-17 and 2017-18 to 2018-19 and 2019-20

Source: Stats Wales (221)

Suicide is a response to a range of personal, community and societal factors (222). A small number of people will go on to die by suicide, which is tragic for all concerned. On review of Figure 13.2, suicide rates, whilst showing an undulating trend due to small numbers, have been below the Welsh average in recent years across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.







Figure 13.2. Age-standardised suicide rate per 100,000 population, 2002-04 to 2017-19. Source: ONS (223)

The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work (circa 100 PNA survey respondents; and four PNA focus group participants). It should be noted that the views of those engaged are not representative of all adults with mental health conditions in the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but do provide rich information about their lived experiences.

13.2 What has changed since 2017?

13.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

The Welsh Government Strategy 'Together for Mental Health' (224), launched in 2012, has almost completed its 10-year term. The most recent Mental Health Delivery Plan will finish in 2022 (225). The key priorities include:

- Improving mental health and well-being and reducing inequalities
- Improving access to support for the emotional and mental well-being of children and young people
- Further improvements to crisis and out-of-hours provision for children, working age and older adults
- Improving the access, quality and range of psychological therapies for children, working age and older adults
- Improving access and quality of perinatal mental health services
- Improving quality and service transformation

'Talk to Me 2' (222), the Welsh Government's strategy for suicide and self-harm prevention across Wales runs from 2015 to 2022. In South East Wales there has been a Regional Coordinator for Suicide and Self-harm prevention (covering Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan; Gwent and Cwm Taf) in post since 2020. In Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan our refreshed Suicide and Self-harm Prevention Strategy was launched in November 2021 (226). This multi-agency strategy and action plan, entitled: 'The right support, at the right time, in the





right way: working together to reduce suicide and self-harm', outlined the following overarching goals:

To reduce suicide and self-harm and their associated impacts in the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan

- Reduce the number of people who take their own lives, or attempt to do so
- Reduce the number of people who self harm and the severity of injury in those who do
- Reduce the impact of suicide and self harm on those who care for individuals directly affected by these issues

Regionally, there have been several service developments over the last 5 years, in particular:

- A shift towards cluster and locality level working
- Cardiff and Vale Recovery College has been developed, running online courses for adults with mental health challenges, carers and for staff working in mental health
- St John's Ambulance is now commissioned to transfer service users in crisis to hospital, therefore decreasing the waiting time for this to happen
- Mental health services are moving towards trauma-informed care in the services that they provide and develop

13.2.1 COVID-19

Lockdown restrictions

During the early phase of COVID-19 restrictions (by May 2020), 43% of UK Psychiatrists were already seeing an increase in urgent and emergency mental health referrals and a 45% decrease in routine appointments (227). The Office for National Statistics (228) noted that there was a higher proportion of people in Great Britain reporting to be depressed during June 2020 (19.2%) as compared to between July 2019 and March 2020 (9.7%).

According to the Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group, some participants found the pandemic lockdown measures reassuring and they felt safer. However, some were anxious about the opening up of society and the increased risks of contracting the virus, leading to greater isolation.

As the pandemic progressed, by June 2021, the majority (59%) of people surveyed in Wales (circa 600 respondents) stated that their mental health had stayed the same, as compared to earlier on in 2020 (229). In contrast 33% stated that their mental health was "a bit worse" or "much worse" (229). More recently (since the beginning of May 2021), there has been a downward trend in those people surveyed who worried "a lot" about their own mental health and well-being with this sustained at 20% or lower since then, see Figure 13.3 below (230).





Worried about own mental health and wellbeing, percentage, Wales, week ending 19 Apr 2020 - 04 Oct 2021 (week 2 to 78) * Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using Public Engagement Survey (PHW)



Figure 13.3. COVID-19 Recovery Profile – Mental Wellbeing, Wales Source: Public Health Wales Observatory (230)

Care and support provision

The findings from the Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group were mixed in terms of care and support for mental health during the pandemic. Some participants welcomed the move to online services and meetings and hoped that this would continue post-pandemic with hybrid services / meetings. Third sector organisations were referenced as trying innovative ways of linking in, with Sefyll (CAVAMH), Ty Canna and Grassroots mentioned as positive examples. Some participants felt more able to reflect: "Things slowed down and that was good, I had the time and space to work on myself".

In contrast, others stated that services had become worse for them: "My Primary Mental Health Service got a lot worse" or "CMHT [community mental health team] services that were vital fell apart, CPN [community psychiatric nurse] and Consultant left without being replaced, with awful consequences for mental health."

13.3 What are the care and support needs?

13.3.1 Individual

Language and communication

According to 'More than just words' (231), mental health service users are a key group for services to be available in the Welsh language, and to receive the Welsh language offer. Unfortunately, there is little information on first language collected my mental health services. However, interpreters are provided on request when required.





13.3.2 Community

Timely access to services

An unpublished Mental Healthcare Needs Assessment, completed in August 2017 defined the care and support needs for working age adults in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan. A common theme was having timely access to support services, as there are frequently long waiting times for counselling and psychological therapy.

Treating physical and mental health conditions holistically

The unpublished Mental Healthcare Needs Assessment also references an English report that stated that 30% of the population have one or more long-term conditions; e.g. diabetes, arthritis, asthma, cardiovascular diseases, HIV/AIDs or certain cancers. It reported that at least 30% of all people with a long-term condition also have a mental health problem (232). This equates to around 9% of the adult population having both a long term physical health condition and a mental health condition, indicating a need to treat both holistically.

13.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

Life satisfaction in Welsh adults varies between different communities. Based on Public Health Wales Observatory analysis, as at 2018 there was a 14% difference between the agestandardised percentage of the most and least deprived fifths' life satisfaction scores (233). Since 2013, there has been a consistent gap in life satisfaction between most and least deprived fifths communities in Wales, see Figure 13.4 (233).



Figure 13.4. High sense of life satisfaction – age-standardised percentage, persons aged 16 plus, most and least deprived fifths in Wales, 2013-2018. Source: Public Health Wales Observatory (233)





Socio-economic disadvantage also impacts upon suicide rates. Men who are from the most disadvantaged backgrounds have the highest rates of suicide in Wales, according to a Samaritans report (234). In order to counter this trend in Wales, the men who were generally socially disconnected and struggling with feelings of suicidality, told the Samaritans that the key elements of a successful service for them included: the ability for men to make a contribution; a feeling of being included; and the opportunity to work towards common goals (234).

Education and employment

In the UK, the estimated cost of mental health in the workplace was almost £35 billion in 2016/17, according to the Centre for Mental Health (235). This was due to: sickness absence; reduced productivity at work; and replacing those who leave due to their mental health (235). This demonstrates that employers need to cultivate a healthy working environment, promote well-being in the workplace, and support those with mental health conditions and their return to the workplace (235).

The Health Foundation report that having good mental health is important for employment prospects and that unemployment creates stress and adverse health consequences; therefore the relationship between employment and mental health is bi-directional (236).

Across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan the Out Of Work Peer Mentoring Programme is delivered by Platfform. They support people with a mental health or substance misuse problem to find their volunteering, training or employment opportunity goals, if they have been out of work for more than 12 months (aged over 25); or not in education, employment or training (aged 16-24).

Housing

Housing affordability and subsequent housing insecurity has a two-way relationship with mental health: prior mental health conditions have an impact on housing outcomes; and housing affordability (and therefore housing

"I'm ok where I am currently but I will have to move out soon and I might become homeless and the uncertainty about the future is terrible" – Mental health service user, focus group

conditions) predict health outcomes, including mental health outcomes (237). Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities have Housing Strategies that support people with mental health conditions (89) (213).

Local authorities in Wales have responsibility for assessing local needs regarding: housingrelated support, strategic planning and commissioning housing-related services (238). Housing support can take many forms via the local authority or commissioned third sector provision. Settings of support can include: shared and self-contained specialist housing; or temporary housing solutions such as hostels, shared properties or self-contained housing





(213). Housing support was highly valued by PNA focus group participants: "Moving out of a hostel to a flat has been challenging but overall positive with third sector services to support me." Focus group participants felt that decent housing was "central to well-being." However, some people voiced that their housing situation was not meeting their mental health needs: "My accommodation is a massive negative for my mental health and well-being, I have huge issues with my housing provider." In some instances people's mental health was affecting their housing conditions: "where I am now is better than previous places but because I'm unwell I'm not dealing with maintenance issues."

Across Wales, the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 ensures that clients will be treated as in priority need should they find themselves homeless or threatened with homelessness. This legislation states that: "a person who is vulnerable as a result of old age, mental illness or handicap or physical disability or other special reason, or with whom such a person resides or might reasonably be expected to reside" can be considered in priority need for housing. In Cardiff, the pattern of homelessness is often associated with having multiple adverse childhood experiences, leading to mental health and substance misuse issues (239). The Cardiff Homelessness Strategy (239) states that Cardiff local authority aims to provide a person-centred, trauma-informed approach with multi-agency support to clients to prevent the "revolving door" of homelessness. The Vale of Glamorgan Homelessness Prevention Strategy has a focus on people receiving mental health services and includes the development of a robust hospital discharge process including from mental health wards (239) (240). Between April 2015 and March 2018, there was a 214% increase in those in priority need due to having a mental illness or learning disability in Cardiff (239). In November 2019 (over a 2 week period) there were an estimated 92 rough sleepers in Cardiff and 1 in the Vale of Glamorgan (241).

13.3.4 Unmet needs

Feedback from focus groups with mental health service users and carers, to Mental Health Clinical Board (Cardiff and Vale UHB) during 2018 and 2019, outlined the following areas for improvement:

- Involvement in service design
- Communication and information, for example: regarding decisions, discharge matters, and interagency communication
- Timely access to services
- Post diagnostic support
- Consistency of care
- An easy route through services
- Follow up on discharge from hospital
- Help with drug and/or alcohol problems

*"It took 18 months to get psychological support following the referral" -*Mental health service user, focus group







The PNA focus group undertaken had 4 participants, and therefore may not be generalisable. There were two key themes, which also resonated with the Mental Clinical Board's findings above:

Timely access to the right support at the right time

Based on the Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group's findings, some services were difficult to access due to lengthy waiting times. Examples given were: Advocacy Matters, Primary Mental Health Support Services and Psychological and Counselling services. Furthermore, Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, once provided by Cardiff Mind had ceased due to funding withdrawal. Experiences in getting the right support at the right time were largely unmet needs, based on the focus group findings. It was clearly stated that preventative or timely early intervention could prevent difficulties spiralling into a crisis situation.

A mental health crisis response service

The Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group participants thought that a mental health intervention when things are beginning to go wrong, or when people are in crisis would be important and may avoid attendance at the Emergency Department.



These unmet needs findings were

corroborated by CAVAMH's report: 'My Say', which outlined that a significant proportion of people in Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs) did not know who to contact in a crisis (242).

The key gaps in knowledge are:

- Knowing what the employment status and needs are for our population with mental health conditions
- Having meaningful outcome measures for our mental health service users
- The number of Welsh speakers known to services
- The effectiveness of specific interventions that have yet to be fully evaluated in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, for example, Recovery College
- The long term effect of COVID-19 on population mental health

13. 4 What are the range and level of services needed?13.4.1 Prevention and assets

Prevention

The PNA focus group had 4 participants which is therefore not representative of all people with mental health conditions, but such settings do enable a depth of insight, albeit on a small scale. Focus group participants thought that a number of services had the potential to help with future well-being and work in a preventative manner. These included, on a personal level, social support and friends. One to one support, psychological support and Community Psychiatric Nurses were seen as helpful, as was mentoring and peer support.





Third sector organisations such as Advocacy Support Cymru, Bi-Polar UK, Speakeasy (legal advice and support), and Sefyll (CAVAMH) were identified to offer preventative input. Day Support (such as that offered by Ty Canna and Mind in the Vale of Glamorgan) as well as Cardiff and Vale Recovery College were helpful.

Assets

The PNA focus group considered many of the same organisations as assets to support their well-being, for example, one to one support, psychological support and Community Psychiatric Nurses were noted as helpful services for the individual. At a community level, friends and social networks, events (e.g. music, concerts), arts centres, cinema, peer support and clubs were considered supportive. Educational settings' mentoring and support systems were seen as invaluable, and voluntary work to help others, as well day centres, such as Ty Canna – "offering "amazing" practical and social support" were well regarded. Third sector organisations offering mental health support were seen as positive for example, Sefyll (part of CAVAMH), Bi-Polar UK and CCAWs (Community Care and Wellbeing Service).

Advocacy was a real source of support for many -Advocacy Support Cymru and Advocacy Matters were two organisations highlighted as being particularly helpful. Cardiff and Vale Recovery College was thought important for one's wellbeing and came highly recommended.

In addition, professional leads identified that access to work initiatives provided support for people with mental health conditions. Other "I would have lost my accommodation if it was not for my Advocate" -Mental health service user, focus group

third sector assets include Mind in the Vale and Cardiff Mind. The need for sustainable funding of third sector organisations was identified.

13.4.2 Community

Maintaining independence

Maintaining a level of independence was a priority for PNA focus group participants: "Volunteering opportunities and getting involved in activities."; "I need social support and I need social care support"; and "Befriending and peer support are vital."

Timely access to services

Timely and consistent access to services was widely agreed as a priority for well-being in the future by focus group participants. Availability of psychological and counselling services was limited due to waiting times.

13.4.3 Partnership approach

Continuity of care

Continuity of care was deemed important by focus group participants. However, once in a service sometimes staff left or moved on, meaning that a consistent service was not always available.





13.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

National Survey for Wales' data shows that historically those being treated for a mental illness has increased from 9% in 2009 to 13% in 2015, based on the Future Trends Report (243). This may be because numbers with a mental illness have increased; or that there is increased awareness of mental illness, and therefore subsequent identification and treatment for this. In the future, projections show that there will be more people with a common mental disorder, as the population grows, see Table 13.1 below. This could lead to increased demand on services. It should be noted that these projections need to be treated with caution as many variables will affect an accurate future prediction.

Table 13.1. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan – Population projections for common mental illnesses

Year	2020	2025	2030	2035	2040
Female	43,552	44,210	45,323	45,855	45,754
Male	26,421	27,034	27,599	28,103	28,493

Source: Social Care Wales Population Projections Platform (94)

In the future, it is likely that, across Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, cluster level working will become the norm for mental health services. In addition, the development of 111 services for people in a mental health crisis is likely in the forthcoming year (2022).

13.6 Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Develop data systems to address the gaps in our knowledge
- Monitor the evolving understanding of the impact of COVID-19 on mental health
- Support housing transition to avoid homelessness for mental health service users

Cardiff and Vale UHB and Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Commission enhanced peer support services to promote independence
- Redesign mental health services so that waiting times decrease and there is easy access to mental health services when in a crisis
- Co-produce meaningful outcome measures with mental health service users
- Assess the effectiveness of novel interventions, for example in the Recovery College

Third sector

• Promote independence and advocacy for people with mental health conditions





14. Cognitive Impairment including Dementia

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Adult Unpaid Carers

Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Increase service user and carer input into service developments and their own person centred care plans
- Ensure that individual needs are person-centred
- Tailor the needs of unpaid carers of people living with dementia so that they have appropriate respite
- Have clear care, coordinated pathways for people with a progressive diagnosis so individuals are not lost in the system

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Develop the capacity of residential and nursing homes to accommodate the future needs of people living with dementia, both in terms of increased bed numbers and also dementia-friendly environments
- Support the needs of unpaid carers, who are often older people themselves, through the provision of information, advice and support
- In partnership with the third sector and Cardiff and Vale UHB, to further develop local communities to become dementia friendly

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:

- Support further developments in Primary Care through training and development to ensure that both physical and mental health needs are met for people living with dementia.
- Provide a personalised care pathway for a person living with dementia and their carer so that people can link in with support as needed

14.1 Overview

According to the Royal College of Psychiatry, dementia is: "*a group of conditions which affect memory*" (244). The problems are mainly due to memory loss and thought processing; they also get worse with time (are progressive) and are not due to normal ageing (244).





In contrast, mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a less serious memory problem, and does not affect everyday life in such a major way as dementia (244).

The number of people on the general practice dementia register in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan was 3,370 as at 30 September 2020 (245), which equates to 0.7% population prevalence. However, the estimated number with dementia aged over 65 in 2020 was 5,773 (94), which means that over 42% of people with dementia are not on the general practice register as having a diagnosis. People with cognitive impairment are not recorded on a specific register within primary care. The needs of older people are discussed in chapter 8.

The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work (seven PNA focus group participants). It should be noted that the views of those engaged are not representative of all adults with cognitive impairment/dementia in the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but can provide rich information about their lived experiences.

14.2 What has changed since 2017?

14.2.1 **Pre-COVID-19**

Since 2017, there have been many developments nationally and locally for people living with dementia and their unpaid carers. At a Wales level, the national Dementia Action Plan for Wales (246) was launched in 2018, with a commitment of £10 million a year in funding for various initiatives nationally and locally. In May 2018, the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia Strategy was launched during dementia action week; this was based upon a dementia needs assessment, completed in 2017 with multiple stakeholder engagement across the region. The vision for the Dementia Strategy 2018-2028 was that:

"By 2028 the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan will be dementia aware and will reduce their risk of dementia. People with dementia will have equitable and timely access to a diagnosis; they will have person-centred care delivered locally with kindness. Carers will feel supported and empowered."

There were eight strategic objectives within the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia Strategy:

- 1. Dementia is everyone's business
- 2. The risk of dementia will be reduced and there will be a timely diagnosis
- 3. Access to services will be equitable
- 4. Services will be fully coordinated
- 5. Services will be delivered with kindness and compassion
- 6. Support will be centred on Primary Care
- 7. Carers will be for cared for
- 8. Crises will be avoided

In light of the national Dementia Action Plan for Wales and associated funding, regionally an audit took place regionally to identify key gaps against the national action plan, and new





initiatives were created from this analysis. The following services were funded through Dementia Integrated Care Funding from 2018 onwards:

- 1. GP diagnosis clinics based within primary care clusters
- 2. A dementia "team around the individual", with memory link workers linked to primary care clusters and associated multi-professional team members
- 3. A dementia training and development team aligned to the "Good Work" principles and to a dementia care mapping team
- 4. Dementia Friendly Communities approach through the third sector (Marie Curie and Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health)

In 2021, the All Wales Dementia Care Pathway of Standards (247) were launched and Welsh Government also announced recurrent Memory Assessment Services funding for each Regional Partnership Board area. The aim of this was to increase dementia diagnosis rates across Wales. A variety of initiatives/pilots have been funded through this in order to meet this aim, and are currently being implemented with a view to full evaluation in 2022/23.

14.2.1 COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has disproportionately impacted people living with dementia, and their unpaid carers, as outlined in this section.

Direct impacts

UK research suggests that delirium from COVID-19 can make it hard to identify COVID-19 in people living with dementia, which could impact their care (248). Internationally, people living with dementia frequently have other conditions, increasing the risk of complications from COVID-19 should they contract it (249). Further international research also found that people living with dementia had increased risk of infection; and should they contract COVID-19: worse outcomes, adverse impact on cognition and were harder to isolate (250).

In 2020, the most common pre-existing condition mentioned on death certificates amongst those dying of COVID-19 (in England and Wales), was dementia and Alzheimer's disease, at 18,420 deaths (251). This implies that people with dementia were disproportionately affected by the pandemic.

Lockdown restrictions

For people with young onset dementia, there was a mixed picture with some people reporting benefits, and some reporting disadvantages due to the COVID-19 restrictions, according to Young Dementia UK (252). They highlighted issues such as: lack of routine, feeling forgotten, loneliness, isolation, confusion, feeling vulnerable, losing skills, not being entitled to support, and loss of confidence (252). However, there were also many positive aspects to the pandemic, with some saying they had learnt new skills, found the virtual support beneficial, and some people felt less anxious as going out made them anxious previously (252).

Care and support provision

Mok et al (250) found that non-COVID related health care appointments were impacted, and that lack of social engagement and support may have resulted in a deterioration of the




condition, with isolation also affecting psychological well-being. This experience was also reiterated in recent (October 2021) focus group(s): *"Services are greatly reduced or abandoned."* Referrals into Memory Team also dramatically reduced during 2020/21 to 1,028; a decrease from an average of 1,533 over the four preceding years.

The Social Care Institute for Excellence (253) highlighted the key issues that people with dementia living in care homes might have, for example: not understanding the need for isolation, finding personal protective equipment frightening and struggling with communication. A further report: 'Safeguarding adults with dementia during the COVID-19 pandemic' (254) raised concerns that people living with dementia might be more vulnerable to abuse or neglect during the pandemic. This may be due to: social isolation, stress on carers, overstretched care staff, increased scams, increased domestic abuse, and new staff, volunteers, or support (254).

14.3 What are the care and support needs?

14.3.1 Individual

Language and communication

According to 'More than just words' (231), people living with dementia are a key group for services to be made available in the Welsh language. The reason being is that people living with dementia may revert back to their first language as the illness progresses. Data are not routinely available on first language for people in Memory Team or Mental Health services; however an interpreter can be provided on request. 'More than just words' emphasises the importance of the active offer in the Welsh language (231), this may be particularly important if people are unable to request services in the language of their choice.

14.3.2 Community

Based on a Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan dementia health needs assessment (255), completed in 2017, people living with dementia have a wide range of care and support needs. Their needs include, but are not limited to, the following key issues:

- 1. Isolation and loneliness with loneliness increasing cognitive decline
- 2. Being treated with kindness and compassion
- 3. Having services that are coordinated
- 4. Caring for unpaid carers the wellbeing of carers has a direct impact on their relationship with the person living with dementia
- 5. Knowing what to do in a crisis having the information available, and a timely service when in a crisis
- 6. Moving care and support to Primary Care this would require training and support so that Primary Care staff feel supported
- 7. Inequality in access to services a concern that without having relatives to advocate for the person living with dementia that their needs would not be met
- 8. Dementia being everyone's business to include the development of dementia friendly communities and dementia friendly environments
- 9. Prevention/risk reduction of getting dementia this includes cardiovascular risk reduction: a major cause of both Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia.





14.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

The association between deprivation and having dementia is complex. Based on the findings of a Race Equality Foundation report (256), it can be summarised that the prevalence of dementia is higher in more affluent areas, but that the incidence and risk of getting dementia in the first place is higher in more deprived areas. The reasons for this are that a higher life expectancy is associated with affluence and as age is the biggest risk factor for dementia, then the prevalence will be higher in the older, more affluent age groups. In contrast the risk factors for dementia, such as: high blood pressure in mid-life, cardiovascular disease and diabetes, are more common in people with lower socio-economic status, and therefore, new cases are more likely in more deprived areas and populations (256).

There is an additional risk that those from lower socio-economic groups are more disadvantaged in being able to access services. Studies referenced in a UK report: 'Dementia, Equity and Rights' (256) identified that middle class populations were more successful at finding out about services, and that people with high education attainment were more likely to be referred to memory services. Home owners were four times more likely to be prescribed anti-dementia drugs than those in rental accommodation (256). The majority of carers are unpaid, and families who receive a diagnosis of a family member can experience financial hardship as a result of possible reduction of income and additional costs of care (256).

Employment

People who have young onset dementia, are aged under 65, and therefore may be in employment due to being of working age. Dementia UK report that employers need to be aware of the signs and symptoms of young onset dementia; and if a diagnosis is made to ensure that reasonable adjustments are in place to support people in the workplace (257).

Unpaid carers of people with young onset dementia also require flexible working arrangements to ensure that suitable support can be provided to the person with young onset dementia (257). Relatives who care for someone who has young onset dementia frequently have to leave their work, to support their loved one, creating further financial stress for the family (257).

Housing

The housing needs for people living with dementia range from being completely independent (at earlier stages), to having domiciliary care, to requiring a residential or nursing home placement for their own care and safety at the later stages of the dementia journey.

Cardiff Older Person's Housing Strategy 2019-2023 outlines the specific housing needs for people living with dementia (258). It outlines the importance of appropriate housing for promoting independence and decreasing the need for residential care; whilst also decreasing the pressure on health and social care services (258). As at 29 October 2021,



there were 489 residential home placements for Cardiff adults, of which 55 are with Mental Health Services for Older People (MHSOP) teams; there are a further 410 in nursing home placements, of which 77 are with MHSOP teams. MHSOP placements are highly likely to have dementia. These figures are for all adult service users and include all service users that Cardiff is paying for whether in or out of county. It is likely that the Dementia figures are higher than reported here.

Vale of Glamorgan's Housing Strategy outlines the anticipated increase in housing need for people living with dementia, due to the ageing population (147). It states that in recent years there has been a significant increase in older people's nursing home placements and elderly mentally infirm (EMI) placements (these are for people living with dementia). In the Vale of Glamorgan (as at 28 October 2021), there were 446 Nursing Home beds, and 286 Residential Home beds, of which 220 were for people with dementia. One care home had an additional 24 mental health beds.

"Home support is often dependent on an elderly spouse who is in need of care too" – Unpaid carer of person living with dementia, focus group

let's talk

iser siarad

Environmental adaptations to make the home "dementia-friendly" can help to support people living with dementia with orientation and to feel settled; therefore promoting independence. For example, having symbols on doors to help navigate individuals to food cupboards or the shower, or having assistive technology (259).

14.3.4 Unmet needs

Focus groups arranged over a range of dates and times with 7 participants, using a hybrid methodology (specifically for people with living with dementia), identified the following unmet needs (based on small numbers of participants, so only indicative):

- Memory Clinic to follow up people readily after their initial diagnosis, as this was not currently happening.
- Respite for unpaid carers. This was the single most sought after need.
- Being able to see a GP. They felt that Covid-19 restrictions had meant a reduction in support that was readily available previously; in some cases they felt that the hospital Emergency Department was the only answer.

From the perspective of professionals, the key gaps in our knowledge are having meaningful outcome measures for service users.

14.4 What are the range and level of services needed?

14.4.1 Prevention and assets

Prevention

Based on the focus group results and previous needs assessment work, the key preventative areas for people living with dementia include:





- Using service users and carers in service development, so that care is personcentred
- Ensuring that support is centred on Primary Care
- Ensuring that unpaid carers have sufficient respite care
- Ensure people living with cognitive impairment or dementia have access to advocacy where there is nobody else to represent them.

Assets

PNA focus groups (specifically for people with living with dementia) outlined the following assets as supportive to their well-being:

- At the individual level, in general, some people do get the support they need and others do not. It is highly dependent on having the ability to look for help or having someone who will look into support for you this makes the provision inconsistent rather than tailored.
- Within the community, Forget Me Not Chorus was particularly mentioned as a source of support for people living with dementia. In particular face to face rehearsals were very much valued. The Dementia Café in Cathays Community Centre was also mentioned as a source of support during the COVID-19 pandemic.
- At a population level: some local authority services, Nexus (part of Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH)) and Memory Clinic were most often mentioned as sources of support. In particular Nexus, for maintaining contact with as many older people as possible by telephone, email, online one to ones and meetings; and through CAVAMH, keeping Directions Handbook up to date and circulated.

14.4.2 Community services

Through the focus group(s) work, it was apparent that the following would be important to meet the unmet needs of people living with dementia:

 Involvement of service users and carers in decision making and planning of services across the board to make the provision useful at point of service. This should start with ensuring the person living with cognitive impairment or demontia is in control of their own care **"Find me some help, please;** I need a break" - Unpaid carer of a person living with dementia

dementia is in control of their own care, either themselves or through an advocate

- GP services providing easily accessible, personal care in a timely fashion. Primary mental health care from GPs, and a willingness to identify physical ailments not connected to mental health but that may cause mental health difficulties if not addressed promptly
- The ambulance service being able to provide timely, accessible person-centred care.
- Respite care for unpaid carers
- Providing services in accessible formats. Dependency on technology has been exaggerated by COVID-19 and this is a major barrier for many older people. IT training was not the solution for them





Professional leads identified that third sector organisations (including Marie Curie and CAVAMH) across Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan have developed dementia friendly communities at both strategic and grassroots levels to ensure that services and settings embrace the needs for people living with dementia and their unpaid carers. This can mean developing dementia friendly environments, and training staff to be knowledgeable and empathetic towards people living with dementia.

14.4.3 Partnership approach

Dementia Friendly Cardiff and Dementia Friendly Vale are the result of partnerships between Cardiff and Vale UHB, the respective Local Authority, Alzheimer's Society Cymru, and are supported by Marie Curie. Through the appointment of a Dementia Friendly Communities Coordinator for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, businesses and organisations are being supported to recognise the needs of people affected by dementia, and pledge their commitment to become more welcoming. With information and guidance from the Coordinator, simple and meaningful action is being taken to improve staff awareness, create more accessible physical environments, and increase the availability of information about dementia. This means that people affected by dementia can feel supported to continue to visit their local businesses and remain connected to their community for as long as possible (260).

14.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

Increasing age is the biggest risk factor for dementia, and therefore as our population ages and increases in number, the numbers of people living with dementia will increase over time. It is anticipated that numbers of people living with dementia will increase more steeply in the Cardiff area, as compared to Vale of Glamorgan (94). See Table 14.1 for further details.

Table 14.1. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan – Population projections for dementia					
Year	2020	2025	2030	2035	2040
Vale of Glamorgan	2,041	2,386	2,758	3,152	3,493
Cardiff	3,732	4,271	4,894	5,562	6,103

.

Source: Social Care Wales Population Projections Platform (94)

14.6 Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Increase service user and carer input into service developments and their own • person centred care plans
- Ensure that individual needs are person-centred
- Tailor the needs of unpaid carers of people living with dementia so that they have appropriate respite
- Have clear care, coordinated pathways for people with a progressive diagnosis so individuals are not lost in the system





Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Develop the capacity of residential and nursing homes to accommodate the future needs of people living with dementia, both in terms of increased bed numbers and also dementia-friendly environments
- Support the needs of unpaid carers, who are often older people themselves, through the provision of information, advice and support
- In partnership with the third sector and Cardiff and Vale UHB, to further develop local communities to become dementia friendly

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:

- Support further developments in Primary Care through training and development to ensure that both physical and mental health needs are met for people living with dementia.
- Provide a personalised care pathway for a person living with dementia and their carer so that people can link in with support as needed





15. Adult Unpaid Carers

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People; Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; Learning Disability; Autism; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia

Recommendations

All agencies, in partnership to:

• Review the need for an updated carers directory, which is updated regularly and available digitally, and publicise widely

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Strengthen clear pathways for carers assessments within local authorities following a "what matters" conversation
- Capture first language needs in carers assessments
- Consider flexible respite needs for unpaid carers

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Review the pathway for mental health support to unpaid carers, so that waiting time decreases

Employers to:

• Adopt reasonable adjustments for people with caring responsibilities so that worthwhile employment is maintained and finances for unpaid carers are optimised

15.1 Overview

The definition for unpaid carers is that: "they provide support/care to an individual who has needs because of physical or mental health condition(s) or illness(es), or problems related to old age. Unpaid carers' status is self-reported" (261).

In the context of this Population Needs Assessment, an adult unpaid carer is aged 18 or above; however this age cut off may vary by agency.

A Carers UK report acknowledged that the Welsh population had the highest proportion of people who were unpaid carers of the four UK nations at 70%, during the time period 1991 to 2018 (262). Notably, females (73%) were more likely to be carers than males (66%) in Wales, and the same gender bias was evident across the UK (262).



Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan has approximately 50,580 unpaid carers of all ages, based on the 2011 Census (263). The figures for unpaid carers (Table 15.1) are likely to be an underestimate of the true number, as data collection was over 10 years ago, and the overall population has grown in numbers since then. Additionally, Carers Wales have reported that in the first few weeks of the pandemic, in Wales alone, around 196,000 people became unpaid carers (264).

Table 15.1 below shows that the proportion of the population who are unpaid carers in the Vale of Glamorgan is the same as the national average (12%); however, in Cardiff it is less at 10%.

Geographical	All usual	Provides no	Hours of u	Inpaid care	% non-	%	
area	residents	unpaid care	per week			carer	unpaid
			1-19	20-49	50+		carer
Wales	3,063,456	2,693,226	212,436	54,046	103,748	88%	12%
Vale of Glamorgan	126,336	110,761	9,939	2,050	3,586	88%	12%
Cardiff	346,090	311,085	21,671	4,729	8,605	90%	10%
Cardiff and							
Vale	472,426	421,846	31,610	6,779	12,191	89%	11%

Table 15.1. Welsh residents by hours of unpaid care and local authority, 2011

Source: Stats Wales (263).

The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work (12 focus group participants; 111 respondents to the public survey who identified as unpaid carers; and 42 of 131 respondents to the provider's survey provided services for carers). It should be noted that the views of those engaged are not representative of all adult unpaid carers the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but do provide rich information about their lived experiences.

15.2 What has changed since 2017?

15.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

Nationally, Welsh Government launched their strategy for unpaid carers in March 2021 (265). Within this 4 national priorities for unpaid carers were described (265):

- 1. Identifying and valuing unpaid carers
- 2. Providing information, advice and assistance
- 3. Supporting life alongside caring
- 4. Supporting unpaid carers in education and the workplace

Regionally, since 2017, the following changes were noted:

• Prior to the pandemic, 80% of GP surgeries in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan were engaging with the Carers GP accreditation scheme



- To date 5 third sector organisations in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan have achieved the Carer Friendly Accreditation or Carer Friendly Advanced Accreditation; as well as 4 hospital wards and 3 hospital information and support centres, and 2 social care organisations. Eleven organisations/wards are currently working towards their accreditation and 37 more have expressed an interest in the Accreditation but, due to the pandemic, have yet to move forward with the portfolio
- Unpaid Carers awareness sessions have been held for some time for Cardiff and Vale UHB staff, however these ceased in 2021 due to the pandemic (Table 15.2). NHS Wales host online Carer Aware training sessions through e-learning (266). Carers Trust South East Wales offer a Carer Friendly Accreditation scheme which is open to all sectors. Carers Wales started providing Carer Aware training for social care workers in October 2021. Twelve of 73 attendees to date (January 2022) were from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (267).

Date	May 2016- April 2017	May 2017- April 2018	May 2018- April 2019	May 2019- April 2020	May 2020- April 2021
Training	581	426	402	559	None due to
numbers					Pandemic
Source: Cardiff and Vale LIHB					

Table 15.2. Cardiff and Vale UHB staff carers awareness sessions

ource: Cardiff and Vale UHB

- Within Cardiff and Vale UHB, a Carers Lead was appointed in 2020, with the aim to aid a smooth transition for people on hospital discharge, back home with support to unpaid carers
- The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Carers Gateway was launched in March 2020, with the key role of "improving the quality of life for unpaid carers, and the cared for, in Cardiff and the Vale". Carers Trust South East Wales, which runs the service, works with both unpaid carers and professionals to achieve this aim. During 2020/21 there were 526 referrals into the Carers Gateway service. The most common reason for referral was regarding parent and grandparent carer (21%), followed by physical disabilities (10%), chronic illness (9%), mental impairment (6%), and dementia (5%) (note that the reason was unknown in 33% of referrals).

15.2.1 **COVID-19**

Across Great Britain, during the COVID-19 pandemic more women (57%) than men (43%) were unpaid carers according to research by the Office for National Statistics (261). In addition, a much higher percentage of unpaid British carers self-reported that they had a disability (32%) as compared to the rest of the population (23%) (261). Sixty three percent of British unpaid carers were worried about the impact of the pandemic on their lives as opposed to 56% of non-carers (261).



Lockdown restrictions

The experiences of unpaid British carers during the pandemic were mixed, with some stating that it had allowed them to have more time, but with others stating that the loss of respite and external support has had a negative impact on their well-being (268). It was noted in a recent Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group that COVID-19 restrictions had demonstrated how good services were before they were *"taken away"*. Many relationships between the person caring and the person cared-for had also deteriorated during the pandemic across Britain (268).

"Given up on my own well-being and personal life" - Unpaid carer, focus group

Due to the requirement to "shield" many British unpaid carers felt cut off from normal life/other family members (268). Stress, anxiety and depression and a feeling of isolation/loneliness increased for many British unpaid carers during the pandemic (268). This feeling was corroborated by the Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group participants. The participants also reported that their situation was not back to normal and that they were still hesitant to go out. Families often didn't want external agencies in their own home due to the risks of COVID-19, therefore they were struggling to cope with their situation, according to professionals. Working from home helped some British unpaid carers have more freedom to care, but had meant less of a break from the caring role (268).

Care and support provision

Time spent chasing services by unpaid Welsh carers increased during the pandemic, which increased their stress (268). A Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group also added that health appointments were often cancelled, and it was challenging to explain symptoms such as pain in a telephone appointment, especially when the carer considered their English to be not very good. British unpaid carers deemed face to face sessions a better experience than video calls (268).

Respondents to the professionals and provider survey who provided support to carers in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan reported the following additional care and support needs amongst clients due to COVID-19 and restrictions:

- Increased reliance on family members, increased care needs due to primary caregiver ill health, or taking over role previously fulfilled by families
- Social isolation, stress, anxiety, negative impacts on mental health and well-being, bereavement support, loss of structure, fear of catching COVID-19
- Financial stress, increased need for support for benefit claims
- Practical assistance such as help with shopping

When asked regarding how service provision had changed since the start of the pandemic, respondents stated:

- Increased workloads: "busier than ever"
- Increased risk assessments via telephone; change in format of service provision to online or telephone







- Impact on service provision due to capacity including domiciliary care, and pausing of services (including home visits) due to COVID-19 restrictions
- Increase need to accommodate adults living alone, and increase in respite services

Service providers reported low morale, exhaustion, the emotional toll of isolation and lack of peer support as well as the direct impact of COVID-19 on service users. Some positive aspects were identified such as pride in continued service delivery, and more flexible working options for some respondents.

15.3 What are the care and support needs?

A Cardiff University report commissioned by Public Health Wales developed 4 key themes in their analysis of the main issues for unpaid carers in Wales prior to the pandemic: health and well-being, identities and relationships, services and systems, and education, employment and finances (268). These are described below.

15.3.1 Individual

Mental health and well-being

In Wales, unpaid carers experience stress, isolation and loneliness and poor mental health due to their caring responsibilities (268). Research in England between Sport England and Carers UK showed that unpaid carers had lower physical activity levels (46% inactive) as compared to the general population in England (33% inactive) (269). Three quarters (76%) of unpaid English carers aged 55 plus did not feel able to do as much physical exercise as they wanted to (269). Physical activity combats stress, anxiety and depression (269). The key barriers to taking part in physical activity included: not having the time to take part (88%); not being motivated (71%); not being able to afford the costs (67%); and not having anyone to go and do physical activity with (59%) (269). In the Cardiff and Vale PNA survey, unpaid carers were the population group most likely to say that had no control over their lives (12.6%). In the same survey, 19.3% of survey respondents who were unpaid carers did not have time to address their own care needs; and 44% felt they were not sufficiently supported in their caring role.

Identities and relationships

Many unpaid Welsh carers did not recognise their status as an unpaid carer until they reached crisis point, and sought professional help (268). Many unpaid Welsh carers also stated that having a healthy relationship with the person cared-for would be critical for a successful future together (268).

Language and communication

There are no data on first language of unpaid carers in the region. A Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group participant's feedback was that language barriers were an issue for ethnic minority groups, trying to receive much needed support. Cultural needs were also identified as important, for example: the need for same-sex practitioners in some cultures.





15.3.2 Community

Services and systems

Professionals frequently do not ask about unpaid Welsh carers' needs or experiences (268). Carers Wales found that only 28% of carers in Wales reported that they had had a carers assessment (or a review of their assessment), in the last 12 months (270). Unpaid carers can also spend a lot of time chasing services to get support (268). Third sector support was highly valued by unpaid carers, especially peer support for younger adult carers (268). Flexible support was needed by Welsh unpaid carers (268). Of Welsh carers who had had an emergency admission for the person they care for, 30% felt that the admission could have been prevented if the person cared-for had had more care and support; 20% felt that more support for them as the unpaid carer (such as breaks from caring) would have prevented the admission (270). In the Cardiff and Vale PNA survey, unpaid carers were the population group most likely to find it fairly or very difficult to find information or advice about the services that are available at 50%.

15.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

The Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group of unpaid carers stated that poverty led to digital exclusion as people needed either digital skills couldn't afford the technology. Professionals also mentioned that some unpaid carers would not have the means for a bus or taxi to take respite; this creates a 2-tier system for carers needing respite. Carers Wales' 'State of Caring Report 2019' (270) stated that 45% of Welsh unpaid carers say that they struggle to make ends meet and 68% report that they regularly use their own income or savings to support the person they care for. Twenty three percent of Welsh unpaid carers have been in debt as a result of caring; 8% cannot afford utility bills; and 4% cannot afford their rent/mortgage payments (270). Almost three quarters (74%) of Welsh unpaid carers surveyed didn't receive any cash sum (direct payments or a personal budget) for themselves or for the person cared-for (270).

Education and employment

Supporting unpaid carers in education and the workplace is a key area in the Welsh Government's 'Strategy for unpaid carers' (265). According to research by Cardiff University, many unpaid Welsh carers valued being in paid work, in addition to their caring role (268). Caring has a substantial impact on personal finances, particularly if one is a single carer in Wales (268). Many unpaid Welsh carers thought that the financial compensation through the carers allowance was insufficient (268).

> "The health of my mum deteriorated rapidly, I had to give up work, it's impossible to work and be a carer" - Unpaid carer, focus group





Housing

In the Cardiff and Vale PNA survey, 63% of unpaid carer respondents needed adaptations to their property, which was 17.8 % higher than the average of all respondents to that survey. This tallies with the Carers Wales perspective that home adaptations are vital in enabling people in need of care to remain in their own homes for longer (271). Where adaptations are not in place it creates a need for more formal support to manage the condition of the person cared-for within the home environment (271).

15.3.4 Unmet needs

The following care and support needs were identified as unmet by focus group participants:

- Supportive employment: employers were not supportive enough to meet unpaid carers' needs: "[I] had to give up work... employer did not support flexible adjustments... used all leave for caring / hospital appointments... not had a holiday break in years"
- Timely services: carers' assessments and counselling services waiting times are lengthy – "waiting list is huge"

"Having to wait 6 months just for assessments – [feeling] unsupported as a carer and then a sense of guilt for these feelings" – Unpaid carer, focus group

- Resource waiting times are also lengthy:
 "direct payments take a month to be approved on what's supposed to be a simple process"
- Culturally appropriate services: services need to meet the needs of people from different cultural backgrounds
- Appropriate respite for unpaid carers: feedback from Carers Gateway participants during 2020/21 was that more respite services were needed for unpaid carers

Respondents to the professional and provider survey identified the following unmet needs amongst their service users:

- Domiciliary care, including overnight care at home; difficulty providing daytime respite
- Risk assessments less robust via telephone than face to face resulting in a less comprehensive understanding of individual needs
- Gaps in support provision including respite, emotional support, counselling, a lack of low level support such as taking a carer to an appointment

Key gaps in knowledge identified included data on number of unpaid carers whose first language is not English. One respondent to the provider survey echoed that people may experience cultural stigma and fear seeking help, or may not realise their entitlement to support.





15. 4 What are the range and level of services needed?

15.4.1 Prevention and assets

In order to prevent the needs of people cared-for from escalating, unpaid carers need more support, in terms of emotional, practical and financial resources to prevent a crisis situation.

Assets to support well-being

A virtual Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group was held on 27 October 2021, with 12 unpaid carers. Participants highlighted that in the Barry area there were less activities for unpaid carers than in Cardiff. Assets that were considered sources of support for carers' well-being included:

- Other parents who had children with care and support needs
- Community groups such as social groups, drama groups, as well as local cafes and places of worship. Specifically, church halls, Sunday circle, a mosque opening an over 60s club were identified
- Third sector organisations such as: Parents Federation was described as *"supportive";* Innovate Trust (providing support to disabled people) was *"amazing"* (in particular their respite service); and Women's Connect Zoom was cited as *"useful to socialise"* and to meet via WhatsApp and face to face. Voluntary organisations have been *"great"*
- Dewis directory of services: <u>www.dewis.wales</u> (272)
- Speech and language services were described as "excellent"
- Courses for carers at hospital were cited as *"excellent"* and carers found it helpful to meet others in similar situations

Supporting a life alongside caring is one of the four priorities in the Welsh Government 'Strategy for unpaid carers' (265); ensuring access to assets that support well-being will support this.

Professional leads identified the Cardiff and Vale Carer's Gateway as an important asset through provision of support and advice for unpaid carers, people who have care needs, and professionals.

15.4.2 Community services

Respect for the person cared-for

The Strategy for unpaid carers (265) prioritises identifying and valuing carers. Services need to respect the needs of the person who needs care. Focus group participants highlighted the need for care service providers to undertake cultural training: *""Lets age well" project with Women's Connect [First was] very helpful as it understands the needs of the culture"*.

More support needed for unpaid carers

Unpaid carers need to be valued in their caring role. Support needs to be timely, for example, in terms of having a carer's assessment, as well as provide psychological and practical input.





15.4.3 Partnership approach

Unpaid carers need to know what services are available

Access to services needs to be made easier, by knowing what is available: *"if you don't know, it's not readily available for you to find out"*. Focus group participants wanted a carers directory with full details of how and what to access was needed (despite one existing online, created in 2017). Providing information, advice and assistance is a priority area in the Strategy for unpaid carers (265).

15.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

As the population ages and increases in number, there are likely to be many more unpaid carers in our population, with a steady rise in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (Table 15.3).

Table 15.3. Projected number of unpaid carer.	s Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 2020-2040
Table 19.5. Trojected number of unpaid caref	

Year	2020	2025	2030	2035	2040
Cardiff	40,611	41,401	42,222	42,828	43,263
Vale of Glamorgan	16,893	17,472	17,929	18,302	18,639
Cardiff and Vale total	57,503	58,874	60,151	61,130	61,902

Source: Social Care Wales (94)

15.6 Recommendations

All agencies, in partnership to:

• Review the need for an updated carers directory, which is updated regularly and available digitally, and publicise widely

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Strengthen clear pathways for carers assessments within local authorities following a "what matters" conversation
- Capture first language needs in carers assessments
- Consider flexible respite needs for unpaid carers

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Review the pathway for mental health support to unpaid carers, so that waiting time decreases

Employers to:

• Adopt reasonable adjustments for people with caring responsibilities so that worthwhile employment is maintained and finances for unpaid carers are optimised





16. Sensory Loss and Impairment

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability

Recommendations

All agencies, in partnership, to:

- Increase awareness of specialist and support services to improve signposting (273); and improve joined working
- Promote awareness and normalisation of British Sign Language (BSL)
- Anticipate the increase in prevalence of hearing and sight loss in the future
- Increase opportunities for consultation and co-production
- Sign up to the Disability Confident Scheme (200) and develop inclusive recruitment. The D/deaf community (encompassing people who have profound hearing loss and use BSL (Deaf), as well as people who have hearing loss (deaf)) need more D/deaf and BSL users professionals embedded in services to ensure they are represented and that communication is not a barrier

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Undertake Deaf Awareness training for staff to improve the culture for service users, and co-workers who may have hearing loss
- Increase the number of Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people in line with recommendations (274)
- Design physical activity strategies and plans to increase D/deaf-friendly and D/deaf aware opportunities

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:

- Improve recording of Deaf people as Deaf in medical records so BSL interpreters can be appropriately booked (273), improving referrals, and experience of health care
- Take additional action to promote equity of access to healthcare services for D/deaf people compared to non-disabled people
- Support the newly established Inclusive Recruitment Team who ensure that they work to the Themes and Goals of the Disability Confident Scheme





16.1 Overview

The All Wales Standards uses the term "people with sensory loss" to describe:

- People who are Deaf, deafened, or hard of hearing
- People who are Blind or partially sighted
- People who are Deafblind (whose sight and hearing impairment cause difficulties with communication, access to information, and mobility (275)

Sight loss

There are an estimated 9,530 with sight loss in Cardiff, and 4,790 in the Vale of Glamorgan in 2021, giving a prevalence of 2.6% and 3.6% (prevalence in Wales: 3.5%). Of these, 1,240 and 640 people in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan respectively have severe sight loss (blindness). In Cardiff, there are 40 children aged 0-16 who are blind, and 10 in the Vale of Glamorgan. Half of children who are blind or partially sighted have additional disabilities (276). People with learning disabilities are 10 times more likely to have sight loss than those without learning disabilities (276).

Hearing impairment

Documents use different terminology; this chapter aligns with that used by the All Wales Deaf Mental Health & Well-Being Group. Where specifically stated, people who identify as members of the Deaf community, who have profound hearing loss and use British Sign Language (BSL), are described as Deaf; whereas those with hearing loss or where it is not specified, the terminology "deaf" is used (273). Where both communities are described, "D/deaf" is used.

In Cardiff, 29,800 people are estimated to have moderate/severe hearing loss; this figure is 15,500 for the Vale of Glamorgan. A further 660 people (Cardiff) and 340 (Vale of Glamorgan) have profound hearing loss, including 95 people of working age (20-64 years) (276).

Dual sensory impairment

The Royal National Institute of Blind people (RNIB) estimates that 21,300 people in Wales have any dual sensory impairment, of whom 1,860 live in Cardiff, and 910 in the Vale of Glamorgan (276).

This chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work: 38 survey respondents, 6 participants for the sight loss focus group, and 4 participants for the Deaf focus group, which was conducted in BSL. Forty-nine respondents of the provider's survey provided services for people with sensory loss or impairment. The views of those engaged are not representative of all people with sensory loss or impairment in the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.





16.2 What has changed since 2017?

16.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

Welsh Government published the 'Framework of Action for Wales 2017-2020' which details the integrated framework of care and support for people who are D/deaf or living with hearing loss (277). The All Wales Deaf Mental Health & Well-being Group published their report on the hidden inequalities around mental and physical health amongst Deaf people in 2021 (273). Professional leads observed an increasing awareness of the existence and importance of intersectionality, which describes the "complex, cumulative way in which the effects of multiple forms of discrimination (such as racism, sexism, and classism) combine, overlap, or intersect especially in the experiences of marginalized individuals or groups" (278).

Cardiff and Vale UHB is now the first Welsh Health Board to sign the British Deaf Association's British Sign Language Charter (279). The Health Board was highly commended by the Health Service Journal for transforming glaucoma eye care services in 2020/21 (280).

16.2.1 COVID-19

Independence and isolation

The Welsh Government published 'Locked out: liberating disabled people's lives and rights in Wales beyond COVID-19' in 2021. This report identifies difficulties disabled people have experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic, and states that people with visual loss have had their autonomy and mobility negatively impacted due to structural changes in the environment and learned routes. For example, new layouts in the town centre and changes to access to sighted guides (79).

The Royal National Institute for Deaf People (RNID) report that deaf people in the UK experienced increased isolation through reduced social interaction, masks, and social distancing; and that non-face to face options such as telephone contact weren't always suitable (281). Sight Cymru stopped in-person groups in 2020 but maintained contact through virtual meetings and phone calls.

The RNIB's research across the UK finds that people with sight loss considered technology a "saviour" (282); which was echoed in the PNA focus groups: "I was stuck at home. Zoom has been very good. Without Zoom we'd all be lost". However, people felt "more disabled" and as though their world has "shrunk" (282). Focus group participants discussed the difficulties of not being able to visit family members in hospital.





D/deaf focus group participants stated that as communication with D/deaf peers and friends is so important for well-being, the lockdowns restricted this and created a sense of isolation. This isolation impacted negatively on participants' mental health. The D/deaf community relied more on online resources despite it being difficult with BSL interpreters on online platforms.

"Support groups are usually only in English. Some people have been prevented from attending as they are not able to speak English" – person with sight loss, focus group

Eight of 38 survey respondents with sensory loss reported that before COVID-19, they felt lonely some of the time, with 1 respondent feeling lonely all or most of the time. Over the last year, however, 18 feel lonely some or all of the time.

Access to public health information

Nationally, deficiencies in accessibility of public health information were observed, through lack of subtitles for audio content; lack of BSL versions of critical information; and a reliance on telephone hotlines (79) (281). The RNID polled its UK members regarding awareness of a video relay of Test and Trace, but 94% were not aware of this. Insufficient notice for key government announcements and a lack of BSL translation meant information was inaccessible to people with hearing loss. A new government role has been developed to lead on accessible communications from UK Government (281).

People with visual impairment may be unable to adhere to social distancing rules, and have subsequently experienced negative reactions from others; as well as being at increased risk of COVID-19 (282).

The focus group reported a lack of information on the pandemic and lockdown provided for the D/deaf community, so news often came from social media. Lots of D/deaf people struggle with written English and need BSL resources. The British D/deaf Association set up a daily BSL news summary specifically for the D/deaf community, which reduced isolation and panic: *"I would have been lost without them"*.

Access to health and care services

In the UK, around half of people with hearing loss reported a negative impact of COVID-19 on access to care services, compared to one-sixth of people without an impairment (281). A survey amongst RNIB members puts this figure at 73%, with 4/10 concerned that their vision would worsen (79). Support provision and consultations provided over the phone or virtually provoked difficulties for people who are Deaf or hard of hearing, as they often use visual cues or lip reading. Masks also prohibit lip reading; therefore, face to face appointments were also difficult as people did not feel able to ask staff to remove their masks (281). Transparent masks have now been approved. Online technologies are not a





direct replacement for face to face services, and many people who are deaf or visually impaired struggled to access virtual services (283); stating that 50% of communication is lost through a webcam (273). Cardiff and Vale UHB provided iPads to enable person-centred care, and to overcome the assumption that everyone has access to digital technology.

The RNID reports that deaf people who were shielding could only register for priority supermarket deliveries via telephone (281); similarly, people with visual loss experienced problems with accessing services in Wales (79). A higher proportion of disabled people experienced difficulties accessing essential products such as food and medication compared to non-disabled people (50% versus 17%) (281). One-fifth of respondents in RNIB research in the UK rationed food due to concerns regarding food deliveries (282). Those assisting deaf people were exempt from wearing a face mask, to aid communication, however as deafness is a hidden impairment, many people were concerned for stigma and negative reactions by others (281).

Participants in the sight loss focus groups discussed that many services had stopped due to COVID-19 restrictions; but that online support such as through third sector organisations, groups, and clubs have been very helpful.

Cardiff and Vale UHB developed videos with subtitles, communication flash cards and provided accessible information regarding vaccinations (280).

Education and employment

COVID-related adjustments in the workplace may make it more difficult for D/deaf people to return to work, for example, through physical barriers between workspaces, face masks, and social distancing. For those working from home, the increased reliance on video and audio calls may present a barrier (281).

The National Deaf Children's Society report that children and their families are concerned regarding the lack of specialist support for their education, difficulties accessing online learning platforms, as well as difficulties communicating due to face masks in schools (284).

16.3 What are the care and support needs?

16.3.1 Individual

Independence and autonomy

Funds are now available in Wales for disabled people who would like to stand in local government elections, to cover costs such as travel and assistive technology (285). Increasing visibility of disabled people – including sensory loss – will help create an inclusive environment.

A focus group with D/deaf participants articulated that services are not always accessible to D/deaf users: many services (particularly medical) rely on the phone which is a barrier for the D/deaf community. D/deaf service users often have to rely on hearing family members to make phone calls and contact services on their behalf, affecting independence. They





would like to see more D/deaf community groups and centres where the community can come together and gain support; and activities which are accessible.

Participants recalled there used to be specialist D/deaf social workers, but this service was replaced with general social workers who "don't live a D/deaf life", and "provide help that they think you want rather than asking what help you really want". This additionally emphasises the importance of person-centred services. Due to a lack of knowledge of the D/deaf community, there was poor signposting to services.

Physical and mental health

There is a synergy between sensory impairment and other medical conditions. For example, people living with dementia have increased prevalence of sight loss; dementia can make it more challenging to diagnose sight loss (276). Deaf people are more than twice as likely to experience mental health disorders, such as anxiety and depression than hearing counterparts; this is in part due to their experiences of stress, discrimination, and isolation (273). COVID-19 has further exacerbated these inequalities (273). Deaf people report that they are not recorded as Deaf in their GP records, which has consequences for any subsequent referrals. Negative experiences lead to Deaf people disengaging from health care services (273).

Children and young people

In Wales, most (80%) school aged deaf children attend mainstream schools without specialist provision; with others attending mainstream schools with resource provision (9%), special schools not specifically for deaf children (10%), or undertaking home education (1%) (273). Nearly half of Teachers of the Deaf in Wales will likely retire in the coming 15 years (273).

Focus group participants stated that D/deaf children are not able to create a D/deaf identity, integrate into the D/deaf community, or form close connections with other D/deaf children/people without specialist D/deaf schools. Parents need to learn BSL, as do teachers and support staff – support staff are often not specialist or D/deaf themselves. There are a lack of D/deaf youth groups to bring D/deaf young people together to help create that identity. This lack of community for young D/deaf people makes it difficult for them to find out about services or access support, which leads to isolation and mental ill health.

Language and communication

"Communication is a real barrier to accessing services leading to feelings of isolation" – Deaf person, focus group

Since 2004, BSL has been a recognised official language in Wales, with 4000 speakers in Wales (273). However, there are only 48 BSL/English interpreters with the relevant qualifications in Wales, below the target of 64 (273). Although interpreters can be booked





for planned meetings, more spontaneous communication in healthcare settings (such as during an inpatient stay) is challenging (273).

There are no mental health practitioners in Wales with Welsh BSL, limiting culturally appropriate care for Deaf patients with mental health problems (273).

Access to information for Deaf people on how to book a BSL/English interpreter is also limited, often health care providers are not knowledgeable about the process, and confirmation that an interpreter will be present for an appointment is often lacking (273). Welsh language information is proactively offered, but people report needing to ask specifically for BSL (273).

Focus group participants with sight loss experienced similar barriers to access due to support provision available only in English.

"Support groups are usually only in English. Some people have been prevented from attending as they are not able to speak English" – person with sight loss, focus group Cardiff and Vale UHB has used funds from the Patient Experience Team to give staff the opportunity to learn BSL; some staff went to additional classes external to the Health Board. BSL information videos are now played on all hospital screens (280).

Focus group participants stated communication between D/deaf services providers and D/deaf service users is poor. There is a general lack of D/deaf awareness among the hearing community, and so organisations need more training and awareness. There needs to be easier ways to communicate with services, without relying on telephones, such as email or preferably a BSL speaker on video. Many native BSL users do not read or write in English. In many cases the D/deaf community just give up trying to access services. There is a need to employ more D/deaf people/native BSL users to embed the D/deaf community within service provision.

"It is often difficult to communicate with professionals because they use a lot of technical language" – person with sight loss, focus group





16.3.2 Community

16.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

The 'Locked Out' report includes people with sensory loss, and describes how disabled people are more likely to live in poverty and in more deprived areas than non-disabled people. This has been further exacerbated by the coronavirus pandemic (79).

The RNIB reports that only one in four blind and partially sighted people of working age are in employment. Local authority level data are not available. People who live in more deprived areas are at increased risk of sight loss (276); as are people on low incomes, with explanations including concerns regarding the cost of glasses or barriers to accessing optician or ophthalmic services resulting in people delaying appointments until they have symptoms (286).

Housing

Professional leads identified the need for statutory bodies, third sector organisations, and housing associations to collaborate better in order to build or adapt houses suitable for people with hearing or sight loss, for example, induction loops. This is equally the case in residential homes and the workplace. The planned new hospital in Cardiff will have induction loops built in, which will help normalise reasonable adjustments.

Concerns raised by focus group participants with sight loss included receiving sufficient care for them to stay in their own house in the future.

16.3.4 Unmet needs

Access to health services

A report investigating inequalities for Deaf people in Wales noted that there are no formal links between Deaf Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) in Wales and the equivalent in the UK; whereas there are such arrangements between hearing services for CAMHS (273). There are ten National Deaf CAMHS centres in the UK, of which none are in Wales. The report identifies that 40% of Deaf people have mental health concerns, and estimates that around 1,000 of the 2,500 Deaf children and young people in Wales are at risk of mental health problems (273). Deaf CAMHS offer specialised services, including consultations in BSL. Often Deaf adult patients requiring inpatient admissions are transferred to England (273).

The sight loss focus group identified difficulties accessing health and social care services: "it is very difficult to see a doctor physically.... I have to wait on the phone to get through for a very long time"; "GPs should know where to refer us for extra support. They don't know. Social Services should be there for help, support and advice."

The D/deaf focus group articulated accessibility barriers to accessing support services, such as relying on phone calls to access services. Some GP services offer a signed video service,





but not all. Most rely on a phone line to make appointments so D/deaf users have to go into the surgery to make an appointment or ask a hearing family member.

There is no specialist mental health provision for D/deaf people, making access to mental health services very difficult.

The participants would like to access fitness/health activities such as yoga or a gym, but these activities/organisations are not D/deaf friendly and very few staff/instructors are D/deaf aware. Public facing organisations and activities such as yoga/gyms need more D/deaf awareness to make access easier, such as through employing D/deaf people.

The focus group with D/deaf people articulated a real feeling that services had been cut, for example, funding for a D/deaf centre which has since been closed. The discussion included that comparatively small amounts of funding could be transformational, but are currently inaccessible.

Data gaps were identified around deprivation levels and sensory loss; and people with sight or hearing loss and other medical conditions.

16.4 What are the range and level of services needed?

16.4.1 Prevention and assets

Newborn hearing screening

In Cardiff and Vale UHB, 99.9% of eligible and suitable babies are offered hearing screening, and 99.2% undergo newborn hearing screening (287). Of high risk babies referred, the average age of confirmation of hearing loss was 7.3 weeks (Wales average is 7.4 weeks) (287). Average age at hearing aid fitting was 13.7 weeks (Wales average 11.4 weeks) (287). Vision screening is assessed at multiple times during childhood (288).

Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people

The Wales Council of the Blind, in collaboration with other organisations, has reported that currently the number of Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people (ROVIs) is insufficient to meet need; and warn that this situation will escalate in coming years due to the anticipated increase in blind and partially sighted people (274). Furthermore, there are

"The [ROVI] taught me to be more aware and drew my attention to crossing the road correctly, learning to go at a slower pace and trust my decisions again. I felt confident to be able to cross a busy junction using 3 zebra crossings on my own" – ROVI service user, Vale of Glamorgan case study, Wales Council of the Blind report (275)





limited training places and existing ROVIs are due to retire, limiting capacity for future demand. ROVIs are considered essential under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 for their role in prevention, and minimising the impact of impairment. People with a new diagnosis of sight loss receive help from ROVIs to conduct activities of daily living; and learn how to minimise risk of injury. Furthermore, ROVIs build confidence, promote independence, and provide practical and emotional support (274). ROVIs enable people with sight loss to be active citizens in society, and live safely (289). Rehabilitation interventions facilitated by ROVIs can provide cost benefits to health and social care services (289).

A 2021 report by Wales Council of the Blind (289) identified, at a Wales-wide level, concerns regarding a future workforce crisis; including the risks of task-shifting from qualified ROVIs to staff members who have not received the necessary training, which may negatively impact services received by people with sight loss. Additional concerns across Wales include variation in referral mechanisms; concerns people are signposted away from ROVI services; and suboptimal supervision of ROVIs. There are plans to regulate the profession under the Professional Standards Authority. The report recommends recognition by Social Care Wales and to encourage the standards to be adopted by each local authority, as well as improving public understanding of the role of the ROVI. Other recommendations include development of a clear pathway into ROVI services and signposting to other agencies for input that cannot be provided by a ROVI (289).

In 2020, there was only 1 ROVI in Cardiff, and 1 in the Vale of Glamorgan, which is far below the minimum standard of 1:70,000 population (equating to 5.2 in Cardiff, and 1.9 in Vale of Glamorgan) (274). However, theme leads have identified that the ROVI waiting list in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan is manageable, and Sight Cymru provide additional support which is beneficial for service users.

Falls prevention

Sight loss can lead to falls; the RNIB estimate that 540 falls in Cardiff and 290 in the Vale of Glamorgan amongst people aged 65 and over are directly attributable to sight loss (276). Prevention of sight loss, or appropriate management where possible, may help reduce the risk of falls. The National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommend that vision assessment and referral are carried out within a multifactorial intervention for people who are at risk of falls or who have fallen (290). This guidance has been incorporated into the Cardiff and Vale UHB Falls Framework (291).

Supportive environment and awareness

The Framework for Action calls for an environment that removes barriers and enables people to reach their full potential; and reduces inequalities (277). Co-production is one mechanism by which to enable people with sensory loss to collaborate with health and social care professionals, and the third sector (277).

One survey participant articulated the need for wider societal understanding of hidden disabilities as she was concerned regarding her mobility and potentially falling over; and demonstrates the impact of others' actions on their independence and confidence.





"I avoid busy walking times and routes with cyclists as very unsteady on feet and can't hear people. Too many incidents where cyclist got cross because I could not hear I am in favour of cycle paths that are segregated" – person with sensory loss, survey

The D/deaf community face inequalities from the wider community caused by physical barriers to communication rather than wider stigma or fear. Addressing these practical communication barriers is easier than changing mindsets. One participant worked within the hearing community and felt discriminated against, and so moved jobs to work with the D/deaf community where she felt more comfortable.

The D/deaf focus group highlighted a "pushback" after disclosing their D/deaf status. This was thought to be not due to stigma but a lack of awareness of D/deaf needs. This pushback discouraged the D/deaf community from seeking to access some non-essential services. Focus group participants felt D/deaf awareness is not sufficient among service providers and so services are generally inadequate for the D/deaf community. D/deaf people are not represented enough among decision makers and so policies are made by hearing people without understanding the needs and lived experience of the D/deaf community. Education to the wider population and service providers, and improving and increasing understanding would be the most important contributor to removal of barriers.

"A lack of awareness and understanding leads to break downs in communication" – Deaf person, focus group

Assets to support well-being

A number of assets that support people's well-being were identified. People with sight loss reported that despite lockdown restrictions, they were positive about support from the third sector: "Age Alive and Sightlife meetings have been great [online]...[online] support groups run by the organisations have enabled us to socialise during lockdown"; and "Sight Cymru gave me so much support. Without them no-one would have told me anything". One respondent wanted more support closer to home, as "everything seems to be in the town centre".





D/deaf focus group participants reported that D/deaf peers and friends are crucial to well-being and to support good mental health. Without regularly meeting with D/deaf friends one participant said that she would have become depressed and unwell. It is important to communicate with others who understand the D/deaf experience. With a lack of awareness among the hearing community, the D/deaf community is crucial to forming a D/deaf identity and to sharing information on services. One participant, previously a board member of a local

"Charities are helping us to socialise – good for our mental wellbeing" – person with sight loss, focus group

D/deaf charity, has set up a D/deaf group of their own. The services that the group values were D/deaf originated – often in a response to what they felt were historic local authority cuts. These groups were seen as being a key part in meeting Future Generations obligations (especially around early intervention) and Local Authority Equality Requirements, but there were funding difficulties. The Royal Association for the D/deaf was also helpful.

Survey respondents with sensory impairment reported that the church was a good source of support, alongside third sector and community groups (such as Friends of the Library; Gyspy Travellers Wales; Women Connect First; Sight Life Cymru; Women's Institute), and socialising over food and drink in cafes and restaurants or virtually. Barriers to accessing these assets included transport; and closure of groups and venues due to COVID-19 restrictions. Professional leads identified Deaf Hub Wales and the RNIB as useful assets locally.

16.4.2 Community Services

Health services

The Framework for Action states that people with sensory loss should be signposted in a timely manner to specialist services as appropriate, including speech and language therapists and counselling services (277). Young people in particular should have a seamless and timely transition to adult services (277).

Cardiff and Vale UHB has developed a phone first system to access Emergency Care. The service is also available via Textphone (for deaf or hard of hearing patients); or through Relay UK (for patients who are deaf, hard of hearing, or speech impaired) (280).

Focus group participants wanted to see their GP and other healthcare specialists face to face, and for the process to be easier and quicker. Care and support services should align with transport needs to ensure access for service users. "I would like free transport to hospital and to shopping centres, door to door" – person with sight loss, focus group





Social Care

Sight loss focus group participants wanted social workers or support workers to provide information and advice; help with forms; and emotional support. Specialist D/deaf social workers are also desirable, similar to previous provision, to help support D/deaf people by drawing on lived experience.

Education and employment

Support for people with hearing or sight loss to seek, gain, and thrive in employment has been discussed by professional leads. Fear of losing a job and stigma means people can be unwilling to declare their need for hearing aids. Employers can proactively inform prospective and current employees of support available for people with hearing or sight loss. Initiatives to achieve this include disability confident and inclusive recruitment, with added benefits of drawing from a wider pool of talent, and improving staff morale through evident support (200). Reasonable adjustments and adaptations, such as hearing loops, will help people with hearing impairment.



16.4.3 Partnership approach

Person-centred services

Services need to be person-centred, so that the individual is able to do what matters to them. In line with this, independence should be promoted: *"One of my fears is how do we keep our independence? Plus who do we go to for help?"*

"I want to live a happy and healthy life. Old age demands quite a lot of physical health. I want to know the help is out there. I don't want to go out dancing, I just want to be able to go out for a walk" – person with sight loss, focus group

Some focus group participants commented that services were "all or nothing", for example regarding transport: "I don't qualify, it's very black and white, there seems to be no inbetween" (sight loss focus group participant). Others commented that "it is very difficult to get support from Social Services. It's all means tested. Support is rationed and it's very hard to qualify for support" – focus group participant with sight loss. Professionals responding to





these findings state that Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people (ROVI) and Hearing Impairment Social Care Officer support is not means tested but it is based on assessment.

One survey participant demonstrated the potential for co-produced, person-centred, creative solutions: "Would also be wonderful to have classes where elderly mix with children - this could be classes/events where can take grandchildren or ones where can interact with children e.g. in schools. Play games, read, crafts...children can be so uplifting for lonely older people. Needs to be accessible by bus and short walk or have adequate parking as a lot of us elderlies do not have a blue badge". Survey respondents with sensory loss or impairment articulated their desire to meet other people – in particular, people of a similar age, similar interests, or similar impairment.

Services should identify people's concerns for the future and seek to proactive support where possible. For example, one focus group participant was concerned that communication issues will negatively impact on decisions made about his health as he gets older; that hospitals and medical professionals will ask his family to make decisions for him, without consulting him, and that he will not be in control of his own care or make his own decisions. This is particularly worrying in relation to elder care. Given D/deaf people are born into hearing families there is a real fear of isolation in older years, exacerbated through cuts to D/deaf focused services.

Communication

All services need improvement to make accessibility easier and more D/deaf friendly. BSL users or D/deaf people need to be embedded within service providers and organisations (e.g., through employment) so that D/deaf people can communicate directly with someone who understands BSL and also the D/deaf experience.

Cardiff and Vale UHB has offered staff training in basic BSL and Deaf Awareness to enable staff to better meet patients' needs. In 2019/20, 200 staff had been trained (279). Members of the D/deaf communities have provided feedback to the health board that BSL is their first language; and to be aware of the use of jargon (279). Cardiff and Vale UHB is training staff in medical records to better identify people who may need BSL interpreters for appointments (279). Cardiff and Vale UHB is now the first Welsh Health Board to sign the British Deaf Association's British Sign Language Charter (279). Staff from both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities have access to Deaf Awareness and BSL training (29) (30).



16.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

The RNIB estimates an increased number of people will be living with sight loss over the next 10 years; from 9,530 to 12,700 in Cardiff (33% increase), and from 4,790 to 6,470 in the





Vale of Glamorgan (35% increase) (276). Increases in diagnoses of common sightthreatening conditions are all expected to increase; for example, cataract by 36% (Cardiff) and 38% (Vale of Glamorgan); and late stage age-related macular degeneration by 36% (Cardiff) and 41% (Vale of Glamorgan) (276).

The prevalence of diabetes is expected to increase by 22% in Cardiff (against a Welsh average increase of 9%, and 6% in the Vale of Glamorgan) between 2021 and 2030; which corresponds to a notable anticipated increase in sight loss due to diabetic retinopathy (17% increase; compared to 5% in Wales, and 1% in the Vale of Glamorgan) (276).

An increase in the number of people who have both deafness and sight loss is expected as older age is the leading cause; and the population of those aged 85+ will grow over the coming years (93). Strokes are a cause of sight loss; the risk of stroke also increases with age (276).

16.6 Recommendations

All agencies, in partnership, to:

- Increase awareness of specialist and support services to improve signposting (273); and improve joined working
- Promote awareness and normalisation of BSL
- Anticipate the increase in prevalence of hearing and sight loss in the future
- Increase opportunities for consultation and co-production
- Sign up to the Disability Confident Scheme (200) and develop inclusive recruitment. The D/deaf community need more D/deaf and BSL users professionals embedded in services to ensure they are represented and that communication is not a barrier

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Undertake Deaf Awareness training for staff to improve the culture for service users, and co-workers who may have hearing loss
- Increase the number of Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people in line with recommendations (274)
- Design physical activity strategies and plans to increase D/deaf-friendly and D/deaf aware opportunities

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:

- Improve recording of Deaf people as Deaf in medical records so BSL interpreters can be appropriately booked (273), improving referrals, and experience of health care
- Take additional action to promote equity of access to healthcare services for D/deaf people compared to non-disabled people
- Support the newly established Inclusive Recruitment Team who ensure that they work to the Themes and Goals of the Disability Confident Scheme





17. Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People; Children Looked After; Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; Asylum Seekers and Refugees

Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Strengthen the availability of existing services to provide person-centred care with seamless and timely transition between agencies, for example, through supporting inter-agency communication
- Continue to improve awareness amongst victims, bystanders, and service providers on the recognition and management (including signposting) of VAWDASV
- Continue to deliver the required elements of the National Training Framework to all relevant staff and build on successes of Ask & Act and routine enquiry
- Improve the multi-agency response to identified risk factors, such as ACEs, through increasing understanding of factors that increase risk and an awareness of the lived experiences
- Continue to monitor evolving trends in forms of abuse and ensure services anticipate changes in demand
- Ensure continued investment in specialist support services and required delivery of high quality, needs-led, strengths-based and trauma-informed person-centred provision
- Increase practitioners' knowledge and understanding of perpetrator behaviour(s) to ensure that the accountability for the abusive behaviour remains with the perpetrator(s)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Further develop target hardening and move on accommodation opportunities, so spaces are available in refuges for those who need it, and minimise disruption to victims who wish to stay at home
- Maintain, and where possible extend, a range of interventions to target known and potential perpetrators of abuse





17.1 Overview

Violence against women, domestic abuse, and sexual violence (VAWDASV) describes: "Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality. The abuse can be psychological; physical; sexual; financial; and emotional. The other components of VAWDASV are: rape and sexual violence; forced marriage; sexual harassment; female genital mutilation (FGM); so-called 'honour-based violence'; sexual exploitation through the sex industry/prostitution; stalking; and trafficking" (292). Anyone can be subject to abuse, but women are more likely to be victims (293) (294). As per the Welsh Government strategy, this section encompasses all forms of gender based violence, domestic abuse, and sexual violence (294).

Data from South Wales Police recorded 14,092 offences in 2017, and 11,625 for 2021 that had taken place in the Cardiff and Vale area, for the following offence types: rape, stalking, harassment, sexual offences, violence with and without injury (295). Of these, 4,687 in 2017 and 3,795 in 2021 carried a domestic abuse flag (295).

Cardiff and Vale UHB data show a total of 267 adult safeguarding referrals were made in 2020/21 (43). A quarter of referrals were for physical abuse; 22% neglect; 14% sexual abuse; and 5% emotional abuse (43). Cardiff Local Authority data show 1,292 referrals were made of which 26% were due to domestic violence, 9% sexual violence, and 3% both domestic and sexual violence (30). The Vale of Glamorgan domestic abuse assessment referral co-ordinator has received 1,024 medium risk and 169 standard risk referrals in 2020/21. In addition, 446 high risk referrals were received by the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (296).

In 2019/20 the Recovery Information Safety Empowerment (Rise) Cardiff service received 6,263 referrals of which 1,158 were high risk. In 2020/21, an increase of 7% in referrals was observed, with 6,725 received, and more were high risk (1,475). Half of all referrals were police referrals and a third were directly from victims (30). In the Vale of Glamorgan in 2019/20, Atal Y Fro received 843 referrals of which 427 were high risk. There was an increase in referrals in 2020/21: 1,054, of which 553 were high risk. Of these, 379 were self-referrals and a total of 411 were police referrals (297).

Male victims

Men can be victims of VAWDASV. Based on Public Protection Notice (PPN) submissions in 2020/21 in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, approximately 20% of victims are male (2,021 PPN submissions), and 80% female (8,609 PPN submissions). Note that PPNs are submitted when there is concern, and may not constitute a crime. Additionally, these figures may contain repeat victims and so should be interpreted cautiously (296). In 2017, 4% of cases discussed at Cardiff's Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) were male victims. In the Vale of Glamorgan MARAC male victims accounted for 5% of cases discussed (293). The Health Independent Domestic Violence Adviser (IDVA) service at Cardiff and Vale UHB received 66 referrals for men alleging abuse in April 2020-March 2021 which equates





to 13.2% of referrals received (212). Our regional strategy explicitly considers the needs of male victims.

Children and young people

In Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, during 2020/21, a total of 3,759 safeguarding referrals were made regarding children (3,380 were made in 2019/20). These were predominantly made by the Paediatric Emergency Department and community-based staff such as health visitors and school nurses (43). A reduction in referrals was observed from April to June 2020 due to reduced numbers of children being seen by healthcare professionals, due to COVID-19 restrictions (43). Most referrals (64%) were for child protection; and 3% for female genital mutilation (FGM) (43). Of the 293 child protection medicals undertaken in 2020/21, 194 were for physical assault; 21 due to neglect; and 35 for child sexual exploitation (43).

Cardiff Council has recorded that, as at the end of March 2020, 253 children were included on the Child Protection Register. Of these, 50% had experienced domestic abuse in the home, and 2% included sexual violence/abuse as a factor in the registration. For the end of March 2021, the total registrations had increased to 458, with 46% relating to domestic abuse and 3.5% to sexual violence/abuse (30). Equivalent data are not currently available for the Vale of Glamorgan.

Characteristics conferring increased risk

Some people with specific characteristics may be at disproportionately increased risk of abuse; and may additionally experience multiple overlapping barriers to seeking help and support (294). This includes minority ethnic women, Asylum seekers and refugees, disabled people, specific occupations such as the sex industry. (294). The Older Person's Commissioner for Wales has highlighted domestic abuse amongst older people, in particular where the individual has care and support needs, and noted that often the perpetrator may be in a position of trust, such as a family member (298). Older people may have additional vulnerabilities such as cognitive impairment; and may face barriers such as a perception that services are not for them; stigma; and fear of consequences (298). Estimates suggest approximately 15,000 people aged 60-74 in Wales have experienced domestic abuse (298). Around 13,000 incidents of abuse including neglect were reported in Wales in 2018/19 amongst people aged over 65, but this is considered an underestimate (298). The Health IDVA at Cardiff and Vale UHB has received increasing referrals from people aged 60+; from 13 in 2017, to 52 in January – October 2021 inclusive (212).

Information sources

Two focus groups (one virtual, one face to face) with a total of 9 participants were held, and 33 respondents to the survey had experienced domestic abuse or sexual violence. Thirty-five respondents of the provider's survey provided services for people experiencing VAWDASV. This is not a representative sample of the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but does provide rich information to accompany other data sources used for this chapter.





17.2 What has changed since 2017?

17.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

Nationally, the following have changed since the 2017 PNA:

- Welsh Government has published the Wales Safeguarding procedures in 2019 (299), which were revised in 2021, as well as the National Action Plan Preventing and Responding to Child Sexual Abuse (300)
- In 2019, Welsh Government released the National Training Framework on VAWDASV guidance on statutory requirements for training across the public service and specialist third sector (301)
- The UK Government's Domestic Abuse Act 2021 has been published (302)
- Welsh Government is updating national VAWDASV strategy, which previously ran from 2016-2021 (294)

Regionally, the following documents have been published:

- Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2018 – 2023, from partners including NHS, police, and local authority (293). The strategy outlines the following priority areas: Prepare, Pursue, Prevent, Protect, and Support, and an annual report is published annually
- Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls: a Joint Strategy 2019-2024 from South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner (303)
- Cardiff & Vale Regional Safeguarding Boards published the Tackling Exploitation Strategy to protect children and adults at risk in 2020 (304)

The following services have expanded or have been commissioned regionally:

- The Women's Well-being Clinic, based in Cardiff Royal Infirmary, opened in May 2018. Most referrals are from Maternity at University Hospital of Wales but women can self-refer, for reasons including gynaecological, psychological, and FGM concerns (43)
- A pilot routine enquiry was introduced in the Emergency Department in the University Hospital of Wales at the same time as COVID-19 lockdown restrictions were introduced (March 2020). This led to an increase in referrals: during 2020/21, 8,668 "Ask and Act" referrals were made. COVID-19 restrictions meant patients attended alone, which likely facilitated the increase in positive disclosure. Routine enquiry is now standard practice (43). The implementation of routine enquiry in the Emergency Department is reflected in the increase number of referrals received by the Health Independent Domestic Violence Adviser (IDVA) at Cardiff and Vale UHB (212)
- RISE Cardiff is a new strategically designed and procured VAWDASV specialist service in Cardiff and is being delivered by a local consortium the lead provider Cardiff Women's Aid has teamed up with third sector organisations Bawso and Llamau. The service, which commenced in April 2018, delivers an end to end pathway from advice and information, crisis interventions, emergency safety and protection, step down support, aftercare and recovery
- Atal y Fro were successful in being awarded the VAWDASV Service contract in the Vale of Glamorgan from July 2021





• Interactive support interventions for perpetrators of abuse, offering a range of provision from early intervention through to targeting those who pose high risk/high harm

17.2.1 COVID-19

Impact of COVID-19 on service demand

Professionals have anecdotally identified changes in behaviour and violence with different stages of lockdown, although further research is needed to understand the pattern and mechanisms. Analysis of Emergency Department data in Cardiff between January 2019 and June 2020 demonstrated no significant increase in Emergency Department visits due to violence at home, although a large decrease in visits due to violence outside the home was observed (305). However, a Wales-wide social innovation narrative from 2020 raised concerns of likely increases in domestic and sexual violence and abuse including elder abuse, and concerns about the safety of children and young people (online and at home). The authors identify the lack of data measuring violence at home, and advise collaboration between public health, criminal justice, and third sector organisations to identify, mitigate, and prevent future violence (306). Data from the Office of National Statistics for England and Wales in November 2020 show an increase in police recorded data of offences flagged as domestic abuse related during COVID-19, however, police have also improved recording of offences and so attribution is unclear. Domestic abuse victim service demand has increased, but this may reflect a lack of other support sources rather than an increased number of victims (307).

COVID-19 has increased the prevalence of risk factors of abuse – such as isolation, and reduced contact with support networks (298). The Women's Aid Federation of England identified that perpetrators had used government mandated restrictions as an additional way to coercively survivors, leading to more isolation and additional barriers to leaving (308). UK police identified a 9% increase in domestic abuse offences between April – June 2020 compared to the year before (298). Increased disclosure of domestic abuse has been, in part, attributed to people attending healthcare and other appointments alone (43). Decreased levels of emotional and mental health well-being, and unhealthy relationships were identified during COVID-19 (43).

An "Ask and Act" approach within healthcare settings resulted in a large increase in referrals (in May – July 2020, between 1,075 and 1,271 referrals/month were made, compared to 572 in April 2020), predominantly from the Emergency Department. However, the Cardiff and Vale Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) saw a decrease in referrals between 2019/20 and 2020/21 (572 to 417 respectively) (43). A particular drop was noted in children and young people. The reasons for the decrease in referrals is unknown but professionals identified that it may have been influenced by COVID-19 and restrictions, causing changing patterns of behaviour such as a reduction in social contacts (impacting both contact with potential perpetrators, as well as contact enabling disclosure, such as a trusted adult in the case of children and young people). Many students usually resident in Cardiff were not present during the lockdown periods, which may also have had an impact (38). It is known that prevalence of sexual assault is higher than the referrals received by SARC (41).





A UK-wide report by the National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children in 2020 identified that children and young people may be at risk of maltreatment during lockdown due to increased stressors in parents and caregivers (increasing the risk of child abuse); increased vulnerability of children and young people (for example, to online abuse); and a reduction in normal protective services (such as social connections) (309).

Impact of COVID-19 on service delivery

Over the past two years, Welsh Government has provided additional funding to local authorities to address the additional demands of the pandemic and the Ministry of Justice has also provided additional IDVA capacity.

Training, awareness raising, and campaigns have been postponed or adapted for online delivery due to COVID-19 restrictions. The mandatory Welsh Government National Training Framework roll-out has continued with Group 2 Ask and Act training delivered online since October 2020 to staff from Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Velindre NHS Trust. Focus group participants provided both positive and negative feedback: virtual consultation introduced access to support groups without having to leave home, however another stated: *"in a phone call, you can't see body language or non-verbal clues"*.

Providers of services for people experiencing VAWDASV reported the following changes in the survey: fewer face to face assessments with more telephone consultations; an increased demand for mental health support (for staff as well as service users); lack of access to other community and third sector support services; reduced access to clinics and treatment; and the opening of new hostels.

17.3 What are the care and support needs?

17.3.1 Individual

Control and autonomy

Some focus group participants didn't feel listened to when they asked for help; or didn't feel as though they were taken seriously. Some stated they have no choice but to speak up for themselves as there was no one else to do this for them.

"I have to speak up for myself, I don't have any other option" – VAWDASV service user, focus group




Language and communication

No definitive local data are available on the Welsh language preferences of VAWDASV victims. Focus group participants stated that for those who do not speak English or Welsh as a first language, information provision was inadequate. In addition, although interpreters may speak the same language, differences in dialect may result in the translation service offered being unsuitable. The terminology used was important.



Those accessing the RISE service in Cardiff whose first language is not English or Welsh account for 5% of all referrals. Language preferences may vary between different services within VAWDASV. The Women's Well-being clinic receives referrals for gynaecological and psychological issues including pregnancy and FGM. The majority of women are from the Sudanese community (43).

17.3.2 Community

Awareness of VAWDASV

Increased awareness of VAWDASV amongst victims, people at risk, and bystanders through information provision, signposting, and support for actions including reporting to police is needed. This includes prominent information on the *'Live Fear Free'* helpline (an all-Wales domestic abuse and sexual violence helpline) alongside local information campaigns organised by Local Authorities, Police and specialist VAWDASV services (292).

Awareness of available support

Public services should be aware of specialist and other services available, including schools, colleges and universities. A new initiative bringing together specialist providers, local authorities and higher and further education establishments ensures that information is shared and pathways to support and solutions to identified issues are jointly explored. The free VAWDASV awareness raising e-learning offered by Welsh Government has also been

"I've never heard of many of the services we've talked about today...Pull together a list of organisations and put it through people's doors."– VAWDASV service user, focus group





shared widely with third sector organisations, and further and higher education establishments.

Staff training

All "*relevant authorities*" are required to train their staff in line with the National Training Framework. The region has strengthened the training consortium of Cardiff and Vale UHB, Velindre NHS Trust, the two local authorities and specialist providers, RISE and Atal y Fro, to roll-out delivery regionally and in a coordinated way.

Safeguarding adults and children training is required for all staff. Nearly three-quarters of health staff are level 1 trained (43). The Welsh Government National Training Framework is being implemented across UHB Clinical Boards, corresponding to 11,000 staff members (43). In addition, the Identification and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) programme provides training, support, and referral assistance to GP practices. Since its implementation, referrals have increased. IRIS is particularly effective at reaching older women as it is underpinned by a longstanding relationship of trust with primary care (298). IRIS+ involves identifying and referring with perpetrators and children affected by abuse also (310).

Intersectionality

Increased understanding, support, and awareness of needs is needed, of people with specific characteristics, such as male victims, gypsy and traveller communities, and LGBTQ+ victims (310). Sex workers are less likely to report incidents to the police, and so specialist Sex Work Liaison Police Officers have been introduced in Cardiff and Swansea (293). Participants of a focus group for homeless people reported problems with domestic violence.

Perpetrator interventions

There is increasing evidence for the use of perpetrator focused interventions (292). The DRIVE programme for high risk/harm perpetrators was introduced in Cardiff in 2018, and the Vale of Glamorgan in September 2020. The CLEAR programme targets men whose behaviour is unhealthy towards their partner, and continues in Cardiff within the "Change that Lasts" programme. A new accredited domestic abuse perpetrator programme "Driving Change" has also been implemented. Programmes ensure that relevant victims and children/young people are also supported by an IDVA (310).

17.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

Financial abuse is a form of VAWDASV. There is no local data available regarding VAWDASV by deprivation. It is known that financial barriers prevent people from leaving their current accommodation, resulting in victims remaining in homes where they remain at risk of harm. Individuals without recourse to public funds (for example, asylum seekers) may be particularly vulnerable.





Addressing causes of financial barriers was important to focus group participants: "I can't afford to live, because PIP [personal independence payment] has stopped. I need to work but don't feel ready. Cardiff Women's Aid has been a lifesaver in helping me".

Housing

The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 requires consideration of whether someone is at risk of abuse in determining their ongoing residence in that accommodation (294). The Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 will support survivors of VAWDASV who have joint contracts with perpetrators, by enabling perpetrators to be evicted (294); this legislation is due to be implemented in 2022. Partners in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan are planning to assess the impact of the welfare reform changes and the Renting Homes Act on accommodation in 2023 (310). Local housing strategies have identified VAWDASV as a key cause of homelessness and vulnerable housing, and have proactively identified support mechanisms (89) (213).

Refuges are seen as critical for offering immediate, short term, protection by both survivors of abuse, and practitioners. A 2018 Wales-wide report stated 94% of women felt safer on exit from the refuge (292). However, refuges might not be suitable for all, and do place the onus on the victim to move and potentially also leave existing sources of support (292). Refuges may also offer additional support such as financial, health, immigration, legal, and employment services (292). Nationally, Welsh Women's Aid oversee the UK Routes to Support database (292). In Wales, in 2018/19, 2,156 women and 67 men were referred for refuge accommodation, of which 691 women and 35 men could not be accepted as either the refuge was full, or staff would have been unable to provide the specific support the individual required (292). Asylum seekers and others with no recourse to public funds may not be able to access refuges (292).

A delay in moving into a refuge can be detrimental: research by Women's Aid Federation of England identified that whilst waiting for refuge accommodation, 49/166 experienced further abuse from the same perpetrator; 19 experienced abuse from additional perpetrator(s); 8 women slept rough; and 44 sofa surfed (308).

Refuge accommodation availability was increased during COVID-19. Cardiff's homelessness service worked with RISE Cardiff to improve housing support (310). Vale of Glamorgan Council worked with Atal Y Fro to increase refuge accommodation and support workers at the beginning of the pandemic due to the expected rise in demand. The contract was retendered in summer 2021, jointly with the Community Safety Team and the Police and Crime Commissioner, to align the services more closely and provide a more robust funding stream (29).

Suitable subsequent "move-on" accommodation options need to be available (292). A Wales-wide report identified a lack of move-on accommodation has meant that individuals stay longer than necessary in refuge accommodation, potentially impacting others who require refuge accommodation (292).





Where possible, victims should be supported to stay within their own homes (293). "Target hardening" describes the strengthening mechanisms available to facilitate victims staying in their own homes, for example, panic buttons, new locks, better lighting, CCTV; police support such as watch or drive by models (292). These help victims feel safe, and are best combined with local, specialist, community based support (292). However, additional support may be required for individuals in more complex circumstances, for example, private renters with rent arrears (292). Target hardening equipment is provided by registered social landlords and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities (29) (30).

There are 65 refuge units in Cardiff and 17 units in the Vale of Glamorgan for women, men and their children who are escaping violence and abuse and need safe accommodation (29) (311).

Offering choice to victims of VAWDASV regarding their housing and accommodation is key. Focus group participants had suffered a lack of autonomy from ex-partners and financial constraints. Participants wanted more support when they were homeless.

17.3.4 Unmet needs

Focus group participants identified difficulties accessing medical, mental, and dental health services, including specialist care such as tertiary medical services and physiotherapy. Participants had experienced delays in referral to mental health services due to lack of awareness of services, waiting list times, and a lack of signposting for other sources of



help in interim. Some felt guilty for seeking help: *"I've been waiting for over a year for 1 to 1 counselling with the traumatic stress service".* It should be noted that the COVID-19 pandemic has affected access to healthcare generally.

Participants reported experiences of not feeling listened to within the healthcare, criminal justice system, or other support services: *"There's lots of things I would like to do but not able to. I feel I am ignored by agencies a lot of the time, so cannot do the things I want. I got no support when I needed it, agencies cannot meet the challenges I present with".*

Gaps in knowledge include:

- Local understanding of prevalence and the nature and impact of:
 - $\circ~$ Honour-based violence and stalking / harassment
 - Abuse of older people (298) and those who identify as LGBTQ+
- Impact of deprivation on VAWDASV
- The links between extremism and misogyny





What are the range and level of services needed?Prevention and assets

Prevention is a key component of both the national and regional strategies for VAWDASV (293) (294), through a collaborative approach (e.g., Public Service Board, Regional Partnership Board, and VAWDASV Executive, amongst others). The Violence Prevention Team is the first of its kind in the UK, and is embedded within the Emergency Department at University Hospital of Wales. It applies a public health approach to violence (43).

Primary prevention

- Schools-based intervention: such as those within current strategies through the Whole Education Approach, including Operation Encompass and compliance with the National Training Framework. Education was considered one of the most important points from the focus groups: "Most important point from today is education, with educating children on relationships, right through to how we help people who have gone through trauma and family law."
- The school-based Spectrum project raises awareness of VAWDASV; educates children around healthy relationships; and provides training for school staff (312).
- Whole School Approach: A pilot programme is ongoing in an area of Cardiff with minimal take-up of Spectrum and high cases of reported domestic abuse (310).
- A pilot programme employing a whole school approach is ongoing in Cardiff (310). Identification of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and mitigation through promotion of protective factors – work is continued by South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner Violence Prevention Unit (310). *"I worry about my daughter going through what I've been through and the long term impact of domestic abuse on her."*

Secondary prevention

- Early Intervention: such as "Change that Lasts", a project funded by South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner and both local authorities through additional Welsh Government funding (310). Domestic homicide is often preceded by other forms of abuse, and victims may already have been known to services. It is therefore preventable in some cases with early intervention.
- Advocacy: the specialist providers in the region employ a number of IDVAs and Independent Sexual Violence Advisors (ISVA). The breadth of IDVA/ISVAs available has been increased through additional funding from the Ministry of Justice and Welsh Government. Since October 2016, Cardiff and Vale UHB employs the only IDVA working within the NHS in Wales. The role encompasses provision of advocacy, support for victims of domestic violence (43). RISE has now re-appointed a male IDVA in October 2020 who provides support and acts as a positive male role model to people aged 11-25 years (310).
- Learning from Domestic Homicide Reviews will help to improve partner responses to victims (43), through delivering against the activities identified in the specific action plans.





Tertiary prevention

 Perpetrator provision: Includes very early intervention with those who recognise unhealthy behavioural traits, through to convicted perpetrators, and employs a strengths-based, future-focused approach. Programmes also consider any children the perpetrators may have (293).

Assets to support well-being

A number of assets to support well-being were identified by focus group participants. Interpersonal relationships with family (*"Spending time with my children is the most important thing for me"*) and sharing experiences with friends and colleagues were identified. Hobbies were important: *"I've invested in myself, listening to podcasts and doing meditation, which has changed my life"*.

The value of community-based activities such as choirs and music groups, art exhibitions and craft clubs, religious settings, and sports clubs and gyms (*"gym saves my sanity"*) were acknowledged. In addition, third sector organisations such as Cardiff Women's Aid and Speakeasy Cymru (providing legal and financial advice) as well as volunteering opportunities and supportive work were identified. Local authority services such as education and support workers as well as NHS clinics such as SARC and mental health clinics were named as helpful. Participants also found online support groups and the Live Fear Free helpline supportive.

> "The importance of talking about your experiences, whether that's with colleagues, friends, make friends, to raise awareness. People find their own way of healing, I write poems and place them all around Cardiff." – VAWDASV service user, focus group

17.4.2 Community services

The Regional VAWDSAV Strategy, developed in 2018, mapped the services available in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.



Figure 17.1. A map of specialist VAWDASV services. Source: Regional VAWDASV Strategy 2018-2023 (293)

17.4.3 Partnership approach

Integrated working

Since the development and implementation of the regional VAWDASV strategy in 2018, statutory and third sector services in the region have developed closer working relationships, policies and procedures to share and manage risk, try out new and innovative practices to intervene as early as possible and where not possible to deliver timely and often joint assessments and responses. It is acknowledged that VAWDASV also spans safeguarding, which is everyone's responsibility (43), and community safety. Therefore a whole system collaborative approach is essential.

However, liaison between services can still be improved so survivors are not required to repeat their story with each agency; and victims are more aware of opportunities for support. A focus is needed on timeliness of access to primary care, mental health services, and other specialist services.

Standardised pathway

The region uses a collaborative approach to delivery of staff training, with a new training plan to be developed as part of the revised regional VAWDASV strategy in 2022. The National Training Framework delivery has transferred online but has proved to be successful. Ask and Act training includes awareness of the local pathways into support and





the steps to take to raise safeguarding concerns for all staff that may come into contact with a victim or a perpetrator.

Standardised procedures are still needed across all health departments for identifying victims of abuse, and providing subsequent management (292). This includes routine enquiry which facilitates disclosure, following which actions to support and protect the victim can be made. In maternity, women are routinely asked by midwives and health visitors. In 2020/21, this led to 332 domestic abuse disclosures in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (43).

Person-centred services

Delivery of high quality, needs-led, strengths-based and trauma-informed provision by specialist third sector services is being promoted by Welsh Women's Aid and has already been implemented with specialist service providers across Cardiff.

Focus group participants felt that there was a need to maximise community-based assets and promote real connections between people. COVID-19 has shown that a blended approach to service delivery of face-to-face and via social media platforms is beneficial in offering more choice and access to a wider range of victims, especially for peer support and for recovery group work. Engagement has identified the importance of ensuring victims feel listened to and supported, in addition to providing the support: *"GP has been absolutely amazing and understood"*.

Participants were concerned regarding the sustainability of services due to funding pressures; and the mental health of staff providing care and support.

"Important thing for me was that I've never spoken before about the things we've talked about today. To talk about what you've gone through and be so frank, I found it a bit strange. It would be great if there were opportunities for that to happen more" – VAWDASV service user, focus group

17.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

Nationally, Welsh Government is about to consult on the revised national VAWDASV strategy and is developing the 2022—2027 National Communication Framework to complement it (312). The new school curriculum has now been introduced (September 2021) and includes revised guidance on "Relationships and Sexuality Education", which may help prevent issues arising or escalating (312).

Regionally, a specialist service for male victims of domestic and sexual violence and abuse will be commissioned by the end of 2021. The SARC provision currently delivered by Cardiff





and Vale UHB will be recommissioned as part of a national review of SARC delivery. The regional VAWDASV strategy will be refreshed during 2022 in accordance with Welsh Government requirements.

As the population of Cardiff and the Vale increases, and as the age profile changes with a larger proportion of residents being in older age groups, increased demands on services are anticipated in line with the emerging concern of abuse of older people (43). Welsh Government are due to publish the Strategy for an Ageing Society which prioritises the ending of abuse of older people (298).

In response to wider media coverage of VAWDASV, stalking, spiking, murder, distrust of the police and increased displays of misogyny generally, it is likely that more victims will come forward and therefore demand for services will increase.

17.6 Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Strengthen the availability of existing services to provide person-centred care with seamless and timely transition between agencies, for example, through supporting inter-agency communication
- Continue to improve awareness amongst victims, bystanders, and service providers on the recognition and management (including signposting) of VAWDASV
- Continue to deliver the required elements of the National Training Framework to all relevant staff and build on successes of Ask & Act and routine enquiry
- Improve the multi-agency response to identified risk factors, such as ACEs, through increasing understanding of factors that increase risk and an awareness of the lived experiences
- Continue to monitor evolving trends in forms of abuse and ensure services anticipate changes in demand
- Ensure continued investment in specialist support services and required delivery of high quality, needs-led, strengths-based and trauma-informed person-centred provision
- Increase practitioners' knowledge and understanding of perpetrator behaviour(s) to ensure that the accountability for the abusive behaviour remains with the perpetrator(s)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Further develop target hardening and move on accommodation opportunities, so spaces are available in refuges for those who need it, and minimise disruption to victims who wish to stay at home
- Maintain, and where possible extend, a range of interventions to target known and potential perpetrators of abuse



18. Substance Misuse

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People; Children Looked After; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Secure Estate; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)

let's talk

Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Take action to ensure services are accessible to the service user, with a focus on provision of face to face support and a reduction in the reliance on digital access for awareness of services, and service provision
- Monitor trends relating to alcohol and substance misuse in order to anticipate service needs, including misuse of over the counter drugs and the purchasing of online supplies of drugs
- Increase signposting of those in need, through awareness across the system of support provided by other services including public, private and third sector
- Increase awareness of Dewis Cymru, a website which enables individuals to find local and national organisations and services (272)
- Support the harm reduction agenda through
 - Increasing coverage of needle and syringe programmes (313)
 - Strengthen blood borne virus screening (313)
 - Continue to build partnership services to increase the provision of Take Home Naloxone (314)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

• Work together with housing providers to identify those at risk of homelessness, and enable people to remain in accommodation (315)

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:

- Continue to develop mental health support provided alongside substance misuse support and treatment (315) to improve client outcomes
- Increase routine alcohol screening in Primary and Secondary Care to identify hazardous and harmful drinking behaviours

18.1 Overview

Substance misuse refers to the use of psychoactive substances in a way that is harmful or hazardous to health, including alcohol and illicit drugs. The use of such substances can lead to dependency with associated cognitive, behavioural and physiological problems. This





results in a strong desire to take the drug, difficulties in controlling use, persisting in its use despite harmful consequences, a higher priority given to drug use than to other activities and obligations, increased tolerance, and sometimes a physical withdrawal state (316).

The Vale of Glamorgan has the highest percent of residents in a local authority in Wales reporting average weekly alcohol consumption over 14 units (i.e., above guidelines) at 25% (165). The Welsh average is 19%, and 20% of Cardiff residents report exceeding guidelines in 2016/17 to 2019/20 (317). Amongst people reporting that they drink alcohol, residents of the Vale of Glamorgan report the highest average annual alcohol consumption at 660 units (compared to Cardiff at 523 units, and the all-Wales average at 531 units per year) in 2016/17 to 2019/20 (165). The Office for National Statistics report provisional data for England and Wales for the year 2020, which demonstrates the highest annual number of deaths from alcohol-specific causes since their time-series (started in 2001): 7,423 deaths (13.0 per 100,000 population). This reflects a 20% increase since 2019 (318). In Wales, three-year rolling average of deaths from alcohol-specific causes over the most recent six year reporting period shows that the European age standardised rate (EASR) of deaths per 100,000 population has increased since 2013-15, from 12.0 deaths to 12.7 deaths per 100,000 population in 2017-19. Cardiff and Vale UHB is below the Wales average, at 11.9 (319).

The EASR for drug misuse deaths registered in 2019 in Wales was 5.6 deaths per 100,000 population compared with 7.2 deaths per 100,000 in 2018 (319). For Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, since 2015, rates have fluctuated between 3.9 (in 2017) and 7.0 in 2016 (319).

Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board commissions a range of services to provide different levels and types of drug and alcohol treatment for children, young people, families, and adults. The drug and alcohol treatment system in Cardiff and the Vale is structured over four tiers, and ranges from basic harm minimisation and other advice; to inpatient detoxification, residential care and relapse prevention (320). Substance misuse services in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan received 6,611 referrals, and treated 3,084 people during 2020/21. Alcohol was the most prevalent main problematic substance used by people over 18, followed by heroin, cannabis, and cocaine (320).

This chapter was developed by triangulating data from reports and other documents with information from professional leads and engagement work: 2 focus group participants; 19 survey respondents reported they have or had drug or alcohol addiction problems, although questions around alcohol consumption were answered by 508 participants from the PNA public engagement survey. Forty-seven respondents of the provider's survey provided services for people with substance misuse problems. Themes and quotes from engagement work conducted by Voices Action Change (a service user involvement project run by Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board for people using substance misuse services and their families) between July and September 2021 was also included. During this period they engaged with 82 people through a range of mediums including during service provision, through social media, and at events (321). It should be noted that the views of those engaged are not representative of all people with substance misuse problems in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.





"[we want] to be respected in what we say and that our words matter" – substance misuse service user, Voices Action Change engagement (299)

18.2 What has changed since 2017?

18.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

Nationally, the following have been implemented since 2017:

- Welsh Government published 'The Substance Misuse Delivery Plan 2019-2022' (322) in October 2019. It sets out the key policy and operational priorities, informed by extensive consultation and engagement over a number of months during 2019. The onset of COVID-19 led to the Welsh Government reviewing the Plan to ensure that it reflected the work that has been, and will be, undertaken as a result of the pandemic (315)
- On 2nd March 2020, the Public Health (Minimum Price for Alcohol) (Wales) Act 2018 was implemented. Retailers selling or supplying alcohol must sell it at a minimum price of 50p per unit (323). The impact of the legislation on alcohol consumption and/or switching to other substances has not yet been evaluated

Across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, the following progress has been made:

- Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board (APB) commissioned a substance misuse needs assessment in 2018 (314) to understand the need for services and inform future commissioning. It will result in the tender of a new Substance Misuse Alliance in 2022
- In 2020, a Health Needs Assessment of people who inject in public (324), and a full review of the Needle and Syringe Programme was undertaken in Cardiff and Vale. The recommendations from both of these will result in programmes of work during 2021/22, to ensure that people's needs are met
- In 2020/21 a review of Cardiff and Vale Needle and Syringe Programme was completed. The review recommendations have resulted in a programme of work across partner organisations which is currently being progressed
- There have been changes to treatment services in Cardiff and Vale since 2017, including the rapid upscaling in the prescribing of long acting buprenorphine injections (Buvidal) (320), as well as closer working between homelessness services and substance misuse services, which began before COVID, but was accelerated rapidly during the pandemic

18.2.1 COVID-19

Public Health England reported increased alcohol consumption during the pandemic, particularly amongst heavy drinkers, which is widening inequalities in health and driving an





unprecedented acceleration in alcoholic liver disease deaths (325). Despite pubs, clubs and restaurants closing for approximately 31 weeks during the national lockdowns, the total amount of alcohol released for sale during the pandemic was similar to the pre-pandemic years, suggesting people were drinking more at home (325).

The public engagement survey for this PNA found that since March 2020, almost one in four of 508 respondents feel their alcohol intake has increased, whilst one in six feel it has decreased (Figure 18.1).



Figure 18.1. Results from the public survey regarding alcohol intake since March 2020

The focus group identified that isolation and the lack of face to face services caused increased alcohol intake and worsening addiction. Closure of services such as public libraries resulted in a lack of places to go and positive distractions. Other challenges identified by focus group participants included GP access. Welsh Government provided free food and accommodation during the pandemic, but this has now stopped. Professional leads clarified that Welsh Government offered funding for Local Authorities to coordinate and deliver accommodation during lockdown for homeless people and those who have no recourse to public funds.

A recent Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board Population Needs Assessment on the impact of COVID-19 identified the following changes in need since 2017 in terms of changes in drug use: increase in complex patterns of poly drug use; increase in cocaine and stimulant use; increase in range of substance use; arrival of new drugs; misuse of prescribed medication; and a greater ease of purchasing (326).

Welsh Emerging Drugs & Identification of Novel Substances (WEDINOS) reported that despite COVID, there was not a substantial impact on drug markets or on types of samples submitted for analysis, with the exception of those received via night time economy settings. In the absence of samples from night club amnesty bins and other recreational use settings, we have seen a decline in ketamine, cocaine and other stimulants for profiling (327).

It is assumed that there will have been a reduction in detection of substance misuse in primary and secondary care, as healthcare services were disrupted.





18.3 What are the care and support needs?

18.3.1 Individual

Minimising risk of infectious diseases

Injecting drug use is a risk factor for blood borne viruses, and bacterial infections which can lead to amputation and, in some cases, can be fatal. Self reported use of higher risk injection sites such as the groin has been stable over the last 5 years at 20% in 2020/21 amongst people who inject opiods. Amongst those who inject stimulants, the percentage reporting using higher risk sites has increased from 17% in 2016/17 to 21% in 2020/21 (313).

Blood borne virus screening has been taken up by 7,405 people between the financial years of 2017 and 2021; although a 79% decrease on people being tested was observed in 2020/21. Screening is offered in community settings such as substance misuse and homelessness services. Fewer than 1% of individuals were positive for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) or hepatitis B in 2020/21, however, hepatitis C antibodies were detected in 11% across Wales, and 15% in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan (313).

Language and communication

No data are available on the Welsh language profile of the population in Cardiff and the Vale who are affected by substance misuse. Healthcare and treatments service providers have a responsibility to provide information to service users bilingually, and to provide interpreters during consultations should they be required for a range of languages. Service user feedback to Voices Action Change identified that often jargon and acronyms are used in conversations as well as printed material, which service users struggle to understand and engage with (321).

18.3.2 Community

Medical care

Hospital admissions are a commonly used measure to assess the harms of alcohol and illicit drugs to individuals (319). Although hospital admissions are reflective of harms associated with use at the more problematic end of the alcohol and drug use spectrum, figures can provide a useful and consistent gauge of these harms over time. Broken down by age, comparable numbers of admissions for both illicit drugs and alcohol are observed from the 10-14 age groups up to the 35-39 age group, after which admission for illicit drugs fall steadily whilst those for alcohol related conditions continue to rise, peaking in the 55 - 59 age group (Figure 18.2). Twice as many individuals were admitted to hospital for alcohol-specific conditions than for illicit drug use in 2019/20 (319).







Source: Substance Misuse Programme / NHS Wales Informatics Service, 2020 Figure 18.2. Hospital admissions for alcohol-specific conditions and illicit drugs, 2010/11 to 2019/20. Data for 2019/20 is highlighted. Source: Public Health Wales (319)

Table 18.1 shows alcohol-related hospital admissions decreased in 2019/20 compared to 2018/19, but remain the same or elevated since 2015/16. Figure 18.3 shows illicit drug related hospital admissions by Health Board area of residence in Wales. Opioids had the highest EASR rate (70.1 per 100,000 population), followed by benzodiazepines (18.1 per 100,000 population) in Cardiff and Vale (319).

Table 18.1: European Age Standardised Rate per 100,000 population for individuals resident in Wales admitted to hospital for an alcohol-specific condition in any diagnostic position, 2019-20

Local Authority Area	EASR per 100,000 population 2019/20	Change since 2018/19	Change since 2015/16
Cardiff	291.7	-9%	0%
Vale of Glamorgan	300.2	-5%	10%
Wales	312.2	-8%	-6%

Source: Public Health Wales (319)







Source: Substance Misuse Programme / NHS Wales Informatics Service, 2020

Figure 18.3. Illicit drug related hospital admissions by Health Board area of residence in Wales. Source: Public Health Wales (319)

Provision of mental health support alongside management of drug- or alcohol-related harm is key, due to the high prevelence of dual diagnosis of mental health concerns and substance misuse. An audit of referrals from the Emergency Unit at University Hospital Wales to the Liaison Psychiatry team found that 55% of referrals had substance misuse problems (314). The need for dual diagnosis support was echoed in engagement work conducted by Voices Action Change, as well as support and training for people in recovery around managing emotions (321).

18.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Counterfeit illicit drugs

WEDINOS reported that for the fourth consecutive year, the most commonly identified chemical group of psychoactive substances were benzodiazepines. The purchase of non-prescribed and non-controlled benzodiazepines, generally obtained through an online market, is a growing concern. Many benzodiazepine tablets available on illicit markets are counterfeit and may contain varying amounts of the active ingredients. As a consequence, the risk of adverse effects, development of dependency, hospitalisation or death are increased, particularly when alcohol and/or other drugs are taken alongside or within a short period (327).





Families, including children and young people

Parental substance misuse is an Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE), which are associated with negative impacts over the life course. The needs of children and young people whose parents use substances is often referred to as "hidden harm" and Cardiff and Vale UHB commissions a service for this (41). An "ACE-lens" has been applied to Welsh Government output relating to substance misuse (47). Research into the reasons for children being placed into care identifies the complex interplay of substance misuse, domestic abuse, and parental mental health problems. In March 2018, substance misuse was identified as a parental factor amongst 36% of Children Looked After in Wales (101). See also chapters 5-7 (Children and Young People).



Deprivation

There is considerable evidence of a linear relationship between substance misuse and deprivation (319). Figure 18.4 below illustrates that the proportion of all patients admitted for alcohol-specific conditions living in the most deprived areas was 2.7 times higher than those from the least deprived areas. In relation to illicit drug use, this figure rose to 5.2 times higher in Wales (319).



Figure 18.4. Unique individual admissions due to alcohol or illicit drugs in any diagnostic position, by deprivation decile, 2019/20. Data from Substance Misuse Programme / NHS Wales Informatics Service (319)





Amongst people who inject drugs reporting use of opioids or stimulants in Wales, threequarters were unemployed. Of those injecting performance enhancing drugs, one third were unemployed (313).

Focus group participants were most worried about Universal Credit sanctions and poverty, and the possibility of not being able to afford the bills, food, or accommodation. Lack of access to the internet – which participants stated they couldn't afford – made it difficult to find a job.

Housing

Addiction to drugs and/or alcohol is both a cause and consequence of homelessness, and two thirds of homeless people cite drug or alcohol use as a reason for first becoming homeless (328). Improved closer working between homelessness services and substance misuse services was accelerated rapidly during COVID-19.

One focus group participant owned their own flat which offered security, although the participant did not have internet and struggled with bills such as for heating. Another participant lives in rented accommodation and relied on housing benefit, following a period of homelessness. The cost of housing and bills were seen as too high, and council accommodation was seen as insufficient for demand.

18.3.4 Unmet needs

Almost half of the 78 people who responded to the question in the public survey felt that advice on alcohol or drugs was currently available, but more is required.

The following unmet needs were identified by focus group participants, professional leads, and recent literature:

Difficulties accessing online services. A recurrent theme throughout the focus group was of difficulties accessing online services – from healthcare; third sector services; to financial management (for example Universal Credit). Restrictions to digital communication devices can be common for those in recovery who are trying to distance themselves from previous contacts. Those who are older, have learning disability, or limited means were felt to be at increased risk of digital isolation and therefore service exclusion. Reliance on virtual services has been exacerbated by

COVID-19. Services which can only be accessed by telephone requires both access to a (smart)phone and credit, which service users may be lacking. In addition to difficulties with digital isolation, loneliness and isolation were prominent factors in the participants' lives, and so they preferred and seek out face to face interactions with services. Voices Action Change engagement work has also identified that many service users do not have a phone and are unsure

"There is probably more stuff to enjoy but I don't know what it is" – substance misuse service user, focus group





how to use online platforms, which forms a barrier to accessing online support, in particular during COVID-19.

- Access to trauma therapy access is problematic, despite a trauma-informed workforce
- There is real concern about co-occurring mental health and substance misuse, and a perception that the mental health and substance misuse sectors do not work as well together as they should (314)
- Consideration of vulnerable groups within those experiencing substance misuse (for example, domestic violence, carers)
- Access to medical care, due to a lack of continuity of care, and long waiting lists for healthcare

The following areas were identified as gaps in data, with a need to understand:

- Why low numbers of children and young people are engaging with service provision
- Adults who are not accessing services
- The local impact of COVID-19 on substance misuse
- Evaluation of the impact of the introduction of the minimum unit price for alcohol
- The data gap of sexuality and substance misuse

18.4 What are the range and level of services needed?18.4.1 Prevention and assets

Early intervention of substance misuse

Earlier identification is required for alcohol screening and in primary and secondary care to identify harmful and hazardous drinking. Liaison with community-based groups who provide a broad range of early intervention and prevention services may help facilitate early referrals into alcohol or substance misuse services, and signpost to suitable sources of support. Engagement work by Voices Action Change identified that long waiting times for treatment was a barrier for people to get help, and many mentioned that their cases would sometimes be closed when they felt like they still needed help. Early intervention should include timely and ongoing treatment (321).

Surveillance of psychoactive substances

WEDINOS provides testing of unknown psychoactive substances in order to provide harm reduction advice, through the timely dissemination of information based on the identified chemical constituents (329). Ongoing monitoring of drug-related deaths with data to National Implementation Board for Drug Poisoning Prevention for their review (315).

Risk reduction for blood borne viruses and bacterial infections

Methods by which to reduce the risk of the development of serious infection as a consequence of high risk methods of drug taking include reduction of transmission, and early detection of infection.

Needle and syringe programmes provide sterile equipment within a harm reduction approach. The coverage (defined as clean injecting equipment for each injecting event) of these programmes is sub-optimal, with a Wales average of 22%. People accessing needle





and syringe programme via specialist providers were given approximately double the number of syringes over the course of a year compared to those attending a pharmacy. In Cardiff and the Vale, four-fifths of interactions occurred in specialist services (the Welsh average is one in three). COVID-19 has reduced use of the needle and syringe programme.

A key performance indicator for screening in substance misuse services is defined as "all clients who are in contact with substance misuse services to be routinely tested on site...for blood borne virus infection (hepatitis B, hepatitis C and HIV) on at least an annual basis" (313). This indicator aims to encourage increasing blood borne virus screening, and (where necessary) early treatment.

Assets to support well-being

In terms of assets that support people's well-being, focus group participants have limited support networks and personal relationships as a result of their addiction, and therefore relied on services and third sector organisations for interpersonal communication. Third sector organisations such as Adferiad and Huggard were named by focus group participants due to a non-judgemental approach, and targeted support. Community-based assets such as libraries and hubs provide somewhere warm to

"Connection is the opposite of addiction" – substance misuse service user, focus group

spend time (saving on home heating costs) and free access to computers for internet, learning, and reading. Computers were also used for online meetings with other support facilities, particularly during COVID-19 when face to face meetings were restricted. Other assets include the 12 steps programme, voluntary roles, for example with the Pantry, local groups such as football, English classes, and the Citizens Advice Bureau, although much of their provision is online which can be a barrier to those without computer/smart phone/internet access or skills.

NHS services such as primary care were helpful, although phone services were said to be not suitable for the digitally disenfranchised, with additional cost of phone calls on personal mobile phones. In addition, treatment services provide support to get and remain sober: *"while there, it is possible to forget about addiction for a while".*

Professional leads identified additional sources of support, including Dewis Cymru, and harm reduction models provided by social services, NHS services, and community hubs. A comprehensive assessment of services available is included in the 2018 Substance Misuse Needs Assessment (314).

18.4.2 Community services

Buvidal

Buvidal (an opioid substitute treatment) has been rolled out across the health board area during the COVID-19 pandemic, having been licensed by NICE in 2019. The toxicity and overdose risks are significantly reduced compared to methadone and heroin, and quality of life measures are significantly improved. In 2020/21, 288 people commenced Buvidal in





Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, of whom 175 came through the criminal justice system. Evaluation findings are due in spring 2022 (320).

Overdose management

Take Home Naloxone with training on identification and management of an opioid overdose is a cost-effective mechanism to prevent fatal opioid poisoning. Currently, a range of services are providing Take Home Naloxone and associated training, including substance misuse services, HMP Cardiff, homelessness and hostel services, night time economy and hospitality, and the family and friends of people at risk (320) (330). Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board successfully gained additional funding for Take Home Naloxone, with the aim of increasing availability of these kits amongst the housing and homeless sector, and the night time economy (320). Novel approaches to training on use of Take Home Naloxone have been employed with young people providing peer training, which has been well received by young people, and enables attitudes and stigma to be challenged.

18.4.3 Partnership approach

Person-centred services

Engagement work conducted for the Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board identified that service users wanted to feel listened to, and be asked for their views. As part of engagement work, people wanted to receive feedback on how their comments had been used, and how their experiences had effected change. Suggestions around service user involvement and co-production were well received: *"it's easy for the hierarchy to become unintentionally distanced from service users"*. Service users were very positive about people with lived experiences talking to them, as they felt that they had a better understanding of what they might have been going through (321).

"Everyone's a human being, we all love, we all cry. I wish people like us, who use services, were less judged" – substance misuse service user, Voices Action Change engagement (299)

Connected services

The rapid upscaling in the prescribing of long acting buprenorphine injections (Buvidal) was pivotal in the response to COVID-19 which resulted in benefits for the individuals receiving the treatment, and also reduced the number of people having to attend clinical spaces and pharmacies on a daily basis (320).

The homeless population were housed by the two local authorities in hostels and hotels during the pandemic. Working closely with Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Councils' homelessness services, vital support was offered to some of the most disadvantaged communities (320). Treatment services flexed and adapted service provision, developing





innovative ways of delivering interventions and support, including online and telephone support and in-reach to those housed in hotels and hostels. Knowledge and signposting to other wider activities and services may help to reduce isolation, and provide needed support. Continued close liaison between services must continue during COVID-19 recovery.

Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board monitor the number of people disengaging from services within their key performance indicators. In 2020/21, 9.6% of service users disengaged between assessment and treatment, which was a 2% increase from the year prior (Welsh Government expect less than 20%) (320).

Addressing vulnerability

The specific needs of some especially vulnerable groups need to be considered more fully in forward planning of services – notably in terms of access and greater flexibility. Significant groups include:

- Armed forces service leavers (veterans)
- Carers there is need for improved understanding of caring for someone, or experiencing their own issues with substance misuse (314) (326)
- Perpetrators and victims of domestic abuse (314) (326) a need for improved access to treatment and shared awareness of underlying issues
- Those with formally diagnosed and likely Alcohol Related Brain Damage (ARBD)
- Sex workers there is limited access to agencies and awareness of how best to support
- Those with addiction to prescribed medication (314)
- People with complex needs there is a requirement for better alignment of services
- Ethnic minority communities there is reasonable representation of ethnic minority groups within service provision in Cardiff and Vale, but further work needs to be done in assessing the more 'hidden' populations in those communities, where shame about alcohol use and criminal activity inhibit individuals, especially women, and their families from seeking help (314) (326)

Services must be accessible to these groups, and be mindful of their specific circumstances and needs.

18.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

In 2018, a WHO Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health projected an increase in alcohol consumption in the near future in the UK (331). Alcohol consumption is anticipated to have increased during COVID-19, particularly amongst heavy drinkers (325). England have experienced a 20% increase in total alcohol specific deaths compared to 2019. It is anticipated that Wales may experience a similar pattern.

There is considerable evidence of high levels of alcohol use among older people across the UK (314). Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan both face significant increases in numbers of older people, many of who may require access to services late in life with little prior experience of accessing services.





18.6 Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Take action to ensure services are accessible to the service user, with a focus on provision of face to face support and a reduction in the reliance on digital access for awareness of services, and service provision
- Monitor trends relating to alcohol and substance misuse in order to anticipate service needs, including misuse of over the counter drugs and the purchasing of on-line supplies of drugs
- Increase signposting of those in need, through awareness across the system of support provided by other services including public, private and third sector
- Increase awareness of Dewis Cymru, a website which enables individuals to find local and national organisations and services (272)
- Support the harm reduction agenda through
 - Increasing coverage of needle and syringe programmes (313)
 - Strengthen blood borne virus screening (313)
 - Continue to build partnership services to increase the provision of Take Home Naloxone (314)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

• Work together with housing providers to identify those at risk of homelessness, and enable people to remain in accommodation (315)

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:

- Continue to develop mental health support provided alongside substance misuse support and treatment (315) to improve client outcomes
- Increase routine alcohol screening in Primary and Secondary Care to identify hazardous and harmful drinking behaviours





19. Secure Estate

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans); Substance Misuse

Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Develop a culture of person-centred services, with increased voice for the person in prison
- Adopt an ACE- or trauma-informed approach to support those with ACEs, and reduce the risk of children with ACEs becoming offenders
- Consider the recommendations of the Cardiff Youth Justice Health Needs Assessment (102)

Prison health services to:

- Develop healthcare registers of long term conditions, which will enable appropriate reviews and referrals in line with national best practice
- Primary mental health services to continue to build and develop existing services to manage the increased demand

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Develop systems which facilitate the sharing of health information from prison health services to primary and secondary health care providers

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:

- Strengthen Local Authority housing pathways to plan release from prison and facilitate transition from HMP Cardiff (and other establishments) to community settings
- Provide more suitable housing options which increase the chance of successful reintegration into the community and employment, and reduce the risk of reoffending

19.1 Overview

This chapter focusses on the needs of people held within the secure estate, who will be referred to as people in prison. In Cardiff and Vale, secure estate comprises of Her Majesty's Prison (HMP) Cardiff, a public local remand Category B prison for males. There is no secure





estate provision for young people or women in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, and so the care and support needs discussed focus on prevention and resettlement.

HMP Cardiff accepts those aged 18 years and older, who are remanded into custody in South East Wales. There are around 70-100 new receptions each week. The operational capacity is 779 (332). During the most recent inspection in 2021, 70% of men had been in HMP Cardiff less than three months (332). Between 0-3% are aged under 20; less than 5% of prisoners are aged over 60 (333). Health care is provided by Cardiff and Vale University Health Board (332). The prison links with probation services to provide continuity of care upon release.

Many men held at HMP Cardiff have characteristics or medical concerns which are discussed in other sections within this Population Needs Assessment. A survey conducted in HMP Cardiff for the PNA identified that 47% of the 96 respondents have a substance misuse problem (chapter 18); 47% have mental health condition(s) (chapter 13); and 25% have a long term health condition (chapter 9). The Prison Reform Trust states between 5-10% of adult prisoners in the UK has a learning disability; and 75% have mental health problems as well as substance misuse (334).

In general, people from minority ethnic communities are over-represented within prison populations in England and Wales (335). In November 2021, 14% of the population in HMP Cardiff were from a minority ethnic group (333).

Female prisoners

There is no provision for female prisoners in Wales. Women from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are usually transferred to HMP Eastwood Park, in South Gloucestershire in England. Between July and November 2021, 55 women were released from HMP Eastwood Park to Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, with an additional 9 women released directly from court following a period of remand at HMP Eastwood Park.

Children, young people, and youth justice

This chapter will not explicitly consider the needs of children and young people in the secure estate as these settings are not in Cardiff or the Vale of Glamorgan, however, key needs of children and young people around prevention and transition back into their local area are identified.

Small numbers of children and young people enter the Criminal Justice System in Cardiff and Vale. In the Vale of Glamorgan, up to 6 young people per year aged between 14 and 18 were in custody between 2016 and 2020. In 2020/21, no young people received a custodial sentence. In Cardiff, between 10 and 21 children were in custody in the period 2016-2020, and fewer than five in 2020/21 (336).

In line with the national picture, a reduction in custodial sentences was observed prior to COVID-19 restrictions, but this has reduced further since March 2020.





Young offenders from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are predominantly held in HMP Parc Young Offenders Institute (in Bridgend, Mid Glamorgan) which has capacity for 64 males aged 15-17 (337). Children and young people (male or female) aged 12-17 may also be held in Hillside Secure Children's Home in Neath for welfare purposes (338). The placement is agreed by the Youth Justice Board enabling best management of risks and needs of the young people.

Half of young people in contact with Cardiff Youth Justice Service are known to Children's Services; and one-sixth are children looked after (103). A health needs assessment of children in contact with Cardiff Youth Justice Service was conducted in 2021 (102).

Most (85%) of the young people in contact with the Vale Youth Offending Service are known to Children's Services; and one-fifth of children are previously or currently looked after. A Profile of the Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Cohort was conducted in 2021 and identified that 25% of children are a child in need, and 19% had a child protection plan (29) (112).

Information sources

Input from professional leads (including representatives from local authority, NHS, and HMP Cardiff) complemented engagement work with people in prison (focus group with 8 participants, as well as a survey conducted in HMP Cardiff which received 96 responses). Nine respondents (of the 445 people who answered the question to the public survey) reported contact with the criminal justice system or time spent in prison, and less than three had had contact with the youth offending service. Thirty respondents to the provider's survey provided services for people who have spent time in prison, or been involved with the youth offending service.

19.2 What has changed since 2017?

19.2.1 **Pre-COVID-19**

The overarching landscape has changed from the 2017 PNA.

- Welsh Parliament conducted an Inquiry 'Health and social care provision in the adult prison estate in Wales' which was published in March 2021 and puts forward 27 recommendations (339)
- The 'Partnership agreement for prison health in Wales' agrees priorities between Her Majesty's Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS) in Wales, Welsh Government, Local Health Boards, and Public Health Wales was published in 2019 (340)
- The Female Offender Strategy (2018) and a Female Offending Blueprint for Wales (2019) support an early intervention and prevention agenda through a whole system approach. Both build on existing work around ACEs; and will strengthen a Welsh evidence base. There is focus on resettlement, reintegration, alternatives to custody, and supporting offenders, families and women at risk (341) (342)
- A Youth Justice Blueprint for Wales has also been developed in 2019. This emphasises the importance of aligning preventative approaches (such as Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), school exclusion, homelessness), pre-court diversion, trauma-informed services, placement of children closer to home and improved





resettlement arrangements (343). Welsh Government has additionally published standards for children in the youth justice system, which includes a standard on resettlement and transition (344)

- Probation services took over the role previously occupied by Community Rehabilitation Companies in 2021 (345)
- The Justice Committee have recently launched a mental health in prison inquiry (346)

Regionally, the following has changed:

- A Health and Wellbeing Needs Assessment of the needs of children in contact with the Cardiff Youth Justice Service, and their families, was published in June 2021. Its findings will form part of a wider Strategic Needs Assessment, as outlined in the Cardiff YJB Development Strategy 2020-2022 (102)
- In the Vale of Glamorgan, the Youth Justice Plan 2021-2023 was published (347)

At HMP Cardiff, a number of notable service improvements have taken place (348):

- Introduction of a brain injury worker in 2017
- A successful bid for funding from Welsh Government Prison Health Fund in May 2019 enabled the recruitment of a service development manager, four full-time qualified primary mental health practitioners and 1 primary mental health assistant practitioner. Funding was also received for the substance misuse work stream, to include 2 substance misuse nurses, additional pharmacy support, and an additional salaried GP
- Introduction of Buvidal for the treatment of opioid dependence in 2020

HMP Cardiff was inspected in 2019 and real progress from the 2016 inspection was observed, in particular in the domains of safety, respect, and purposeful activity which was felt to be a significant achievement given the concurrent challenging context. The inspector observed excellent relationships between staff and prisoners with positive effects on levels of violence, drug prevalence, and overall living conditions (332).

19.2.1 COVID-19

Direct impacts of COVID-19

Public Health England's 'COVID-19 prison and other prescribed places of detention' guidance and HMPPS guidance is being followed in HMP Cardiff. Between March 2020 and February 2021, 277 COVID-19 cases were detected in HMP Cardiff; with 92 detected between March and November 2021. The vast majority of cases were community infections, detected through a programme of testing all new receptions (333). New receptions are tested on days 1 and 5, before being moved into the main population in line with national guidance. Men are offered COVID vaccines (including boosters) within 2 weeks of arrival if not up to date at a weekly vaccination clinic. In November 2021, 69% of men had had their first vaccine, and 52% their second. Professional leads have stated that HMP Cardiff is considered exemplar in terms of COVID-19 vaccination. Records are updated using the national Welsh Immunisation System so that information following release or transfer is accurate.





Lockdown restrictions

Changes in lockdown restrictions were variably received by focus group participants, but negative impacts on mental health were observed. Self-harm incidents have reduced during the pandemic. Professional leads report that men felt safer when unlocked in small groups, which translated into less violence and self-harm. Recent self-harm figures are currently below that of 2019 (349). In July 2021, there were 68 deliberate acts of self-harm by 29 men; in August there were 38 incidents by 23 men, and in September there were 24 self-harm incidents by 21 men. The figures for September represent the lowest number of deliberate self-harm incidents recorded in a month during the previous 2 years (333).

Survey findings from men in HMP Cardiff show most (78%) respondents reported mostly or very good well-being prior to COVID-19; with 7 (8%) reporting mostly or very bad well-being. Only 42% responded that their well-being had been very or mostly good over the last year, with 19% reporting mostly or very bad well-being. The majority (91%) responded being able to stay in touch with family and friends whilst in HMP Cardiff; 87% reported being able to stay in touch during the COVID-19 lockdowns.

Care and support service provision

Focus group participants identified that many services were suspended during the COVID outbreak within HMP Cardiff (emergency medical care continued). Access to care and support services has now resumed as normal (348). Professional leads identified that some services, such as dental, sexual health, and optometry, were paused to reduce the number of external healthcare professionals entering the prison site.

A rapid needs assessment in October 2020 in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan identified the following positive and negative impacts of COVID-19 on secure estate:

- Service changes: new isolation procedures; change in staffing levels; pausing of visits; reduced movement of people in prison
- Physical and mental health: reduction in self-harm; reduction in physical activity (264)

Youth Justice

It is apparent across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Services that COVID-19 has created barriers for children to access support, for example, through reluctance to use virtual platforms, or technological problems. Professionals felt less able to engage directly with children (such as going for a coffee, or sports clubs) in the context of restrictions and identified difficulties accessing basic services such as the GP, dentist, and optician. However, virtual service delivery worked well for some children, for example, those intimidated by face to face meetings (102). In both Local Authorities, the majority of services were delivered remotely in light of restrictions, with face to face assessments or interventions provided where necessary (347).





19.3 What are the care and support needs?

19.3.1 Individual

Mental Health

Mental health disorders are known to be prevalent amongst people in prison – during a 2019 inspection of HMP Cardiff, 65% of people in prison had a mental health problem (332). Mental health services have improved due to Welsh Government funding: in June 2021, 70% of standards for prison mental health services were met, compared to 51% in January 2020 (348). Data from September 2021 showed 21 people were on an assessment waiting list and 52 on the review list for primary care mental health. Of the 25 assessments conducted in September 2021, all were carried out within 28 days. The Assessment Care and Community Team conducted 46 reviews for those who have or stated intent to self-harm or end their life (350). All men received into prison in September 2021 were screened for mental health concerns, and 56 referrals were made (350).

The Quality Network for Prison Mental Health Services report from 2021 is very positive. Care providers have a "strong sense of direction" whose work ethic goes "above and beyond". The funding was seen as critical to build the multidisciplinary team, strengthen relationships with other providers in the prison, develop referral pathways, and provide care that is patient-centred (348).



Long term conditions

Despite COVID, there has been successful recruitment of new GPs in HMP Cardiff, however, there remain ongoing difficulties with retention and recruitment (333). This impacts on the ability to provide more focus on areas such as long term condition management. Management of long term conditions in the secure estate should be consistent with the community (for example, annual asthma checks, referral to annual diabetic eye screening) in order to promote equity and reduce inequalities in health and healthcare access (351). Two-thirds of the 96 respondents to the survey administered in HMP Cardiff needed support for their health and well-being whilst in prison; 43% had a long term health condition.

Substance misuse

Drug and alcohol misuse is a known problem amongst those in the secure estate; including more risky behaviours such as injecting drugs (332). The secure estate provides an





opportunity for substance misuse interventions (352). Amongst survey respondents in HMP Cardiff, 41% reported a drug problem and 28% an alcohol problem prior to entering prison.

The Dyfodol service meets every prisoner to discuss substance misuse and offers nonclinical psychosocial harm reduction advice and guidance, signposting and referrals as appropriate. An assessment is offered to substance misusers for whom there is a link between misuse and offending, followed by collaborative progression planning, taking into account risks in terms of further offending and harm. Immediate needs will take priority, for example supporting prison clinicians in decisions about continuity of prescribing, or continuation of key time-limited work on reception and release. Long and short term goals are set and worked towards, all undertaken with acknowledgement of the prisoner's legal status and restrictions, current and future location (333).

Provision of Buvidal was commenced in HMP Cardiff in 2020. Where assessment judged that Buvidal could be beneficial for an individual, Buvidal was perceived to be a positive factor by enabling men to return to work, avoid areas associated with selling and using drugs, and reconnect with their families. These changes in lifestyle facilitated cessation of treatment at the end of the course. In November 2021, 22 men were using Buvidal, which is a reasonably stable figure, and is limited by funding available upon release when the individual returns to their local service (333).

After prison release, those who use drugs are at higher risk of drug poisoning (352). A review of Take Home Naloxone (a drug overdose management initiative implemented in Welsh prisons including HMP Cardiff, amongst other settings) demonstrated that 10% (n=41) of those who had used it had a recent release from prison (353).

Infectious diseases

Blood borne virus (BBV) screening is routine in HMP Cardiff. New diagnoses are referred to specialist healthcare services as appropriate. Vaccination is offered for hepatitis B to those eligible (333). There are plans to implement a High Intensity Test and Treat programme with funding available for a point of care testing machine (333).

The secure estate is known to be a tuberculosis (TB) risk factor: of the 97 TB cases in Wales in 2018, 10% were currently or had been in prison (354). HMP Cardiff supported a pilot programme of screening for latent TB in 2018. Approximately 600 men were screened, of which 7% were positive for latent TB; and one active TB case was identified. Only one-third completed treatment with barriers identified as transfers between settings; capacity of specialist healthcare professionals to attend the secure estate setting; and post-release follow up (352). Welsh Government funding is now available to HMP Cardiff to purchase onsite point of care testing equipment.

Sexual health

A review has identified that sexual health provisions across prisons in Wales compare poorly to community services (352). Access to sexual health services has reduced during COVID-19, but clinics have now restarted (October 2021) and most men can be seen within a fortnight (333).





Children, young people and youth justice

Children and young people may come into contact with the justice system in a number of ways. For example, they may have a family member in prison, or they may have committed an offence and come into contact with the youth justice system. They may also be supported to prevent their progression to offending.

Children who have a parent in prison are considered to have an adverse childhood experience (ACE). Support is required for the family to reduce the risk of intergenerational offending and transfer of ACEs from parent to child (355).

Children and young people are becoming increasingly involved in more violent activity and knife crime (such as through County Lines – see also chapter 5 on children and young people); sexual exploitation; and mental health disorders. A harmful sexual behaviour project has been launched locally in 2019 which educates young people on healthy relationships, the law, and consent (356).

The Cardiff Youth Justice needs assessment identified that many children in contact with the Youth Justice Service have complex health and well-being needs, with those who have experienced societal disadvantages or traumatic experiences more vulnerable (102). The needs assessment identified that 60% of those in contact with Cardiff Youth Justice Service were also in contact with Children's Services, approximately half were assessed as high or very high risk for safety and wellbeing, and there were concerns regarding the child's accommodation in one-third of children (102). The most important need identified was emotional well-being and mental health, with other needs including substance misuse support, speech and language provision, and health promotion (102).

The Profile of the Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Cohort (2021) identifies that 84% of the Cohort has experienced one Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE) or more, with 45% experiencing 4 or more ACEs. Research into Adverse Experiences details that those young people with 4 or more ACEs are 11 times more likely to be incarcerated at some point. Approximately a quarter of young people assessed were identified as high or very high risk of safety and well-being. One-quarter (23%) of young people had identified housing problems, and 50% have witnessed some form of domestic abuse. Half (53%) of Vale Cohort have current or previous involvement with the CAMHS service, and 21% have disclosed that they have self-harmed. Half of the Cohort have used substances and a third have identified concerns with alcohol (29) (112).

The Cardiff Youth Justice needs assessment identifies transition points as a key need, both in terms of transitions between Children's and Adult Services, as well as in and out of the secure estate (102). This is echoed by the Vale of Glamorgan. Professionals contributing to the Youth Justice needs assessment felt continuity of service provision at these crucial time points could be improved (102).

Young people resident in Cardiff or the Vale of Glamorgan who are in the secure estate outside of their region may experience additional needs. National research on children and





young people placed far from home shows that increasing distance between home and placement is associated with significantly fewer visits from professionals responsible for their care (357). Children far from home feel more lonely and isolated, and in particular, for Welsh children placed in England, they can experience bullying due to their distinct Welsh identity (357). Professional leads identified that family dynamics can be quite different when children and young people transition back home. Children and young people have specific resettlement needs, in terms of reintegration into education, training or employment; and suitable accommodation.

Women

In HMP Eastwood Park, pre-release teams identify accommodation and social inclusion needs, which Commissioned Rehabilitative Services are then able to support to facilitate successful transition from the secure estate to the community. Support is provided for accommodation, education, training, and employment, finance, benefits, and debt management (345). Specialist women's services are provided (345).

Language and communication

There is a lack of data on the number of Welsh-speaking prisoners and staff, nationally (357). The inspection of HMP Cardiff identified the presence of bilingual posters and signs, and some prisoners were learning Welsh, but prisoners were unaware that this may translate into improved employment prospects. The library contained material on Welsh language and culture (332).

Half of survey respondents stated that the care and support received had been sensitive to the individual's culture, however, half disagreed. One respondent stated: "I would like a gypsy meal at least once a month, you're allowed Ramadan so why not food from my culture."

19.3.2 Community

Safety

The 2019 prison inspection identified that HMP Cardiff had stable rates of violence (despite increasing rates of prison violence in other Welsh prisons) (332). Of note, 40% of people in HMP Cardiff were (potential) perpetrators of domestic violence (332).

Communication with community and other services

Cardiff and Vale UHB delivers healthcare services within HMP Cardiff; enabling continuity of care between prison and hospital services. However, not all of the information technology systems are linked. If people in prison are transferred to other health board areas, they will be subject to local protocols which may introduce variability in management (352). COVID-19 vaccinations are recorded on the national Welsh Immunisation System so that accurate records can accompany the person following release or transfer.





19.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

Home address data from HMP Cardiff records is not reliable due to high prevalence of homelessness or chaotic lifestyles; a person's address is taken from location of arrest.

Respondents of the survey completed in HMP Cardiff report 57% (n=53) had a job prior to prison; and 43% did not. Just under half of respondents (n=45; 48%) reported they had been able to build skills during their time in HMP Cardiff. Respondents wanted increased availability of courses to help them "gain a trade"; "improve myself"; find "meaningful employment"; and be "useful in the real world". Equipment such as laptops were identified as facilitators for doing courses. "[The] work ready course...really helped with rebuilding my life last time as I got a job through it" – person in HMP Cardiff, focus group

Housing

A 2019 inspection of HMP Cardiff noted that living

conditions in the prison had improved since the previous inspection (332). Whilst in prison, the distance from home impacts on visits from family and friends and may therefore have consequences for relationships (as well as risk of reoffending and substance misuse) upon release (357). This will be of particular concern to children and young people, and females, for whom there are no local secure estate facilities. HMP Cardiff offers homework clubs for men which were paused during COVID-19 restrictions. These can be face to face, and virtual provision is possible for men whose family live too far away, or where COVID restrictions prohibit in-person visits.

On average, 200 people are released each month from HMP Cardiff. A 2019 inspection of HMP Cardiff identified that 47% of people had been released without a home to go to, and there was inadequate follow up of individuals following release as to their accommodation (332). Homelessness is known to be linked to reoffending risk (332). The prison inspectorate has raised this concern with HMPPS and Welsh Government (332).

A prisoner pathway operates across Wales for all Welsh prisons, which includes housing as a key component. This requires housing need to be identified after an individual enters custody. Housing needs are included within a personal plan, which also agrees a package of support. Housing requirements are reviewed 7 days pre-release, and again on release day (358). A separate prisoner pathway exists for Welsh women, however, the same process is followed for housing (358).

Cardiff Local Authority have a specialist Prevention prison officer, who assesses homeless applications completed within prison prior to release, and arranges accommodation through the Housing First team, the single person accommodation gateway, or through supported





accommodation or privately rented accommodation (358). In the Vale of Glamorgan, Local Authority Housing staff are notified of prison release, and a resettlement offer is made. The pathway is supported by strong working relationships with Probation (29).

The survey conducted in HMP Cardiff identified that 45% of 96 respondents lived in private rented housing prior to prison; 27% in private (owned/mortgage) housing; and 13% were homeless. Three-quarters of respondents stated they did have a home to go to after prison. Just over half (54%) stated they did not know what support is available to help find housing upon release from prison. Free text responses highlighted concerns around housing being held for people after their release from prison; and imminent homelessness on release. People with no fixed abode were concerned they would end up back in prison, or in hostels with substance misuse problems. Respondents wanted more information and support finding suitable housing.

These findings were echoed in the focus group with HMP Cardiff residents, where people wanted housing and employment to be arranged well in advance of release to reduce anxiety. An address is vital for obtaining employment; a lack of housing means some people reoffend in order to access the security of a prison. A focus group including people who are

homeless and had spent time in prison articulated that there was a lack of continuity between the probation service and housing services, leaving exoffenders with too little support upon release and placing them at risk of homelessness and reoffending. Housing was seen as an essential first step.

Focus group participants stated housing and hostels are easier to access (at the time of the focus group, October 2021), but anticipate this will change with societal recovery from COVID-19. Hostels were felt to be of low quality and individuals may be housed with higher-risk offenders; therefore for some, prison cells are preferable. HMP Cardiff have commissioned a Task and Finish group to look at accommodation on release. "I worry that I won't find a job. All I need is a job and I'll work. But I need a home first – I need an address" – Person in HMP Cardiff, focus group

Participants explained that some housing requires a reliance on the benefits system such as job seeker's allowance. If housing is secured then working could jeopardise that, and losing housing means homelessness and unemployment, and so ex-offenders often work "off the books".

19.3.4 Unmet needs

Engagement work identified that half of the 96 survey respondents in HMP Cardiff were satisfied with care and support services received. Unmet needs identified include:





- Access to healthcare: Focus group participants stated there was little continuity of care on entry to the prison (e.g., changes made to medications). They wanted increased access to mental health and dental appointments
- Healthy lifestyles: participants wanted more access to sports and exercise facilities, and a wider range of foods (more fresh fruit and vegetables)
- Being heard: only half of survey respondents felt sufficiently involved in decisions made about their care and support. Focus group participants felt they needed to make a "fuss" to be taken seriously, and perceived that those who stay quiet do not get the help they need – there was a view that prisoners needed to learn to play the system
- Facilities: HMP Cardiff should be for short term stays, and so is not designed to offer the wider range of activities and facilities that other prisons have. However, increased lengths of stay means prisoners felt they are missing out

Professional leads have identified the following:

- Access to Primary Care services is challenging at present
- Historical lack of use of "read codes" in prison health services. These underpin management of long term conditions and therefore their lack of use impacts negatively on:
 - provision of safe care in regard to clinical handover and continuity between healthcare practitioners within the prison
 - \circ $\;$ continuity and transfer of care to other prisons and the community
 - referral to appropriate screening services

There needs to be a more consistent approach to the correct use of clinical coding

- Increasing demand for trauma-informed services including access to psychology and counselling services
- It is recognised that there is a need to develop nursing skills to better align with needs of people in prison, and to consider the merits of further extended roles within HMP setting

Gaps in knowledge include:

- Data on ethnicity and sexual orientation are not currently routinely collected by HMP Cardiff health services
- Historical lack of recording of "read codes" used by primary care for long term disease management, therefore lack of understanding of burden of disease in HMP Cardiff

19.4 What are the range and level of services needed?

19.4.1 Prevention and assets

Adverse Childhood Experiences / Trauma-informed approach

The 2018 Prisoner ACE survey was undertaken amongst adults (aged 16-69) in Welsh prisons. High levels of childhood ACEs were identified, with more than 8/10 experiencing 1 ACE, and 46% experiencing 4 or more. One-third had experienced a household member incarcerated. The proportion of people with 4+ ACEs increased with the number of times that individual had been in prison. Those with 4+ ACEs were 4 times more likely to have





been in a Young Offender Institution. These findings support the potential for traumainformed interventions to prevent those exposed to ACEs from offending (355). Children of people in prison will be subject to an ACE; they will require proactive input for provision of protective factors and mitigation of other potential ACEs. Primary prevention of ACEs should take place, such as through strengthening early years support, parenting and family programmes. In addition, promotion of protective factors (such as a trusted adult relationship during childhood) should take place (355).

Youth Services and Youth Justice

A 2019 UK parliament report 'Serious youth violence' (359) highlighted the "very strong evidence" of the association between deprivation and vulnerability to serious youth violence including knife crime. Needs identified include:

- A "public health" approach to address the root causes of violence (for example, to mitigate ACEs which have been associated with increased lifetime risk of incarceration)
- Increased wraparound support to prevent school exclusion; and for those excluded, increased social, educational, and emotional support
- Safe spaces to reduce exposure to violence and grooming; with support from youth workers (*"adults have created unsafe spaces for children"*) (359)

The All-Party Parliamentary Group on Knife Crime & Violence Reduction published their report 'Securing a brighter future: The role of youth services in tackling knife crime' in 2020, following an increasing trend in knife crime in England and Wales, as well as more young people carrying weapons (of whom a third are reported to have had the weapon used against them) (360). The report identifies that, as most of a child's waking hours are spent outside school, youth services are well placed to offer all children and young people safe spaces. Youth workers "bring those spaces to life as trusted role models", as well as diverting young people away from criminal behaviours through facilitating young people to build relationships, learn new skills, and engage in educational and employment activities. Lack of social activities for young people was described by Bernardo's children's charity as "poverty of hope", which youth projects could address (360).

A literature review by the Early Intervention Foundation found that interventions involving skill building, counselling, coordinated services, and restorative programmes were most effective to reduce the risk of young offenders reoffending. Skill building programmes can develop problem solving skills, self-control, and conflict resolution which help prevent aggression and anti-social behaviour. Effective universal programmes involved mitigating negating influences, and promoting protective factors (361).

Youth Services are provided across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan for young people aged 11-25, with a focus on supporting young people through a holistic approach to develop personal, social, and educational goals and help young people reach their full potential, whether face to face, or via positive partnership working, and to empower them as individuals. Youth Services are discussed in other chapters of this report, for example, employment support in Chapter 5, 'Children and Young People'. Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan have been awarded the Bronze Quality Mark for Youth Work in Wales (362)




(363). The 'Youth Work in Wales' report identifies that 4,931 young people aged 11-25 in Cardiff, and 2,225 in the Vale of Glamorgan, were members of the Youth Service in 2019/20 (364).

Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan offer a diverse range of Youth Services, including open youth clubs, outreach, detached mobile and street-based, alongside school-based and after school clubs, informal and formal learning opportunities (including Agored Cymru, Sweet, the Youth Achievement awards, a variety of courses for post-16 learning to support young people entering education, employment or training), mentoring, and the Duke of Edinburgh Award scheme (362) (363).

The Cardiff Youth Justice needs assessment recommends a life-course approach is needed to prevent, identify and support these health and wellbeing needs, starting before birth and continuing through early years and schooling. Contact with the Youth Justice Service provides an opportunity to offer support (102).

Both the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff Youth Offending Services deliver early interventions in the form of Out of Court Disposals alongside Media Academy Cymru, and South Wales Police to divert children and young people who have not offended, and prevent those who have offended, usually for the first time, from re-offending. The most frequent early intervention is Youth Restorative Disposal, which does not attract a criminal record (which would have obvious negative consequences) (29) along with Prevention Programmes.

In 2021, prevention and early intervention accounted for 50% of the Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Service caseload (347). The Prevention Team works with community partners to deliver interventions that are strengths-based and responsive to the dynamic risks, needs, safety and wellbeing of children, young people and families within the Vale of Glamorgan. This service offers support around self-esteem, consequential thinking, peer influences, identifying and managing emotions, and constructive activities as well as support to families and communities to continue these pro-social interventions. There are established links to boxing gyms and leisure centres in the Vale of Glamorgan. Restorative Approaches are also undertaken within programmes to reduce re-offending/prevent offending. Young people can engage with Neighbourhood Resolution Panels which are structured restorative conversations, between young people and their victims, facilitated by community volunteers, which can be a very powerful means to prevent offending or reoffending by fostering greater victim empathy and awareness. This is also available in relation to Anti-Social Behaviour interventions and sometimes as part of prevention programmes. Young people also complete reparation direct to the victim or to the community, apology letters and victim awareness work (29).

In Cardiff, the Youth Justice Prevention Service works with children and young people referred due to risk of offending behaviour and provides one-to-one work and case management. Partnership arrangements are key to assisting reintegration of children into mainstream services, for example, diversionary activities through organisations such as Cardiff City Football Club and Step Into Sport, Youth Service, and Sidestep (365).





Healthy behaviours

Exercise opportunities were identified as a source of support, in particular for mental health and well-being in the focus group and surveys. Seventy percent of survey respondents had been exercising during their time in HMP Cardiff, and access to physical activity was entered in several free text opportunities. Difficulties were experienced in accessing the gym during lockdown.



Prevention of homelessness

As previously described, focus groups identified that avoidance of homelessness and preparation for life following release may help reduce the *"revolving door"* and risk of reoffending.

Assets to support well-being

Engagement with people in prison identified the following sources of support:

- Healthcare: named members of the healthcare team were positively regarded: *"[healthcare staff] goes above and beyond".* The Dyfodol and 12 steps programmes were helpful.
- Library: access to the library was maintained even during COVID-19 restrictions, as prisoners indicated what genres they enjoy and books were selected and brought to them
- Skills development: education support and training courses were sources of support

"[Healthcare staff] is a God send" – Person in HMP Cardiff, survey

Professional leads identified that HMP Cardiff offers

education, training, and employment opportunities; a resettlement unit enables individuals to undertake work-based courses and offending behaviour programmes. In addition, the significant financial investment in mental health has enabled the formation of a primary mental health team in the prison which has had positive feedback.

19.4.2 Community services

High quality medical care

The principle of "equivalence of care" is key when considering healthcare in secure environments. This encompasses the idea that people in prison are "afforded provision of or access to appropriate services or treatment" which are "at least consistent in range and quality with that available to the wider community" (366). The National Institute for Health





and Care Excellence (NICE) has published guidance on the physical health of people in prison, encompassing health assessments on reception into prison, screening, general health advice, medicines, management of long term conditions, and continuity of healthcare. People should be offered equivalent health checks to those offered in the community, for example, learning disabilities' annual health check, and relevant routine NHS screening programmes (351).

Pharmacy provision

Pharmacy services provide vital functions beyond just medication provision, such as medicines reconciliation, reporting, prescribing and other tasks. The prison has recently had agreement to fund an additional whole time equivalent additional pharmacist, which will enable HMP Cardiff to take forward the recommendations from the Prisons' Inspector, such as pharmacy-led clinics, and medicine use reviews (332).

Operational management

Operational management and administration are the foundation of high quality services. A new operational manager is in place to support administration and operational functions within HMP Cardiff, and therefore support clinicians. They have helped to provide more robust processes including use of capacity, booking procedures, information governance, and technical support for clinical staff. They have been critical in managing COVID response. Welsh Government have provided feedback to HMP Cardiff that the prison is "*exemplar*" (333). The administrative team take on the logistics such as booking hospital appointments and conveying medical instructions prior to the appointment (such as nil by mouth and special diets).

19.4.3 Partnership approach

Agency

Professional leads have identified the lack of agency people in prison experience, from choices around diet and exercise; controlling their environment; and attendance at healthcare appointments is reliant on security staff availability and may also be cancelled if a court appearance is scheduled for the same day. These factors may contribute to both physical and mental health.

For Youth Justice services, there is a focus on a co-created, collaborative, co-ordinated response from services (including Probation, Health, Substance Misuse) to support young people who are resettling from custody, or transitioning from children's to adult services (102) (347). Continuity of care as well as family involvement were identified as important (102).

Planning for release

Feedback from service providers for this report includes that the large majority of prison leavers are identified as not being ready for independent living and requiring supported accommodation provision, due to, for example, substance misuse, mental health needs or severe learning difficulties. Ensuring support is in place during an individual's time in prison, as well as continuing support after release, may additionally facilitate future independent living (358).





The focus group discussed that careers and housing support could be accessed earlier in the sentence to prepare for release. Education and careers services could be integrated so that these could align with job opportunities at the end of the sentence, and prepare for life outside prison to reduce re-offending and the *"revolving door"*. Work is planned to ensure men leave with all relevant health information (e.g. active referrals; future hospital appointments) once capacity allows.

19.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

The Ministry of Justice project an increase in number of prisoners aged over 60 in the coming years in England and Wales (352). No disaggregated data for Wales are available, however, between 2020 and 2026, the prison population in England and Wales is projected to increase by 19,465 (from 79,235 to 98,700). There is uncertainty around this projection due to the impact of the recruitment of additional police officers, how the courts will recover from COVID-19, and trends in risk factors for crime (367).

At HMP Cardiff, implementation the recommendations made by the Inquiry into provision of health and social care is a priority (368). Services are offered in line with the principle of equivalence: services cannot be the same in prison as in the community, and provision may exceed what is available in the community, in order to achieve equitable outcomes.

Youth offending services are moving towards trauma-informed service, in line with the Blueprint (343). There are ongoing discussions regarding the development of a secure establishment for women resident in Wales.

19.6 Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Develop a culture of person-centred services, with increased voice for the person in prison
- Adopt an ACE- or trauma-informed approach to support those with ACEs, and reduce the risk of children with ACEs becoming offenders
- Consider the recommendations of the Cardiff Youth Justice Health Needs Assessment (102)

Prison health services to:

- Develop healthcare registers of long term conditions, which will enable appropriate reviews and referrals in line with national best practice
- Primary mental health services to continue to build and develop existing services to manage the increased demand

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

• Develop systems which facilitate the sharing of health information from prison health services to primary and secondary health care providers





Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:

- Strengthen Local Authority housing pathways to plan release from prison and facilitate transition from HMP Cardiff (and other establishments) to community settings
- Provide more suitable housing options which increase the chance of successful reintegration into the community and employment, and reduce the risk of reoffending





20. Asylum Seekers and Refugees

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children Looked After; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Adult Mental Health; VAWDASV; Secure Estate

Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Provide training and ongoing support for all professionals working with asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants to improve quality of service provision within a trauma informed approach. To include rights, signposting, and access to care, support, and translation services
- Improve data collection; for example, better data coding
- Work towards co-location of health with other services such as mental health, benefits/ accommodation providers/third sector services for those who are most vulnerable, for example, destitute asylum seekers, undocumented migrants and those who moved in and out of the asylum system
- Multi-agency liaison; for example, dispersal linked to health and social services to improve continuity of care and support
- Facilitate integration and community cohesion (369)
 - Identify and build upon local community support for refugees and asylum seekers; which has been successful in other areas (369)
 - Increase awareness amongst asylum seekers and refugees, including children and young people, of the language, culture, and heritage in Wales (369)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:

• Encourage landlords to rent to refugees through formal support providers (370)

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

 Consider different models of primary care to overcome known barriers to healthcare, for example, walk in clinics; opportunistic provision of care such as screening, vaccination and contraceptive services for those service users who are the most vulnerable and despite flexibility, would continue to struggle to fit in to the current model of care, for example destitute or failed asylum seekers, undocumented migrants and those who move in and out of the asylum system

20.1 Overview

The 1951 Geneva Convention defines asylum seekers as people who have left their country due to a *"well-founded fear of being persecuted"*. Refugees are asylum seekers who have





had their application for asylum accepted by the host country (371). The 2017 PNA was written shortly after the largest displacement of people since the Second World War: globally, 1 in 113 people was an asylum seeker, refugee, or internally displaced in 2015 (369). Correspondingly, the numbers of people seeking asylum in the UK peaked at over 32,000 in 2015, and peaked again at nearly 36,000 in 2019 (372).

Policy on immigration and asylum is the responsibility of the UK Government (371). However, core determinants of health, such as health, education, and housing policies are devolved to the Welsh Government (369). Cardiff became a City of Sanctuary in 2014 (373) and Wales is aiming to be the world's first Nation of Sanctuary (374). There is one initial accommodation centre in Wales, in Cardiff, and four dispersal centres (Cardiff, Newport, Swansea, Wrexham) (371).





Figures for 2020 are likely to have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and mitigation measures such as lockdown (375). In 2018, Cardiff had 1,458 asylum seekers living in dispersed accommodation (compared to 957 in Swansea, 571 in Newport, and 162 in Wrexham) (371). Data is available from the Home Office on the number of asylum seekers receiving Section 95 support, which provides financial or accommodation support for asylum seekers who have a claim or appeal pending, or failed asylum seekers with children in their household (376) (Figure 20.2).



Figure 20.2. The number of people receiving Section 95 support, by local authority. Source: Home Office (376)





The Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme commenced in 2015 and has supported 854 refugees throughout all local authority areas in Wales (371). The Welsh Refugee Council supported 294 main applicants with status living in the Cardiff area (377). The Afghan Relocation and Assistance Policy supports individuals who have served British Armed Forces in Afghanistan. By September 2021, at least 230 Afghan individuals have been relocated to Wales (378).

The Home Office publish data on the number of people resettled in the UK through the Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme (which was replaced by the UK Resettlement Scheme in 2021) and the Vulnerable Children's Resettlement Scheme. Note that resettlement activity was paused during quarters two and three of 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19, and recommenced in December 2020.

Table 20.1. Numbers of people resettled through the Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme, UK Resettlement Scheme, and Vulnerable Children's Resettlement Scheme

	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021*
Cardiff	6	25	30	1	17
Vale of Glamorgan	12	27	14	5	8
Wales	268	350	339	49	50
UK	5371	5095	4897	741	1163

*Includes year quarters 1-3 only

Source: Home Office (379)

The largest proportion of applications for asylum in Wales were from Iraq; followed by Iran, Albania, China, and Nigeria in 2020/21 (372). Eritrea, Iran, Pakistan, and Afghanistan have been in the top 10 countries of origin amongst asylum applications to the UK for the last 9 years (375). Just over half of asylum seekers in Wales are male, and most commonly aged 25-34 years (371).

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) are treated as Children Looked After, as per the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, and thus placed in foster families or supported living (371). The numbers of UASC have been increasing in Cardiff: from 5 in 2007, to 35 in 2020 (380). In 2018, there were a total (accompanied and unaccompanied) of 105 children seeking asylum in Wales (371).

Information sources

Two focus groups were held for this PNA: one virtual with 5 participants, and one face to face with 7 participants. None of the public survey respondents were an asylum seeker or refugee. Twenty nine of the 131 respondents of the provider's survey provided support to asylum seekers or refugees.





20.2 What has changed since 2017?

20.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

The National Assembly for Wales published an inquiry on refugees and asylum seekers in Wales in April 2017. Entitled 'I used to be someone', the inquiry made 19 recommendations (369). These cover the strategic approach; improving community integration; improving the asylum process experience with a particular focus on housing, education, and employment; ensuring UASC needs are met; and making Wales a "Nation of Sanctuary" (369).

The 2019 Health Experiences of Asylum Seekers and Refugees in Wales (HEAR) study investigated adult asylum seekers and refugees' experiences of health and healthcare, including barriers and facilitators to care, through qualitative methods and a literature review (374).

The Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme was launched in 2021, which complemented the existing Afghan Relocation and Assistance Policy (378).

20.2.1 COVID-19

A study by Doctors of the World and the University of Birmingham in 2021 identified that refugees, asylum seekers, refused asylum seekers, and undocumented migrants experienced worse health, poor housing, and problems accessing healthcare. There was evidence that many of those with insecure immigration status are not registered with a GP, which subsequently reduces access to other NHS services, including COVID-19 vaccination (381). This was corroborated by professional stakeholders who stated that access to the COVID vaccine has been difficult. Vaccine hesitancy is being addressed by faith groups in local communities.

Professional stakeholders have observed a reduction in referrals to their services during COVID-19. This is thought to relate to a lack of people being moved through the system due to COVID-19 restrictions. Focus group participants commented on the reduction in services available with cancelled appointments, for example, in mental health support leading to worsening mental health. Participants did not like virtual appointments but stated it was better than nothing. Social isolation was a real concern, with participants stating *"community has closed down, after COVID"* although technology such as video calls were helpful. The closure of support services such as Oasis made it hard for asylum seekers to find activities to do, and reduced opportunities for peer support. The refugee community and their wider network translated and circulated government information on social media to ensure everyone was up to date – using tools such as WhatsApp.

"it has affected my social life...I felt lonely, because I wasn't able to meet my family and friends" – asylum seeker/refugee, focus group





Respondents of the provider's survey identified increased mental health difficulties, social isolation, and challenges for people to access services. In terms of the impact of COVID-19 on their workforce, the following points were raised: stress and increased workloads, low morale, and isolation.

20.3 What are the care and support needs?

Asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants have quite varying needs depending on their current situation, and the path that they have taken prior. People arriving through resettlement schemes may have had access to medical care prior to travel; experience community support; and may have English language skills already. Those who have made their own way to Wales may have quite varied reasons for seeking asylum (such as war, sexuality, political beliefs) and journeys (such as human trafficking), and therefore varied care and support needs. Undocumented migrants may have additional needs to overcome fears of approaching formal services.

20.3.1 Individual

Autonomy and control

Asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants may be isolated as they are separated from support networks, friends and families (371). Focus group participants mostly felt in control of their situation; feeling as though they could put themselves first, and knowing where to go for help. They described uncertainty regarding the future, and a lack of confidence. Applications for asylum may take up to ten years which causes uncertainty and associated mental health concerns. Focus group participants who spoke English said that there were many English courses available to them and that English is easy to learn, making it easier for them to speak for themselves. Note that participant numbers were small and not representative of all asylum seekers and refugees in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.

Children and Young People

Children and young people seeking asylum may have additional needs. Children may have experienced the death of a parent(s); and may not have contact with any family (371). Those separated or unaccompanied are at increased risk of exploitation (369). Boys as well as girls are known to have experienced sexual assault (369).

Legal advice

Asylum seekers and refugees require access to high quality legal advice; as well as advice on education and employment rights. A pilot programme in England enables refugees with leave to remain access to Jobcentre Advisors to improve move on processes, and aims to reduce homelessness and destitution (369).

Language and communication

There are no local data available on the Welsh language profile of asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants, although based on data on country of origin, few asylum seekers, if any, are likely to have Welsh language skills. Free Welsh and English language classes for asylum seekers and refugees are provided by Welsh Refugee Council, amongst





other organisations (382). Healthcare service providers have a responsibility to provide interpreters during consultations to ensure care provided is appropriate and culturally sensitive (371). Translation services are required for all interactions, such as with a pharmacy or housing providers. Focus groups identified that interpreters were provided at government offices and at the GP.

Asylum seekers identified a lack of English as a barrier to integration (369) (371) (374) (383). Provision of interpreters is available; however, care must be taken to consider specific characteristics, for example, gender, as the presence of a male interpreter may deter some women from discussing sensitive issues (371). Focus group participants stated there are lots of places to learn English and they found it easy to learn face to face in the college.



Language barriers have been identified in the focus group as detrimental to engaging with local peer support networks, whereby the predominant language within the group is neither English nor Welsh. Asylum seekers and refugees have also been inappropriately requested to act as interpreters for family members in hospital.

20.3.2 Community

Healthcare

Professional leads identified that individuals new to the UK may not understand the NHS healthcare system, including how to access the most appropriate service. Expectations of healthcare may vary due to different previous experience of health and illnesses; medical symptoms may be expressed in a manner reflective of culture (371).

People who have left countries with poor medical care and/or undertaken arduous journeys may have medical needs reflective of these (such as injuries; burns; infectious diseases; and poor oral health). Females face additional concerns such as violence against women, domestic abuse, or sexual violence (VAWDASV); exacerbated by non-disclosure (not recognised as VAWDASV; and a lack of awareness of available help) and potentially a reliance to stay with the perpetrator (371). Women may also have obstetric or gynaecological needs related to sexual health and contraception, pregnancy, or female genital mutilation (371). A proportion of males have also experienced sexual violence, and disclosure can be particularly difficult due to cultural differences, perceptions and a deep sense of shame.

Mental health problems amongst asylum seekers and refugees in Wales are particularly prominent due to trauma experienced prior to or during travel (371). Lack of support





structures may deepen these needs. The HEAR study identified that the stress of being an asylum seeker or refugee contributes to poor health (374). Individuals wanted help but did not want to be medicalised. Culturally-sensitive services are needed, with professionals aware of stressors specific to the population group (371) (369). Focus group participants identified uncertainty around the duration of the assessments for residency, and the outcome of the assessment, as a significant worry for the future.

Long term conditions such as hypertension and diabetes are common amongst asylum seekers and refugees in Wales. They often lack access to long term medical intervention (through poor health systems, displacement interrupting care) (371). Continuity of health care is challenging where short notice periods for relocation are given (374).

Professional stakeholders also identified that asylum seekers and refugees may have difficulties navigating access to health care, especially primary care, for example, due to telephone or online booking systems. Other additional needs include longer appointments, consideration of access such as transport – accommodation may not be provided close by healthcare services. Where language barriers exist, provision of translators is essential – individuals take friends and family members if no formal translation services are available (374) and this is both inappropriate and possibly incurs additional costs (e.g., transport). This co-location of services could be provided as a walk in "one stop shop" clinics for those who are most vulnerable.

Hate crime

Hate crimes are underreported. Incidence is in some cases linked to wider discourse such as concerns around immigration raised by voters during the European Union referendum, leading to community tensions (369). Asylum seekers and refugees may have negative prior experiences with police and other officials, and may therefore fear professionals in the UK (384). Hate crime can have a significant impact on mental health (384).

20.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

The Socio-Economic Duty states there is "no requirement for bodies to consider inequalities experienced by those persons subject to immigration control" (385). However, asylum seekers and refugees are at high risk of becoming destitute (369). Asylum seekers receive "Section 95 support" which is £36.95 a week, and are not allowed to work (369). As such, asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants are vulnerable to exploitation including for activities which put them at increased health risks (371). Some third sector organisations such as the Red Cross provide financial support for asylum seekers and refugees who are destitute or at risk (370).

Financial barriers were prominent in focus group discussions, regarding access to care and support services, as well as leisure and community activities. Participants in the focus groups described feeling a lack of confidence as a barrier to seeking employment; another participant's main worry was not being able to find a job to pay their bills. The HEAR study





identified out of pocket expenses such as travel and childcare as a structural barrier to accessing services (374).

Education and employment

Asylum seeking children are enrolled into schools. Refugees wish to access education and employment – and such opportunities were discussed as assets. Asylum seekers are not permitted to work, yet expressed a desire for employment. Facilitators include language classes, accreditation of existing qualifications and job-specific support (such as that provided by Wales Asylum Seeking and Refugee Doctors Group) (369), and childcare.

Focus group participants explained a clear desire to integrate further into the community; and a feeling that they were being ignored in respect to present labour market shortages.

Housing

Accommodation is managed through UK government, however, housing standards are a devolved issue and can be enforced by local authorities (369). The Welsh Government inquiry identified that housing is not adequate for people's needs; and that this in part was due to a complex relationship between Welsh Government, the UK Home Office, and local authorities which all have differing responsibilities (369). Asylum seekers are reluctant to complain for fear of negative consequences on their application (369).

Professional stakeholders advised that not all asylum seekers and refugees will require housing support; however, those that do have variation in needs: UASC need foster placements, adults may be placed in Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs), additional needs such as disabilities and suitable adaptations need to be taken into account. Single vulnerable refugee males are provided accommodation, but there is no equivalent for females. The YMCA has accommodation for single homeless people; this is followed up by a move-on scheme. Available accommodation appeared to be insufficient to meet demand when assessed in Wales in 2019 (370).

Poor finances and lack of employment are a barrier to housing. Many landlords in the private rented sector do not rent to refugees or those who are unemployed (369) (370); furthermore, the requirement for a deposit and rent in advance mean this is often not feasible (369). Asylum seekers have expressed a desire to work as well, but are not permitted to undertake paid employment. Note that across Europe, the right to work is variable with some countries permitting immediate right to work and others conferring rights after the passage of a set period of time if no decision has been made on the asylum application (386).

Asylum seekers granted refugee status are given a 28-day move-on period, which has been identified as challenging for people to obtain a National Insurance number, find employment or apply for benefits, and find housing (369) (370).

Asylum seekers and refugees who are victims of VAWDASV may be unable to leave their accommodation if the perpetrator is the lead applicant on a claim. Although there are protocols in managing these situations, this still presents a challenge, and is reliant on





disclosure by the victim, which in itself is subject to many barriers such as a lack of recognition, or fear of services (371).

Focus group participants identified overcrowding, a lack of adaptations for the individual's needs (such as for children, or disabilities), and a lack of consideration of the impact of health concerns of other HMO occupants on others. The state of housing was stated to be negatively affecting mental health. Another individual was concerned that they had not heard from the Home Office and that this would impact their progression in life. They were currently homeless, and needed a home to find a job and partner; but their lack of documents was a barrier to finding accommodation.

20.3.4 Unmet needs

Professional stakeholders identified gaps in healthcare services, and a lack of accessible primary care services for asylum seekers and refugees. Difficulty navigating the NHS was identified, with very little information and no organisation specifically to help asylum seekers/refugees to access healthcare. Often asylum seekers and refugees struggle to access primary care and are sent to the Emergency Department. Barriers to primary care include booking systems, lack of translation available at frontline reception, and IT poverty. The level of complexity with regards to physical and mental health along with socio-economic complexity makes the 10-20 minute appointment length inadequate. Dental care was hard to navigate and access. Access to appropriate mental health services was a particular concern given the trauma that many of these individuals have witnessed or experienced.

Professional leads identified that undocumented migrants may miss key healthcare support such as screening, as might asylum seekers or refugees who do not attend their Cardiff and Vale Health Inclusion Service (CAVHIS) screening appointment, are moved on, and then register with a GP practice. It is difficult to quantify how many people this may affect as this information is not collected. It should be noted that CAVHIS offers screening to all asylum seekers referred to them by the Home Office.

Focus group participants observed the following gaps in services:

- Lack of childcare which hinders ability to attend support groups
- Long waiting lists for services such as mental health support and housing repairs, and slow systems with unclear pathways
- Unable to access education or employment due to a lack of money and transport
- Language barriers: where peer support is provided in languages other than English and Welsh for example, Arabic or Sudanese
- Lack of understanding of how to access and use NHS services

Data are lacking within a number of areas including a comprehensive understanding on the background and health needs for asylum seekers and refugees (371) (374); this also includes a lack of knowledge on vaccine uptake amongst asylum seekers and refugees. Initial steps to remedy this could include improved data coding. Little is known regarding undocumented migrants. Improved data is required around accommodation needs, for example, the





numbers of people given leave to remain (370); and the number of people destitute or at risk of destitution (369).

20.4 What are the range and level of services needed?20.4.1 Prevention and assets

The 2017 PNA noted the need for training and awareness of asylum status and migration patterns for statutory and third sector partners (159). This is an ongoing need, especially as the context changes with additional resettlement schemes; changing services; and staff turnover.

Vaccination and long term condition management can prevent health conditions arising or worsening. Screening and management of diseases known to be prevalent in the country of origin or along an individual's journey will prevent both their worsening health as well as onward transmission to others.

Prevention of destitution is vital to prevent further mental and physical ill-health. This includes provision of advice regarding benefits, employment and housing (369). One of the focus group participants was recently released from prison and was unable to access support services or Immigration due to a lack of documents including ID. They are therefore homeless and sleeping rough and risks returning to drug dealing to secure an income.

Assets



Asylum seekers and refugees identified a number of assets that supported their well-being. Family, friends and neighbours were helpful: "my neighbours used to leave food at the door for me during COVID and then call and ask if he needs anything else". Third sector organisations such as Oasis, Community Care & Wellbeing Service (CCAWS), Sight Loss Cymru, and Red Cross were positively described: "it is a good place to integrate with Welsh society"; "Thank God [the befriender] is here for me and doesn't have an expiry date I'm blessed to have her". Local support groups such as the lesbian support group, well-being support groups, asylum seeker support groups (387), as well as churches and mosques: "I go to the nearby mosque and it makes me feel good and happy", and leisure access such as the gym were appreciated. Access to education (including English language classes) was identified by focus group participants, and professionals identified Cardiff and Vale College as an asset. Participants enjoyed their volunteering opportunities; professionals identified Into Work services as supportive for refugees (note that asylum seekers are not permitted to work).





Healthcare services including primary care and counselling were considered sources of support. CAVHIS has been identified by research in Wales as an asset, through provision of health screening, signposting, healthcare including maternity and child health (371) (374). Maternity services are particularly praised (371). Access to the NHS is important; while focus group participants feel it is often complex and slow, having access to a GP is unlike any other country. It is *"the best thing I have here"*.

Professional leads recognised that not everything that matters to people is immediately available, and may not be until residency is secured.

20.4.2 Community services

Healthcare services

Healthcare systems must meet the medical needs of their patients, for example, providing blood-borne virus, tuberculosis, and parasite screening. Focus groups articulated the need for access to dentists. Appointments should be flexible to accommodate the needs of asylum seekers and refugees – allowing time for translation and to explore the complexity of health needs (371). Consultations should be culturally sensitive, for example, females may prefer a female GP to discuss sexual health (371). Drop-in services were mentioned by focus group participants as desirable. Focus groups discussed that healthcare felt as though it was offered at critical points, rather than as an intervention service.

Mental health problems – with origins prior to seeking asylum, during the process, or following arrival in the UK – is a prominent need with regards to the appropriate tier of provision. Many service users suffer with symptoms of traumatic stress as a normal reaction to experiencing or witnessing trauma. There is a need for a robust system which delivers psychoeducation and training or advice with regards to grounding and stabilisation techniques for the service user without medicalising a normal response to trauma. Focus group participants discussed the need for bereavement support groups, including for the loss of children. Respondents of the provider survey identified that education on use of the NHS would be helpful.

Support networks

Understanding the individual's social network (e.g., friends and family; local faith or sports groups; education or employment opportunities) enables support providers to promote physical and mental health (371). Consideration of the person in their wider context is crucial: for example, through provision of childcare, disability support groups. Financial and transport barriers were mentioned throughout the focus group; these must be considered as determinants of access to services.

Services where people can build peer networks, be supported with the complexities of accessing services, and where activities can break isolation is critical. Asylum seekers wish for an organisation to link with the Home Office to support applications, and speed up the process.





20.4.3 Partnership approach

Cultural understanding

HEAR identify cultural understanding as critical (374). Focus group participants were fearful of data being shared with the Home Office. There was a resistance from participants to criticise, which is presumed to be in part given the fact that their residency and future is seen to be in remit of statutory decision makers. Equally when trying to make any comparison with past experiences within countries of origin, the group were reluctant to highlight that there was anything they missed. This would be linked to the psychological links to re-iterating the need for asylum linked to safety / well-being. Services provided should not only be mindful of this, but proactively address and overcome people's fears.

Systems working

Services must be joined up. Asylum seekers and refugees may feel disempowered; lack understanding of care and support services; suffer language, financial, and other barriers; be fearful of officials; and are therefore vulnerable within the community. Ensuring services are aligned; can proactively identify needs; and can signpost to other services is key. For example, building on the current requirement that housing providers should signpost individuals to CAVHIS for initial health screening (369). Signposting to voluntary or work opportunities should be included within this; professionals, focus group participants, and the literature all emphasise the importance of employment on physical, mental, and financial health (388).

The HEAR study identified that healthcare professionals needed improved knowledge to meet the needs of asylum seekers and refugees, encompassing medical care, but also legal and social considerations (374) (388). The development of "champions" to advocate for asylum seekers and refugees' needs and rights could be one way of achieving this, including help-seeking behaviours (374). All agencies providing services for asylum seekers and refugees must be able to combat misunderstandings, for example, preconceptions that photo identification is required to receive services. Professional stakeholders identified the need to provide an environment where stigma and fear can be overcome.

Services should provide information for asylum seekers and refugees on how to access healthcare (including out of hours and specialist services) and navigate services (388). Those refused refugee status are entitled to free healthcare, but may be reluctant to contact services (388) (389). HEAR reports that 94% of 201 asylum seekers and refugees were registered with a GP, but one in four did not know how to access emergency services via 999 (389).

"People who are helping me currently help me holistically and are there for any questions I need to ask" – asylum seeker/refugee, focus group





Access to transport underpins access to all services and assets – currently this is compromised by lack of finances or lack of reliability (369).

Sustainability of services

Focus group participants were concerned regarding the sustainability of third sector organisations due to the reliance on voluntary funding. Ensuring needed and valued services can continue to operate, and communication of this will inspire confidence in service users, and reduce their anxiety that support structures might be taken away; *"the connection to the community will be broken"*.

20.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

The UK Government have consulted on their New Plan for Immigration policy (390), which will likely impact on asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.

20.6 Recommendations

All agencies to:

- Provide training and ongoing support for all professionals working with asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants to improve quality of service provision within a trauma informed approach. To include rights, signposting, and access to care, support, and translation services
- Improve data collection; for example, better data coding
- Work towards co-location of health with other services such as mental health, benefits/ accommodation providers/third sector services for those who are most vulnerable, for example, destitute asylum seekers, undocumented migrants and those who moved in and out of the asylum system
- Multi-agency liaison; for example, dispersal linked to health and social services to improve continuity of care and support
- Facilitate integration and community cohesion (369)
 - Identify and build upon local community support for refugees and asylum seekers; which has been successful in other areas (369)
 - Increase awareness amongst asylum seekers and refugees, including children and young people, of the language, culture, and heritage in Wales (369)

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:

• Encourage landlords to rent to refugees through formal support providers (370)

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

 Consider different models of primary care to overcome known barriers to healthcare, for example, walk in clinics; opportunistic provision of care such as screening, vaccination and contraceptive services for those service users who are the most vulnerable and despite flexibility, would continue to struggle to fit in to the current model of care, for example destitute or failed asylum seekers, undocumented migrants and those who move in and out of the asylum system





21. Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)

This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; Adult Mental Health; Secure Estate; Substance Misuse

Recommendations

All agencies to:

• Consider the needs of veteran families, including children, of current and former armed forces service personnel

Ministry of Defence/ Armed Forces and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Develop clearer pathways for veterans to support the transition into civilian life
- Consider development of a veterans ID card to give priority status to certain public services

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

- Await the outcome of the all Wales review into the Royal College of GPs' Veterans Friendly Practice accreditation programme and consider the recommendations
- Increase healthcare professionals' understanding of veterans' needs and priority status through, for example, Welsh Government promotional material designed for Primary Care (391), and continuing to strengthen links between healthcare staff and the Armed Forces Champions

21.1 Overview

The Ministry of Defence (MoD) defines a veteran as "anyone who has served for at least one day in Her Majesty's Armed Forces (Regular or Reserve) or Merchant Mariners who have seen duty on legally defined military operations". A "service leaver" is someone who is in transition from or has ceased to be a member of HM Armed Forces (392). The term veteran is not necessarily something that all service leavers relate to for a number of reasons (length of their service, their age, or associating the term with involvement in World Wars), and therefore this could exclude them from accessing support and services that they are entitled to (393). For the purposes of this PNA, this chapter will refer to veterans.





There are currently no official figures available on the number of military veterans in the UK, but the latest estimation from the Ministry of Defence, using ONS data, is that there were 140,000 veterans in Wales in 2017 (5% of the total population) (394). Veterans are estimated to be predominantly white (99%), male (89%) and/or aged 65 and over (60%) (Figure 21.1).



Figure 21.1 Age profile of veterans in Great Britain. Source: Annual Population Survey UK: UK armed forces Veterans residing in Great Britain 2017 (394).

As of March 2021, there were 2,689 veterans in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan in receipt of a pension or compensation (395) under the Armed Forces Pension Scheme, War Pension Scheme or the Armed Forces Compensation Scheme (approximately 0.5% of the total population). Of recipients, 1,274 were in Cardiff, and 1,415 in the Vale of Glamorgan. However, there are many veterans who are not in receipt of a pension or compensation, so this figure is not a truly accurate representation of the number of veterans.

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board data recorded a total of 2,406 veterans registered with GP practices in 2021/22 (approximately 0.45% of the total GP registered population). This data is gathered using Audit Plus from "read codes" entered into the patients GP record. This information is shared on all Wales basis via the Primary Care Information Portal. This data is dependent upon a veteran providing their status when they register with a GP practice, so again will not be a true reflection of numbers as many veterans either have not declared their status when registering with a practice, or are not registered with a practice. Patients who have been registered with a practice for many years may also not be captured.

An estimation of veteran numbers by the Public Health Wales Observatory using ONS data and prevalence estimates from the Royal British Legion put the number for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan area at around 20,330 veterans in 2020 (Figure 21.2).





Estimated veteran population*, all persons aged 16 and over, Cardiff and Vale UHB and local authorities, 2020

	Age group (Sum of the male and female tables)						Total		
	16-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-64	65-74	75-84	85+	16+
Vale of Glamorgan	90	200	430	870	980	1130	1470	1150	6330
Cardiff	410	810	1220	2050	2150	2020	2800	2540	14000
Cardiff and Vale UHB	510	1010	1650	2920	3130	3150	4270	3680	20330
Wales	2630	5200	9980	20640	23210	27480	35980	28660	153790

Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using MYE (ONS) and prevalence estimates from the Royal British Legion

*Estimated population rounded to the nearest 10

Figure 21.2 Estimated veteran population Cardiff and Vale UHB and local authorities, 2020. Source: Public Health Wales Observatory, using MYE (ONS) and prevalence estimates from the Royal British Legion

Engagement

A total of six veterans attended one of two focus groups, and amongst respondents of the public survey who answered the question, 6.3% stated they are a member or a veteran of the armed forces (28 respondents). This is not representative of the population of veterans of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. Twenty two of 131 respondents of the provider's survey provided support to veterans.

21.2 What has changed since 2017?

21.2.1 Pre-COVID-19

In 2018, the UK-wide Strategy for Veterans was published (396). In Wales, a Veterans' Scoping Exercise was undertaken to inform the strategy, which identified how services are being delivered, gaps in service provision and improvements that could be made. A delivery plan was developed highlighting key actions to address the gaps in service provision raised during the scoping exercise (397). Actions have included additional funding for Veterans NHS Wales to support mental health treatment, investment into health services, tackling loneliness and isolation, and to raise the profile of the needs of children of service personnel. The Supporting Service Children in Education Cymru, is a Welsh Local Government Association programme funded by Welsh Government since 2019. Veterans who have been in service within the last two years can access this programme to support their children.

Tros Gynnal Plant (TGP) Cymru, a third sector organisation based in Wales focusing on children, young people and families, collaborated with Veterans' NHS Wales on a three-year trial of a newly-developed service, the Restorative Approach Veterans Family Service (RAFVS), which was funded by Forces in Mind Trust. The trial provided community based mental health support service for ex-Service personnel and their families from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, who have a service-related mental health problem (398). Evaluation findings were published in December 2021, and show the RAFVS helped families to develop more positive relationships, leading to improved family communication, understanding, and empathy (399).





The Veterans' Trauma Network Wales (VTN Wales) was established in 2019 to provide a central service to support veterans with complex physical health needs, healthcare professionals and the third sector with advice on referral pathways, and can help with accessing appropriate funding if necessary. VTN Wales was initially hosted by Cardiff and Vale UHB, and in January 2021 was transferred to the South Wales Trauma Network's Operational Delivery Network, hosted by Swansea Bay University Health Board.

The UK Government is introducing new legislation, as part of the Armed Forces Bill 2021, to further incorporate the Armed Forces Covenant into law, by bringing in a cross-UK duty to have due regard to the principles of the Covenant on public bodies in healthcare, housing and education. It is expected that the Bill will reach Royal Assent by late 2021, and enter into force in mid-2022.

The NHS has worked to raise awareness of veterans' needs with GPs and provided quicker access to the Veterans' NHS Wales service. Cardiff and Vale UHB remains strongly committed to deliver the Armed Forces Covenant and as a gold rated employer has sponsored an award at the 2019 and 2021 Wales' armed forces awards ceremony, to honour individuals who have strived to deliver care and support for veterans.

Veterans' NHS Wales has received 5,150 referrals since it launched in 2010 and has seen a year on year increase in referrals (400). The majority of veterans in 2019/20 presented with post-traumatic stress symptoms due to military trauma (72.7%), with depression and anxiety also common.

The Veterans' Advice Service is funded through the Armed Forces Covenant and provides support to veterans as a first point of contact for a wide range of concerns such as housing, finances and well-being. Veterans Advice Mentors are in post in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, since 2017 and 2019 respectively. An Armed Forces Liaison Officer for Cardiff and the Vale is funded by Welsh Government and is responsible for raising awareness of issues affecting the Armed Forces community.

21.2.1 COVID-19

Around half (13) of the veterans responding to the PNA survey felt their health had worsened a little or a lot since March 2020. Referrals to Veterans' NHS Wales were lower than expected between October 2020 and March 2021 compared to the same period the previous year. During 2020, there was an increase in calls to the veterans' advice services in Cardiff and Vale due to impact of social isolation during lockdowns. This has continued into 2021. Social isolation continues to be a key issue for veterans. A participant in the focus group recognised that being in personal touch was extremely important to veterans during lockdowns:





"Personal endeavour has made all the difference to some veterans – where key individuals in support services have made all efforts to stay in touch through phone calls, emails, visits and organising get-togethers whenever they have been possible – providing transport too" – veteran, focus group

21.3 What are the care and support needs?

21.3.1 Individual

Health needs

Mental health is a primary need for veterans. Together for Mental Health is the Welsh Government 10 year strategy to improve mental health and well-being (401). It includes plans to ensure mental health services for veterans are sustainable and able to meet needs in a timely manner and support for veterans is a priority. Veterans' physical health also interconnects with their mental and social well-being, such as the increased prevalence of mental health disorders in veterans with a physical impairment and the association of homelessness with physical disability and poor health status and substance use (402). Veterans have higher incidence of dual diagnosis of mental health and substance misuse disorders (403).

Families and children

Family members, including children, who are not serving personnel may have additional needs as a result of the impact of the lifestyle associated with the armed forces. Supporting Service Children in Education Wales (SSCE Cymru) conducted engagement work with children of service personnel, and identified positive and negative impacts around moving house; making new friends; changing schools; and living abroad. Parents being deployed was a source of negative emotions including worry that their parent(s) might be hurt, and missing their parent(s) (48). A Welsh Government consultation with veterans identified that a lack of support for families was a gap in services, in particular around families' access to healthcare (including mental health services), a lack of knowledge around the impact of service life on spouses, and accommodation and connection to the community (391).

Language and communication

No data are available on the Welsh language profile of the veteran population in Cardiff and the Vale. Veterans' NHS Wales ask all individuals at assessment would they like the interview in Welsh or English. No requests for Welsh interviews have been received in Cardiff and the Vale.





21.3.2 Community

Access to healthcare

The Welsh Government response to taking forward the strategy for veterans identified through consultation a number of key themes, and accessing healthcare featured strongly in the consultation feedback (397). The themes have also been reflected through focus groups and surveys with professionals working with veterans in Cardiff and Vale.

- Better information needed around veterans needs to help inform services
- A need for better understanding of priority treatment status by healthcare providers, including GPs
- A "flagging up" system of veteran status needed for healthcare services
- Veterans reported difficulty accessing mental health services in the NHS, though Veterans NHS Wales is perceived to be providing a good service
- Mental health support should include families

21.3.3 Wider determinants of health

Deprivation

Veterans with mental health difficulties were seen to be more likely to live in areas of the UK with higher deprivation levels, amongst those who sought support from Combat Stress in a 2017 study (404). Veterans living in areas of higher deprivation are more likely to be experiencing poor lifestyle behaviours such as excess alcohol consumption and smoking. It should be noted that, amongst the general population in Wales, increased deprivation is associated with increased smoking, but conversely, a higher proportion of people in the least deprived areas drink above Welsh Government guidelines compared to people in the most deprived areas (165) (see also chapter 9, Health and Long Term Conditions). A UK study of male veterans who had served in Iraq of Afghanistan reported significantly higher prevalence of alcohol misuse than non-veterans (405).

Research with over 3,000 veterans in a longitudinal cohort study found that veteran hardship was mostly associated with factors linked to socio-economic status: age, education, and childhood adversity (406). Younger service leavers in particular were at higher risk of alcohol misuse and of unemployment and financial hardship.

Housing

Having access to suitable affordable accommodation when leaving the Armed Forces is crucial to enable personnel to transition successfully (407). Welsh Government is committed to ensuring that housing provision meets the needs of veterans, and veterans do have exemption from some of the qualification criteria for social housing such as having to have local connections. Housing was identified as the key need for veterans at the annual all-Wales Armed Forces conference in October 2021. Service providers identified that often veterans seeking accommodation are single and male, and it can be a challenge to find suitable accommodation immediately, meaning sometime temporary accommodation is the best option when first leaving the Armed Forces. Homelessness can be an issue for some veterans, who often seek support from the Veterans' Advice Service.





21.3.4 Unmet needs

The focus groups carried out with veterans identified the following gaps:

- Access to activities, social events and medical care have all been severely impacted by the pandemic
- Veterans' NHS Wales was recognised as providing an excellent service, but there can be long waiting times for treatment
- Respite is generally a big problem for carers which was exacerbated through the pandemic and continues to be a source of emotional and practical issues.
- Some veterans with dementia have failed to get the medical support needed a particular problem being access to GPs with long telephone waits, lack of face to face consultations and home visits. They have also been adversely affected by the lack of social interaction and stimulation.

Gaps in knowledge and understanding were identified as follows:

- Further research needed into health needs for veterans in Cardiff and Vale, and particularly around mental health, alcohol and substance misuse
- Lack of data on the numbers of veterans
- Lack of information about the number of veterans currently registered with GP practices if they have not disclosed status

21. 4 What are the range and level of services needed?21.4.1 Prevention and assets

The 2017 Population Needs Assessment identified the need to:

- Increase knowledge and resilience of families to support veterans and prevent family breakdown
- Increase awareness among mainstream services of veterans' needs

These are ongoing needs, and there is also a need to support veterans with health behaviours such as alcohol, substance misuse, and gambling. Enabling veterans to develop and maintain healthy behaviours such as physical activity once they leave the armed forces can require them needing to find new motivators other than needing to be fit for their job. Often the priority when leaving the forces is employment and housing, not physical health.

Assets to support well-being

Veterans identified a number of assets to support their well-being. These included family, friends, and neighbours: "speak to friends on the phone, have my wife as a full-time carer". Third sector organisations were seen as helpful: "charities such as Woody's Lodge seem to be taking on the burden of assisting veterans and emergency service workers rather than other official bodies". Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH) was also supportive.

Organisations and clubs dedicated to veterans were named, including Veterans Advice Officers in local authorities, Veterans Mental Health Support Group (run by Nexus and Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health), NHS services such as Veterans' NHS Wales





("provides an excellent service for veterans with Post Traumatic Stress Disorder although demand tends to challenge its resources"), and the Armed Forces Forum. Third sector organisations providing specific support for veterans, such as Blind Veterans UK were helpful. Third sector organisations providing support for long term conditions such as the Forget Me Not Chorus were identified as helpful for veterans with dementia. Named members of the Council were identified as very supportive: "[named individual] also provides an excellent service in support of veterans' welfare". Similarly, "personal endeavour has made all the difference" – key individuals in support services have made efforts to remain in contact with service users and overcome barriers to support provision (such as transport provision), which has been well received.

Professional leads have identified the Armed Forces Covenant as an asset. Each local authority in Wales has an Armed Forces Champion, who acts as a single point of contact and is able to advocate for those in the Armed Forces Community (408).

21.4.2 Community services

The focus group identified that veterans need their own support services to enable them to lead good lives – this is being currently provided very competently by the third sector. Services should provide easy to access medical care and Doctor's appointments.

21.4.3 Partnership approach

Transition support

When personnel leave the armed forces, whilst most make a successful transition, for other the transition into civilian life can be difficult (409). Preparation for leaving and having good support in place is key. Professionals working with veterans highlighted that some veterans do not know where to go to access services such as housing support, employment support, financial advice, and gain access to NHS healthcare provision such as primary care.

21.5 What is likely to happen in the future?

In 2016 the veteran population in the UK was estimated to be around 5% of all household residents aged 16 and over, and this is projected to decrease year on year to 2-3% by 2028 (410). Public Health Wales Observatory estimates there will be around 12,500 veterans in Cardiff and Vale by 2030 (Figure 21.3).

Figure 21.4 illustrates the expected demographics of veterans in the UK in 2028. Just under half of all veterans will be of working age (aged 16-64), and every ten out of 80 veterans will be female.

A Veterans Commissioner for Wales will be appointed in 2022, as part of the Veterans' Strategy Action Plan. The Commissioner will improve support for armed forces service leavers in Wales, and, through being an independent voice, advocate for veterans' needs. Veterans Commissioners have already been successful in their role in Scotland and Northern Ireland (411).





Estimated veteran population*, all persons aged 16 and over, Cardiff and Vale UHB and local authorities, 2030

	Age group (Sum of the male and female tables)						Total		
	16-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-64	65-74	75-84	85+	16+
Vale of Glamorgan	90	200	210	500	770	920	620	510	3840
Cardiff	410	810	610	1180	1670	1670	1210	1140	8710
Cardiff and Vale UHB	510	1010	830	1680	2440	2610	1830	1650	12550
Wales	2630	5200	4950	11850	18080	22812	15216	12850	93590

Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using MYE (ONS) and prevalence estimates from the Royal British Legion

*Estimated population rounded to the nearest 10

Figure 21.3 Estimated veteran population Cardiff and Vale UHB and local authorities, 2030. Source: Public Health Wales Observatory, using Mid-Year Estimates (Office for National Statistics) and prevalence estimates from the Royal British Legion

Ten veterans will be female, and

70 veterans will be male.

For every 80 veterans residing in Great Britain in 2028, it is projected that:



Figure 21.4. Population projections: UK Armed Forces Veterans residing in Great Britain, 2016 to 2028 (410)

21.6 Recommendations

All agencies to:

• Consider the needs of veteran families, including children, of current and former armed forces service personnel

Ministry of Defence/ Armed Forces and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:

- Develop clearer pathways for veterans to support the transition into civilian life
- Consider development of a veterans ID card to give priority status to certain public services

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:

- Await the outcome of the all Wales review into the Royal College of GPs' Veterans Friendly Practice accreditation programme and consider the recommendations
- Increase healthcare professionals' understanding of veterans' needs and priority status through, for example, Welsh Government promotional material designed for Primary Care (391), and continuing to strengthen links between healthcare staff and the Armed Forces Champions





22. Appendix

Alignment of the National Outcomes Framework with the Regional Outcomes Framework

Regional Outcome Framework	National Outcomes Framework
Increasing time for people to	• Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life
live their lives	 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing
Increased living well in their	Suitability of living accommodation
own home and community	 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing
	 Domestic, family and personal relationships
	Social and economic wellbeing
Improved environment that	 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life
enables people's choices	Protection from abuse and neglect
More empowered workforce	Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life
Better start for children and	 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing
young people	 Physical, intelligential, emotional, and social behavioural
	development
	 Protection from abuse and neglect
	Education, training and recreation
	 Social and economic wellbeing
	 Suitability of living accommodation
	 Domestic, family and personal relationships
	Contribution made to society
	 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life
People get a safe response	 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life
when in urgent need	Protection from abuse and neglect
Decreased avoidable harm or	 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life
mortality	 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing
	Protection from abuse and neglect
Reduced wasted system	 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life
resource	 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing
	Protection from abuse and neglect

Sources: (6) (7)





Focus groups

The following focus groups were conducted for the Population Needs Assessment. The numbers of participants are shown in brackets.

- Infants, children and young people with disabilities, their parents or carers (n=8)
- Children looked after, adopted children, care experienced children, children on the edge of care (n=3)
- Older people (65-84 years) (n=4)
- Older people (85+ years) (n=3)
- Adults with a long term condition (n=5)
- Adults with a disability (n=8)
- Adults with learning disability x3 (n=7; n=5; n=8)
- Autistic adults (n=1; considered an interview rather than a focus group)
- Adults with a mental health illness (n=4)
- Adults with cognitive impairment/dementia (n=7)
- Adult unpaid carers of adults (n=12)
- Adults with sight loss (n=6)
- Adults from the D/deaf community (n=4)
- Women with experience of violence, domestic abuse, or sexual violence x2 (n=9 total)
- Asylum seekers and refugees x2 (n=9 total)
- Adults currently residing in HMP Cardiff (n=8)
- Armed forces service leavers (veterans) (n=6)
- Adults with substance misuse (n=2)
- Adults who are currently homeless / have experience of homelessness (n=10)

Unfortunately three planned focus groups did not take place as no participants could be identified in the timeframes available, or, the provider withdrew:

- Young people & young adults who require care and support due to, or experiencing transition to adult services
- Children and young people and families utilising neurodevelopmental assessment services/post-diagnostic support
- Gypsies and travellers





23. Glossary

AAC	Augmentative and Alternative Communication
ADHD	Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorder
BBV	Blood Borne Virus
BSL	British Sign Language
C1V	Contact 1 Vale
C3SC	Cardiff Third Sector Council
CAMHS	Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
CAVAMH	Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health
CAVHIS	Cardiff and Vale Health Inclusion Service
CLA	Children Looked After
CMHT	Community Mental Health Team
CPN	Community Psychiatric Nurse
EASR	European Age Standardised Rate
EMI	Elderly Mentally Infirm
FGM	Female Genital Mutilation
GP	General Practitioner
HEAR	Health Experiences of Asylum Seekers and Refugees
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
НМО	House of Multiple Occupancy
HMP	Her Majesty's Prison
HMPPS	Her Majesty's Prison and Probation Service
IAS	Integrated Autism Service
IDVA	Independent Domestic Violence Advisor
IFST	Integrated Family Support Team
ILS	Independent Living Service
IRIS	Identification and referral to Improve Safety
ISVA	Independent Sexual Violence Advisor
LGBTQ+	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender or Queer
LSOA	Lower Super Output Area
MARAC	Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference
MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment
MDT	Multi-Disciplinary Team
MHSOP	Mental Health Services for Older People
MoD	Ministry of Defence
MSOA	Middle Super Output Area
NICE	National Institute of Health and Care Excellence
NEET	Not in Education, Employment, or Training
PIP	Personal Independence Payment
PNA	Population Needs Assessment
PPN	Public Protection Notice
PSB	Public Service Board
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
RISE	
NIJE	Recovery Information Safety Empowerment





RNIB	Royal National Institute of Blind People
RPB	Regional Partnership Board
SARC	Sexual Assault Referral Centre
SLT	Speech and Language Therapist
T4CYP	Together for Children and Young People
TGP	Tros Glynnal Plant Cymru
UASC	Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children
UHB	University Health Board
VAWDASV	Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence
VTN Wales	Veterans Trauma Network Wales
WEDINOS	Welsh Emerging Drugs & Identification of Novel Substances





24. Acknowledgements

We are extremely grateful to all residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan who have contributed to this Population Needs Assessment, through completing the surveys, attending focus groups, and providing input through other mechanisms. We would like to extend our thanks to the third sector and statutory organisations who have helped shape this report, through provision of information and insight, and with specific mention to the following organisations:

- Adferiad Recovery
- Age Cymru
- Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH)
- Cardiff People First
- Cardiff Third Sector Council
- Cardiff Youth Board
- Cerebral Palsy Cymru
- Chinese in Wales Association
- Community Care & Wellbeing Service (CCAWS)
- Glamorgan Voluntary Services
- Grandparents Raising Grandchildren
- Huggard Centre
- HMP Cardiff
- Oasis Cardiff
- Richard Newton Consultants
- Sightlife Sight Cymru
- South Wales Police
- Vale of Glamorgan Council Autistic Spectrum Disorder Project
- Wales Neurological Alliance
- Women's Aid

We would like to thank the professional leads and all those who have contributed from Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council, and HMP Cardiff for their helpful suggestions and guidance throughout the preparation of the 2022 Population Needs Assessment for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. We would like to extend our gratitude to members of the Steering Group who have shaped this Population Needs Assessment. We are very grateful to Fiona Kinghorn, for her oversight and guidance.

Lastly, we would like to thank the authors: Dr Emily Clark, Dr Suzanne Wood, Cheryl Williams, and Lauren Idowu; all part of Cardiff and Vale Public Health Team, Cardiff and Vale UHB Public Health Directorate.





25. References

1. Welsh Government. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Part 2 Code of Practice (General Functions). [Online] 2015. [Cited: 30 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/part-2-code-of-practice-general-functions.pdf.

2. Cardiff & Vale Integrated Health & Social Care . Who we are . [Online] [Cited: 30 10 2021.] https://cvihsc.co.uk/about/who-we-are/.

3. Welsh Government. Population Needs Assessments - Supplementary Advice for Regional Partnership Boards . [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 14 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/population-needs-assessments.pdf.

4. Cardiff and Vale Integrated Health and Social Care. Equality and Health Impact Assessment. [Online] 11 2021.

5. Welsh Government. Code of Practice and Guidance under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. [Online] 29 03 2021. [Cited: 30 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/code-practice-and-guidance-under-social-services-and-well-being-wales-act-2014-html.

6. Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board . Cardiff and Vale Regional Outcomes Framework . [Online] 06 2021. [Cited: 08 11 2021.] https://c3sc-

my.sharepoint.com/personal/resources_c3sc_org_uk/_layouts/15/onedrive.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fresources%5Fc3sc% 5Forg%5Fuk%2FDocuments%2FWebsite%20Resources%20Library%2FWebsite%20Posts%5FImages%5Fdocuments%2F202 1%2FJune%2FCardiff%20and%20Vale%20.

7. Welsh Government . Social Services: The national outcomes framework for people who need care and support and carers who need support . [Online] 02 2019. [Cited: 08 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/the-national-outcomes-framework-for-people-who-need-care-and-support-and-carers-who-need-support.pdf. 8. Stats Wales. Population estimates by local authority and age. [Online] 06 2021. [Cited: 20 07 2021.]

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-

Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-age.

9. Office for National Statistics. Population Estimates by Age Group . [Online] [Cited: 13 09 2021.] www.nomisweb.co.uk. 10. Stats Wales. Population projections by local authority and year. [Online] 08 2021.

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/Local-Authority/2018-based/populationprojections-by-localauthority-year.

11. **Open Data Wales.** Public Services Board Well-being assessments Core dataset. [Online] 04 2021. [Cited: 20 07 2021.] https://www.opendata.wales/dataset/view?siteId=49097a03-6589-4899-b5c0-3cbaf8e062b7&datasetId=20125d0e-2bba-eb11-90ff-00155d084d17.

12. **Office for National Statistics.** Live births in England and Wales : birth rates down to local authority areas. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 10 08 2021.] https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/submit.asp?menuopt=201&subcomp=.

13. Office for National Statistics. National population projections, fertility assumptions: 2018-based. [Online] 21 10 2019. [Cited: 24 11 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/methodologies /nationalpopulationprojectionsfertilityassumptions2018based.

14. Office for National Statistics. Mortality statistics - underlying cause, sex and age. [Online] 2020.

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/datasets/mortsa.

15. Public Health Wales Observatory . COVID-19 Recovery Profile: Summary report. [Online] 12 10 2021. [Cited: 24 11 2021.]

https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/COVID19_Recovery_Profile_PHWO/_w_c4aea55d/session/4349bb5a2a0c8fde0885 bf89589e0d2f/download/Wales_ReportDownload_Summary?w=c4aea55d.

16. Public Health Wales Observatory. COVID-19 recovery profile. [Online] 12 10 2021. [Cited: 24 11 2021.]

https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/COVID19_Recovery_Profile_PHWO/.

17. **Stats Wales.** Migration between Wales and the rest of the UK by local authority, flow and period of change. [Online] 08 2021. [Cited: 10 08 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-

 $\label{eq:Migration/Migration/Internal/migration between wales and rest of uk-by-local authority-flow-period of change.$

18. Office for National Statistics . Health state life expectancy, all ages, UK. [Online] 25 01 2021.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/datasets/health statelifeexpectancyallagesuk.

19. Director of Public Health, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Let's leave no one behind in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan . [Online] 10 2021. [Cited: 05 11 2021.]

20. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Mulitple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 results report. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 22 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-06/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-results-report.pdf.

21. **Stats Wales.** Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 by rank, decile and quintile, Lower-layer Super Output Area (LSOA). [Online] 27 11 2019. https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-





of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-2019/welshindexofmultipledeprivation2019-by-rank-decileandquintile-lowerlayersuperoutputarea.

22. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019: deprivation analysis relating to young children. [Online] 26 08 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-deprivation-analysis-relating-young-children-html.

23. **Stats Wales**. Ethnicity by area and ethnic group. [Online] 14 04 2021. https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Ethnicity/ethnicity-by-area-ethnicgroup.

24. Office for National Statistics . 2011 Census: Key Statistics and Quick Statistics for Electoral Divisions and Output Areas in Wales. [Online] [Cited: 09 11 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/dataset s/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforelectoraldivisionsandoutputareasinwales/r22walesenglishrttableqs204ewlad v1_tcm77-296996.xls.

25. Welsh Government. Health and Social Care in Wales - COVID-19: Looking forward. [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 06 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/health-and-social-care-in-wales--covid-19-looking-forward_0.pdf.

26. **Stats Wales.** Pupil Level Annual School Census summary data by local authority (pupils aged 5 to 15 in primary, middle or secondary schools). [Online] 2021. [Cited: 14 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Schools-Census/Pupil-Level-Annual-School-

Census/pupillevelannualschoolcensussummarydata-by-localauthority.

27. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Young Carers. [Online] [Cited: 29 10 2021.]

https://cavuhb.nhs.wales/patient-advice/patient-experience/information-for-unpaid-carers/young-carers/. 28. **Vale of Glamorgan Council, Cardiff Council, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board.** Carers Information and Consultation Strategy - Annual Carers Report May 2019 - April 2020. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 23 11 2021.] https://www.carersuk.org/files/section/6606/cardiff-and-the-vale-progress-report-2020.pdf.

29. The Vale of Glamorgan. Personal Communications . [Online] 11 2021.

30. Cardiff Council . Personal communications . [Online] 10 11 2021.

31. **Stats Wales.** Assessments by local authority and measure. [Online] 23 10 2019. [Cited: 15 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Service-Provision/assessments-by-localauthority-measure.

Children's Commissioner for Wales. No Wrong Door: bringing services together to meet children's needs. 2020.
 NHS Wales Health Collaborative. NEST Framework What you need to know. s.l.: NHS Wales Health Collaborative, 2021.

34. Welsh Government. Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act Explanatory Memorandum. [Online] 01 2018. [Cited: 21 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-04/additional-learning-needs-and-education-tribunal-wales-act-2018-explanatory-memorandum.pdf.

35. Cardiff Council . Child Friendly City Strategy . [Online] 2018.

36. **Cardiff Council.** The Cardiff Children's Services Strategy 2019 - 2022. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 01 11 2021.] https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing/Children/Childrens-

services/Documents/Childrens%20Services%20Strategy%202019.pdf.

37. Vale of Glamorgan Council . Vale of Glamorgan Council Service Plan 2018 - 2022 Children and Young People Services . [Online] 2018. [Cited: 01 11 2021.]

https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2018-19/Children-and-Young-People-Services-Service-Plan-2018-2022.pdf.

38. Vale of Glamorgan Council. Vale of Glamorgan Council Service Plan Standards and Provision 2021/2022. [Online] 2021/2022. [Cited: 12 01 2022.]

https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Quarterly-Performance-Report-2020-21/Part-1/Standards-Provision-Service-Plan.pdf.

39. **Cardiff Council**. Cardiff Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Strategy 2018-22. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 13 01 2022.] https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19397/Cabinet%2018%20Jan%202018%20SOP%20Add%20Learning%20Nee ds%20App%201.pdf.

40. Vale of Glamorgan Council . Additional Learning Needs & Well-being Service Plan 2021/22 . [Online] 02 2021.

41. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Personal communications . [Online] 11 2021.

42. Office of National Statistics. All data relating to 'Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in the UK: 6 January 2022". [Online] 06 01 2022. [Cited: 26 01 2022.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/datasets/alldatarel atingtoprevalenceofongoingsymptomsfollowingcoronaviruscovid19infectionintheuk.

43. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk Annual Report 2020/2021. Cardiff : Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, 2021.

44. Alma Economics; Public Health Wales. Children and young people's mental well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 23 11 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/children-and-young-peoples-mental-well-being-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-report/.





45. Children's Commissioner for Wales . Coronavirus and Me Results. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/coronavirus-our-work/coronavirus-and-me-results/.

46. Food Foundation . END CHILD FOOD POVERTY – NO CHILD SHOULD BE GOING HUNGRY DEBATE 24 MAY 2021 Briefing for MPs. [Online] 05 2021.

47. Welsh Government. Review of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) policy: report . [Online] 17 03 2021.

48. **Supporting Service Children in Education Wales**. Listening to our Service children . [Online] 03 2020. [Cited: 18 11 2021.] https://www.sscecymru.co.uk/files/SSCE%20Cymru%20-

%20Listening%20to%20our%20Service%20Children%20(2020)%20findings%20(E).pdf.

49. **Stats Wales**. 'Ability to Speak Welsh' & 'Speaking Welsh at Home', as assessed by parents, of pupils aged 5 and over in primary schools by local authority. [Online] 09 09 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.]

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Schools-Census/Pupil-Level-Annual-School-Census/Welsh-Language/pupils5plusprimary-by-localauthority-speakwelsh-homewelsh.

50. Royal College of Speech & Language Therapists. Speech, Language and Communication Capacity A National Asset . [Online] [Cited: 29 11 2021.] https://www.rcslt.org/wp-content/uploads/media/Project/RCSLT/rcslt-communicationcapacity-factsheet.pdf?la=en&hash=24A0C48F479519A484B92B04A5C074C515254FF2.

51. Welsh Government. Talk with me . [Online] 11 2020. [Cited: 29 11 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-11/talk-with-me.pdf.

52. Welsh Government. Flying Start: April 2019 to March 2020. [Online] 0225 2021. [Cited: 29 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/flying-start-april-2019-march-2020-

html#:~:text=%EE%80%80Flying%20Start%EE%80%81%20is%20the%20Welsh%20Government%20Early%20Years,against% 20other%20local%20authorities%20in%20%EE%80%80Wales%EE%80%81%3B%20and%20.

53. Wales Institute for Social and Economic Research, Data and Methods . The Human Rights of Children in Wales: An Evidence Review.

54. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019: deprivation analysis relating to young children . [Online] 26 08 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-deprivation-analysis-relating-young-children-html.

55. Welsh Government. A review of evidence on socio-economic disadvantage and inequalities of outcome. [Online] 13 10 2021. [Cited: 03 12 2021.] https://gov.wales/review-evidence-socio-economic-disadvantage-and-inequalities-outcome-summary-html.

56. School Health Research Network . Student Health and Wellbeing in Wales: Report of the 2019/20 School Health Research Network Student Health and Wellbeing Survey. [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 14 09 2021.]

https://www.shrn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/SHRN-NR-FINAL-23_03_21-en-AMENDED06.08.21.pdf. 57. **Food Foundation.** Feeding our future - State of the Nations WALES. [Online] 04 09 2021. [Cited: 14 10 2021.] https://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/FoF-SotN-Wales-FINAL.pdf.

58. Vale of Glamorgan Council Learning and Skills. Personal Communications. [Online] 2022.

59. **Stats Wales** . Key Stage 4 core indicators by free school meal entitlement and gender 2017/18. [Online] [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Examinations-and-Assessments/Key-Stage-4/ks4coreindicators-by-freeschoolmealentitlement-gender.

60. Welsh Government. Young people not in education, employment or training (NEET): April 2020 to March 2021. [Online] 22 09 2021. [Cited: 14 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/young-people-not-education-employment-or-training-neet-

april-2020-march-2021-html.

61. Careers Wales . Pupil destinations . [Online] 2020. [Cited: 19 01 2022.] https://careerswales.gov.wales/education-and-teaching-professionals/pupil-destinations.

62. Social Care Wales Data Observatory . Housing . [Online] Social Care Wales . [Cited: 14 09 2021.]

http://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/welshcommunitydata/view?viewId=2015.

63. Housing Services Vale of Glamorgan. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.

64. Public Health Wales Observatory . Interactive Data Tables 2018/19 . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 14 10 2021.]

https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/child-measurement-programme/cmp-2018-19/.

65. WHO Collaborating Centre on Investment for Health and Well-being, Public Health Wales. Health visitor enquiry about caregivers' adverse childhood experiences (ACEs): key learning from a pilot evaluation . [Online]

66. Public Health Wales . National immunisation uptake data . [Online] 18 06 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.]

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=457&pid=54144.

67. **Public Health Wales.** Inequalities in uptake of routine childhood immunisations in Wales 2018-19. [Online] 12 09 2019. [Cited: 02 11 2021.]

https://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk/VaccinationsImmunisationProgsDocs.nsf/3dc04669c9e1eaa880257062003b246b/8f1255 8145d6006080258485002b5117/\$FILE/COVER_Inequalities_AnnualReport_201819_v1.pdf.

68. **NHS Wales Health Collaborative**. Together for Children and Young People 2 Programme Definition April 2020 - March 2020. [Online] [Cited: 01 11 2021.] https://collaborative.nhs.wales/networks/wales-mental-health-network/together-for-children-and-young-people-2/resources-links/resources-and-links/t4cyp-2-programme-overview-2020-2022-v0-5-pdf/.





69. **Welsh Government.** Framework on embedding a whole-school approach to emotional and mental well-being . [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/framework-on-embedding-a-whole-school-approach-to-emotional-and-mental-well-being.pdf.

70. **Public Health Wales**. Rising to the Triple Challenge of Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change for health, well-being and equity in Wales. [Online] 2021.

71. **Cardiff and Vale University Health Board**. Neurodevelopmental Service . [Online] [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://cavuhb.nhs.wales/our-services/children-young-people-family-health-services/cypf-complex-needs-disability/community-paediatrics/neurodevelopmental-service/?ContensisTextOnly=true.

72. **StatsWales**. Disabilities of children receiving care and support by measure and year. [Online] 24 03 2021. [Cited: 24 01 2022.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/children-receiving-care-and-support/disabilitiesofchildrenreceivingcareandsupport-by-measure-year.

73. **The Index; Vale Family Information Service.** The Index for Children and Young People with Disabilities or Additional Needs in the Vale of Glamorgan Annual Report 2020-2021. [Online] 2021.

74. Cardiff Index. Personal communications . [Online] 09.

75. Vale of Glamorgan Index. Personal communications . [Online] 09 2021.

76. Cardiff & Vale Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership. Integrated Autism Service . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/national-autism-service/.

77. Welsh Government. Autistic Spectrum Disorder Updated Delivery Plan 2018-2021. s.l. : Welsh Government, 2018.

78. Welsh Government. *Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services*. s.l. : Welsh Government, 2021.

79. Welsh Government . Locked out: liberating disabled people's lives and rights in Wales beyond COVID-19. [Online] 02 07 2021. [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/locked-out-liberating-disabled-peoples-lives-and-rights-wales-beyond-covid-19-html.

80. Care Quality Commission . Provider collaboration review: care for people with a learning disability living in the community during the pandemic. [Online] 21 07 2021. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/provider-collaboration-review-care-people-learning-disability-living.

81. Welsh Government. Action on Disability: The Right to Independent Living Framework and Action Plan. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/action-on-disability-the-right-to-independent-living-framework-and-action-plan.pdf.

82. Welsh Government. Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services. s.l.: Welsh Government, 2021.

83. Integrated Autism Service . Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.

84. **Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council, and Cardiff and Vale University Health Board.** Joint Commissioning Strategy for Adults with Learning Disabilities 2019-2024. [Online] 2019. https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing/Adults/Documents/Adults%20with%20learning%20disabilities_English.pdf.

85. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Starting Well Partnership . Children and Young People's Emotional Health and Wellbeing . [Online]

86. Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership . Learning Disabilities. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/learning-disabilities/.

87. Stats Wales. Pupils with special educational needs by local authority, region and type of provision. [Online] 09 09 2021.
[Cited: 14 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Schools-Census/Pupil-Level-Annual-School-Census/Special-Educational-Needs/pupilssen-by-localauthorityregion-provision.
88. Autism Wales. Personal communications . 11 : s.n., 2021.

89. Cardiff Council . Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 25 10 2021.]

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf. 90. Social Care Wales . Placements of children and young people with learning disabilities. [Online] 10 2019. [Cited: 14 09 2021.] http://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/childrenandyoungpeople/childrenwithdisabilities/view?viewId=2288. 91. Cardiff & Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health & Social Care Partnership . Children with complex needs . [Online] [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/children-complex-needs/. 92. Institute of Public Care. Cardiff and the Vale Learning Disability Needs Assessment Report . 2018.

93. Welsh Government. White Paper - Rebalancing Care and Support. [Online] 12 01 2021. [Cited: 07 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf.

94. **Social Care Wales.** Social Care Wales Population Projections Platform. [Online] 08 03 2021. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] http://www.daffodilcymru.org.uk/.

95. Social Care Wales. Personal communications. [Online] 07 12 2021.

96. National Collaborative Commissioning Unit, NHS Wales. Improving Care, Improving Lives. s.l. : NHS Wales, 2020.

97. Welsh Government. The Additional Learning Needs Code for Wales 2021. s.l. : Welsh Government, 2021.

98. Care Inspectorate Wales. National review of care homes for children in Wales 2018-2019. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/2019-09/190926-national-review-of-care-homes-en.pdf.
99. Wales Centre for Public Policy. Children looked after in Wales: Trends. [Online] 09 2020.

100. **Stats Wales.** Children looked after at 31 March by local authority, gender and age. [Online] 24 02 2021. [Cited: 14 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-gender-age.




101. Welsh Government. Research on the number of children in Wales placed into care from parents with learning disability and the reasons behind their removal. [Online] 17 12 2019. [Cited: 18 11 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-12/research-number-children-placed-into-care-from-parents-learning-disability-reasons-behind-their-removal.pdf.

102. **Public Health Directorate, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board.** All our futures: understanding the health and wellbeing needs of children in contact with the Cardiff Youth Justice Service. [Online] 06 2021.

103. **Cardiff Council** . *Cardiff's Multi Agency Corporate Parenting Strategy 2021-2024*. Cardiff : Cardiff Council , 2021. 104. **Vale of Glamorgan Council** . Vale of Glamorgan Corporate Strategy for Children who need Care and Support 2019-2023. [Online] 2019.

105. **Stats Wales**. Children on child protection register by local authority, category of abuse and age group. [Online] 23 10 2019. [Cited: 15 09 2021.] 15.09.2021.

106. **Wales Centre for Public Policy**. Evidence briefing paper: Children looked after in Wales. [Online] Cardiff University, 2021. https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/WCPP-Evidence-Briefing-Children-looked-after-in-Wales.pdf.

107. **Martin Elliott, Economic and Social Research Council, Cardiff University.** The backgrounds of children entering public care in Wales. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 27 10 2021.] https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/Martin-Elliott-PhD-Edrych-ar-%C3%B4l-plant-yng-Nghymru-Dadansoddiad-o-gefndiroedd-plant-mynd-i-mewn-i-ofal-cyhoeddus.pdf. 108. **Stats Wales.** Children looked after at 31 March by local authority and placement type. [Online] 24 02 2021. [Cited: 14 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-placementtype.

109. Social Care wales . Children looked after. [Online] [Cited: 14 09 2021.]

http://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/childrenandyoungpeople/childrenlookedafter/view?viewId=1987. 110. **United Nations .** The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child . [Online] 1989. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2010/05/UNCRC_united_nations_convention_on_the_rights_of_the_child.pdf?_adal_sd=www.unicef.org .uk.1635887844858&_adal_ca=so%3DLive%26me%3Dorganic%26ca%3D(not%2520set)%26co%3D(not%2520set)%26ke%3 D(not%2520.

111. The Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff Integrated Family Support Team. The Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff Integrated Family Support Team Annual Report 2018-19. [Online] 11 2019.

112. Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Service. Youth Offending Service : Youth Justice Plan updated July 2021. [Online] 10 2021. [Cited: 13 01 2022.] https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Scrutiny-HSC/2021/21-10-13/YOS-Youth-Justice-Plan-Updated.pdf.

113. Director of Public Health, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Re-imagining ageing into the future . [Online] 2019. [Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://cavuhb.nhs.wales/files/key-publications/dph-report-2020-pdf/.

114. **Stats Wales.** Population estimates by Local Health Boards and age. *Stats Wales.* [Online] June 2021. [Cited: 12 October 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Health-Boards/populationestimates-by-lhb-age.

115. Stats Wales. General health and illness by year. [Online] 09 2020. [Cited: 06 10 2021.]

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-general-health-and-illness/genhealthillness-by-year.

116. Welsh Government. Age friendly Wales: our strategy for an ageing society. *Gov.Wales*. [Online] 10 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/age-friendly-wales-our-strategy-ageing-society.

117. Welsh Government. Connected Communities: a strategy for tackling loneliness and social isolation and building stronger communities. *gov.wales*. [Online] 02 2020. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/loneliness-and-social-isolation-connected-communities.

118. National Assembly for Wales. Inquiry into loneliness and isolation. *senedd.wales*. [Online] 12 2017. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld11310/cr-ld11310-e.pdf.

119. Welsh Government. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. *gov.wales*. [Online] 5 2019. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/social-services-and-well-being-wales-act-2014-the-essentials.pdf.

120. **Older People's Commissioner for Wales.** Making Wales the best place in the world to grow older: Commissioner's Strategy 2019-2022. *Older People's Commissioner for Wales.* [Online] 2019. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/publications/strategy.aspx.

121. **Public Health England.** Wider impacts of COVID-19 on physical activity, deconditioning and falls in older adults. *www.gov.uk.* [Online] 08 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-wider-impacts-on-people-aged-65-and-over.

122. **Kings Fund.** Deaths from Covid-19 (coronavirus): how are they counted and what do they show? *Kings Fund.* [Online] [Cited: 17 09 2021.] https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/deaths-covid-19.

123. **Banerjee, D.** The impact of Covid-19 pandemic on elderly mental health. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. *Wiley online library*. [Online] [Cited: 17 9 2021.] https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5320.





124. Welsh Government. Health and Social Care in Wales - COVID-19: Looking forward. *Gov. Wales.* [Online] 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/improving-health-and-social-care-covid-19-looking-forward.

125. Office for National Statistics. Coronavirus and the social impacts on older people in Great Britain: 3 April to 10 May 2020. *ONS.* [Online] [Cited: 17 9 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/coronavirusandtheso cialimpactsonolderpeopleingreatbritain/3aprilto10may2020.

126. **Age Connects Cardiff & the Vale.** Resilient Communities Project Report - July 2021. *www.ageconnectscardiff.org.uk.* [Online] 07 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.ageconnectscardiff.org.uk/about/reports/resilient-communities.

127. Welsh Government. Future Trends Report 2021 Evidence Pack . [Online] 12 2021. [Cited: 25 01 2022.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-12/future-trends-report-wales-2021-evidence-pack.pdf. 128. Centre for Ageing Better. How has COVID-19 changed the landscape of digital inclusion? *Centre for Ageing Better (2020).* [Online] [Cited: 17 9 2021.] https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-08/landscape-covid-19-digital.pdf.

129. British Geriatrics Society. Capturing beneficial change from the COVID-19 pandemic. *www.bgs.org.uk*. [Online] 03 07 2020. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.bgs.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/attachment/2020-07-

03/Beneficial%20changes%20from%20COVID%20-%20response%20from%20BGS.pdf.

130. Royal Society for Public Health . That Age Old Question . [Online] c.2019. [Cited: 09 11 2021.]

https://www.rsph.org.uk/our-work/policy/older-people/that-age-old-question.html.

131. Age UK. The Windrush scandal and Black Britons. [Online] 18 10 2020. [Cited: 07 11 2021.]

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/discover/2020/10/the-windrush-scandal/.

Public Health Wales Observatory. Public Health Outcomes Framework. www.phw.nhs.wales. [Online] [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/observatory/data-and-analysis/public-health-outcomes-framework/.
 Telecare Cardiff. Falls prevention: Telecare Cardiff's proposed strategy for falls prevention. www.telecarecardiff.co.uk.
 [Online] 2020. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://telecarecardiff.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Telecare-Fall-Report-Eng.pdf.

134. **Gething, Vaughan.** Cabinet statement: Written statement: Update on Palliative and End of Life Care. [Online] 04 03 2021. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/written-statement-update-palliative-and-end-life-care.

135. Welsh Government. National framework for the delivery of bereavement care . [Online] 28 10 2021. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/national-framework-delivery-bereavement-care-html#section-82873.

136. Etkind, S.N., Bone, A.E., Gomes, B. et al. How many people will need palliative care in 2040? Past trends, future projections and implications for services. s.l. : BMC Med, 2017. Vol. 15, 102.

137. Bone AE, Gomes B, Etkind SN, et al. What is the impact of population ageing on the future provision of end-of-life care? Population-based projections of place of death. s.l. : Palliative Medicine., 2018. Vol. 32, 2, pp. 329-336.

138. **Marie Curie.** The Better End of Life Report 2021. [Online] 04 2021. [Cited: 24 11 2021.]

https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/policy-publications/2021/better-end-of-life-research-report.pdf.

139. **Cardiff and Vale University Health Board.** Shaping Our Future Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2025. [Online] 2015. [Cited: 07 12 2021.] http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-

%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf.

140. Marie Curie. Personal communications. [Online] 06 12 2021.

141. End of Life Care Implementation Group. Review of specialist palliative care services in Wales 2010-2021. [Online] 07 2021.

142. Life expectancy inequalities in Wales before COVID-19: an exploration of current contributions by age and cause of death and changes between 2002 and 2018. **Currie, J et al.** 193:48-56, s.l. : Public Health, Vol. 2021 April.

143. **Older People's Commissioner for Wales**. State of the Nation: An overview of growing older in Wales . [Online] 2019. [Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State_of_the_Nation_e_-_online.sflb.ashx. 144. **Joseph Rowntree Foundation**. Impact of poverty on relationships. [Online] [Cited: 07 12 2021.]

https://www.jrf.org.uk/data/impact-poverty-relationships.

145. **Cardiff Council.** Cardiff Older Persons Housing Strategy 2019-2023. *www.cardiff.gov.uk*. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Social-care-and-Housing/Older-Persons-Housing-Strategy/Pages/default.aspx.

146. **Housing Learning and Improvement Network (LIN).** Assessment of Older Person's Housing and Accomodation including with Care and Care Ready. *www.cvihsc.co.uk.* [Online] 2018. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/An-Assessment-of-Older-Persons-Housing-and-Accommodation-2018.pdf.

147. Vale of Glamorgan Council. Local Housing Strategy 2015-2020. [Online] 2015. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/Housing/Housing-Strategy/Strategies-and-Plans.aspx.

148. Cardiff Council. Cardiff Housing Strategy. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 30 November 2021.]

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf. 149. Welsh Government. Housing Adaptations Strategic Framework Draft Guidance . [Online] 2021.





150. **Centre for Ageing Better.** Best foot forward: Exploring the barriers and enablers to active travel among 50 to 70 year olds. *www.ageing-better.org.uk* . [Online] 4 10 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://ageing-better.org.uk/publications/best-foot-forward-active-travel.

151. **Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership**. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership Annual Report 2020-2021. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 21 01 2022.] https://cvihsc.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2021/10/INTEGRATED_HEALTH_AND_SOCIAL_CARE_PARTNERSHIP_REPORT_ENG_FINAL.pdf. 152. **Wales Fiscal Analysis.** The future of care in Wales: resourcing social care for older adults . [Online] 08 2020. [Cited: 24 01 2022.] https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/2427400/social_care_final2_aug20.pdf. 153. **Welsh Government.** White Paper Rebalancing care and support . [Online] 12 01 2021. [Cited: 24 01 2022.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consultation-document.pdf.

154. **Office for National Statistics**. Deaths involving COVID-19 in the care sector, England and Wales: deaths registered between week ending 20 March 2020 and week ending 2 April 2021. [Online] 11 05 2021. [Cited: 25 01 2022.] https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/deathsinvolvingcovi d19inthecaresectorenglandandwales/deathsregisteredbetweenweekending20march2020andweekending2april2021. [55. Robling, M., Cannings-John, R. OSCAR Study Policy Briefing December 2021 What are the risks for Domiciliary Care

Workers in Wales from COVID-19? [Online] 12 2021. [Cited: 25 01 2022.] https://mfr.de-

1.osf.io/render?url=https://osf.io/wvzj5/?direct%26mode=render%26action=download%26mode=render.
 156. Welsh Government . Improving Health and Social Care (Covid 19 Looking Forward) Social Care Recovery Framework .
 [Online] 2021. [Cited: 21 01 2022.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/improving-health-and-social-care-covid-19-looking-forward.pdf.

157. Dewis Cymru. Dewis. [Online] [Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://www.dewis.wales/.

158. **Cardiff and Vale University Health Board**. Helping People to Live Well The Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation Model 2020. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://shapingourfuturewellbeing.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/The-Cardiff-and-Vale-Rehabilitation-Model-February-2020.pptx.

159. **Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership.** Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment . [Online] 01 04 2017. https://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Population-Needs-Assessment-1.pdf.

160. **Glamorgan Voluntary Services.** Directory of Services for Older People in the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff. [Online] 11 2020. [Cited: 19 11 2021.]

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5fbfa0b15bcb0228a27b05e0/t/60ed4d8da17c7f1bf0022acb/1626164625902/Direc tory+of+services+for+older+people+Sept+2020.pdf.

161. *New horizons in supporting older people's health and well-being: is social prescribing a way forward?* **Hamilton-West, K et al.** 3, s.l. : Age and Ageing, 2020, Vol. 49.

162. Royal College of General Practitioners . Loneliness. [Online] [Cited: 07 12 2021.]

https://www.rcgp.org.uk/policy/rcgp-policy-areas/loneliness.aspx.

163. Welsh Government. White Paper: Rebalancing care and support. *Gov. Wales*. [Online] 12 01 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consultation-document.pdf.

164. Stats Wales. General health and illness by local authority and health board. [Online] [Cited: 05 10 2021.]

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-general-health-and-illness/genhealthillness-by-localauthorityhealthboard.

165. **Stats Wales**. Adult lifestyles by local authority and health board, 2016-17 to 2019-20. [Online] [Cited: 2021 10 05.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-Lifestyles/adultlifestyles-by-localauthority-healthboard.

166. Welsh Government. National Survey for Wales: results viewer. [Online] 30 09 2021. [Cited: 06 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer.

167. **The Trussell Trust**. Food bank Statistics for previous Financial Years with Regional Breakdown. [Online] [Cited: 06 10 2021.] https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/end-year-stats/#children.

168. The Trussell Trust. Trussell Trust data briefing on end-of-year statistics relating to use of food banks: April 2020 - March 2021. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 06 10 2021.]

169. Office for National Statistics . Health state life expectancies, UK: 2017 to 2019. [Online] 25 01 2021. [Cited: 26 11 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/health statelifeexpectanciesuk/latest.

170. Office of National Statistics . Health state life expectancy at birth and at age 65 years by local areas, UK. [Online] 11 12 2019. [Cited: 07 10 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/datasets/health statelifeexpectancyatbirthandatage65bylocalareasuk.

171. Welsh Government. A Healthier Wales: Plan for Health and Social Care . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 28 10 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-09/a-healthier-wales-our-plan-for-health-and-social-care.pdf.





172. Welsh Government. Healthy Weight Healthy Wales. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 28 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/healthy-weight-strategy-healthy-weight-healthy-wales.

173. Welsh Government. Tobacco control strategy for Wales and delivery plan. [Online] 08 11 2021. [Cited: 22 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/tobacco-control-strategy-wales-and-delivery-plan.

174. **Green L, Morgan L, Azam S, Evans, L, Parry-Williams L, Petchey L, Bellis M.** A Health Impact Assessment of the "Staying at home and social distancing policy" in Wales in response to the COVID-19 pandemic . [Online] 06 2020. [Cited: 23 11 2021.] https://phwwhocc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/HIA_-

_Rapid_Review_of_SAH_Policy_Exec_Summary.pdf.

175. **Public Health Wales Health Protection.** Cases by MSOA of residence. [Online] 04 11 2021. [Cited: 25 01 2022.] https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/public.health.wales.health.protection/viz/RapidCOVID-19virology-Public/Headlinesummary.

176. Office of National Statistics. Deaths due to COVID-19 by local area and deprivation. [Online] 20 05 2021. [Cited: 05 10 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsduetocovid1 9bylocalareaanddeprivation.

177. Audit Wales . Taking Care of the Carers? How NHS bodies supported staff well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. 10 : s.n., 2021.

178. Welsh Government. Shielding Patient List in Wales during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic: as at 29 March 2021. [Online] 21 03 2021. [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/shielding-patient-list-wales-during-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic-29-march-2021.

179. Welsh Government. Coronavirus and employment: analysis of protected characteristics. [Online] 19 06 2020. [Cited: 05 10 2021.]

180. **The Food Foundation.** A crisis within a crisis: the impact of COVID-19 on household food security. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 07 10 2021.] https://foodfoundation.org.uk/publication/crisis-within-crisis-impact-covid-19-household-food-security.

181. Welsh Government. National Survey for Wales: results viewer. [Online] 30 09 2021. [Cited: 06 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer.

182. Social Care Wales. Care and support at home (Local Authority) . [Online] [Cited: 28 10 2021.]

http://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/adults/adultsreceivingcareandsupport/profile?profileId=532.

183. Public Health Wales. Voices of those with lived experiences of homelessness and adversity in Wales: informing

prevention and response. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/files/aces/voices-of-those-with-lived-

experiences-of-homelessness-and-adversity-in-wales-informing-prevention-and-response-2019/. 184. National Survey for Wales. Personal communications . 2021. [Online] 08, 19.

185. Welsh Government. High-level analysis of data on housing adaptations 2019-20. [Online] 07 2021.

186. Public Health Wales. Wales COVID-19 Vaccination Weekly Surveillance Summary. [Online] 16 01 2022. [Cited: 26 01 2022.]

https://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk/CommunitySurveillanceDocs.nsf/3dc04669c9e1eaa880257062003b246b/cf7a9a9adcddb b0a8025866b003a51a1/\$FILE/Wales%20COVID-19%20vaccination%20surveillance%20weekly%20report.pdf.

187. **Department for Work and Pensions.** Access to Work: factsheet for customers . [Online] 18 08 2021. [Cited: 2021 10 01.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-work-factsheet.

188. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Keeping Me Well COVID-19 Rehabilitation Model . [Online] 05 2020. [Cited: 23 11 2021.]

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/Cardiff%20and%20Vale%20Covid%20Rehab%20in c.%20web%20site%20May%202020.pdf.

189. Welsh Government. Future Trends Report 2017. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 06 10 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/170505-future-trends-report-2017-en.pdf.

190. World Health Organization Collaborating Centre on Investment for Health and Well-being. Brexit and Poverty in Wales: A Public Health Lens. [Online] 09 2021. [Cited: 23 11 2021.]

https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/brexit-and-poverty-in-wales-a-public-health-lens/.

191. UK Government. Equality Act 2010. [Online] 2010. [Cited: 07 10 2021.]

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/6.

192. Stats Wales . Disabled Status by Region. [Online] [Cited: 06 10 2021.]

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Disability/disabledstatus-by-region.

193. **Office for National Statistics**. Personal communications; DISEA by Local Authority for January 2018 - December 2020 (weighted 2020(L)) using APS longitudinal 3 year pooled dataset . [Online] 30 11 2021.

194. Carers Trust South East Wales. Cardiff and Vale Carers Gateway. [Online] [Cited: 06 10 2021.]

https://www.ctsew.org.uk/cardiff-and-the-vale-carers-gateway.

195. **Dewis Cymru**. Cardiff and Vale Advocacy Gateway - Social welfare advice and information . [Online] 20 05 2021. [Cited: 07 10 2021.] https://www.dewis.wales/ResourceDirectory/ViewResource.aspx?id=14117.

196. Welsh Government. Coronavirus (COVID-19) and the impact on disabled people . [Online] 11 03 2021. [Cited: 05 10 2021.]





197. Welsh Government. More than just words. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 07 10 2021.] .wales.nhs.uk/.

198. **Stats Wales.** Summary of economic activity in Wales by year and disabled status, from April 2013. [Online] [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Disability/summaryofeconomicactivityinwales-by-year-disabledstatus-fromapril2013.

199. **Equality and Human Rights Commission**. Is Wales fairer? The state of equality and human rights 2018. [Online] 2018. [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/is-britain-fairer-2018-is-wales-fairer.pdf. 200. **Welsh Government.** Disability Confident Scheme . [Online] 21 11 2019. [Cited: 01 11 2021.]

https://businesswales.gov.wales/news-and-blogs/news/disability-confident-scheme.

201. Home Office Crime and Policing Statistics. Hate crime, England and Wales, 2018/19 - Appendix Tables. [Online] 10
2020. [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/hate-crime-england-and-wales-2018-to-2019.
202. Social Care Wales . Social Care Wales Population Projections Platform - Activities of daily living . [Online] [Cited: 06 10
2021.] http://www.daffodilcymru.org.uk/.

203. **StatsWales.** Persons with learning disabilities by local authority, service and age range. [Online] [Cited: 10 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Disability-

Registers/persons with learning disabilities - by - local authority - service - agerange.

204. **StatsWales.** Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework (QAIF) disease registers by local health board, cluster and GP practice. [Online] [Cited: 21 01 2022.]

205. Welsh Government. Learning Disability Improving Lives Programme . [Online] 06 2018.

206. Welsh Government. Reducing Restrictive Practices Framework 2021. [Online] 09 09 2021. [Cited: 27 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/reducing-restrictive-practices-framework-2021.

207. **Improvement Cymru.** COVID-19-related deaths in Wales amongst People with Learning Disabilities from 1st March to 19th November 2020. [Online] 11 01 2022. [Cited: 01 02 2022.] https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/covid-19-related-deaths-in-wales-amongst-people-with-learning-disabilities-from-1st-march-to-19th-november-2020/.

208. Learning Disability Wales. 57% of people with a learning disability had paid for a direct payment service they were not receiving. [Online] 09 09 2021. [Cited: 03 10 2021.] https://www.ldw.org.uk/57-of-people-with-a-learning-disability-had-paid-for-a-direct-payment-service-they-were-not-receiving/.

209. RNIB. Sight Loss Data Tool Version 4.3.1. [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 15 10 2021.]

https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/knowledge-and-research-hub/key-information-and-statistics/sight-loss-data-tool. 210. **StatsWales.** Unique learners in work-based learning provision by programme and primary disability and/or learning difficulty. [Online] [Cited: 10 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Further-Education-and-Work-Based-Learning/Learners/Work-Based-

Learning/uniquelearnersworkbasedlearning-by-programme-primarydisability.

211. Cardiff and Vale College . Towards Independence . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 27 10 2021.]

https://cavc.ac.uk/en/courses/pwll/towards-independence#Towards-Independence.

212. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Personal communications. [Online] 10 2021.

213. **Vale of Glamorgan Council**. The Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing Strategy 2015-2020. [Online] 2015. [Cited: 25 10 2021.] https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf.

214. **Department of Health and Social Care, UK Government.** Guidance Liberty Proteciton Safeguards: what they are. [Online] 03 08 2021. [Cited: 27 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/liberty-protection-safeguards-factsheets/liberty-protection-safeguards-what-they-are.

215. Integrated Autism Service. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.

216. National Autism Team. Supplementary Annual Report 2019/20: Case Studies. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 09 12 2021.] https://autismwales.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Case-Studies-Compendium.pdf.

217. Welsh Government. Welsh language impact assessment. [Online] [Cited: 03 11 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/welsh-language-impact-assessment-autism_0.pdf.

218. **Stats Wales.** Unique learners in work-based learning provision by programme and primary disability and/or learning difficulty. [Online] 05 02 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Further-Education-and-Work-Based-Learning/Learners/Work-Based-

 $\label{eq:learning} Learning/unique learners work based learning-by-programme-primary disability.$

219. **World Health Organisation.** Mental health: strengthening our response. *World Health Organisation.* [Online] 30 March 2018. [Cited: 13 September 2021.] https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response.

220. Office for National Statistics. Annual personal well-being estimates . [Online] 15 10 2021.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/datasets/headlineestimatesofpersonalwellbeing. 221. **Stats Wales.** General health and illness by local authority and health board. *Stats Wales*. [Online] September 2020. [Cited: 29 November 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-general-health-and-illness/genhealthillness-by-localauthorityhealthboard.

222. Welsh Government. Talk to me 2. Welsh Government. [Online] 2015. [Cited: 23 September 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-08/talk-to-me-2-suicide-and-self-harm-prevention-strategy-for-wales-2015-2020.pdf.





223. Office for National Statistics . Suicides in England and Wales by local authority . [Online] 07 09 2021.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/suicidesbylocalauth ority.

224. **Welsh Government.** Together for Mental Health. *Welsh Government.* [Online] 31 October 2012. [Cited: 23 September 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/together-for-mental-health-a-strategy-for-mental-health-and-wellbeing-in-wales.pdf.

225. Welsh Government. Together for Mental Health. *Welsh Government*. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 23 September 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/together-for-mental-health-delivery-plan-2019-to-2022.pdf. 226. Cardiff and Vale UHB. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Suicide and Self harm Prevention Strategy, 2021-2024. *Cardiff and Vale UHB*. [Online] 15 November 2021. [Cited: 16 November 2021.] https://cavuhb.nhs.wales/patient-advice/keeping-people-well/about-public-health-in-cardiff-and-the-vale/key-publications/cardiff-and-vale-of-glamorgan-suicide-and-self-harm-prevention-strategy-2021-24/.

227. **Royal College of Psychiatrists.** Psychiatrists see alarming rise in patients needing urgent and emergency care and forecast a 'tsunami' of mental illness. *Royal College of Psychiatrists.* [Online] 15 May 2020. [Cited: 22 September 2021.] https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/news-and-features/latest-news/detail/2020/05/15/psychiatrists-see-alarming-rise-in-patients-needing-urgent-and-emergency-care#:~:text=Latest%20news-

,Psychiatrists%20see%20alarming%20rise%20in%20patients%20needing%20urgent%20and%2.

228. Office for National Statistics. Coronavirus and depression in adults, Great Britain: June 2020. Office for National Statistics. [Online] 18 August 2020. [Cited: 22 September 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/coronavirusanddepressioninadultsgreatbritai n/june2020.

229. **Public Health Wales.** Week 64: 'How Are We Doing in Wales' public engagement survey results. *Public Health Wales.* [Online] 2 July 2021. [Cited: 13 October 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/news/week-64-how-are-we-doing-in-wales-public-engagement-survey-results/.

230. **Public Health Wales Observatory.** Covid-19 Recovery Profile. *Public Health Wales Observatory.* [Online] 27 01 2022. [Cited: 26 01 2022.] https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/COVID19_Recovery_Profile_PHWO/.

231. Welsh Government. More than just words. *Welsh Government*. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 15 October 2021.] http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/Documents/415/160317morethanjustwordsen.pdf.

232. King's Fund. King's Fund. [Online] February 2012. [Cited: 11 October 2021.]

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/long-term-conditions-mental-health-cost-comorbidities-naylor-feb12.pdf.

233. **Public Health Wales Observatory.** Mental Wellbeing in Wales (2020). *Public Health Wales Observatory.* [Online] 2020. [Cited: 15 October 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/observatory/data-and-analysis/mental-wellbeing-in-wales-2020/.

234. **Samaritans Cymru.** Samariatans Cymru Impact Report. *Samaritans Cymru.* [Online] 10 September 2020. [Cited: 14 October 2021.] https://www.samaritans.org/wales/news/samaritans-cymru-impact-report-201920/.

235. **Parsonage, M and Saini, G.** Mental health at work: The business costs ten years on. *Centre for Mental Health*. [Online] 5 September 2017. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/publications/mental-health-work-business-costs-ten-years.

236. **The Health Foundation.** Unemployment and mental health. [Online] 16 April 2021. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/unemployment-and-mental-health.

237. Preece, J and Bimpson, E. [Online] 27 March 2019. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] https://housingevidence.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/190327-Housing-insecurity-and-mental-health-in-Wales_final.pdf.

238. WLGA. Housing related support. WLGA. [Online] [Cited: 2021 November 30.] https://www.wlga.wales/housing-related-support.

239. **Cardiff Council.** Cardiff Homelessness Strategy . *Cardiff Council.* [Online] 2018. [Cited: 14 October 2021.] https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/homeless-

 $strategy/Documents/Cardiff\% 20 Homelessness\% 20 Strategy\% 202018_2022.pdf.$

240. **Vale of Glamorgan Council**. Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2018-2022 Monitoring Report. [Online] 18 03 2020. [Cited: 24 11 2021.] https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Scrutiny-HSC/2020/20-03-18/Homelessness-Prevention-Strategy.pdf.

241. Stats Wales. Rough sleepers by local authority. Stats Wales. [Online] [Cited: 14 October 2021.]

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Rough-Sleepers/roughsleepers-by-localauthority.

242. Campbell, J A. My Say: A service user feedback project. Cardiff : CAVAMH, 2019.

243. Welsh Government. Future Trends: 2017. Welsh Government. [Online] 30 April 2019. [Cited: 11 October 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-10/future-trends-report-2017-2.pdf.

244. **Royal College of Psychiatrists.** Memory problems and dementia. *Royal College of Psychiatrists.* [Online] October 2019. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/mental-health/problems-disorders/memory-problems-and-dementia.

245. **Stats Wales.** Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework (QAIF) disease registers by local health board, cluster and GP practice. *Stats Wales*. [Online] 24 June 2021. [Cited: 25 October 2021.]





https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/NHS-Primary-and-Community-Activity/GMS-Contract/qualityassuranceandimprovementframeworkqaifdiseaseregisters-by-localhealthboard-cluster-gppractice. 246. **Welsh Government.** Dementia Action Plan for Wales. *Welsh Government.* [Online] 14 February 2018. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/dementia-action-plan-for-wales.pdf. 247. **Improvement Cymru.** All Wales Dementia Care Pathway of Standards. *Public Health Wales.* [Online] 2021. [Cited: 29 October 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/improvement-cymru/news-and-blog/publications/dementiastandards/.

248. Wang, H: et al. Dementia care during COVID-19. *The Lancet.* 2020, Vol. 395, 10231, pp. 1190-1191.

249. **Suárez-González, A and al, et.** Impact and mortality of COVID-19 on people living with dementia: cross-country report. *LTCcovid.org*. [Online] 19 August 2020. [Cited: 27 October 2021.] https://ltccovid.org/wp-

content/uploads/2020/08/International-report-on-the-impact-of-COVID-19-on-people-living-with-dementia-19-August-2020.pdf.

250. Mok, V. C. T., Pendlebury, S and Wong, A et al. Tackling challenges in care of Alzheimer's Disease and other dementias amid the COVID-19 pandemic, now and in the future. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*. 2020, Vol. 16, 11, pp. 1571-1581.

251. Office for National Statistics. Deaths due to COVID-19, registered in England and Wales: 2020. Office for National Statistics. [Online] 6 July 2021. [Cited: 27 October 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/deathsregistereddue tocovid19/2020.

252. Young Dementia UK. Coronavirus and dementia. *Young Dementia UK*. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://www.youngdementiauk.org/coronavirus-dementia.

253. Social Care Institute for Excellence. Dementia in Care Homes. *Social Care Institute for Excellence*. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://www.scie.org.uk/care-providers/coronavirus-covid-19/dementia/care-homes. 254. Social Care Institute for Excellence. Safeguarding adults wih dementia during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Social Care Institute for Excellence*. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://www.scie.org.uk/care-providers/coronavirus-covid-19/dementia/safeguarding.

255. **Beynon, C and Wood, S.** *Cardiff and Vale Integrated Health and Social Care.* [Online] 2017. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DHNA-Cardiff-and-Vale-Final.pdf.

256. Race Equality Foundation. Dementia Equity and Rights. *Race Equality Foundation*. [Online] May 2016. [Cited: 2021 October 28.] http://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Dementia-equity-and-rights-report.pdf. 257. Dementia UK. Employment and young onset dementia. *Dementia UK*. [Online] [Cited: 1 December 2021.] https://www.dementiauk.org/get-support/legal-and-financial-information/employment-and-young-onset-dementia/. 258. Cardiff Council. Older Person's Housing Strategy. *Cardiff Council*. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 1 December 2021.] https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Social-care-and-Housing/Older-Persons-

Housing-Strategy/Documents/Older%20People%27s%20Housing%20Strategy%202019.pdf.

259. SCIE. Dementia friendly environments. SCIE. [Online] October 2020. [Cited: 16 November 2021.]

https://www.scie.org.uk/dementia/supporting-people-with-dementia/dementia-friendly-environments/.

260. Dementia Friendly Cardiff. Dementia Friendly Cardiff. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 03 12 2021.]

https://dementiafriendlycardiff.co.uk/.

261. Office for National Statistics. Coronavirus and the social impacts on unpaid carers in Great Britain: April 2021. Office for National Statistics. [Online] April 2021. [Cited: 29 October 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/socialcare/articles/coronavirusandthesocia limpactsonunpaidcarersingreatbritain/april2021#glossary.

262. **Carers UK.** Will I Care? The likelihood of being a carer in adult life. *Carers UK.* [Online] 21 November 2019. [Cited: 7 November 2021.] https://www.carersuk.org/help-and-advice/practical-support/getting-care-and-support/36-for-professionals/policy-eng/report/6231-will-i-care-the-likelihood-of-being-a-carer-in-adult-life.

263. **Stats Wales.** Welsh residents by hours of care and local authority. *Stats Wales*. [Online] 25 September 2012. [Cited: 29 October 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Census/2011/WelshResidents-by-HoursCare-LocalAuthority. 264. **Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board.** *Population Needs Assessment on the Impact of COVID-19*

. Cardiff : Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership , 2020.

265. Welsh Government. Strategy for unpaid carers. *Welsh Government*. [Online] 23 March 2021. [Cited: 1 November 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/unpaid-carers-strategy.pdf.

266. NHS Shared Services Partnership . Carer Awareness . Learning@Wales. [Online] [Cited: 19 01 2022.]

https://learning.wales.nhs.uk/course/index.php?categoryid=376.

267. Carers Wales . Personal communications . [Online] 2022.

268. Burrows, D., Lyttleton-Smith, J., Sheehan, L. and Jones, D. Voices of Carers during the COVID-19 pandemic: Messages for the future of unpaid caring In Wales. Cardiff, UK : Cardiff University, 2021.

269. **Carers UK.** Carers and Physical Activity: A study of the barriers, motivations and experiences of unpaid carers aged 55 and over in England. *Carers UK.* [Online] 7 May 2021. [Cited: 7 November 2021.] https://www.carersuk.org/for-

professionals/policy/policy-library/carers-and-physical-activity-a-study-of-the-barriers-motivations-and-experiences-of-unpaid-carers-aged-55-and-over-in-england.





270. Carers Wales. State of Caring. *Carers Wales.* [Online] December 2019. [Cited: 3 November 2021.]

https://www.carersuk.org/wales/policy-resources-for-professionals/policy-library/state-of-caring-in-wales-2019-policy. 271. **Carers Wales.** Consultation Response: Priorities for the Local Government and Housing Committee. *Carers Wales.* [Online] 2021. [Cited: 3 November 2021.] https://www.carersuk.org/wales/policy-resources-for-professionals/policy-library/consultation-response-priorities-for-the-local-government-and-housing-committee.

272. Dewis Cymru . Dewis Cymru . [Online] [Cited: 12 11 2021.] https://www.dewis.wales/.

273. Terry, J., Redfern, P., Bond, J., Fowler-Powe, M., Booth, C. Deaf People Wales: Hidden Inequality. s.l. : All Wales Deaf Mental Health & Well-Being Group., 2021.

274. Wales Council for the Blind. Rehabilitation for people with sight loss in Wales . [Online] 2020. [Cited: 31 10 2021.] http://www.wcb-ccd.org.uk/downloads/rehabilitation_for_people_with_sight_loss_in_wales.pdf.

275. **NHS Wales** All Wales Standards for Accessible Communication and Inforamtion for People with Sensory Loss . [Online] 2013.

276. RNIB. Sight Loss Data Tool Version 4.3.1. [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 15 10 2021.]

277. Welsh Government; NHS Wales . Framework of Action for Wales, 2017-2020 Integrated framework of care and support for people who are D/deaf or living with hearing loss . [Online] 05 2017.

278. Merriam-Webster . intersectionality. [Online] [Cited: 02 12 2021.] https://www.merriam-

webster.com/dictionary/intersectionality.

279. **Cardiff and Vale University Health Board.** *Accessible Communication and Information*. Cardiff : Cardiff and Vale University Health Board , 2019.

280. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Accessible Communication and Information for People with Sensory Loss. [Online] 29 10 2021.

281. **Royal National Institute for Deaf People (RNID).** Coronavirus position statement. [Online] 28 09 2020. [Cited: 15 10 2021.] https://rnid.org.uk/about-us/research-and-policy/coronavirus-policy-statement/.

282. **Royal National Institute of Blind People**. Voice of the Customer: Living with Sight Loss through Lockdown in the United Kingdom (UK). [Online] 2020. [Cited: 01 11 2021.] https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/knowledge-and-research-hub/research-reports/general-research.

283. Annaswamy, T.M., Verduzco-Gutierrez, M., and Frieden, L. Telemedicine barriers and challenges for persons with disabilities: Covid-19 and beyond. [Online] 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.100973.

284. **National Deaf Children's Society**. Campaigning during Covid . [Online] 2020. [Cited: 01 11 2021.] https://www.ndcs.org.uk/get-involved/campaigning/covid/.

285. Wales Council of the Blind . Wales Council of the Blind . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 31 10 2021.] http://www.wcb-ccd.org.uk/.

286. RNIB. Eye health and sight loss stats and facts. [Online] 04 2018. [Cited: 02 12 2021.]

https://www.rnib.org.uk/sites/default/files/Eye%20health%20and%20sight%20loss%20stats%20and%20facts.pdf. 287. **Newborn Hearing Screening Wales; Public Health Wales .** Newborn Hearing Screening Wales Annual Statistical Report 2018-2019. [Online] 03 2020. [Cited: 15 10 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/screening/newbornhearing-screening-wales/programme-reports/annual-statistical-reports/newborn-hearing-screening-wales-annualstatistical-report-2018-19/.

288. **NHS 111 Wales .** Eye tests for children . [Online] 03 09 2021. [Cited: 15 10 2021.] https://111.wales.nhs.uk/Eyetestsforchildren/.

289. Wales Council of the Blind. Rehabilitation Officers for Visual Impairment: Addressing a workforce crisis in Wales . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 13 01 2022.] http://www.wcb-ccd.org.uk/downloads/addressing_a_workforce_crisis_in_wales.pdf. 290. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Falls in older people: assessing risk and prevention CG161. [Online] 12 06 2013. [Cited: 03 11 2021.] https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg161/chapter/1-Recommendations.

291. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board Falls Framework: Reducing risk and harm. [Online] 2019.

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/Falls%20Framework%20Report_FINAL.PDF. 292. **Wales Centre for Public Policy**. Domestic abuse interventions in Wales . [Online] 09 2020.

293. **Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan VAWDASV Partnership.** *Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2018-2023.* 2018.

294. Welsh Government. National Strategy on Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence - 2016-2021. Cardiff : Welsh Government, 2016.

295. South Wales Police. Freedom of Information Request. [Online] 30 09 2021.

296. South Wales Police. Personal communications. [Online] 24 11 2021.

297. Atal Y Fro. Personal communications . [Online] 01 2022.

298. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. Support Services for Older People Experiencing Abuse in Wales . [Online] 2021.

299. Welsh Government . Wales Safeguarding Procedures 2019. [Online] [Cited: 22 10 2021.]

https://www.safeguarding.wales/index.html.





300. Welsh Government. Policy and strategy Preventing and responding to child sexual abuse: national action plan. [Online] Welsh Government, 15 07 2019. [Cited: 22 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/preventing-and-responding-child-sexual-abuse-national-action-plan.

301. Welsh Government. National Training Framework on violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. [Online] 05 06 2019. [Cited: 19 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/national-training-framework-violence-against-women-domestic-abu.

302. **UK Government.** Policy paper Domestic Abuse Act 2021: overarching factsheet . [Online] UK Government, 28 07 2021. [Cited: 22 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-factsheets/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-overarching-factsheet.

303. South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner . Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls: a Joint Strategy 2019-2024 . [Online] 2019 . [Cited: 22 10 2021.] https://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/media/1893/vawg-joint-strategy-eng-web.pdf.

304. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Safeguarding Adults Board; Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Safeguarding Children Board . Cardiff & Vale Regional Safeguarding Baords Tackling Exploitation Strategy . [Online] 06 2020. https://www.cardiffandvalersb.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Exploitation-Strategy_ENGLISH.pdf.

305. Association Between COVID-19 Lockdown Measures and Emergency Department Visits for Violence-Related Injuries in Cardiff, Wales. Shepherd JP, Moore SC, Long A, Mercer Kollar LM, Sumner SA. 9, Cardiff : JAMA, 2021, Vol. 325.

306. Addressing the "shadow pandemic" through a public health approach to violence prevention. Snowdon, L., Barton, E., Newbury A., Parry, B., Bellis, M., Hopkins, J. 2, s.l. : Journal of Community Safety and Well-Being, 2020, Vol. 5.

307. Office for National Statistics. Domestic abuse during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, England and Wales: November 2020. [Online] 11 2020. [Cited: 19 01 2022.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseduringthecoronavirusco vid19pandemicenglandandwales/november2020.

308. Women's Aid Federation of England. Nowhere to turn 2021. 2021.

309. *Isolated and struggling: social isolation and the risk of child maltreatment, in lockdown and beyond.* **Romanou, E., and Belton, E.** London : NSPCC, 2020.

310. Cardiff and Vale VAWDASV Partnership. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2018 - 2023 Action Plan Progress Report 2020/21. [Online] 2021.

311. Cardiff Council. Personal communications . [Online] 01 2022.

312. Welsh Government. Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence: progress report 2019 to 2020. [Online] 25 02 2021. [Cited: 18 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-progress-report-2019-2020-html.

313. **Public Health Wales.** Harm Reduction Database Wales: Prevention and detection of infectious disease amongst people accessing substance misuse services Annual Report 2020-21. [Online] 2021.

314. **Institute of Public Care.** Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board Substance Misuse Needs Assessment . [Online] 12 2018. 315. **Welsh Government.** Substance Misuse Delivery Plan 2019-2022 Revise in response to COVID-19. [Online] 01 2021. https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-01/substance-misuse-delivery-plan-2019-to-2022.pdf.

316. World Health Organization. Alcohol and Drugs What is Substance Misuse. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 05 11 2021.] https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WherelLive/Council?pageId=3372.

317. Welsh Government. National Survey for Wales 2018-19 & 2019-2020 Adult lifestyles by local authority and health board, 2016-17 to 2019-20. [Online] [Cited: 04 11 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-Lifestyles/adultlifestyles-by-localauthority-healthboard.

318. **Office for National Statistics**. Quarterly alcohol-specific deaths in England and Wales: 2001 to 2019 registrations and Quarter 1 (Jan to Mar) to Quarter 4 (Oct to Dec) 2020 provisional registrations. [Online] 06 05 2021. [Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/quarterlyalcoholsp ecificdeathsinenglandandwales/2001to2019registrationsandquarter1jantomartoquarter4octtodec2020provisionalregistrations.

319. **Public Health Wales.** Data mining Wales: The annual profile for substance misuse 2019-20. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 04 11 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/data-mining-wales-the-annual-profile-for-substance-misuse-2019-20/.

320. Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board. Cardiff & Vale Substance Misuse Area Planning Board Annual Report 2020-2021. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 12 11 2021.]

321. Voices Action Change . Personal communications . [Online] 07-09 2021. [Cited: 01 12 2021.]

322. Welsh Government. Substance Misuse Delivery Plan 2019-2022. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 04 11 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/substance-misuse-delivery-plan-2019-22.pdf.

323. Welsh Government. Minimum Unit Pricing for alcohol. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 26 11 2021.]

https://gov.wales/minimum-unit-pricing-alcohol.

324. Emmerson, C. A health needs assessment of people who inject in public . [Online] 2021.

325. **Public Health England.** Monitoring alcohol consumption and harm during the COVID-19 pandemic. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 04 11 2021.]





https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1002627/Alcohol_an d <u>COVID_report.pdf</u>. 326. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board. Population Needs Assessment on the Impact of COVID-19. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 04 11 2021.] 327. WEDINOS . Annual Report 2020-2021. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 03 11 2021.] 328. Crisis UK. Drugs and alcohol Together we will end homelessness. [Online] [Cited: 03 11 2021.] https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/health-and-wellbeing/drugs-and-alcohol/. 329. WEDINOS. WEDINOS. [Online] [Cited: 07 11 2021.] https://www.wedinos.org/about-us. 330. Public Health Wales. Harm Reduction Database Wales: Drug related mortality Annual Report 2020-21. [Online] 2021. 331. World Health Organization . Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. [Online] 2018. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274603/9789241565639-eng.pdf?ua=1. 332. HM Chief Inspector of Prisons. Report on an unannounced inspection of HMP Cardiff. London : Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Prisons, 2019. 333. HMP Cardiff. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021. 334. Prison Reform Trust . Fair access to justice? . [Online] 06 2012. [Cited: 11 11 2021.] http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/FairAccesstoJustice.pdf. 335. Prison Reform Trust . Race . [Online] [Cited: 11 11 2021.] http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/WhatWeDo/Projectsresearch/Race. 336. Youth Offending Services in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021. 337. G4S. About Parc - Young Persons Unit. [Online] 2014. [Cited: 18 10 2021.] https://hmpparc.co.uk/about rar ypu.htm. 338. Neath Port Talbot Council . Hillside Secure Children's Home . [Online] [Cited: 18 10 2021.] http://www.hillsidesecurechildrenshome.co.uk/2231. 339. Welsh Parliament. Health and social care provision in the adult prison estate in Wales. [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 19 01 2022.] https://senedd.wales/media/ct4f03nb/cr-ld14318-e.pdf. 340. Welsh Government . Partnership agreement for prison health in Wales . [Online] 26 09 2019. [Cited: 19 01 2022.] https://gov.wales/partnership-agreement-prison-health-wales. 341. Ministry of Justice; Welsh Government. Female Offending Blueprint for Wales. 2019. 342. Ministry of Justice . Female Offender Strategy . 2018 . 343. Ministry of Justice; Welsh Government. Youth Justice Blueprint for Wales . 2019. 344. Ministry of Justice; Youth Justice Board. Standards for children in the youth justice system 2019. Cardiff : s.n., 2019. 345. HM Prison & Probation Service. The Target Operating Model for probation services in England and Wales. [Online] 02 2021. [Cited: 26 11 2021.] https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/959745/HMPPS -_The_Target_Operating_Model_for_the_Future_of_Probation_Services_in_England___Wales_-_English__-_09-02-2021.pdf. 346. UK Parliament . Mental health in prisons inquiry launched . [Online] 21 04 2021. [Cited: 07 11 2021.] https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/102/justice-committee/news/154695/mental-health-in-prison-inquirylaunched/#:~:text=The%20Justice%20Committee%20inquiry%20seeks%20to%20understand%20the,and%20whether%20th ere%20are%20any%20gaps%20in%20provision.. 347. Vale of Glamorgan Council. Youth Justice Plan 2021-2023. [Online] 2021. 348. Quality Network for Prison Mental Health Services. Review summary HMP Cardiff . [Online] 06 2021. 349. HM Prison and Probation Service in Wales. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021. 350. Adult Mental Health, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Personal communications. [Online] 25 10 2021. 351. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Physical health of people in prison NICE guideline [NG57]. [Online] 02 11 2016. [Cited: 12 11 2021.] https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng57/chapter/Recommendations. 352. Public Health Wales. Public Health Wales Response to the Health, Social Care and Sport Committee inquiry into provision of health and social care in the adult prison estate. Cardiff : Public Health Wales, 2019. 353. Public Health wales . Harm Reduction Database: Take Home Naloxone . Cardiff : Public Health Wales, 2018. 354. Communicable Disease Surveillance Centre, Public Health Wales . Tuberculosis in Wales Annual Report 2019 Data to the end of 2018 Key Points. [Online] 02 09 2019. [Cited: 13 10 2021.] http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/888/Wales2018AnnualTBReport_KeyTrends_v1.pdf. 355. Public Health Collaborating Unit, Bangor University and Policy and International Health Directorate, Public Health Wales NHS Trust. Understanding the prevalence of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) in a male offender population in Wales: the Prisoner ACE Survey. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 31 01 2022.] https://research.bangor.ac.uk/portal/files/23356885/PHW Prisoner ACE Survey Report E.pdf. 356. Madell, F. YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE BRIEFING TO CHILDEN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - DECEMBER 2019. 2019. 357. Welsh Governance Centre. Imprisonment in Wales: A Factfile . Cardiff : Cardiff University, 2018. 358. Cardiff Council . Personal communications; Prisoner Pathway . [Online] 01 2022. 359. UK Parliament. Serious Youth Violence 6 Prevention, early intervention and youth services. [Online] 31 07 2019. [Cited: 28 01 2022.] https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhaff/1016/101609.htm.





360. **All-Party Parliamentary Group on Knife Crime & Violence Reduction .** Securing a brighter future: The role of youth services in tackling knife crime . [Online] 03 2020. [Cited: 28 01 2022.] http://www.preventknifecrime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Securing-a-brighter-future-the-role-of-youth-services-in-tackling-knife-crime-v.2.pdf.

361. Early Intervention Foundation . What works to prevent gang involvement, youth violence and crime: A rapid review of interventions delivered in the UK and abroad. [Online] 17 11 2015. [Cited: 28 01 2022.]

https://www.eif.org.uk/report/what-works-to-prevent-gang-involvement-youth-violence-and-crime-a-rapid-review-of-interventions-delivered-in-the-uk-and-abroad.

362. Cardiff Youth Service. Cardiff Youth Service . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 31 01 2022.]

https://www.cardiffyouthservices.wales/.

363. Vale of Glamorgan Council . Youth Service. [Online] [Cited: 31 01 2022.]

https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/youth_service/Youth-Service.aspx.

364. **Statistics for Wales, Welsh Government .** Youth work in Wales, 2019-20. [Online] 10 06 2021. [Cited: 31 01 2022.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2021-06/youth-work-april-2019-march-2020-957.pdf.

365. Cardiff Youth Justice Services . Personal communications. [Online] 01 2022.

366. **Royal College of General Practitioners**. Prison health is public health - RCGP launches new position statement on care in secure environments. [Online] 18 07 2018. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://www.rcgp.org.uk/about-us/news/2018/july/prison-health-is-public-health.aspx.

367. **Ministry of Justice**. Prison Population Projections 2020 to 2026, England and Wales. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 07 12 2021.]

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/938571/Prison_Popu lation_Projections_2020_to_2026.pdf.

368. Welsh Parliament. Health and social care provision in the adult prison estate in wales . [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 13 10 2021.]

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s114322/Health%20and%20social%20care%20provision%20in%20the%20adult %20prison%20estate%20in%20Wales%20-%2031%20March%202021.pdf.

369. Equality, Local Government, and Communities Committee; National Assembly for Wales . "I used to be someone" Refugees and asylum seekers in Wales . [Online] 2017 .

370. Tai Pawb. Refugee Housing and Support Feasibility Study. [Online] 05 2019. [Cited: 28 11 2021.]

https://www.taipawb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/FINAL-Tai-Pawb-Refugee-Housing-Feasibility.pdf.

371. Welsh Government. Policy Implementation Guidance Health and wellbeing provision for refugees and asylum seekers. [Online] Welsh Government, 2018. [Cited: 28 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-01/summary-of-responses 1.pdf.

372. **Home Office**. Immigration Statistics year ending March 2021 Asylum and Resettlement - Summary Tables . [Online] 27 05 2021. [Cited: 19 08 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/immigration-statistics-year-ending-march-2021.

373. Cardiff City of Sanctuary . About Cardiff . [Online] [Cited: 27 08 2021.] https://cardiff.cityofsanctuary.org/about-cardiff.

374. **Health Services Research Team Swansea University.** The Health Experiences of Asylum Seekers and Refugees in Wales Executive Summary of the HEAR Study. [Online] 03 2019. https://phwwhocc.co.uk/resources/hear-study/. 375. **Refugee Council .** Information Asylum Statistics Annual Trends May 2021. [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 27 08 2021.]

https://media.refugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/15071431/Asylum-Statistics-Annual-Trends-May-2021.pdf.

376. Home Office . Immigration Statistics year ending September 2021 Asylum and Protection - Section 95 support by Local Authority. [Online] 25 11 2021. [Cited: 27 01 2022.]

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1034082/section-95-support-local-authority-datasets-sep-2021.xlsx.

377. Welsh Refugee Council . Personal communications. [Online] 13 09 2021.

378. Jane Hutt, Minister for Social Justice, Welsh Government. Cabinet statement: Written statement: Resettling Afghan citizens in Wales. [Online] 21 09 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/written-statement-resettling-afghan-citizens-wales.

379. Home Office. Immigration statistics year ending September 2021 Asylum and resettlement - Resettlement by Local Authority . [Online] 25 11 2021. [Cited: 19 01 2022.]

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1011730/resettleme nt-local-authority-datasets-jun-2021.xlsx.

380. **Stats Wales.** Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children being looked after at the 31 March by local authority. [Online] 24 02 2021. [Cited: 19 08 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/unaccompaniedasylumseekingchildrenbeinglookedafteratthe31march-by-localauthority . 381. **Doctors of the World .** NEW REPORT REVEALS THE EXTENT OF THE BARRIERS MIGRANTS FACE ACCESSING HEALTHCARE DURING THE PANDEMIC. [Online] 13 09 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.]

https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/news/new-report-reveals-the-extent-of-the-barriers-migrants-face-accessing-healthcare-during-the-pandemic/.





382. Welsh Refugee Council . What we do Skills for Integration. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://wrc.wales/skills-for-integration/.

383. Ask Cardiff. Ask Cardiff 2018 Findings report. [Online] 02 2019.

384. West point Crim eand Social Research; Cardiff University. Hate Crime Advocacy and Empowerment Project Evaluation and Good Practice Guide. [Online]

385. **Welsh Government.** A more equal Wales: The Socio-Economic Duty Equality Act 2010 Statutory Guidance. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 25 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf. 386. **UK Parliament.** Asylum seekers: the permission to work policy. [Online] 21 01 2021. [Cited: 09 11 2021.]

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn01908/.

387. West Point Crime and Social Research Consultancy; Cardiff University . With MEE in Mind The Minority Ethnic Elders Advocacy (MEEA) Project An Evaluation and Good Practice Guide. [Online] 2016.

388. Welsh Government . Policy Implementation Guidance Health and wellbeing provision for refugees and asylum seekers. [Online] Welsh Government , 2018.

389. Health Services Research Team Swansea University. The Health Experiences of Asylum Seekers and Refugees in Wales Executive Summary of the HEAR Study . [Online] 03 2019.

390. **Home Office.** Consultation outcome New Plan for Immigration: policy statement . [Online] 22 07 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/new-plan-for-immigration/new-plan-for-immigration-policy-statement-accessible.

391. Welsh Government. Taking forward the findings of the Veterans Scoping Exercise in Wales and the Strategy for our Veterans. [Online] 01 2020. [Cited: 18 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/taking-forward-the-findings-of-the-veterans-scoping-exercise-in-wales-and-the-strategy-for-our-veterans.pdf.

392. Office for Veterans Affairs. Veterans Factsheet 2020. Armed Forces Covenant. [Online] [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/veterans-factsheet-2020.

393. Burdett, H, et al. "Are you a Veteran?" Understanding of the term "Veteran" among UK Ex-Service Personnel. A Research Note. *www.kcl.ac.uk.* [Online] 2012. [Cited: 20 10 2021.]

https://www.kcl.ac.uk/kcmhr/publications/assetfiles/veterans/burdett-2012-veterans.pdf.

394. **Ministry of Defence.** Annual Population Survey: UK Armed Forces Veterans residing in Great Britain 2017. *Gov.uk.* [Online] [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/annual-population-survey-uk-armed-forces-veterans-residing-in-great-britain-2017.

395. **Ministry of Defence.** Location of armed forces pension and compensation recipients: 2021. *Gov.uk*. [Online] [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/location-of-armed-forces-pension-and-compensation-recipients-2021.

396. **Ministry of Defence and Cabinet Office.** Strategy for Our Veterans. *Gov.uk.* [Online] 2018. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategy-for-our-veterans.

397. Welsh Government. Taking forward the findings of the Veterans Scoping Exercise in Wales and the Strategy for our Veterans. *Gov. Wales*. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/veterans-and-armed-forces-scoping-exercise-strategy-report.

398. Forces in Mind Trust. 2020 Impact Report. www.fim-trust.org. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 02 11 2021.]

https://s31949.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/FiMT-Impact-Report-2020-Electronic.pdf.

399. Williams, A., Reed, H., Segrott, J., Barnaby, B., Rees, A. Developing a Model of the Restorative Approaches Veteran Family Service . [Online] 12 2021. [Cited: 13 01 2021.] https://s31949.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/Report.-Developing-amodel-of-the-restorative-approaches-veteran-family-service_FiMT-DLEdit2-1.pdf.

400. Veterans' NHS Wales. Veterans NHS Wales Annual Report April 2019-March 2020. *www.veteranswales.co.uk*. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://www.veteranswales.co.uk/images/VNHSW_Annual_Report_2020_LORES_1.pdf.

401. Welsh Government. Together for Mental Health: A Strategy for Mental Health and Wellbeing in Wales. *Gov.Wales*. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/together-for-mental-health-summary.pdf.

402. The health and wellbeing of veterans: a rapid review. al, Oster C et. 2017, BMC Psychiatry.

403. Welsh Government. Service Framework for the treatment of people with a co-occurring mental health and substanced misuse problem . [Online] 09 2015. [Cited: 09 11 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/service-framework-for-the-treatment-of-people-with-a-co-occurring-mental-health-and-substance-misuse-problem.pdf.

404. **Combat Stress.** Multiple deprivation in help-seeking veterans. *www.kcl.ac.uk.* [Online] 2017. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://www.kcl.ac.uk/kcmhr/publications/assetfiles/2017/Murphy2017.pdf.

405. Mental health disorders and alcohol misuse among UK military veterans and the general population: A comparison study. Rhead, R., MacManus, D., Jones, M., Greenberg, N., Fear, N., & Goodwin, L. 2020, Psychological Medicine.

406. **Burdett, H et al.** Military and demographic predictors of mental ill-health and socio-economic hardship among UK veterans. *bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com*. [Online] 06 07 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.]

https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12888-021-03296-x.

407. Welsh Government. Armed Forces Covenant: annual report 2020. *gov.wales.* [Online] 22 June 2021. [Cited: 21 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/armed-forces-covenant-annual-report-2020-html#section-73445.





408. Armed Forces Covenant. Armed Forces Covenant . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 18 11 2021.]

http://www.covenantwales.wales/.

409. Lord Ashcroft . The Veterans' Transition Review. *www.veteranstransition.co.uk*. [Online] 2014. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] http://www.veteranstransition.co.uk/vtrreport.pdf.

410. **Ministry of Defence.** Population projections: UK armed forces veterans residing in Great Britain, 2016 to 2028. *Gov.uk.* [Online] 2019. [Cited: 21 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/population-projections-uk-armed-forces-veterans-residing-in-great-britain-2016-to-2028.

411. **UK Government.** Wales Veterans Commissioner launched in new UK Government Veterans Strategy Action Plan. [Online] 24 01 2022. [Cited: 28 01 2022.] https://www.gov.uk/government/news/wales-veterans-commissioner-launched-in-new-uk-government-veterans-strategy-action-

plan#:~:text=Minister%20for%20Defence%20People%20and,access%20the%20best%20quality%20support..

412. Welsh Parliament. Provision of health and social care in the adult prison estate. [Online] 19 02 2020. [Cited: 03 11 2021.] https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=24408.

413. **UK Parliament**. The state of health and care in English prisons. [Online] 01 11 2018. [Cited: 07 11 2021.] https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhealth/963/96303.htm.

414. UK Government. Prison health inquiry: government response. [Online] 14 01 2019. [Cited: 07 11 2021.]

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prison-health-inquiry-government-response.

415. Office for National Statistics. Life expectancy for local areas of the UK between 2001 to 2003 and 2018 to 2020. [Online] 23 09 2021. [Cited: 26 11 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulation and community/health and social care/health and life expectancies/bulletins/life expectancy for local areas of the uk/between 2001 to 2003 and 2018 to 2020.

416. National Autism Team . Annual Report 2018/19: Case Studies . [Online] 2019. [Cited: 09 12 2021.]

https://autismwales.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/IAS-and-ASD-Leads-Case-Studies-English.pdf.

417. **Public Policy Institute for Wales**. Quantifying the Benefits of Early Intervention in Wales: A Feasibility Study . [Online] 08 2015. [Cited: 31 01 2022.] http://ppiw.org.uk/files/2014/10/PPIW-Report-Quantifying-the-benefits-of-early-intervention.pdf.

418. Public Health Wales. Personal communications . [Online] 2022.



BWRDD PARTNERIAETH RHANBARTHOL CAERDYDD A'R FRO CARDIFF & VALE REGIONAL PARTNERSHIP BOARD

For a hard copy of this report, or for further information, please contact Hsc.Integration@wales.nhs.uk

Equality & Health Impact Assessment for

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022

Please read the Guidance Notes in Appendix 1 prior to commencing this Assessment

Please note:

- The completed Equality & Health Impact Assessment (EHIA) must be
 - Included as an appendix with the cover report when the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service change is submitted for approval
 - Published on the UHB intranet and internet pages as part of the consultation (if applicable) and once agreed.
- Formal consultation must be undertaken, as required¹
- Appendices 1-3 must be deleted prior to submission for approval

Please answer all questions:-

1.	For service change, provide the title of the Project Outline Document or Business Case and Reference Number	Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022 for the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014
2.	Name of Clinical Board / Corporate Directorate and title of lead member of staff, including contact details	Cardiff and Vale University Health Board Public Health Directorate Dr Emily Clark, Specialty Registrar in Public Health Dr Suzanne Wood, Consultant in Public Health Medicine Hsc.Integration@wales.nhs.uk
3.	Objectives of strategy/ policy/ plan/ procedure/ service	The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act requires each region to produce a Population Needs Assessment (PNA) every electoral cycle. The PNA is due for publication by 1st April 2022, and will provide input to the Market Stability Report and Area Plans. The Regional Partnership Board (RPB) encompasses Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority areas.

¹http://nww.cardiffandvale.wales.nhs.uk/portal/page? pageid=253,73860407,253_73860411&_dad=portal&_schema=PORTAL

The PNA requires local authorities and Local Health Boards to form partnerships to assess: 1. The needs for care and support, and the support needs of carers in the local authority's area 2. The extent to which those needs are not being met 3. The range and level of services required to meet those needs 4. The range and level of services required to deliver the preventative services required in section 15 of the Act; and 5. How these services will be delivered through the medium of Welsh (1) The PNA must look forward until the next iteration in April 2027. The Code of Practice specifies that a broad range of individuals, groups, and organisations should provide input into the development of the Population Needs Assessment, and consider how to reach those seldom heard, for example, homeless people (1). Supplementary guidance issued in March 2021 states that careful consideration of communication needs should be given, for example, British Sign Language users (2). The Socio-Economic Duty was launched in March 2021 and should be included in the PNA. The following themes are required, by law, to be included: • Children and young people • Health / physical disabilities • Learning disability / autism • Mental health • Sensory impairment • Carers who need support; and • Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence
 Three additional themes were chosen for inclusion as they are of particular relevance for the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Asylum seekers and refugees

		Substance misuse
		Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)
		The Code of Practice states the following regarding equality impact assessment and Welsh language:
		Equality Impact Assessments 93. As set out in chapter 1, local authorities must have due regard the United Nation Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, United Nation Convention on the Rights of the Child, and the United Nation Principles for Older Persons in relation to an individual person who needs care and support and carers who need support. In addition, the Public Sector Equality Duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires all public authorities to have due regard to protected characteristics when exercising their functions.
		Local authorities and Local Health Boards must therefore undertake an Equality Impact Assessment as part of the process of undertaking a population assessment, which must include impact assessments on; Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion and Beliefs, Sex and Sexual Orientation (1).
		Welsh Language 121. When assessing the extent to which there are people who need care and support and carers who need support, local authorities and Local Health Boards should establish, and make clear in their population assessment report, the Welsh language community profile (1).
4.	 Evidence and background information considered. For example population data staff and service users data, as applicable needs assessment 	Throughout the production of the Population Needs Assessment, consideration was given to inequalities and people with increased vulnerability. We were mindful of the "seldom heard voices" as this refers to under- represented people who may have care and support needs. Many factors can contribute to being seldom heard, of which some of these factors are themes

 engagement and involvement findings research good practice guidelines participant knowledge list of stakeholders and how stakeholders 	 within the Assessment, such as disabilities, age, communication impairments, and mental health problems. COVID-19 is known to have had a disproportionate impact on certain groups within the population.
 Inst of stateholders and now stateholders have engaged in the development stages comments from those involved in the designing and development stages 	A meeting was held with the CAV UHB Equalities Manager, Specialist Health Promotion, and Welsh Language Officer early in the process (18.06.2021).
Population pyramids are available from Public Health Wales Observatory ² and the UHB's 'Shaping Our Future Wellbeing' Strategy provides an overview of health need ³ .	The Steering Group included representatives from Cardiff Third Sector Council and Glamorgan Voluntary Services, as well as strategic and data leads from both local authorities, and representatives from CAV UHB, Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board, and Public Health.
	For each population group, a meeting was held with professional leads from CAV UHB and each Local Authority, with additional attendees as relevant for the topic. The group discussed the key documents, policies, strategies, and developments since the 2017 PNA. Data sources for this iteration of the PNA was discussed.
	Engagement was based on the 2017 Population Needs Assessment and updated for this report. The coronavirus pandemic has influenced how communications and engagement events can be run. Engagement conducted for the Population Needs Assessment needed to adhere with and anticipate future guidelines and legislation, as well as consider people's individual wishes. Footfall in public spaces were less than prior to COVID-19. A number of different approaches were taken to obtain the information required to give a holistic overview of the care and support needs in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, and the range and level of services required to meet those needs. This included gathering existing data, assessments and reports; as well as conducting bespoke engagement work for this Population Needs Assessment.

 ² <u>http://nww2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/PubHObservatoryProjDocs.nsf</u>
 ³ <u>http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/the-challenges-we-face</u>

 Three public surveys were developed: Adults in the general public (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)
Children and young people (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)
Adults in HMP Cardiff (available as hard copy)
Cardiff Youth Board kindly piloted the children and young people's survey and provided feedback which was incorporated into the final survey.
A total of 661 general public surveys were returned; 3 Easy Read surveys; 35 surveys from children and young people; and 96 from HMP Cardiff.
A professionals and provider survey was developed (available online and hard copy). A total of 118 responses were received.
Surveys were disseminated through a variety of organisations, including Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council, Glamorgan Voluntary Services, Cardiff Third Sector Council, as well as through organisations working in health and social care services, education, and youth services. The surveys were also advertised through social media.
Survey responses are not representative of the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.
A total of 23 focus groups were held across 18 themes. These were conducted by Cardiff Third Sector Council with support from Glamorgan Voluntary Services and third sector organisations.
Focus groups were mostly virtual (12); with some hybrid (2); and 5 face to face. One population group ran two separate focus groups – one virtual and one face to face. A total of 132 participants (range 1-12) took part in the focus groups, which took place in October 2021.

The following focus groups were held. Numbers of participants are given in
 brackets: Infants, children and young people with disabilities, their parents or carers (n=8) Children looked after, adopted children, care experienced children, children on the edge of care (n=3) Older people (65-84 years) (n=4) Older people (85+ years) (n=3) Adults with a long term condition (n=5) Adults with a disability (n=8) Adults with learning disability x3 (n=7; n=5; n=8) Adults with a mental health illness (n=4) Adults with cognitive impairment/dementia (n=7) Adults with sight loss (n=6) Adults from the D/deaf community (n=4) Women with experience of violence, domestic abuse, or sexual violence x2 (n=9 total) Adults currently residing in HMP Cardiff (n=8) Armed forces service leavers (veterans) (n=6) Adults with substance misuse (n=2) Adults who are currently homeless / have experience of homelessness (n=10)
 Unfortunately three planned focus groups did not take place as no participants could be identified in the timeframes available, or, the provider withdrew: Young people & young adults who require care and support due to, or experiencing transition to adult services Children and young people and families using neurodevelopmental assessment services/post-diagnostic support

 Gypsies and travelers The following organisations provided support with engagement work: Adferiad Recovery Age Cymru Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH) Cardiff People First Cardiff Third Sector Council Cardiff Youth Board Cerebral Palsy Cymru Chinese in Wales Association Community Care & Wellbeing Service (CCAWS) Glamorgan Voluntary Services Grandparents Raising Grandchildren Huggard Centre HMP Cardiff Qasis Cardiff Richard Newton Consultants Sightlife – Sight Cymru Vale of Glamorgan Council - Autistic Spectrum Disorder Project Wales Neurological Alliance

Engagement frameworks were considered during the development of the engagement plan (e.g., Citizen's Engagement Framework; Children and Yong People National Participation Standards).
Limitations COVID-19 has had a tremendous impact on the population, which the Population Needs Assessment will detail. It has also impacted on professionals working in operational and strategic roles which presented a challenge for the completion of this assessment. Additional challenges presented themselves in the form of the timeline with which the Population Needs Assessment was conducted; a novel approach to the Population Needs Assessment will be taken in future to mitigate this as detailed below.
Due to uncertainty of the future evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic in terms of restrictions and risks at each stage of the Population Needs Assessment, a cautious approach was taken. For example, engagement work was planned for an online format, with opportunities for face to face interactions in the focus group where legislation allowed, and where participants and hosting organisations felt comfortable. The tight timeline within which engagement work needed to be conducted reduced participation in both surveys and focus groups. The Regional Partnership Board are developing their Communications and Engagement strategy which will address these difficulties and gaps, and will incorporate lessons learned. For example, some residents may not have digital access and may not wish to engage in in-person engagement, and so their views will be sought in future work as a priority.
Only a minority of focus group participants (9/132) completed equalities monitoring forms, and therefore the results are not presented here.
 Feedback from focus group organisers has been shared with the Regional Partnership Board for consideration during planning of future engagement work. Feedback included: The need for a longer lead in time to increase participation in focus
• The need for a longer lead in time to increase participation in focus groups

		 The Social Model of Disability, rather than the Medical Model of Disability, should be used Improved access to the Easy Read survey The length of the equalities monitoring form The duration of the focus groups Future engagement will learn from these experiences and endeavor to address these concerns, through advanced planning, and bespoke consideration of each population group.
5.	Who will be affected by the strategy/ policy/ plan/ procedure/ service	 The PNA will help shape the Cardiff and Vale Area Plan and Market Stability Report. Although the assessment concentrates on the following population groups, many findings will be transferable to others not within the group. Some people will feel included in more than one of the themes. Themes included: children and young people (including children and young people with complex needs, and children looked after); older people; healthy lifestyles and long term conditions; physical disabilities; learning disability; autism; adult mental health; cognitive impairment including dementia; unpaid adult carers; sensory loss and impairment; violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence; secure estates; asylum seekers and refugees; armed forces service leavers (veterans); substance misuse. As a needs assessment, the main impact of concern is that of under- representation of certain groups. This document will describe the characteristics of those who participated in engagement work. The findings of this assessment should therefore not be considered exhaustive. Those who are under-represented in engagement work include: Those who are digitally excluded People who are trans

	 Women who are expecting a baby, who are on a break from work after having a baby, or who are breastfeeding People who are from an ethnic minority background People who consider themselves: Buddhist, Hindu, Jewish, Muslim, or Sikh Those who were physically unable to participate in engagement and did not have an individual who could speak for them Gypsies and travelers
	The Population Needs Assessment will take a hybrid approach in future iterations. This comprises a rolling update of quantitative data, and periodic refresh of qualitative data from engagement work. Therefore, this PNA report and Equality & Health Impact Assessment (EHIA) should be considered a first iteration: the beginning of an ongoing conversation between the Regional Partnership Board, and the residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. We welcome comments and feedback on the PNA and the EHIA, as we seek to learn, improve, and develop. Please send these to Hsc.Integration@wales.nhs.uk

6. EQIA / How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on people?

Questions in this section relate to the impact on people on the basis of their 'protected characteristics'. Specific alignment with the 7 goals of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is included against the relevant sections.

How will the	Potential positive and/or negative impacts	Recommendations	Action
strategy, policy,		for improvement/	taken by
plan, procedure		mitigation	Clinical
and/or service			Board /
impact on:-			Corporat
			е

			Directora te. Make reference to where the mitigation is included in the document, as appropriate
 6.1 Age For most purposes, the main categories are: under 18; between 18 and 65; and over 65 	 No negative impacts of the PNA on age were identified. However, children and young people were underrepresented in engagement work and so there may be additional views which were not captured by this assessment. The findings of the PNA should therefore not be considered exhaustive. Participants in the Children Looked After focus group were grateful for the opportunity to be listened to, suggesting that future engagement work with young people would be welcomed. Examples of key needs identified for children and young people include: Emotional and mental health and well-being Independence and having a voice Role of education in learning and signposting, and it's interruption due to COVID-19 and restrictions Examples of key needs identified for older people (aged 65 or over) include: Reducing loneliness and isolation Needs arising because of changes in behaviour due to COVID-19 and restrictions such as less (physical) activity, deconditioning Addressing financial insecurity Appropriate and accessible housing 	RPB programmes are designed to support people at different stages of their life cycle: starting, living and ageing well. We want to deliver services that are tailored for people at different stages of life and our engagement will be designed to capture the experiences and opinions of people in each age category. Each chapter in the PNA has developed	

	How old are you? (Base: 647)	
	26.6	
	20.0	
	15.0 11.3 14.1	
	10.0	
	5.0 5.6 4.6	
	18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75-84 85+	
	Older people are more likely to be digitally excluded and therefore their full range of	
	views may not have been captured by this survey. Digital exclusion has been identified in many chapters in the PNA, in particular, chapter 8 (older people) (see section 8.2.1 in the	
	PNA report).	
	26 of the 35 respondents of the children and young people survey provided their age; the	
	breakdown is as follows: 42% were aged 12-15, 35% were aged 16-18, and 23% were aged 0-11. This is a small, self-selecting sample, and so their views cannot be	
	extrapolated to the whole population of people aged under 18.	
	Two focus groups which were planned did not take place, therefore the in-depth views of	
	young people & young adults who require care and support due to, or experiencing transition to adult services, as well as children and young people and families utilising	
	neurodevelopmental assessment services/post-diagnostic support were not captured by	
	this PNA.	
6.2 Persons with a	No negative impacts of the PNA on people with a disability were identified. However,	The RPB has
disability as defined	feedback from engagement identified that the Social Model of Disability should have	identified disability as a key focus in our

in the Equality Act			odel of Disability when qu		nd phase 1 engagement
2010	structured. This	s feedback will be cor	nsidered during future cit	izen engagement.	as we recognise
Those with physical			people with disabilities		
impairments, learning		•	he following chapters:		will be particularly
disability, sensory loss or impairment,	People	with long term condi	tions are considered wit	hin the chapter "Healthy	-
mental health	Lifestyle	es and Long Term Cor	nditions" (chapter 9)		redesign health and
conditions, long-term	 Disable 	d people are included	within chapter 10, "Phys	ical Disability"	social care services.
medical conditions	People	with a learning disab	ility are considered in cl	napter 11; autistic people	e are The RPB hopes that
such as diabetes	included	l in chapter 12.			by bringing services
	 Adult m 	ental health is discus	sed in chapter 13.		closer to home and
	Cogniti	ve impairment inclue	ding dementia is discus	sed in chapter 14.	making them easier to
	People	with sensory loss an	d impairment are discu	ssed in chapter 16.	navigate people with
		-	d substance misuse are	-	8. disabilities will find
	•	•	vere also included in and	•	they have improved
		• •	ore likely to have or deve		
		population:	,	1 5	The RPB's Living Well
	•		pairment in adults (202	1)	Programme has
	•	•	10 times more likely to e	•	established excellent
		ral population.	,	1	links with people who
	Ť	Estimated number			have a learning
		of adults with a	Estimated number of	Estimated number of	disability and they
	Area	learning disability	adults with a learning	adults with a learning disability	have had a great deal
	Alea	and visual	disability and	and blindness or	of input into
		impairment (partial	blindness	partial sight	developments in this
		sight)			area e.g. Smart
	Wales	3,970	1,120	5,090	House design. This
		0,010	1,120	0,000	will continue as our
	Cardiff	420	120	540	work progresses.

The Vale of	170	45	215	The Social Model of
Glamorgan	110	-10	210	Disability will be used,
Reference: (3)				in accordance with
				feedback received.
•	•	fied in these population		
consider how the	ney can best meet the	ese needs: a positive imp	act.	Each chapter in the
				PNA has developed
•		people with a long term	condition or a physical	recommendations
disability includ				based on the key t needs identified.
	• • •	•	on disabled people (direct	
		VID-19 and restrictions)	ealth services; mental hea	assessments should
	•	h mental health disorders	s and homolossnoss	consider the findings
				of the PNA in their
Examples of ke	ev needs identified by	people with learning disa	ability or autism include:	development.
•	•	onomy, and co-production	•	
•	ole transport options	onomy, and oo production		
,				
Examples of ke	ey needs identified by	people with a mental he	alth condition or cognitive	3
-	luding dementia includ		Ŭ	
Timely a	access to services and	treating physical and m	ental health conditions	
holistica	lly			
Caring feedback	or unpaid carers			
Examples of ke	ey needs identified by	people with sensory loss	s or impairment include:	
	•		access services equitably	y
(for exar	mple, hearing loop ava	ailability and BSL interpr	eters)	
Education	on and employment op	oportunities		



	 Three Easy Read surveys were returned. In view of small numbers, no further disaggregation is provided. A number of focus groups were held to identify the views of people with disabilities: Adults with a long term condition (n=5) Adults with a disability (n=8) Adults with learning disability x3 (n=7; n=5; n=8) Autistic adults (n=1; considered an interview rather than a focus group) Adults with a mental health illness (n=4) Adults with cognitive impairment/dementia (n=7) Adults from the D/deaf community (n=4) Adults with substance misuse (n=2) Some focus groups were very small, and so views garnered cannot be said to be representative; however, they provide depth of insight of people's lived experiences. 		
6.3 People of different genders: Consider men, women, people undergoing gender reassignment NB Gender-	No negative impact of the PNA on people of different genders was identified. There may be some positive impact as gender is considered in some of the chapters, and the PNA report articulates the needs of people of different genders. Trans people may be underrepresented, with fewer than 3 respondents identifying as trans in the public survey. Gender including gender reassignment was not an explicit theme within the PNA, however, gender was considered within the Secure Estate and Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) chapters.	Men and women may experience different barriers when accessing social care and it is important that their needs are met when redesigning	
reassignment is anyone who proposes to, starts, is going through or who has completed a process to change	Inequalities in the management of prisoners was identified in the Secure Estate chapter (chapter 19) as HMP Cardiff only accepts men. No female prisoners are resident in HMP Cardiff; they are instead imprisoned in England, most often HMP Eastwood Park. Increasing distance between an individual's residence prior to prison, and the location of	services. People who have had gender reassignment will need to use our	

or without going through any medical procedures. Sometimes referred				
procedures. Sometimes referred, to as Trans or Transgender The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Individual information in the vicinity of disproportionately disadvantage women. The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) Each chapter in the PNA has developed recommendations based on women, however, men can be vicinity of domestic abuse and sexual violence also. This is discussed in the chapter. Each chapter in the PNA has developed recommendations based on the key needs identified. Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include: • Gynaecological and maternity services Each chapter in the PNA has developed recommendations based on the key needs identified. Engagement findings General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe Extra self-describe	his or her gender with or without going	putting women at a disadvantage (4). It is recognised that there have been challenges	need to understand	
Sometimes referred to as Trans or Transgender bit cate, with some reports that treatment is delayed unit transfer to wates (5). This with disproportionately disadvantage women. wetcoming and inclusive. The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) chapter (chapter 17) is predominantly focussed on women, however, men can be victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence also. This is discussed in the chapter. Each chapter in the PNA has developed recommendations based on the key needs identified. Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include: • Gynaecological and maternity services Each chapter in the PNA has developed recommendations based on the key needs identified. Engagement findings General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe Sift and teacher and some as the self-describe	. .		how to make them	
to as Trans or Transgenderinclusive.Inclusive.inclusive.The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) chapter (chapter 17) is predominantly focussed on women, however, men can be victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence also. This is discussed in the chapter.Each chapter in the PNA has developed recommendations based on the key needs identified.Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include: • Gynaecological and maternity servicesFuture plans and assessments should consider the findingsEngagement findings General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe	•	of care, with some reports that treatment is delayed until transfer to Wales (5). This will	welcoming and	
The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) chapter (chapter 17) is predominantly focussed on women, however, men can be victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence also. This is discussed in the chapter.Each chapter in the PNA has developed recommendations based on the key needs identified.Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include: • Gynaecological and maternity servicesFuture plans and assessments should consider the findingsEngagement findingsGeneral public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).development.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others prefering to self-describeself-describe	to as Trans or	disproportionately disadvantage women.	inclusive.	
chapter (chapter 17) is predominantly focussed on women, however, men can be victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence also. This is discussed in the chapter.PNA has developed recommendations based on the key needs identified.Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include: • Gynaecological and maternity servicesFuture plans and assessments should consider the findingsEngagement findingsConsider the findings of the PNA in their development.General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe	ranogenaar	The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV)	Each chapter in the	
of domestic abuse and sexual violence also. This is discussed in the chapter.recommendations based on the key needs identified.Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include: • Gynaecological and maternity servicesrecommendations based on the key needs identified.Engagement findingsEngagement findingsFuture plans and assessments should consider the findings of the PNA in their development.General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describeS6% male. attrans or self-describe				
Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include: • Gynaecological and maternity servicesbased on the key needs identified. Future plans and assessments should consider the findingsEngagement findingsGeneral public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).based on the key needs identified. Future plans and assessments should consider the findings of the PNA in their development.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describeSife describe			•	
Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include:needs identified.• Gynaecological and maternity servicesFuture plans and assessments should consider the findingsEngagement findingsconsider the findingsGeneral public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).needs identified. Future plans and assessments should consider the male, and did not consider themselves trans.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describeSelf-describe			based on the key	
 Gynaecological and maternity services Engagement findings General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe 		Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include:	•	
Engagement findingsassessments should consider the findings of the PNA in their development.General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).assessments should consider the development.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describeassessments should consider the PNA in their development.			Future plans and	
General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).of the PNA in their development.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe			assessments should	
General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38% male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).of the PNA in their development.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans.Female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe		Engagement findings	consider the findings	
 male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe 			Ŭ	
 male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, "Are you trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe 		General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows: 59% female, 38%	development.	
 trans", most responded "no" (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe 				
self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe				
Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe				
themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe				
themselves trans. Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe		Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider		
Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe				
Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe				
Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe		Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male.		
or preferring not to say.		Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe		
		or preferring not to say.		

6.4 People who are married or who have a civil partner.	No impacts identified of the PNA on marriage or civil partnership. Th characteristic was not considered an explicit theme within the PNA. Engagement findings Survey respondents to the public survey were predominantly married responding they were single. Single In a same-sex Civil Partnership Married Living together/Co-habiting Separated/divorced or legally separated if formerly in a same-sex Civil Partnership Widowed Other Total	d (55%), w No. 96 4 283 40 36 52 7 518	vith 19% % 18.5 0.8 54.6 7.7 6.9 10.0 1.4 100.0	People who are married or who have a civil partnership may need to access our services and the RPB will have to understand how to make them welcoming and inclusive. Future plans and assessments using the PNA should consider the findings of the PNA in their development.
6.5 Women who are	disaggregation is provided. No impacts identified of the PNA on women who are expecting a bal			People who are
expecting a baby, who are on a break from work after having a baby, or who are breastfeeding. They are protected for 26 weeks after having a	break from work after having a baby, or who are breastfeeding. Thes characteristics were not an explicit theme in the PNA. They are und engagement work. Engagement findings	se protecte	ed	pregnant or have just had a baby may need to access our services and the RPB will have to understand how to make them welcoming and inclusive. Future

they are on maternity	A minority of survey respondents to the public survey responded that they were expecting	plans and
leave.	a baby (3/57 who responded to the question); three were on a break from work after	assessments using
	having a baby or currently breastfeeding.	the PNA should
		consider the findings
		of the PNA in their
		development.
6.6 People of a	No negative impact identified of the PNA on people of a different race, nationality, colour,	The RPB understands
different race,	culture or ethnic origin including non-English speakers, gypsies/travellers, migrant	that people may
nationality, colour, culture or ethnic	workers. This protected characteristic was not an explicit theme within the PNA.	experience barriers to
origin including		accessing health and
non-English	Unfortunately the planned focus group with gypsies and travellers could not take place.	social care because of
speakers,	Future work should seek to identify the view of these communities. People who are of a	their race. The RPB
gypsies/travellers,	different ethnicity are underrepresented in the engagement work for the PNA.	has allocated funding
migrant workers		to explore this specific
	The PNA includes a chapter on Asylum Seekers and Refugees (Chapter 20), which	area in phase 1 of our
	details the needs and services required for this population group.	engagement plan.
	By articulating the needs of asylum seekers and refugees, their needs for care and	
	support can be better designed.	The PNA
		recommends all
	Examples of key needs of asylum seekers and refugees identified by the PNA include:	agencies working with
	 Variation in medical needs based on the person's background 	asylum seekers,
	 Mental health and support for long term conditions 	refugees, and
	 Understanding the NHS system including access to services 	undocumented
	Data gaps identified included the numbers and needs of undocumented migrants.	migrants to improve
		data collection in
	Welsh Government have recently published a report on the association of ethnicity with	order to address data
	impact of COVID-19 (6).	gaps.
	Wales Governance Centre in their report identified that people from a Black, Asian, or	
	Mixed Ethnic group experienced higher custody rates, compared to White defendants.	

Additionally, custodial sentence length was longer for Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic groups (4).

The 2011 Census identified that around one-sixth (15.3%) of Cardiff's population belongs to a non-white ethnic group, which is higher than the proportion across Wales of 4.4%. In the Vale of Glamorgan, 3.6% of the population belongs to a non-white ethnic group (7).



Source: 2011 Census (7)

The Annual Population Survey identified an increase from 10.4% in 2004 to 20.1% in 2020 of people in Cardiff who are Black, Asian, or from a minority ethnic group. The Vale of Glamorgan has seen only a small increase in people who are Black, Asian, or from a minority ethnic group over the same time period (8).



Source: Annual Population Survey (8)

Nationally, children from Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic groups are overrepresented amongst Children Looked After (CLA): 8.6%, despite making up 6.6% of the population (9). The majority of children looked after in 2020 were of white ethnicity (715/955 in Cardiff; 215/260 in Vale of Glamorgan). In Cardiff, 55 CLA are Black, African, Caribbean or Black British; 65 Asian or Asian British; 90 from mixed ethnic groups. In the Vale of Glamorgan, 40 were from other ethnic groups; and small numbers were suppressed for other responses (10).

Engagement findings

General public survey respondents were mostly White: 92.5%; n=482 of 521 who responded to the question. Fourteen were Asian (2.7%); 9 people identified as Mixed / Multiple Ethnic groups (1.7%). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey all reported their ethnicity as White (n=3).
6.7 People with a religion or belief or with no religion or belief. The term 'religion' includes a religious or philosophical belief	 No negative impact identified of the PNA on people with a religion or belied, or no religion or belief. This protected characteristic was not an explicit theme within the PNA. Across many of the chapters of the PNA, religion and church were frequently identified as a community asset to support well-being. One respondent to the survey in HMP Cardiff stated: <i>"I would like a gypsy meal at least once a month, you're allowed Ramadan so why not food from my culture."</i> Increased awareness of the role of religion – or lack of religion – on well-being may have a positive impact. The views of people who practice Buddhism, Hinduism, Judaism, Islam, or Sikhism may be underrepresented. The 2011 Census states 57.6% of the 	The RPB understands that people may experience barriers to accessing health and social care because of their religion. The RPB plans to explore this in more detail before deciding the best way to collect people's views.
	population of Wales is Christian, with 32.1% of people having no religion (2001 data: 71.9% and 18.5% respectively) (11). Updated Census data is awaited in 2022.	The PNA recommends in many chapters that a culture
	Engagement findings	of person-centred services, with
	Respondents to the general public survey regarded themselves as belonging to the following religion: 54% no religion, 41% Christian, 1% Buddhist.	increased voice for the person, is developed, or
	Adults responding to the Easy Read survey all stated their religion as Christian (n=3).	continued in order to ensure services are welcoming to people of all beliefs and cultures.

 6.8 People who are attracted to other people of: the opposite sex (heterosexual); the same sex (lesbian or gay); both sexes (bisexual) 	or bisexual. The PNA identified that some services need to develop accessibility to Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer individuals, for example, in the VAWDASV chapter (chapter 11), and Older People (chapter 16), where a gap in knowledge was identified. This may have a positive impact as their needs can be proactively sought and articulated for future consideration. Engagement findings		The RPB understands that people may experience barriers to accessing health and social care because of their sexual orientation; and plans to undertake specific engagement with		
		No	%		people who are
	Bisexual	25	4.8		LGBTQ+ in phase 2.
	Gay Woman/ Lesbian	5	1.0		
	Gay Man	15	2.9		
	Heterosexual/ Straight	434	83.9		
	Other	5	1.0		
	Prefer not to answer	33	6.4		
	Total	517	100.0		
	lesbian, gay, or bisexual in 201 Adults responding to the Easy I	9 (12). Read survey	all iden		
6.9 People who	0		• •	e who communicate using the Welsh	RPB engagement
communicate using the Welsh language	language. PNA surveys were available in Welsh and English. Focus groups were held			resources will be	
in terms of	using the participants' desired communication method, for example, the D/deaf			available bilingually.	
correspondence,	community conducted their focus group in British Sign Language.			The RPB will ask	
information leaflets,				people's language	
or service plans and	•	•		•	preferences on
design	Equality and Health Impact Ass	essment will	all be a	wallable in English and Welsh.	registration to any
					events to ensure our

Well-being Goal – A Wales of vibrant	An assessment of Welsh language / English as a second language and other communication needs is provided within each chapter of the PNA, and many data gaps	engagement plans are fully inclusive to	
culture and thriving	are identified across the chapters of the PNA. By highlighting key needs and data gaps,	Welsh speakers.	
Welsh language	future work can seek to address these so that services can be better developed to meet		
	the language and communication needs of the population. This will be a positive impact.	Future plans and	
		assessments should	
	The National Survey for Wales reports that 11% of respondents in Cardiff and Vale were	consider the PNA	
	given the choice to receive treatment in Welsh or English (range 11-24% across Wales).	findings in their	
	Amongst Welsh speakers across Wales, 24% chose to receive treatment in Welsh (113).	development.	
	Social Care Wales report that only 2% of domiciliary care workers are fluent in Welsh,	development.	
	15% have some Welsh in the Vale of Glamorgan, for Cardiff the figures are 3% and 27%		
	(114).		
	Chapter 16 discusses sensory loss and impairment. A prominent component of the		
	chapter is around communication appropriate to the individual; including normalising use		
	of British Sign Language and hearing loops.		
	The 2011 Census identified that most (98.4%) of residents in the Vale of Glamorgan have		
	English or Welsh as their main language. This is higher than the Wales average (97.1%).		
	Cardiff has the lowest proportion of people speaking English or Welsh as their first		
	language at 91.7%.		
	Engagement Findings		
	Respondents to the general public survey mostly spoke English at home (97.1%) with		
	2.2% speaking Welsh, and 1.5% speaking another language.		
	The survey for the general public asked whether respondents have received care and		
	support in the language or communication format of their choice. Responses were as		
<u> </u>		1	1



Around one in seven (13.4%) speak a second language at home.

Regarding whether respondents would like to see any improvements in language and communication provision: of the 152 respondents that left feedback to this question, three fifths (59.2%) were either happy with the service or indicated that the service didn't apply to them. 7.9% would like to see better bilingual services, whilst a further 7.2% would like to more plain language / less jargon.

Free text comments in the general public survey stated the following regarding Welsh language:

- "I get everything bilingually/am happy with that, I've more serious things on my mind."
- "More Welsh signage and options when seeking phone advice."
- "Less forced usage of the Welsh Language."
- "Focus on 1 language. Resources are too stretched to accommodate all languages"

One respondent wanted increased access to interpreters (although it was not clear which language was desired)

• More interpreters for young people in care (and their families).

A number of comments were made regarding the use of language, and finding the balance between simple and clear communication, whilst not patronising the patient.

- "I'd like my husband's oncologist to learn how to be open and explain things. We are not stupid!"
- *"More support/understanding of non-verbal communication"*
- "We should all speak our own language"
- "More simple, easy to read, jargon free communication."

	All three respondents to the Easy Read survey spoke English most at home, and reported that they received care and support in the language of their choice. Respondents wanted service providers to " <i>speak calmly</i> ", " <i>speak plainly, no jargon</i> ", Most children and young people spoke English at home (84.6%; 22/27), with fewer than 3 responses for speaking English using Augmented and Alternative Communication (AAC); Welsh, Gujurati, and Romanian.	
6.10 People according to their income related group: Consider people on low income, economically inactive, unemployed/workless , people who are unable to work due to ill-health	No negative impacts identified of the PNA on people according to their income related group. The Socio-economic duty, inequalities and deprivation are discussed with each population group in the PNA, and so by articulating key issues and data gaps, it is hoped that the PNA will have a positive impact as service leads, commissioners, and others can consider how their services can reduce the identified inequalities. People who are digitally isolated are likely to be under-represented in engagement work, due to a focus on online distribution and communication methods relating to COVID-19. Therefore, their views may not have been comprehensively captured in the PNA. A focus group discussion with people who are homeless was conducted. Key needs identified included the following: • The need for an address in order to gain employment	The Socio-Economic Duty was implemented in March 2021, and requires public bodies "to have due regard to the need to reduce the inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-economic disadvantage" (17).
	 Tension between accommodation rules (for example, needing to vacate by 9am) and shift work Children and young people An evidence review of the human rights of children in Wales identified differential outcomes in health risk factors and outcomes, education, and wellbeing depending on socio-economic background (13). Children aged 4-5 years in the most deprived decile were 76% more likely to be obese than those in the least deprived decile. Low birth weight and educational deprivation were also associated with income deprivation (14). 	The Socio-Economic Duty will therefore be incorporated into the work of the Regional Partnership Board, as well as by plans and assessments utilising the PNA findings.

The most recent Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation report uses 2016/17 data, and finds that 28% of children aged 0-4 lived in income deprivation (range 17%-30%). This is the highest proportion by age group. Cardiff has the highest number of 0-4 year olds living in income deprivation (6,600 children) but sits just above the Welsh average at 29%; the Vale of Glamorgan has nearly 2,000 children in income deprivation (23%). Cardiff has both the most and least deprived middle super output areas in Wales, with income deprivation rates between 3% in Rhiwbina and Pantmawr, to 67% in Ely East. In both local authorities, this represents a decrease from 2012/13: Cardiff had 33% and Vale of Glamorgan 27% of 0-4 year olds living in income deprivation (14).	
Further details can be found in Chapter 5, 6, and 7 which focus on Children and young people	
Adults A summary of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan is given in the demography chapter (Chapter 4). The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 suggests that there are areas of established inequalities across the Cardiff and Vale region; with areas in the 'Southern Arc' in Cardiff and areas in the East of Barry ranked as more deprived against WIMD. In Cardiff, 39 LSOAs are included in top 10% most deprived in Wales, while 3 LSOAs in the Vale of Glamorgan are ranked in the top 10% most deprived area in Wales. In Cardiff, around one-fifth of residents live in the most deprived 10% of lower super output areas (LSOAs) in Wales. Approximately 50% of Cardiff's population live in the 50% least deprived LSOAs, while for the Vale of Glamorgan, 65% live in the 50% least deprived areas (15).	





	A total of 482 of 661 participants stated they had a small amount of money to spend each week on themselves; 517 were able to keep up with bills and regular debt repayments; 461 were able to afford to keep their house in a decent state of repair; and 478 were able to keep their house warm in winter. Overall, 367 respondents (56%) reported being able to afford all four of these.		
6.11 People according to where they live: Consider people living in areas known to exhibit poor economic and/or health indicators, people unable to access services and facilities	No negative impacts identified of the PNA on where people live. Inequalities and deprivation are discussed with each population group in the PNA, and so by articulating key issues, it is hoped that the PNA will have a positive impact as service leads, commissioners, and others can consider how their services can reduce the identified inequalities. Some people including professional leads identified the move to online / telephone service provision as helpful for people living in more rural locations, as it made accessing services easier (see, for example, chapter 8: adult mental health and cognitive impairment). It should be noted, that many respondents observed difficulties with accessing services online/via the telephone – for example, those with sensory loss or impairment (chapter 16). Engagement findings Responses from the Children and Young Person's survey identified that 17/23 who answered the question lived in Cardiff, with 6 from the Vale of Glamorgan. Responses for the general public survey were mostly from Cardiff: of postcode data	The RPB plans to redesign services to bring them closer to home. They will be seamless and be able to share information. These developments should all help people navigate the system more easily and save time travelling and repeating information.	
	available, 402 were from Cardiff and 105 from the Vale of Glamorgan.		



to this strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service	 The PNA explicitly and proactively sought the views of people who identified as being in one of the following themes: Children and young people (including children and young people with complex needs, and children looked after) Older people Healthy lifestyles and long term conditions Physical disabilities Learning disability Autism 	were unable to gain an understanding of Gypsies and Travellers' views, for example. Further work should consider these gaps in our understanding of care and support needs of	
Service	 Older people Healthy lifestyles and long term conditions Physical disabilities Learning disability 	example. Further work should consider these gaps in our understanding of care	

7. HIA / How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on the health and well-being of our population and help address inequalities in health?

Questions in this section relate to the impact on the overall health of individual people and on the impact on our population. Specific alignment with the 7 goals of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is included against the relevant sections.

How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on:-	Potential positive and/or negative impacts and any particular groups affected	Recommendations for improvement/ mitigation	Action taken by Clinical Board / Corporate Directorate Make reference to where the mitigation is included in the document, as appropriate
 7.1 People being able to access the service offered: Consider access for those living in areas of deprivation and/or those experiencing health inequalities Well-being Goal - A more equal Wales 	Two versions of the PNA report will be published: 1. a summary of the PNA report, available online (expected audience: the general public) 2. the full formal PNA report (expected audience: professionals) The full report will be available for download from the online summary, for those who would like more detailed information. This approach aims to increase access to the information in the PNA for all, with the appropriate level of detail. Those who do not have internet access the online version of the PNA report or the summary.	Communications regarding the publication of the PNA will be disseminated widely including through health and social care organisations and third sector organisations so that they can inform their service users. A summary of the PNA report will be available as an online, lay-friendly format, with an option to download the full report for people who would like increased detail. Hard copies of both versions (for general public and professionals) will be available on request. Formatting (both the public and professionals version)	

How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on:-	Potential positive and/or negative impacts and any particular groups affected	Recommendations for improvement/ mitigation	Action taken by Clinical Board / Corporate Directorate Make reference to where the mitigation is included in the document, as appropriate
	Accessibility for those with sensory loss or impairment has been considered during the formatting of the document. Font, text size, and layout has been decided upon in line with guidance on accessibility.	will be accessible for screen- readers.	
7.2 People being able to improve /maintain healthy lifestyles: Consider the impact on healthy lifestyles, including healthy eating, being active, no smoking /smoking cessation, reducing the harm caused by alcohol and /or non-prescribed drugs plus access to services that support disease prevention (e.g. immunisation and vaccination, falls prevention). Also consider impact on access to supportive services including smoking cessation services, weight management services etc.	The PNA has identified care and support needs and the range and level of services including prevention for each population group named within the PNA Code of Practice, and additional population groups as they are of particular importance to Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.	These PNA findings will form the basis for further research and planning to further develop and improve services, and contribute to people being able to improve or maintain healthy lifestyles.	

How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on:-	Potential positive and/or negative impacts and any particular groups affected	Recommendations for improvement/ mitigation	Action taken by Clinical Board / Corporate Directorate Make reference to where the mitigation is included in the document, as appropriate
Well-being Goal – A healthier Wales			
7.3 People in terms of their income and employment status: Consider the impact on the availability and accessibility of work, paid/ unpaid employment, wage levels, job security, working conditions Well-being Goal – A prosperous Wales	Deprivation, inequalities, and the Socio-Economic Duty has been considered for all population groups in the PNA. Data gaps have been identified. Respondents in engagement work identified their desire to find high quality, secure employment, and recommendations are made for more inclusive recruitment.	Recommendations in each chapter include addressing data gaps, and supporting inclusive recruitment and reasonable adjustments to promote employment. The Socio-Economic Duty was implemented in March 2021, and requires public bodies "to have due regard to the need to reduce the inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-economic disadvantage" (17). The Socio-Economic Duty will therefore be incorporated into the work of the Regional Partnership Board, as well as by plans and assessments utilising the PNA findings.	
7.4 People in terms of their	Access to services was	The PNA will be one source	
use of the physical	identified by the PNA as a key	of information contributing to	
environment:	need by many of the population	future plans, for example, the	

How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on:-	Potential positive and/or negative impacts and any particular groups affected	Recommendations for improvement/ mitigation	Action taken by Clinical Board / Corporate Directorate Make reference to where the mitigation is included in the document, as appropriate
Consider the impact on the availability and accessibility of transport, healthy food, leisure activities, green spaces; of the design of the built environment on the physical and mental health of patients, staff and visitors; on air quality, exposure to pollutants; safety of neighbourhoods, exposure to crime; road safety and preventing injuries/accidents; quality and safety of play areas and open spaces Well-being Goal – A resilient Wales	groups. The PNA recommends improved access to services, which will require an understanding of the barriers facing each group. Some of this detail is provided within each chapter.	Cardiff and Vale Area Plan, or local commissioning decisions. In this way, relevant information from the PNA can be built upon. Some recommendations are relatively specific in terms of how information from the PNA can be used; however, the recommendations are not exhaustive.	
7.5 People in terms of social and community influences on their health: Consider the impact on family organisation and roles; social support and social networks; neighbourliness and sense of belonging; social isolation; peer pressure; community identity; cultural and spiritual ethos	For each population group, the PNA has identified assets at an individual, community and population level which make a positive benefit to people's well- being.	Future plans including the Cardiff and Vale Area Plan and commissioning decisions can build upon the information contained in the PNA. For example, through promoting assets, reducing barriers, and addressing service gaps identified within the PNA in order to work	

How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on:-	Potential positive and/or negative impacts and any particular groups affected	Recommendations for improvement/ mitigation	Action taken by Clinical Board / Corporate Directorate Make reference to where the mitigation is included in the document, as appropriate
Well-being Goal – A Wales of cohesive communities		towards a Wales of cohesive communities.	
 7.6 People in terms of macro- economic, environmental and sustainability factors: Consider the impact of government policies; gross domestic product; economic development; biological diversity; climate Well-being Goal – A globally responsible Wales 	The PNA has identified key overarching factors such as the " <i>triple challenge</i> " of Brexit, climate change, and COVID-19. Each chapter in the PNA contains a section on overarching national considerations (for example, new legislation, or guidance). However, international context has not routinely been included within the PNA.	The PNA recommends that policy makers should use the Triple Challenge lens to inform policies and strategies around issues impacted by Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change, such as food systems and diet (18). Future plans and strategic decisions should contextualise the information within this PNA and align findings with overarching macro-economic, environmental, and sustainability factors.	

Please answer question 8.1 following the completion of the EHIA and complete the action plan

8.1 Please summarise the potential positive and/or negative impacts of the strategy, policy, plan or service	No negative impacts of the PNA on any of the protected or health characteristics were identified. However, people with some characteristics were underrepresented within engagement work in this iteration of the PNA, and so their views may not have been captured. These gaps in the completeness of the engagement work should be borne in mind when findings from the PNA are utilised within local plans and decisions. Future engagement work conducted by the Regional Partnership Board will build upon these beginnings and proactively consider how to most appropriately hear seldom heard voices.		
	the previous publication. These findings can now be further investigated and data gaps addressed in order to plan the care and support services for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan now, and in the future.		
	Future iterations of the Population Needs Assessment will take a hybrid approach, so that the information contained within it can be more up to date. This will comprise a rolling update of quantitative data, and periodic refresh of qualitative data from engagement work. Therefore, this PNA report and Equality & Health Impact Assessment (EHIA) should be considered a first iteration; the beginning of an ongoing conversation between the Regional Partnership Board, and the residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.		
	We welcome comments and feedback on the PNA and the EHIA, as we seek to learn, improve, and develop. Please send these to Hsc.Integration@wales.nhs.uk		

Action Plan for Mitigation / Improvement and Implementation

	Action	Lead	Timescale	Action taken by Clinical Board / Corporate Directorate
8.2 What are the key actions identified as a result of completing the EHIA?	There is a real commitment and enthusiasm in the RPB to ensure that diverse voices are reflected in all we do. Areas of under- representation in terms of engagement work have been identified. Future engagement work will proactively consider how best to hear seldom heard voices so that their needs can be understood and met.	Senior Communications and Engagement Officer; Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board	To commence by March 2022	
8.3 Is a more comprehensive Equalities Impact Assessment or Health Impact Assessment required? This means thinking about	No, however, plans, strategies, and other decisions developed from information contained within the PNA will require an Equalities Health Impact Assessment to be conducted	Leads of individual assessments and plans	According to timescale of the individual assessments and plans	
relevance and proportionality to the Equality Act and asking: is the impact significant enough that a more formal and full consultation is required?				

8.4 What are the next	Use results of PNA as a basis to	Senior	То	
steps?	undertake further engagements where we	Communications	commence	
Somo auggestions:	are developing plans and making	and	by March	
Some suggestions:-Decide whether the strategy	decisions.	Engagement	2022	
 Decide whether the strategy policy, plan, procedure and/e 		Officer; Cardiff		
service proposal:	Support the RPB's overarching	and Vale		
 continues 	communications and engagement	Regional		
unchanged as there	strategy, which includes the following	Partnership		
are no significant	outcomes:	Board		
negative impacts				
 adjusts to account 	1. A citizen's panel that can help represent			
for the negative	and reflect the diverse voices of older			
impacts	people			
 continues despite potential for 	2. Ensuring adults with disabilities			
adverse impact or	coproduce and drive our work in this area			
missed	(this will often use existing forums)			
opportunities to	3. Resources and engagements that give			
advance equality	children and young people a voice and a			
(set out the	way to directly influence the policies and			
justifications for	decisions that affect them.			
doing so) ○ stops.				
 stops. Have your strategy, 				
policy, plan, procedure				
and/or service proposal				
approved				
Publish your report of this				
impact assessment				
 Monitor and review 				

References

1. **Welsh Government.** Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Part 2 Code of Practice (General Functions). [Online] 2015. [Cited: 10 30, 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/part-2-code-of-practice-general-functions.pdf.

2. **Welsh Government.** Population Needs Assessments - Supplementary Advice for Regional Partnership Boards. [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 10 14, 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/population-needs-assessments.pdf.

3. **RNIB.** Sight Loss Data Tool Version 4.3.1 . [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 10 15, 2021.] At the last meeting with Rebecca Archer and the discussion of aligning findings from the WBAx and PNA, we discussed setting up a workshop on 5 November. Suzanne and I have been discussing the synthesising and drafting of the PNA over the coming weeks and .

4. Welsh Governance Centre. Imprisonment in Wales: A Factfile. Cardiff : Cardiff University, 2018.

5. **Public Health Wales.** *Public Health Wales Response to the Health, S ocial Care and Sport Committee iinquiry into provision of health and social care in the adult prison estate.* Cardiff : Public Health Wales, 2019.

6. **Welsh Government**. Coronavirus (COVID-19) and the Black, Asian and minority ethnic population in Wales. [Online] 06 22, 2020. [Cited: 11 08, 2021.] https://gov.wales/coronavirus-covid-19-and-black-asian-and-minority-ethnic-population-wales.

7. Office for National Statistics . 2011 Census: Key Statistics and Quick Statistics for Electoral Divisions and Output Areas in Wales. [Online] [Cited: 11 09, 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeys tatisticsandquickstatisticsforelectoraldivisionsandoutputareasinwales/r22walesenglishrttableqs204ewladv1_tcm77-296996.xls.

8. **Stats Wales**. Ethnicity by area and ethnic group. [Online] 04 14, 2021. https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Ethnicity/ethnicity-by-area-ethnicgroup.

9. Welsh Government. White Paper - Rebalancing Care and Support. [Online] 01 12, 2021. [Cited: 10 07, 2021.]

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consultation-document.pdf.

10. **Stats Wales.** Children looked after at 31 March by local authority and ethnicity. [Online] 02 24, 2021. [Cited: 09 14, 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-ethnicity.

11. **Welsh Government.** A statistical focus on religion in Wales, 2011 Census: executive summary. [Online] c.2012. [Cited: 11 09, 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/151027-statistical-focus-religion-2011-census-executive-summary-en.pdf#:~:text=%EF%82%B7%20Christianity%20is%20still%20the%20largest%20religion%20in,England%2C%20although%20not%20as%20p.

12. Office for National Statistics . Sexual orientation, UK: 2019. [Online] 05 14, 2021. [Cited: 11 08, 2021.]

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2019.

13. Wales Institute for Social and Economic Research, Data and Methods . The Human Rights of Children in Wales: An Evidence Review.

14. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019: deprivation analysis relating to young children . [Online] 08 26, 2021.
[Cited: 10 29, 2021.] https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-deprivation-analysis-relating-young-children-html.
15. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Mulitple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 results report. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 11 22, 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-06/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-results-report.pdf.
16. Welsh Government. Coronavirus and employment: analysis of protected characteristics. [Online] 06 19, 2020. [Cited: 11 08, 2021.] https://gov.wales/coronavirus-and-employment-analysis-protected-characteristics-html.

17. **Welsh Government.** A more equal Wales: The Socio-Economic Duty Equality Act 2010 Statutory Guidance. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 10 25, 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf.

18. **Public Health Wales .** Rising to the Triple Challenge of Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change for health, well-being and equity in Wales. [Online] 2021.